PERITONEAL DIALYSIS AND ITS LOCAL AND SYSTEMIC COMPLICATIONS: FROM THE BENCH TO THE CLINIC

EDITED BY: Manuel Lopez-Cabrera, Janusz Witowski and Abelardo Isaac Aguilera PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-644-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-644-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

PERITONEAL DIALYSIS AND ITS LOCAL AND SYSTEMIC COMPLICATIONS: FROM THE BENCH TO THE CLINIC

Topic Editors:

Manuel Lopez-Cabrera, Spanish National Research Council, Spain Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland Abelardo Isaac Aguilera, University Hospital of La Princesa, Spain

Citation: Lopez-Cabrera, M., Witowski, J., Aguilera, A. I., eds. (2020). Peritoneal Dialysis and Its Local and Systemic Complications: From the Bench to the Clinic. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-644-0

Table of Contents

05 Peritoneal Dialysis and Its Local and Systemic Complications: From the Bench to the Clinic

Janusz Witowski and Manuel López-Cabrera

07 Higher Proportion of Non-1-84 PTH Fragments in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Compared to Hemodialysis Patients Using Solutions Containing 1.75 mmol/l Calcium

Carmen Sánchez-González, Maria Luisa Gonzalez-Casaus, Víctor Lorenzo Sellares, Marta Albalate, José-Vicente Torregrosa, Sebastian Mas, Alberto Ortiz, Mariano Rodriguez and Emilio Gonzalez-Parra

- 14 IL-17 in Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Inflammation and Angiogenesis: Conclusions and Perspectives
 Janusz Witowski, Julian Kamhieh-Milz, Edyta Kawka, Rusan Catar and Achim Jörres
- 25 Preventing Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Fibrosis by Therapeutic Blunting of Peritoneal Toll-Like Receptor Activity Anne-Catherine Raby and Mario O. Labéta
- 32 Peritoneal Dialysis is an Independent Factor Associated to Lower Intima Media Thickness in Dialysis Patients Free From Previous Cardiovascular Disease

Mercè Borràs, Serafí Cambray, Maria Crespo-Masip, Miguel Pérez-Fontán, Milica Bozic, Marcelino Bermudez-López, Elvira Fernández, Àngels Betriu and José M. Valdivielso on behalf of the NEFRONA investigators

42 Ultrafiltration Failure is a Reflection of Peritoneal Alterations in Patients Treated With Peritoneal Dialysis

Raymond T. Krediet

- 48 Urgent-Start Peritoneal Dialysis as a Bridge to Definitive Chronic Renal Replacement Therapy: Short- and Long-Term Outcomes
 Ewa Wojtaszek, Agnieszka Grzejszczak, Katarzyna Grygiel, Jolanta Małyszko and Joanna Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska
- 58 Biocompatible Peritoneal Dialysis: The Target is Still Way Off Maria Bartosova and Claus Peter Schmitt
- 71 Targeted Metabolomic Profiling of Peritoneal Dialysis Effluents Shows Anti-oxidative Capacity of Alanyl-Glutamine Florian M. Wiesenhofer, Rebecca Herzog, Michael Boehm, Anja Wagner, Markus Unterwurzacher, David C. Kasper, Seth L. Alper, Andreas Vychytil, Christoph Aufricht and Klaus Kratochwill
- 84 Peritoneal Protein Clearance is a Function of Local Inflammation and Membrane Area Whereas Systemic Inflammation and Comorbidity Predict Survival of Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Zanzhe Yu, Mark Lambie, James Chess, Andrew Williams, Jun-Young Do, Nicholas Topley and Simon J. Davies

93 Impact of Glucose Exposure on Outcomes of a Nation-Wide Peritoneal Dialysis Cohort – Results of the BRAZPD II Cohort

Vitor Radunz, Roberto Pecoits-Filho, Ana Elizabeth Figueiredo, Pasqual Barretti and Thyago Proença de Moraes

101 Peritoneal Ultrafiltration in the Long-Term Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure Refractory to Pharmacological Therapy

Ewa Wojtaszek, Agnieszka Grzejszczak, Stanislaw Niemczyk, Jolanta Małyszko and Joanna Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska

108 Peritoneal Dialysis Vintage and Glucose Exposure but Not Peritonitis Episodes Drive Peritoneal Membrane Transformation During the First Years of PD

Maria Bartosova, Betti Schaefer, Karel Vondrak, Peter Sallay, Christina Taylan, Rimante Cerkauskiene, Maria Dzierzega, Gordana Milosevski-Lomic, Rainer Büscher, Ariane Zaloszyc, Philipp Romero, Felix Lasitschka, Bradley A. Warady, Franz Schaefer, Akos Ujszaszi and Claus Peter Schmitt

- **118** The Peritoneal Surface Proteome in a Model of Chronic Peritoneal Dialysis Reveals Mechanisms of Membrane Damage and Preservation Michael Boehm, Rebecca Herzog, Florian Klinglmüller, Anton M. Lichtenauer, Anja Wagner, Markus Unterwurzacher, Robert H. J. Beelen, Seth L. Alper, Christoph Aufricht and Klaus Kratochwill
- 135 Abnormalities in Glucose Metabolism, Appetite-Related Peptide Release, and Pro-inflammatory Cytokines Play a Central Role in Appetite Disorders in Peritoneal Dialysis

Lorena Avila-Carrasco, Mario A. Pavone, Elena González, Álvaro Aguilera-Baca, Rafael Selgas, Gloria del Peso, Secundino Cigarran, Manuel López-Cabrera and Abelardo Aguilera

151 Long Peritoneal Dialysis Dwells With Icodextrin: Kinetics of Transperitoneal Fluid and Polyglucose Transport

Anna Olszowska, Jacek Waniewski, Joanna Stachowska-Pietka, Elvia Garcia-Lopez, Bengt Lindholm and Zofia Wańkowicz





Peritoneal Dialysis and Its Local and Systemic Complications: From the Bench to the Clinic

Janusz Witowski^{1*} and Manuel López-Cabrera²

¹ Department of Pathophysiology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ² Severo Ochoa Molecular Biology Center (CSIC-UAM), Madrid, Spain

Keywords: Editorial: peritoneal dialysis, mesothelial cells, renal replacement therapy, peritonitis, peritoneum

Editorial on the Research Topic

Peritoneal Dialysis and Its Local and Systemic Complications: From the Bench to the Clinic

Kidney failure is an increasingly common medical problem, posing a serious challenge to healthcare systems worldwide and requiring renal replacement therapy at some point. Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a well-established and cost-effective form of such treatment. It is particularly suitable for home-based therapy and is associated with generally good outcomes and favorable patient experience. However, compared to haemodialysis (HD)—the other dialysis modality—PD is largely underutilized. This can be partly attributed to health care policies but also to limited awareness and availability of the services. Recent experience shows that the improvements in these aspects may increase interest in PD as a treatment option (see Briggs et al., 2019 for a review).

OPEN ACCESS

Approved by:

Joaquin Garcia-Estañ, University of Murcia, Spain

Reviewed by:

Raymond Theodorus Krediet, Academic Medical Center, Netherlands Bruno Vogt, University of Bern, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Janusz Witowski jwitow@ump.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 02 December 2019 Accepted: 18 February 2020 Published: 28 February 2020

Citation:

Witowski J and López-Cabrera M (2020) Peritoneal Dialysis and Its Local and Systemic Complications: From the Bench to the Clinic. Front. Physiol. 11:188. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00188 An important problem that hampers PD proliferation is limited technique survival, with only \sim 50% of patients remaining on PD after 2 years (Mehrotra et al., 2009). The reasons for technique failure can be multiple and of different nature. Among those, adverse remodeling of the peritoneum is a significant problem as it may result in the inability of the peritoneal membrane to sustain effective ultrafiltration and toxin removal. This scenario is often a consequence of peritoneal infection. Thus, peritonitis became one of the key topics and drivers of research in PD. This led to an improved understanding of peritoneal physiology and pathophysiology and produced results whose significance went beyond PD practice alone and contributed to general immunology and pathology. On the other hand, advances in other disciplines opened up new opportunities for improvements in PD.

Despite these substantial implications, PD research is often perceived as a niche that is of no particular interest to non-specialists and practicing physicians. It is therefore of importance that the results of studies on PD are widely and promptly disseminated within the medical community, as this can increase awareness about PD treatment. Thus, the initiative of Frontiers in Physiology to dedicate a special section to problems of PD should be welcomed and appreciated. Here, the reader will find a number of original and review articles devoted to the mechanisms underlying local and systemic complications of PD.

In two articles Bartosova et al. and Bartosova and Schmitt investigate the effects of new PD fluids, which are considered more biocompatible than conventional ones. Of particular interest is the fact that these were studies of peritoneal biopsies obtained from children undergoing PD, which eliminated the impact of age-related morbidities. These analyses revealed some unexpected morphological features (especially in the peritoneal vasculature), indicating that the effect of new PD fluids is more complex than previously thought. In addition, they showed that the development of peritoneal alterations (at least in a population of pediatric patients) was associated predominantly with the duration of exposure to PD rather than with a history of peritonitis.

Nevertheless, the classic view holds that vascular changes are a hallmark of inflammation. Increasing evidence points to a role for interleukin-17 (IL-17) during inflammation associated with PD. Here, Witowski et al. present the mechanisms by which IL-17 may affect peritoneal vascularity. In turn, Raby and Labeta discuss how toll-like receptors (TLRs) expressed by peritoneal macrophages and mesothelial cells contribute to the course of peritoneal infection. They also highlight the therapeutic implications of inhibiting peritoneal TLRs during peritonitis.

In another article, Krediet a renowned expert in the field of peritoneal transport, discusses how changes in peritoneal vasculature and interstitium lead to impaired fluid transport and ultrafiltration failure during PD. On a similar note, Yu et al. present an original analysis of plasma and dialysate samples from the GLOBAL fluid study. It aimed to determine whether the peritoneal clearance of proteins depended on local or systemic inflammation (Yu et al.). The value of this study is largely that the parameters of local and systemic inflammation, and of solute and protein transport were measured simultaneously (for the first time) in the same large group of well-characterized patients. Peritoneal transport was also evaluated by Olszowska et al., who examined the kinetics of peritoneal ultrafiltration induced by icodextrin. They demonstrate that icodextrin can generate sustained net ultrafiltration even during very long dwells, which-of course-bears important clinical implications for PD patients. The use of Icodextrin-induced ultrafiltration as a treatment option for refractory heart failure was examined by Wojtaszek, Grzejszczak, Niemczyk, et al. The same group looked into the outcomes of PD used as an alternative to HD for patients requiring urgent renal replacement therapy (Wojtaszek, Grzejszczak, Grygiel, et al.).

Other studies focused on metabolic and cardiovascular aspects of PD. As PD patients are exposed to increased loads of glucose from dialysis fluids, Avila-Carrasco et al. examined concentrations of appetite-regulating peptides and eating behavior in relation to patients' body mass and insulin sensitivity. Radunz et al. analyzed more than 4,000 patients from the BRAZPD-II study to determine how glucose

REFERENCES

- Briggs, V., Davies, S., and Wilkie, M. (2019). International variations in peritoneal dialysis utilization and implications for practice. Am. J. Kidney. Dis. 74, 101–110. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.12.033
- Mehrotra, R., Chiu, Y. W., Kalantar-Zadeh, K., and Vonesh, E. (2009). The outcomes of continuous ambulatory and automated peritoneal dialysis are similar. *Kidney Int.* 76, 97–107. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.94

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

exposure impacts on therapy outcomes. They report that higher cumulative glucose exposure does not independently compromise patients' survival, but may be associated with an increased risk of technique failure. Borràs et al. measured the thickness of the carotid intima media in patients from the NEFRONA study assessing the progression of atherosclerosis during kidney disease. Using different models of multivariate analysis, they suggest that the intima in patients on PD may be less thickened than in patients on HD. In turn, Sánchez-González et al. compared patients on PD and HD in terms of parameters related to calcium metabolism. They showed that factors associated with PD affected the diagnostic value of different PTH fragments for metabolic bone disease.

Finally, two articles from the Klaus Kratochwill group showed exciting prospects for the application of proteomics and metabolomics in PD research. These approaches were used to assess the potential of alanyl-glutamine as a cytoprotective additive to PD fluids. This was investigated by proteomic profiling of the peritoneal surface harvested from rats subjected to experimental exposure to PD (Boehm et al.). It was also examined by analyzing the metabolome of the effluent drained from PD patients who were infused with solutions supplemented with alanyl-glutamine (Wiesenhofer et al.).

We believe that the above articles provide a representative selection of studies conducted currently in the field of PD. They should offer good reading for both physicians and basic science researchers.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JW and ML-C wrote the editorial.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Guest editors of this topic would like to dedicate this work to the memory of a dear friend and colleague, Dr. Abelardo Aguilera, who sadly passed away while working on this venture.

Copyright © 2020 Witowski and López-Cabrera. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Higher Proportion of Non-1-84 PTH Fragments in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Compared to Hemodialysis Patients Using Solutions Containing 1.75 mmol/I Calcium

Carmen Sánchez-González^{1*}, Maria Luisa Gonzalez-Casaus², Víctor Lorenzo Sellares^{3,4}, Marta Albalate⁵, José-Vicente Torregrosa⁶, Sebastian Mas⁷, Alberto Ortiz^{4,7}, Mariano Rodriguez^{4,8} and Emilio Gonzalez-Parra^{4,7*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Pablo Antonio Urena Torres, Ramsay Générale de Santé Clinique Landy, France Bruno Vogt, Universität Bern, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Carmen Sánchez-González csanchezgonzalez@salud.madrid.org Emilio Gonzalez-Parra EGParra@quironsalud.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 06 July 2018 Accepted: 30 October 2018 Published: 20 November 2018

Citation:

Sánchez-González C, Gonzalez-Casaus ML, Sellares VL, Albalate M, Torregrosa J-V, Mas S, Ortiz A, Rodriguez M and Gonzalez-Parra E (2018) Higher Proportion of Non-1-84 PTH Fragments in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Compared to Hemodialysis Patients Using Solutions Containing 1.75 mmol/l Calcium. Front. Physiol. 9:1643. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01643 ¹ Nefrología, Hospital Universitario La Princesa, Madrid, Spain, ² Bioquímica, Hospital Central Gómez Ulla, Madrid, Spain, ⁸ Nefrología, Hospital Universitario de Canarias, La Laguna, Spain, ⁴ REDINREN, Madrid, Spain, ⁶ Nefrología, Hospital Infanta Leonor, Madrid, Spain, ⁶ Nefrología y Unidad de Trasplante Renal, Hospital Clinic, Barcelona, Spain, ⁷ Unidad de Diálsis IIS Fundación Jiménez Díaz, School of Medicine, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Madrid, Spain, ⁸ Nefrología y Unidad de Investigación, Hospital Universitario Reina Sofia, Córdoba, Spain

Background: The prevalence of low- turnover bone disease (LTBD) in peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients is higher than in hemodialysis (HD) patients. LTBD patients may be at risk for vascular calcification, and cardiovascular disease. Current therapy for chronic kidney disease metabolic bone disorders (CKD-MBD) is guided by biochemical parameters, as bone biopsy is not used in routine clinical care.

Methods: We assessed intact PTH (iPTH: 1-84PTH plus non-1-84PTH), 1-84PTH, and the 1-84PTH/non-1-84PTH ratio in 129 hemodialysis and 73 PD prevalent patients dialyzed with solutions containing 1.75 mmol/L calcium.

Results: Hemodialysis and PD patients presented similar iPTH and tCa values and prevalence of putative LTBD as defined according to KDOQI iPTH cut-off levels or 1-84 PTH levels. However, iCa accounted for a higher percentage of tCa in PD (53%) than in hemodialysis (39%) p < 0.001, and the 1-84PTH/non-1-84PTH ratio was lower in PD than in hemodialysis patients (0.44 \pm 0.12) vs. (0.60 \pm 0.10), p < 0.001. The prevalence of putative LTBD when using the coexistence of 1-84PTH/non-1-84PTH ratio < 1.0 and iPTH < 420 pg/m, was higher in PD than in hemodialysis patients (73 vs. 16% respectively, p < 0.001). In a multivariate logistic regression analysis, dialysis modality was the main determinant of the 1-84PTH/non-1-84PTH ratio.

Conclusion: Solutions containing 1.75 mmol/L calciums are associated to a higher proportion of non-1-84PTH fragments in PD than in HD patients. Different analytical criteria result in widely different estimates of LTBD prevalence, thus impairing the ability of clinicians to optimize therapy for CKD-MBD.

Keywords: PTH fragments, non-1-84PTH fragments, 7-84PTH fragments, peritoneal dialysis, low calcium dialysate, low turnover bone disease, 1-84PTH/7-84PTH ratio

November 2018 | Volume 9 | Article 1643

INTRODUCTION

Bone disorders in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) encompass high and low turnover bone disease (HTBD and LTBD) (Moe et al., 2006). The prevalence of LTBD appears to be higher in peritoneal dialysis (PD) than in hemodialysis (HD) patients (Rodriguez-Perez et al., 1992; Sherrard et al., 1993; Torres et al., 1995; Couttenye et al., 1997; Sánchez et al., 2000; Levy and Gal-Moscovici, 2008; de Oliveira et al., 2015). Low PTH status and LTBD might be an independent strong risk factor for vascular calcification (VC) (Hutchison et al., 1994; Guérin et al., 2000; London et al., 2004, 2015). Therefore, diagnosis and prevention of LTBD is of great clinical importance in order to identify patients that might benefit from interventions to limit the morbidity and mortality resulting from VC. In parallel, it has been established knowledge that PTH is present in uremic serum in different PTH fragments with variable half-life (Martin et al., 1979). Some of these fragments may even behave as antagonists of the PTH receptor (Langub et al., 2003; Huan et al., 2006). Thus, PTH assays may quantify different peptides with different biological actions and clinical significance (Souberbielle et al., 2006). Second-generation iPTH assays now in widespread clinical use recognize both the full-length molecule (1-84 PTH) and PTH fragments of different sizes missing N-terminal aminoacids, including a 7-84 PTH molecule. 7-84 PTH fragments are found in CKD patients and may behave as partial antagonists of 1-84 PTH, opposing its biological activity. Variants with missing N-terminal aminoacids are generated in the parathyroid glands. Intraglandular aminoterminal degradation is regulated by extracellular ionic calcium (iCa) concentration, which suppresses the release of 1-84 PTH and increases the release of 7-84 PTH fragments from parathyroid cells (Kawata et al., 2005; Friedman and Goodman, 2006). We will use the term non-1-84 PTH throughout the manuscript to refer collectively to these fragments.

There are limited data on the distribution of different PTH fragments according to dialysis modality (Gardham et al., 2010). Recently we have published the first data about such differences (González-Casaus et al., 2014). The aims of the present study were to investigate whether there are any differences in the distribution of circulating PTH fragments in PD vs. HD patients, and additionally we wanted to determine any relationship between PTH fragments and metabolic markers of bone turnover such as the serum Carboxy-terminal telopeptides of collagen type I (β CTx), a marker of bone resorption (Bonde et al., 1995); as well as the possible role of PTH fragments in bone remodeling.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Patients

This was a cross-sectional study from a historical cohort of 202 Caucasian patients with CKD stage 5 that were dialyzed in two Nephrology centers. Data were collected from all continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis CAPD (n = 73) and HD (n = 129) patients dialyzed with solutions containing 1.75 mmol/L calcium (**Table 1**). We had blood samples stored at -86° C from these

| | Total group (n = 202) | HD group (n = 129) | PD group (<i>n</i> = 73) | P-value |
|----------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|---------|
| Age (y) | | | | < 0.001 |
| -Mean \pm SD | 60.17 ± 16.4 | 64 ± 14.8 | 52 ± 16.0 | |
| -range | 19–82 | 19–82 | 22–82 | |
| Sex (% males) | 58.4 | 54.8 | 63.9 | NS |
| Diabetes (%) | 21.4 | 25.2 | 14.5 | NS |
| Time on dialysis (y) | 2.01 ± 0.82 | 2.2 ± 0.2 | 1.63 ± 0.7 | < 0.001 |
| -Mean \pm SD | | | | |
| Calcitirol (%) | 46.7 | 56.3 | 29 | < 0.001 |

Clinical characteristics of total study population and the two dialysis subgroups. All patients were being dialyzed with solutions containing the same calcium concentration 1.75 mmol/L calcium. Data expressed as mean \pm SD. y, years; HD, hemodialysis; PD, peritoneal dialysis; SD, standard deviation; NS, no significant.

patients. This study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Institutional Review Board and Ethics committee of the Jimenez Díaz Foundation (Ref. 2016/15). Participants were identified by a number and no other identifying material. All included patients gave verbal informed consent.

Biochemical Parameters

Blood samples were drawn fasting prior to the midweek session in HD and fasting for PD patients, immediately centrifuged, aliquoted and stored at -86° C until analysis. Serum total calcium (tCa) was measured by standard methods in an automated analyzer Cobas Modular Roche. Additionally, ionized calcium (iCa) was quantified in 55 HD patients and all PD patients by ion selective electrode ISE (Rapidpoint 400; Siemens). Serum total 25-hydroxyvitamin D (D2 plus D3) levels were determined by an electrochemiluminiscent assay (ECLIA) in an automated platform/analyzer (LIAISON Vitamin D 250H Total; DiaSorin Inc) and serum Carboxy-terminal telopeptides of collagen type I (β CTx), a marker of bone resorption (González-Casaus et al., 2014), were measured by ECLIA (CrossLaps, Roche) in an Elecsys 2010 automated system.

The following biochemical parameters were measured simultaneously using a single batch (for automated methods) to minimize analytical variability.

Plasma whole PTH (1-84 PTH, also called bioPTH, determined by a third generation assay) and intact PTH (iPTH: 1-84 plus non-1-84 determined by a second generation assay) were determined simultaneously by an immunoradiometric assay (CA-PTH duo; Scantibodies Laboratory Inc.).

Both assays use an antibody specific for the 39–42 sequence of PTH to immobilize the molecule, but they differ in the second radiolabeled antibody. In the third generation method the second antibody recognizes exclusively the first four aminoacids of the molecule (aminoacids 1–4) to avoid the interference of PTH fragments with larger N-terminal truncations, while in the second generation iPTH assay the second antibody recognizes the 1–34 sequence of PTH. Results were expressed as serum whole 1-84 PTH levels, iPTH levels (1-84 plus non-1-84 PTH) and as a 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio calculated as (1-84 PTH)/iPTH-(1-84 PTH).

According to PTH values, patients were stratified as below, on target, and above PTH values as recommended by KDOQI guidelines (National Kidney Foundation, 2003) and Herberth criteria (Herberth et al., 2010) because both sets of criteria were validated by bone biopsy. As the Allegro iPTH assay (Nichols) (1-84 plus non-1-84 PTH) used to establish the KDOQI reference values was not available, we used the adjustment reported by Souberbielle et al (2006) for iPTH and 1-84 PTH Scantibodies methods to obtain theoretical Allegro iPTH values. Thus, according to KDOQI recommendations, patients with serum iPTH levels < 134 pg/mL (equivalent to < 150 pg/mL Allegro iPTH) were classified as at risk of LTBD, while patients with serum iPTH values > 262 (equivalent to > 300 pg/mL Allegro iPTH) were considered as at risk of HTBD. When whole 1-84 PTH was considered, according to KDOQI recommendations, patients with serum whole 1-84 PTH < 84 pg/mL (equivalent to < 150 pg/mL Allegro iPTH) were classified as at risk of developing LTBD, while patients with serum whole 1-84 PTH > 165 pg/mL (equivalent to > 300 pg/mL Allegro iPTH) were considered as HTBD. In addition, according to Herberth et al. (2010), a 1-84 PTH/ non-1-84 PTH ratio < 1.0 combined with iPTH level < 420 pg/mL was used to diagnose LTBD and a ratio > 1.6 combined with iPTH 340-790 pg/mL for risk of HTBD.

Statistical Analysis

Standard descriptive statistical analysis was performed and distribution of data was tested using Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Results are expressed as mean or median and 95% confidence interval (CI). Group means were compared using the two-tailed non-paired Student's *t*-test. Pearson correlation coefficient was used to study the association between quantitative variables. Stepwise multiple regression analysis and partial correlation analysis were used to assess the independent contribution of several variables to bone turnover. All test were two-tailed and the level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

The total study population comprised 118 males and 84 females, with a mean age of 60 years (95% CI: 58–62 years). There were no significant differences in gender distribution or in the presence of diabetes between the two dialysis modalities. Age and time on dialysis were higher in the HD group than in the PD group (**Table 1**).

Almost half (47%) of participants were treated with active vitamin D (calcitriol), but none received calcimimetics. The percentage of patients treated with calcitriol was higher in the HD group (**Table 1**). No significant differences were found in cumulative amount of calcium element (g) based on the prescribed treatment of calcium carbonate and calcium acetate during the 12 months prior to the study.

There were no differences between dialysis modalities in serum phosphate (mg/dL) [HD: 4.59 (4.4–4.8) vs. PD: 4.73 (4.4–5.1), p = 0.294]; tCa (mg/dL) [HD: 9.13 (8.99–9.27) vs. PD: 9.03 (8.8–9.26), p > 0.460] or total 25-hydroxyvitamin D

[HD: 20.15 (17.25–23.05) vs. PD: 19.46 (17.5–21.4), p = 0.546]. However, iCa (mg/dl) levels were lower in the HD [3.52 (3.39-3.61)] vs. PD group [4.76 (4.6–4.84), p < 0.001]. In this regard, differences in the distribution of serum calcium were observed; we found a high percentage of iCa in PD patients vs. HD patients (Figure 1A). HD and PD patients presented similar iPTH (pg/ml) values [HD: 204.8 (172-237) vs. PD: 211.2 (139-283), p = 0.995]. However, there were differences in the distribution of circulating PTH fragments, which were evident when serum 1-84 PTH levels were expressed as percentage of intact PTH. 1-84 PTH as a percentage of iPTH was significantly lower in PD than in HD (Figure 1B), and 1-84 PTH/non 1-84 PTH ratio much lower in PD as compared to HD patients [PD: 0.88 (0.7-1.1) vs. HD: 1.79 (1.6-2.0), p < 0.001]. That finding was corroborated after a multivariate logistic regression analysis including age, gender, diabetes, residual renal function, dialysis vintage, serum phosphate and total serum calcium leves, and vitamin D treatment. iCa showed an inverse correlation with serum 1-84 PTH and 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio in the total study population (Table 2). Serum levels of the bone turnover



FIGURE 1 | (A) Distribution of calcium ion and calcium bound expressed as percentage of total calcium. iCa accounted for 39% of tCa in the HD group and for 53% of tCa in PD patients, P < 0.001. **(B)** Distribution of circulating PTH fragments (1-84 PTH and non- 1-84 PTH) expressed as percentage of intact PTH (1-84 PTH plus non-1-84 PTH). Percentage of 1-84 PTH in PD patients (44.0 \pm 12.28%) vs. HD patients (60.3 \pm 10.82%), p < 0.001. HD, hemodialysis; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

TABLE 2 | Correlations.

| Total group | 1-84 PTH | lpth | 1-84PTH/ non 1-84 PTH ratio |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------------|--------------------------------|
| iCa | -0.240 (P < 0.01) | -0.087 (P = 0.336) | -0.636 (P < 0.001) |
| 1-84 PTH | - | 0.975 (P < 0.001) | 0.423 (P < 0.001) |
| iPTH | - | - | 0.242 (P < 0.001) |
| βCTx | 0.441 (P < 0.001) | 0.399 (P < 0.001) | 0.280 (P < 0.001) |
| PD group βCTx | 0.472 (P < 0.001) | 0.491 (P < 0.001) | 0.114 (P = 0.411) |
| HD group βCTx | 0.429 (P < 0.001) | 0.434 (P < 0.001) | 0.106 (<i>P</i> = 0.232) |

Correlations were analyzed by Pearson's correlation. iCa, ionized calcium; β CTx, carboxy-terminal telopeptides of collagen type I; HD, hemodialysis; PD, peritoneal dialysis; NS, no significant.

marker β -CTx correlated with both 1-84 PTH and iPTH in the whole population and also in PD and in HD (**Table 2**).

In a multivariate logistic regression analysis including age, dialysis vintage, 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio, vitamin D treatment and dialysis modality, the main determinant of the percentage of calcium present as iCa (iCA/tCa ratio) was the dialysis modality. For this analysis the mean percentage of iCA/tCa ratio (0.47) was used as a cut-off point (constant: 3.91; Estimate: 0.001, 95% CI: 0.000-0.012, P < 0.001). Similarly, the main determinant of LTBD (defined as the coexistence of a 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio < 1.0 and iPTH < 420 pg/mL), was iCa concentration (**Table 3**).

There were no significant differences in the distribution of HD or PD patients into LTBD or HTBD when bone turnover was defined according to KDOQI recommended cut-off levels for iPTH, either when iPTH was normalized to Allegro iPTH values (**Figure 2A**) or when whole 1-84 PTH was normalized to Allegro iPTH values (**Figure 2B**). However, defining LTBD or HTBD according to 1-84 PTH/ non-1-84 PTH ratio for the diagnosis of bone turnover in dialysis led to a significantly higher prevalence of LTBD in PD than in HD patients (**Figure 2C**). In accordance with these findings, serum β -CTx (pmol/L) was significantly lower in the PD group [1181 (946–1393)] vs. HD

TABLE 3 | Independent contributing factors to low bone turnover disease, defined by a 1-84 PTH/ non 1-84 PTH ratio \leq 1 and iPTH < 420 pg/mL, in the multiple regression analysis.

| Coefficient | iCa | iCa* (a) | iCa* (a & v) |
|------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|
| Constant | 10.67 | 7.19 | 6.93 |
| Estimate | -9.85 | -8.68 | -8.75 |
| Exp (B) (95% CI) | 0.000 (0.000–0.002) | 0.000 (0.000–0.006) | 0.000 (0.000–0.006) |
| P-value | < 0.001 | <0.001 | < 0.001 |

iCa* (a), ionized calcium corrected by age; iCa* (a & v), ionized calcium corrected by age and dialysis vintage; iCa, ionized calcium.



patients [2084 (1633- 2238). p < 0.001], suggesting also a lower bone turnover activity in PD patients.

DISCUSSION

This study investigated differences in serum levels of different PTH fragments between PD and HD patients using solutions containing 1.75 mmol/l calcium. 1-84 PTH, as a percentage of iPTH, and 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio were lower in the PD than in the HD group. The association between 1-84

PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio and dialysis modality was corroborated by multivariate regression models. In addition, this study the concordance between different cut-off points to biochemically suspect LTBD according to guidelines or individual author's suggestions. The main finding is that there is little concordance between guideline-based cut-off points for iPTH or 1-84PTH and the proposal by Herbeth et al. based on a study of HD using a combination of iPTH and 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio (Herberth et al., 2010). A higher percentage of PD patients and a lower proportion of HD patients were diagnosed of suspected LTBD when 1-84 PTH/ non-1-84 PTH ratio were applied for the diagnosis of bone turnover in dialysis. This view would be further supported by the lower levels of serum β-CTx in PD patients. By contrast iPTH alone did not disclose differences in putative LTBD between HD and PD. Furthermore, these findings are consistent with the previous observation that high serum iPTH levels, assessed by secondgeneration assays, reflecting the sum of potentially opposing effects of 1-84 PTH and its fragments, do not correlate with histomorphometric data in patients with LTBD (Torres et al., 1995; Wang et al., 1995; Sánchez et al., 2000; Barreto et al., 2008), more frequently observed in PD patients, as well as in patients with HTBD (Herberth et al., 2009; Garrett et al., 2013). The recommendations of different guidelines on the target PTH levels are not uniform between the different guidelines an even within some guidelines; the recommended range has changed through years. In the past the aim was to maintain patients between 150 and 300 pg/ml; more recently the upper limit was increased to 6 times the upper normal (Kidney Disease, 2009). While the present study represents routine clinical practice and, thus, lacks bone biopsies to confirm LTBD, it does raise a series of issues regarding currently used cut-off points and their trustworthiness to guide therapy for secondary hyperparathyroidism. Matters are complicated by the commercial availability of different PTH assays with wide intermethod variability (Gardham et al., 2010). The individual PTH values obtained in the same sample using different assays may potentially point to opposing diagnostic and therapeutic attitudes (Souberbielle et al., 2006).

Although controversy exists, it has been proposed that assessment of the different PTH fragments may provide information on bone turnover in patients undergoing dialysis (Monier-Faugere et al., 2001; Herberth et al., 2010). According to this view, the higher percentage of PD patients with evidence of LTBD when 1-84 PTH/7-84 PTH ratio was applied for the diagnosis of bone turnover in dialysis than when iPTH criteria was applied, might represent a true higher incidence of LTBD and would point to the inaccuracy of KDOQI suggested thresholds for higher risk of LTBD. However, the lack of bone biopsy precludes confirmation of this hypothesis in the present cohort.

Renal replacement therapy is associated with net influx of Ca to the patient when dialysate calcium concentration is higher than serum calcium. Furthermore, serum iCa level in PD patients, as a consequence of its continuous nature, may be higher than in HD patients (Kurz et al., 1995) as illustrated by the present report, especially when 1.75 mmol/L calcium PD fluids are used (Hutchison et al., 1992; Weinreich et al., 1995; Sanchez et al., 2004; Haris et al., 2006; Yamamoto et al., 2008; Soroka et al., 2011; Yee-Moon Wang, 2014). Changes in serum iCa concentration are sensed by the CaSR that signals to regulate PTH secretion and regulate processing of PTH to yield different fragments (Habener et al., 1975; D'Amour et al., 1992; Brown and MacLeod, 2001; D'Amour, 2002). High serum iCa levels favor non-1-84 PTH fragments secretion over whole 1-84 PTH decreasing the 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 ratio. Thus, in our PD cohort higher serum iCa favored by the 1.75 mmol/L calcium PD fluid led to higher secretion of non–1-84 PTH fragments such as 7-84 PTH thus promoting LBTD (Slatopolsky et al., 2000; Divieti et al., 2002; Ok et al., 2016). Other factors than PTH level might regulate osteoblast function in renal osteodystrophy in PD such as high serum glucose, cytokines and local bone growth factors that decrease bone formation making LTBD.

Despite the uncertainty, given the available evidence, including the fact that the current cohort of PD patients used 1.75 mmol/L calcium PD fluid, a known risk factor for LTBD (Merle et al., 2016; Ok et al., 2016), we would concur that the combination of iPTH and 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio might be useful to diagnose LBTD also in PD patients and may be more sensitive that the iPTH currently used for this purpose.

Several weaknesses should be recognized. We did not perform bone biopsies in our population as they are not part of the current standard of care. The absence of this gold standard impedes to draw definitive conclusions about the true prevalence of LBTD in our PD patients and the relative accuracy of the combination of iPTH and 1-84 PTH/non-1-84 PTH ratio to non-invasively diagnose LBTD.

In conclusion, these findings cast doubt on the reliability of available cut-off points for PTH values that are in use or have been proposed to guide therapy for secondary hyperparathyroidism in dialysis patients. While the lack of bone biopsies does not allow to validate any of the cut-off vales as accurate, the higher iCa and lower β -CTx levels in the present cohort of PD patients are consistent with the hypothesis that conventional KDOQI cut-off points do underestimate the prevalence of LTBD in PD patients. Given that there is no biopsy, we can only conclude that there is increased likelihood of LTBD in PD patients based on biomarker using Herberth/KDOQI criteria.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CS-G, MA, VS, J-VT, and MR performed the clinical research. MG-C performed the analysis. MR wrote the manuscript. SM, AO, and EG-P corrected and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

The studies described above have been funded by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness and European Regional Development Funds (ERDF/FEDER) through ISCIII/FIS grants PI16/01298, PI17/01495, CIBERDEM and REDINREN RD016/0019 and through Madrid Renal Society (SOMANE) grants.

REFERENCES

- Barreto, F. C., Barreto, D. V., Moysés, R. M. A., Neves, K. R., Canziani, M. E. F., Draibe, S. A., et al. (2008). K/DOQI-recommendedintact PTH levels do not prevent low-turnover bone disease in hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* 73, 771–777. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002769
- Bonde, M., Qvist, P., Fledelius, C., Riis, B. J., and Christiansen, C. (1995). Applications of an enzyme immunoassay for a new marker of bone resorption (CrossLaps): follow-up on hormone replacement therapy and osteoporosis risk assessment. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 80, 864–868.
- Brown, E. M., and MacLeod, R. J. (2001). Extracellular calcium sensing and extracellular calcium signaling. *Physiol. Rev.* 81, 239–297. doi: 10.1152/physrev. 2001.81.1.239
- Couttenye, M. M., D'Haese, P. C., Deng, J. T., Van Hoof, V. O., Verpooten, G. A., and De Broe, M. E. (1997). High prevalence of adynamic bone disease diagnosed by biochemical markers in a wide sample of the european CAPD population. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 12, 2144–2150. doi: 10.1093/ndt/12.10. 2144
- D'Amour, P. (2002). Effects of acute and chronic hypercalcemia on parathyroid function and circulating parathyroid hormone molecular forms. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 146, 407–410. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1460407
- D'Amour, P., Palardy, J., Bahsali, G., Mallette, L. E., DeLean, A., and Lepage, R. (1992). The modulation of circulating parathyroid hormone immunoheterogeneity in man by ionized calcium concentration. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 75, 525–532.
- de Oliveira, R., Barreto, F., Mendes, M., dos Reis, L. M., Henrique Castro, J., Britto, Z., et al. (2015). Peritoneal dialysis per se is a risk factor for sclerostinassociated adynamic bone disease. *Kidney Int.* 87, 1039–1045. doi: 10.1038/ki. 2014.372
- Divieti, P., John, M. R., Juppner, H., and Bringhurst, F. R. (2002). Human PTH-(7-84) inhibits bone resorption in vitro via actions independent of the type 1 PTH/PTHrP receptor. *Endocrinology* 143, 171–176. doi: 10.1210/endo.143.1. 8575
- Friedman, P. A., and Goodman, W. G. (2006). PTH (1-84)/PTH (7-84): a balance of power. Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 290, F975–F984. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal. 00336.2005
- Gardham, C., Stevens, P. E., Delaney, M. P., LeRoux, M., Coleman, A., and Lamb, E. J. (2010). Variability of parathyroid hormone and other markers of bone mineral metabolism in patients receiving hemodialysis. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 5, 1261–1267. doi: 10.2215/CJN.09471209
- Garrett, G., Sardiwal, S., Lamb, E., and Goldsmith, D. (2013). PTH—A particularly tricky hormone: why measure it at all in kidney patients? *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 8, 299–312. doi: 10.2215/CJN.09580911
- González-Casaus, M. L., González-Parra, E., Sánchez-González, C., Albalate, M., de la Piedra-Gordo, C, Fernández, E., et al. (2014). A lower proportion of circulating active parathyroid hormone in peritoneal dialysis does not allow the pth inter-method adjustment proposed for haemodialysis. *Nefrologia* 34, 330–340. doi: 10.3265/Nefrologia.pre2014.Feb.12384
- Guérin, A. P., London, G. M., Marchais, S. J., and Metivier, F. (2000). Arterial stiffening and vascular calcifications in end-stage renal disease. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 15, 1014–1021. doi: 10.1093/ndt/15.7.1014
- Habener, J. F., Kemper, B., and Potts, J. T. Jr. (1975). Calcium-dependent intracellular degradation of parathyroid hormone: a possible mechanism for the regulation of hormone stores. *Endocrinology* 97, 431–441. doi: 10.1210/endo-97-2-431
- Haris, A., Sherrard, D. J., and Hercz, G. (2006). Reversal of adynamic bone disease by lowering of dialysate calcium. *Kidney Int.* 70, 931–937. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki. 5001666
- Herberth, J., Branscum, A. J., Mawad, H., Cantor, T., Monier-Faugere, M. C., and Malluche, H. H. (2010). Intact PTH combined With the PTH ratio for diagnosis of bone turnover in dialysis patients: a diagnostic test study. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 55, 897–906. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.12.041
- Herberth, J., Monier-Faugere, M. C., Mawad, H. W., Branscum, A. J., Herberth, Z., Wang, G., et al. (2009). The 5 most commonly used intact parathyroid hormone assays are useful for screening but not for diagnosing bone turnover abnormalities in CKD-5 patients. *Clin. Nephrol.* 72, 5–14. doi: 10.5414/ CNP72005

- Huan, J. X., Olgaard, K., Nielsen, L. B., and Lewin, E. (2006). Parathyroid hormone 7-84 induces hypocalcemia and inhibits the parathyroid hormone 1-84 secretory response to hypocalcemia in rats with intact parathyroid glands. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 17, 1923–1930. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005101136
- Hutchison, A. J., Freemont, A. J., Boulton, H. F., and Gokal, R. (1992). Lowcalcium dialysisfl uid and oral calcium carbonate in CAPD. A method of controllinghyperphosphataemia whilst minimizing aluminum exposure and hypercalcaemia. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 7, 1219–1225. doi: 10.1093/ndt/7. 12.1219
- Hutchison, A. J., Whitehouse, R. W., Freemont, A. J., Adams, J. E., Mawer, E. B., and Gokal, R. (1994). Histological, radiological, and biochemical features of the adynamic bone lesion in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Am. J. Nephrol.* 14, 19–29. doi: 10.1159/000168681
- Kawata, T., Imanishi, Y., Kobayashi, K., Onoda, N., Takemoto, Y., Tahara, H., et al. (2005). Direct in vitro evidence of extracellular Ca2+-induced amino-terminal truncation of human parathyroid hormone (1-84) by human parathyroid cells. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 90, 5774–5778. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0243
- Kidney Disease. (2009). Improving global outcomes (KDIGO) CKD- MBD work group. Kidney Int. Suppl. 113, S1–S130. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.188
- Kurz, P., Tsobanelis, T., Roth, P., Werner, E., Ewald, U., Grützmacher, P., et al. (1995). Differences in calcium kinetic pattern between CAPD and HD patients. *Clin. Nephrol.* 44, 255–261.
- Langub, M. C., Monier-Faugere, M. C., Wang, G., Williams, J. P., Koszewski, N. J., and Malluche, H. H. (2003). Administration of PTH-(7-84) antagonizes the effects of PTH-(1-84) on bone in rats with moderate renal failure. *Endocrinology* 144, 1135–1138. doi: 10.1210/en.2002-221026
- Levy, R., and Gal-Moscovici, A. (2008). Renal osteodysthtophy in peritoneal dialysis: special considerations. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 28(Suppl. 2), S5–S10. doi: 10. 1053/j.ackd.2017.09.008
- London, G. M., Marchais, S., Guérin, A. P., and de Vernejoul, M. C. (2015). Anklebrachial index and bone turnover in patients on dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 26, 476–483. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014020169
- London, G. M., Marty, C., Marchais, S. J., Guerin, A. P., Metivier, F., and de Vernejoul, M. C. (2004). Arterial calcifications and bone histomorphometry in end-stage renal disease. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 15, 1943–1951. doi: 10.1097/01. ASN.0000129337.50739.48
- Martin, K. J., Hruska, K. A., Freitag, J. J., Klahr, S., and Slatopolsky, E. (1979). The peripheral metabolism of parathyroid hormone. N. Engl. J. Med. 301, 1092–1098. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197911153012005
- Merle, E., Roth, H., London, G., Jean, G., Hannedouche, T., Bouchet, J. L., et al. (2016). For the french calcium and phosphate observatory. Low parathyroid hormone status induced by high dialysate calcium is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular death in hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* 89, 666–674. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.001
- Moe, S., Drueke, T., Cunningham, J., Goodman, W., Martin, K., Olgaard, K., et al. (2006). Definition, evaluation, and classification of renal osteodystrophy: a position statement from kidney disease: improving global outcomes (KDIGO). *Kidney Int.* 69, 1945–1953. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000414
- Monier-Faugere, M. C., Geng, Z., Mawad, H., Friedler, R. M., Gao, P., Cantor, T. L., et al. (2001). Improved assessment of bone turnover by the PTH-(1-84) large C-PTH fragments ratio in ESRD patients. *Kidney Int.* 60, 1460–1468. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00949.x
- National Kidney Foundation (2003). K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for bone metabolism and disease in chronic kidney disease. Bone metabolism and disease in chronic kidney disease. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 42(Suppl. 3), S1–S201.
- Ok, E., Asci, G., Bayraktaroglu, S., Toz, H., Ozkahya, M., Yilmaz, M., et al. (2016). Reduction of dialysate calcium level reduces progression of coronary artery calcification and improves low bone turnover in patients on hemodialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 2475–2486. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015030268
- Rodriguez-Perez, J. C., Plaza, C., Torres, A., Vega, N., Anabitarte, A., Fernandez, A., et al. (1992). Low turnover bone disease is the more common form of bone disease in CAPD patients. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 8, 376–380.
- Sanchez, C., Lopez-Barea, F., Sanchez-Cabezudo, J., Bajo, A., Martínez, E., and Selgas, R. (2004). For the collaborators of the multicentre study group low vs. standard calcium dialysate in peritoneal dialysis: differences in treatment, biochemistry and bone histomorphometry. A randomized multicentre study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 19, 1587–1593. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfh214

- Sánchez, M. C., Bajo, M. A., Selgas, R., Mate, A., Millán, I., Martínez, M. E., et al. (2000). Parathormone secretion in peritoneal dialysis patients with adynamic bone disease. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 36, 953–961. doi: 10.1053/ajkd.2000. 19093
- Sherrard, D. J., Hercz, G., Pei, Y., Maloney, N. A., Greenwood, C., Manuel, A., et al. (1993). The spectrum of bone disease in end-stage renal failure-an evolving disorder. *Kidney Int.* 43, 436–442. doi: 10.1038/ki.1993.64
- Slatopolsky, E., Finch, J., Clay, P., Martin, D., Sicard, G., Singer, G., et al. (2000). A novel mechanism for skeletal resistance in uremia. *Kidney Int.* 58, 753–761. doi: 10.1016/S0085-2538(15)47156-X
- Soroka, S. D., Beard, K. M., Mendelssohn, D. C., Cournoyer, S. H., Da Roza, G. A., and Geary, D. F. (2011). Mineral metabolism management in canadian peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin Nephrol.* 75, 410–415. doi: 10.5414/ CNP75410
- Souberbielle, J. C., Boutten, A., Carlier, M. C., Chevenne, D., Coumaros, G., Lawson-Body, E., et al. (2006). Inter-methodvariability in PTH measurement: implication for the care of CKD patients. *Kidney Int.* 70, 345–350. doi: 10.1038/ sj.ki.5001606
- Torres, A., Lorenzo, V., Hernández, D., Rodríguez, J. C., Concepción, M. T., Rodríguez, A. P., et al. (1995). Bone disease in predialysis, hemodialysis and CAPD patients: evidence of a better bone response to PTH. *Kidney Int.* 47, 1434–1442. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.201
- Wang, M., Hercz, G., Sherrard, D. J., Maloney, N. A., Segre, G. V., and Pei, Y. (1995). Relationship between intact 1-84 parathyroid hormone and bone histomorphometric parameters in dialysis patients without aluminum toxicity. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 26, 836–844. doi: 10.1016/0272-6386(95)90453-0

- Weinreich, T., Passlick-Deetjen, J., and Ritz, E. (1995). Collaborators of the peritoneal dialysis multicenter study group. Low dialysate calcium in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis: a randomized controlled multicenter trial. The peritoneal dialysis multicenter study group. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 25, 452–460. doi: 10.1016/0272-6386(95)90108-6
- Yamamoto, H., Kasai, K., Hamada, C., Hasegawa, H., Higuchi, C., Hiramatsu, M., et al. (2008). Differences in corrective mode for divalent ions and parathyroid hormone between standard- and low-calcium dialysate in patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis—result of a nation wide survey in japan. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 28, S128–S130.
- Yee-Moon Wang, A. (2014). Calcium balance and negative impact of calcium load in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 34, 345–352. doi: 10.3747/pdi. 2013.00177

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Sánchez-González, Gonzalez-Casaus, Sellares, Albalate, Torregrosa, Mas, Ortiz, Rodriguez and Gonzalez-Parra. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





IL-17 in Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Inflammation and Angiogenesis: Conclusions and Perspectives

Janusz Witowski^{1,2*}, Julian Kamhieh-Milz³, Edyta Kawka¹, Rusan Catar^{2,4} and Achim Jörres⁵

¹ Department of Pathophysiology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznań, Poland, ² Department of Nephrology, Medical Intensive Care, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Department of Transfusion Medicine, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany, ⁵ Department of Medicine I, Nephrology, Transplantation, Medical Intensive Care, University of Witten/Herdecke, Cologne-Merheim Medical Center, Cologne, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ovidiu Constantin Baltatu, Anhembi Morumbi University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Abdel Rahim A. Hamad, Johns Hopkins University, United States Shai Efrati, Tel Aviv University, Israel

*Correspondence:

Janusz Witowski jwitow@ump.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 07 September 2018 Accepted: 09 November 2018 Published: 26 November 2018

Citation:

Witowski J, Kamhieh-Milz J, Kawka E, Catar R and Jörres A (2018) IL-17 in Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Inflammation and Angiogenesis: Conclusions and Perspectives. Front. Physiol. 9:1694. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01694 Long-term peritoneal dialysis (PD) is associated with peritoneal membrane remodeling. This includes changes in peritoneal vasculature, which may ultimately lead to inadequate solute and water removal and treatment failure. The potential cause of such alterations is chronic inflammation induced by repeated episodes of infectious peritonitis and/or exposure to bioincompatible PD fluids. While these factors may jeopardize the peritoneal membrane integrity, it is not clear why adverse peritoneal remodeling develops only in some PD patients. Increasing evidence points to the differences that occur between patients in response to the same invading microorganism and/or the differences in the course of inflammatory reaction triggered by different species. Such differences may be related to the involvement of different inflammatory mediators. Here, we discuss the potential role of IL-17 in these processes with emphasis on its impact on peritoneal mesothelial cells and peritoneal vascularity.

Keywords: IL-17, inflammation, peritonitis, angiogenesis, fibrosis, VEGF, peritoneal dialysis

PERITONEAL MEMBRANE DYSFUNCTION IN PD

Although peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a well-established treatment modality and the most commonly practiced form of home dialysis, its penetration is well below the utilization rate of 25–30% considered as optimal (Lameire and Van Biesen, 2010). One of the barriers to PD proliferation is the fear that durability of the peritoneum is limited and that the membrane may become unable to sustain treatment at some point. It has been estimated that peritoneal membrane dysfunction is responsible for approximately 30% of all cases of technique failure (Davies et al., 2011). Indeed, longitudinal studies show that peritoneal ultrafiltration gradually decreases with time on PD (Davies et al., 1996). The onset of a decline in ultrafiltration capacity occurs usually 2–4 years after the initiation of PD (Smit et al., 2004) and appears to result from progressive membrane injury and (to some extent) from the loss of residual kidney function. Studies of peritoneal structure and function indicate that two major processes occur during long-term PD treatment: (i) changes in the peritoneal vasculature resulting in increased transport of small solutes, (ii) changes in the peritoneal interstitium leading to reduced osmotic conductance of the membrane

(Davies et al., 2011). These processes can be mediated through a number of intertwined pathophysiological mechanisms (Figure 1). By applying an extended 3-pore model of the peritoneum (Davies et al., 2011), it is possible to explain how the peritoneal membrane displays increased transport rates for small solutes and, at same time, becomes more restrictive to water flow. As the transport of small solutes down an osmotic gradient depends largely on area, formation of new blood vessels will increase the surface area available for solute diffusion. On the other hand, fibrotic thickening of the peritoneum will increase resistance to fluid flux and will ultimately decrease water flow through the interstitium. Thus, it appears that the gradual loss of peritoneal ultrafiltration with time is initially related to increased solute transport leading to proportional dissipation of the osmotic gradient. Fibrosis that develops at later stages will then uncouple the osmotic conductance from solute transport resulting in further, and disproportionately severe, reduction in ultrafiltration. In the above scenario, neovascularization plays a key role, both contributing to increased small-solute transport and fuelling fibrosis (Wynn, 2007). Indeed, it has been estimated that up to 75% of patients with ultrafiltration failure may have increased vascular area (Heimburger et al., 1990; Ho-Dac-Pannekeet et al., 1997). Moreover, peritoneal biopsies taken from PD patients show that fibrosis occurs significantly more often in the presence of vasculopathy (Williams et al., 2002), and the density of peritoneal blood vessels and submesothelial and perivascular fibrosis are significantly greater in patients with membrane failure (Mateijsen et al., 1999; Williams et al., 2002). Animal models of PD confirm the existence of inverse correlation between increased vascularization and ultrafiltration (Margetts et al., 2002). These studies also demonstrate that a decline in ultrafiltration can be partially prevented by anti-angiogenic therapy (Margetts et al., 2002).

PERITONEAL VASCULATURE DURING PD

Because the alterations in peritoneal vasculature develop in relation to the time spent on PD, their causes are likely to be therapy-related. They may include (i) exposure to PD fluid components, (ii) a progressive decline in residual renal function, and (iii) the occasional episodes of peritonitis. Although acute peritoneal inflammation may cause a profound decrease in ultrafiltration, a single and uncomplicated episode of peritonitis will usually have little long-term effect on the peritoneum (Albrektsen et al., 2004). In contrast, recurrent or clustered episodes of infection with highly pathogenic species may lead to a sustained increase in peritoneal solute transport and a permanent decrease in ultrafiltration (Davies et al., 1996; Wong et al., 2000). This effect is particularly evident in the first year of PD treatment, however, at later stages even patients who never experienced peritonitis may show a similar increase in solute transport rate (Davies et al., 2011). It appears therefore that peritonitis can exacerbate the development of membrane dysfunction over time but it is not the prime and sole determinant of the process.



dysfunction during PD. An increase in peritoneal vascularity plays a key role, as it increases vascular surface area available for the transport of small-solutes, including glucose. This leads to an early loss of the glucose osmotic gradient and a decrease in fluid removal. In addition, angiogenesis and adverse vascular remodeling promotes excessive extracellular matrix deposition and tissue fibrosis.

The components of PD solutions that may be injurious to the peritoneum include non-physiological pH (approximately 5.2), lactate buffer, increased osmolality, and high concentrations of glucose and glucose degradation products (GDPs). A longitudinal analysis has revealed that extensive use of hypertonic PD solutions with high glucose contents precedes an increase in solute transport (Davies et al., 2001). This change in membrane function may lead to less efficient ultrafiltration, which creates a vicious circle by increasing the need for more hypertonic glucose exchanges. These requirements may be further compounded by loss of residual kidney function and decreased urine output. GDPs present in PD fluids in proportion to the concentration of glucose may also contribute to membrane dysfunction by affecting the peritoneal vasculature. It has been demonstrated that GDPs can induce capillary recruitment and vasodilation (Mortier et al., 2002), as well as angiogenesis and hyperpermeability (Hirahara et al., 2006).

The direct effect of uremia on the peritoneal membrane function is less clear. It appears that in many uremic patients some changes in the peritoneum occur even before the start of PD (Williams et al., 2002). Compared with healthy individuals, such patients often have vasculopathy and significant thickening of the submesothelial compact zone (Kihm et al., 2008). These changes are generally attributed to the build-up of uremic toxins, however, their exact nature is poorly defined. The peritoneum of rats made uremic by subtotal nephrectomy shows increased permeability, focal areas of vascular proliferation (Combet et al., 2001), and interstitial fibrosis (De Vriese et al., 2006).

THE ROLE OF VEGF DURING PD

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a key mediator of pathological changes in blood vessels (Nagy et al., 2007, 2012). Its effect on peritoneal vascularity during PD can be inferred from the association between genetic polymorphisms resulting in increased VEGF production and increased transport rates for small solutes (Szeto et al., 2004). Mesothelial cells are the main source of peritoneal VEGF (Mandl-Weber et al., 2002; Gerber et al., 2006; Boulanger et al., 2007), which can be secreted in response to many stimuli. These are related to both PD fluid exposure and peritonitis (reviewed in Witowski and Jörres, 2011). Expression of the VEGF gene is tightly regulated at multiple levels, including transcription, mRNA stabilization, alternative splicing, translation, and subcellular localization (Arcondeguy et al., 2013). Owing to this complexity, the exact molecular mechanism controlling VEGF production during PD is only partially understood. We have previously demonstrated that different cytokines, which are present in the dialysate during peritonitis (e.g., IL-1β, TNFα, TGF-β, and IL-6) can regulate VEGF production by the mesothelium in a context dependent manner by engaging different sets of transcription factors (Catar et al., 2013, 2017).

SOURCES AND FUNCTION OF IL-17

The discovery of IL-17 in the 1990s opened a new chapter in immunology. It led to the identification of a distinct type of T helper (Th) cells and shed new light on the role of T cells in inflammation. IL-17 (also known as IL-17A) is the prototypic, the most potent and the best-characterized member of the IL-17 family of cytokines comprising IL-17A through IL-17F (see Beringer et al., 2016 for review). The source of IL-17 has been identified as a subset of CD4⁺ effector T cells that was designated Th17 as it was clearly different from previously known Th1 and Th2 subtypes. It has transpired that naïve CD4⁺ T cells can differentiate into various subsets of effector Th cells (Th1, Th2, and Th17) depending on the exact cytokine milieu. Each Th cell differentiation program is governed by specific transcription factors [T-bet, GATA3 and the retinoic acid-related orphan receptor-yt (RORyt), respectively] and each type of terminally differentiated Th cells produces a specific set of effector cytokines. The polarizing mediators involved at various stages of Th17 cell differentiation include TGF- β , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-21, and IL-23. These combined signals activate the transcription factor ROR-yt, which is required for the production of Th17 cell-specific effector cytokines, including IL-17, IL-22, IL-26, and CCL20 (Figure 2).

IL-17 can originate not only from Th17 cells but also from innate-like immune cells including CD8⁺ T cells, invariant natural killer T cells (iNKT), lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) cells, group 3 innate lymphoid (ILC3) cells, CD4⁻CD8⁻-double negative (DN) $\alpha\beta$ T cells, and unconventional T cells, such as $\gamma\delta$ T

cells and mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells (**Figure 3**). And it came as a surprise when the main source of IL-17 turned out to be not the expected Th17 cells but $\gamma\delta$ T cells, which constitute only a small fraction of lymphocytes. In contrast to naïve Th cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells do constitutively express IL-23R and can immediately respond to IL-23 by secreting IL-17 (Papotto et al., 2017). As IL-23 is derived mainly from sentinel cells such as dendritic cells or macrophages, IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells can also be viewed as belonging to the category of cells performing surveillance tasks and responding quickly to pathogens.

BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITY OF IL-17

By virtue of its ability to induce several cytokines and chemokines, IL-17 has typically been linked to inflammation. In this respect, IL-17 is critically involved both in essential protection against infections and in several disorders characterized by chronic inflammation. By blocking IL-17 signaling in murine models, it has been demonstrated that IL-17 contributes to host defense against extracellular bacterial and fungal pathogens. These include Klebsiella pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus, Candida albicans, Salmonella enterica, Streptococcus pneumoniae, Listeria monocytogenes, Helicobacter pylori, Citrobacter rodentium, and Trypanosoma cruzi (see Gu et al., 2013 for review). Here, IL-17 acts mainly as a potent inducer of neutrophil recruitment and granulopoiesis. It does so by promoting the release of chemokines that specifically attract neutrophils (e.g., CXCL1, CXCL6, and CXCL8) and stimulate granulopoiesis in the bone marrow (e.g., IL-6, G-CSF, and GM-CSF). Interestingly, IL-17-producing Th17 cells produce also CCL20 that serves to attract more Th17 cells to the site of inflammation (Figure 3).

Acting together with IL-22, another mediator of sentinel cells, IL-17 contributes also to the maintenance of tissue integrity by enhancing the synthesis of tight junction proteins (claudin) and a number of antimicrobial proteins such as defensins, lipocalin, lactoferrin, and regenerating (REG) and S100A proteins (Cua and Tato, 2010). Moreover, it has been shown that early innate production of IL-17 can influence the generation of antigenspecific Th17 or $\gamma\delta$ T cells and contribute to adaptive immunity. Thus generated memory cells persist as long-lived tissue-resident cells, which generate more robust effector responses enhancing pathogen clearance (Lalor and McLoughlin, 2016).

IL-17 SIGNALING

IL-17 signaling from the cognate IL-17 receptor has been partially deciphered (reviewed in Gu et al., 2013 and Song and Qian, 2013). It involves the adaptor protein Act1 as evidenced by unresponsiveness of Act1-deficient mice to IL-17 (Qian et al., 2007). Upon IL-17 stimulation Act1 recruits tumor necrosis factor receptor associated factor-6 (TRAF6) that mediates transcription of several target genes through activation of NF-κB and AP-1 transcription factors. In addition, Act1 forms a complex with TRAF5 and TRAF2 to operate



at the post-transcriptional level and control mRNA stability (Sun et al., 2011). This IL-17 function is aided by the RNAbinding protein HuR (Herjan et al., 2013). Although Act1 serves primarily as an adaptor protein linking the intracellular domain of the IL-17 receptor with transcription factors (typically of the NF- κ B pathway), it has recently been discovered that Act1 itself may exert transcriptional activity by binding to the promoter region of IL-17-responsive genes (Velichko et al., 2016). Although these mechanisms have been found to control the expression of many IL-17-induced cytokines and neutrophilattracting chemokines (Shen et al., 2006), it is not known whether they are also involved in the regulation of other IL-17 target genes that do not fall into these categories or are expressed in cell types not previously examined.

IL-17 IN THE PERITONEUM

IL-17 is virtually undetectable in a healthy human peritoneum, but it can be found in peritoneal biopsies from patients undergoing PD (Rodrigues-Diez et al., 2014). The cells expressing IL-17 were identified as predominantly Th17 cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and occasionally as mast cells and neutrophils. The appearance of these cells seemed to correlate with the duration of PD treatment and the extent of tissue fibrosis (Rodrigues-Diez et al., 2014). Using a model of daily PD fluid injections in mice (Gonzalez-Mateo et al., 2009), it has been demonstrated that after 30 days of exposure to PD fluids, but not to control saline, the peritoneum became markedly infiltrated by Th17 and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and its thickness increased in correlation with the levels of IL-17 in the peritoneal cavity (Rodrigues-Diez et al., 2014). Moreover, this increased presence of IL-17-producing cells was associated

with increased activity of IL-6, TGF-β, and RORyt, all being instrumental in differentiating Th17 cells. To confirm that IL-17 did indeed contribute to PD fluid-induced alterations, the same experiments were performed in the presence of anti-IL-17 antibodies. These studies showed that the neutralization of anti-IL-17 alleviated the extent of peritoneal fibrosis. Conversely, repeated intraperitoneal administration of exogenous IL-17 led to increased expression of several fibrosis-related genes (fibronectin, TGF- β , α -smooth muscle actin, and fibroblast specific protein-1) and build-up of extracellular matrix (Rodrigues-Diez et al., 2014). Interestingly, a study assessing paricalcitol, a synthetic activator of vitamin D receptor, showed that in the same experimental setting in mice the addition of paricalcitol to PD fluids reduced the extent of peritoneal fibrosis (Gonzalez-Mateo et al., 2014). This effect was attributed partially to inhibition of IL-17-mediated responses as both the numbers of IL-17producing T cells and the intraperitoneal IL-17 concentrations were significantly reduced (Figure 4).

As indicated earlier, MAIT cells can be another important source of IL-17 (Xiao and Cai, 2017). Like $\gamma\delta$ T cells, they accumulate in the peritoneum of patients receiving PD and expand significantly during infections caused by pathogens producing appropriate ligands (Liuzzi et al., 2016). Less clear is the role of IL-17-producing DN T cells in the dialyzed peritoneum. Their contribution to intraperitoneal IL-17 can be surmised from the observation that DN T cells accumulate and secrete IL-17 in the peritoneum of mice infected with *L. monocytogenes* (Riol-Blanco et al., 2010). It will be interesting to see whether DN T cells infiltrate the peritoneum as a result of kidney failure and uremia. In this respect, it has been demonstrated in murine models that DN T cells expand in the



kidney after acute ischemia-reperfusion injury (Martina et al., 2016) and are an important subset of IL-17-producing cells in the inflamed kidney (Turner et al., 2012).

It is thought that the differentiation of Th17 cells and their activity during PD can be critically modulated by regulatory T cells (Treg) (Liappas et al., 2015). In this respect, CD69, a membrane glycoprotein induced rapidly on lymphocytes upon activation, has been implicated in promoting Treg development and limiting Th17 differentiation (Martin et al., 2010). In comparison with wild-type mice, the exposure of $cd69^{-/-}$ mice to PD fluids for 40 days led to an increase in Th17/Treg ratio and, consequently, to augmented Th17 cell infiltration and increased IL-17 production and peritoneal fibrosis (Liappas et al., 2016). Significantly, exacerbated fibrosis in $cd69^{-/-}$ mice could be alleviated by the blockade of IL-17. On the other hand, the effects seen in $cd69^{-/-}$ mice could be reproduced in wild-type mice by intraperitoneal administration of CD69-neutralizing antibodies. Similar results were achieved by transplantation of a mixture of bone marrow cells obtained from $Rag2^{-/-}vc^{-/-}$ double mutant mice and from either $cd69^{-/-}$ or wild-type animals. As $Rag2^{-/-}\gamma c^{-/-}$ mice lack lymphocytes, these were derived only from $cd69^{-/-}$ or wild-type mice. This elegant

strategy made it possible to demonstrate that CD69 expression in the lymphocytic rather than myeloid compartment of the bone marrow is responsible for controlling Th17 cells (Liappas et al., 2016).

Interestingly, CD69 appears to be constitutively expressed at low levels by tissue-resident memory T (T_{RM}) cells and by nonrecirculating sessile innate-like lymphocyte subsets, including $\gamma\delta$ T cells and MAIT cells (Kimura et al., 2017). The exact role of CD69 expression on these cells is not fully understood, but it appears to be important for cell retention in tissues (Kimura et al., 2017). There is a growing appreciation of the contribution of tissue-resident lymphocytes both to the maintenance of tissue homeostasis and to swift response to infection (Fan and Rudensky, 2016; Gebhardt et al., 2018). In this respect, it has been observed that $\gamma\delta$ T cells in mice rapidly produced IL-17 in response to peritoneal infection with *E. coli*, which preceded the influx of neutrophils (Shibata et al., 2007).

It has been proposed that supplementation of PD fluids with the dipeptide alanyl-glutamine (Ala-Gln) could restore an impaired stress response in peritoneal cells and improve peritoneal host defense (Kratochwill et al., 2012, 2016). Indeed, the administration of Ala-Gln to rats and mice treated with



solute transport. In this respect, we previously demonstrated that peritoneal inflammation is linked with angiogenesis through IL-6- and TGF-β-induced VEGF production involving c-Fos and SP4 transcription factors. In rodents, the attenuation of IL-17-mediated responses reduces the extent of peritoneal fibrosis.

PD-fluids markedly reduced the associated peritoneal fibrosis (Ferrantelli et al., 2016). Interestingly, this effect was paralleled by a reduction in peritoneal IL-17 expression and was thus attributed to inhibition of IL-17-driven reactions.

While the above studies clearly documented the peritoneal expansion of IL-17-producing cells in animals infused repeatedly with PD fluids, it remains to be determined, which PD fluid components are responsible for the effect. It has recently been observed that the fraction of IL-17-expressing T cells in peritoneal lavage fluid was greater in mice treated for 8 weeks with a conventional lactate-based PD solution with low pH and high GDP contents than in mice treated with a new neutralpH low-GDP solution buffered with a mixture of lactate and bicarbonate (Vila et al., 2018). The new solution is viewed as more biocompatible and its use has also been associated with an increase in the dialysate levels of cancer antigen 125 (CA125) (Jones et al., 2001; Fusshoeller et al., 2004; Pajek et al., 2008). As CA125 is thought to reflect mesothelial cells mass (Krediet, 2001), one may hypothesize that less IL-17-mediated inflammation contributes to a better preserved mesothelium.

Clinical PD is frequented by episodes of peritonitis. It has been observed that the effluent concentrations of IL-17 in stable PD patients are very low (typically <5 pg/ml) but increase manyfold at the onset of peritonitis (Lin et al., 2013; Zhang et al.,

2017). The magnitude of this increase depends clearly on the class of an invading microorganism; the highest IL-17 levels were recorded during peritonitis caused by Gram-positive bacteria other than streptococci and coagulase-negative staphylococci (e.g., by S. aureus) (Zhang et al., 2017). Moreover, it has been reported that patients with a delayed response to seemingly adequate antibiotic treatment had persistently low IL-17 levels (Wang et al., 2011). These observations suggest that IL-17 is an important component of peritoneal host defense. In this respect, it has recently been demonstrated that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the predominant source of IL-17 during S. aureus-induced peritonitis in mice (Murphy et al., 2014). Intriguingly, there were two waves of $\gamma\delta$ T cell recruited with two distinct $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets involved. An initial rapid influx of $V\gamma 1^+$ and $V\gamma 2^+$ cells was followed by a more sustained infiltration by $V\gamma 4^+$ cells. These $V\gamma 4^+$ cells were retained in the peritoneum and responded by augmented IL-17 production during secondary infection. This led to increased phagocyte recruitment and enhanced bacterial clearance. Accordingly, transfer of S. aureus-primed $V\gamma 4^+$ T cells to naïve hosts offered protection against S. aureus infection.

On the other hand, it has been observed that extensive peritoneal accumulation of IL-17-producing cells after infection or surgical injury may precede formation of peritoneal adhesions and intra-abdominal abscesses (Chung et al., 2002, 2003).



These could be prevented by neutralization of either IL-17 or IL-17-induced CXC chemokines that promote intraperitoneal neutrophil trafficking (Chung et al., 2002). In this respect, we have demonstrated that the peritoneal mesothelium is the main source of CXC chemokines released in response to IL-17 (Witowski et al., 2000). Moreover, IL-17-treated peritoneal mesothelial cells secrete G-CSF that acts to sustain neutrophil production (Witowski et al., 2007). In addition, we have previously demonstrated that mesothelial cells are the main source of intraperitoneal IL-6 (Witowski et al., 1996), which can exert some effects through so-called IL-6 *trans*-signaling (Chalaris et al., 2011). These include selective recruitment of T-cells into the peritoneal membrane (McLoughlin et al., 2005) and maintenance of their Th17 phenotype (Jones et al., 2010).

IL-17 IN ANGIOGENESIS

It has long been suspected that IL-17 may impact on the vasculature, as it can induce CXC chemokines with a characteristic ELR (glutamic acid-leucine-arginine) motif, which are potent angiogenesis promoters (Keeley et al., 2011). These chemokines, including CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL6, and CXCL8, act via the receptor CXCR2 on endothelial cells stimulating their migration and proliferation. The angiogenic activity of ELR⁺-CXC chemokines has been documented in several animal models of disease, including cancer, corneal neovascularization, and fibrosis (reviewed in Strieter et al., 2007; Keeley et al., 2011, and Santoni et al., 2014). The potential role of IL-17 in angiogenesis was further inferred from the observations that microvessel density in tumors correlated with the number of infiltrating IL-17-producing cells (Numasaki et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2009; Wakita et al., 2010; He et al., 2011; Meng et al., 2012; Pan et al., 2015a; Huang et al., 2016). Moreover, it has been found that IL-17-transfected cancer cells formed larger and more vascularized tumors when transplanted in mice (Numasaki et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2016), and these effects could be significantly abrogated by the blockade of the CXCR2 receptor. Similarly, an increase in synovial vascularization observed in IL-17-induced arthritis in mice could be reduced by the administration of antibodies against the ELR⁺ chemokine CXCL5 (Pickens et al., 2011).

Less clear is the relationship between IL-17 and VEGF. It has been reported that serum concentrations of IL-17 and VEGF correlate both with each other and with adverse prognosis in patients with colorectal (Liu et al., 2011) and non-small cell lung cancer (Pan et al., 2015a). In this respect, IL-17 has been shown to directly induce VEGF in several malignant cell lines, including gastric (Meng et al., 2012), breast (Amara et al., 2016), and lung cancer (Pan et al., 2015b; Huang et al., 2016), as well as in tumor-associated neutrophils (Benevides et al., 2015). IL-17 can also stimulate VEGF release by normal fibroblasts from the lung, skin, and cornea (Numasaki et al., 2004, 2016; Suryawanshi et al., 2012), by synoviocytes (Honorati et al., 2006; Ryu et al., 2006), and chondrocyte-like cells from the nucleus pulposus (Hu et al., 2016). Such an effect, however, does not seem to be a general phenomenon, as VEGF secretion was not detected in IL-17-stimulated dermal microvascular endothelial cells (Takahashi et al., 2005) and in a number of cancer cell lines (Wu et al., 2016). In the latter, the absence of VEGF induction was attributed to the lack or weak expression of functional IL-17 receptor (Wu et al., 2016).

The exact mechanism of VEGF induction in cells responsive to IL-17 is poorly understood. It appears to be largely cell type-dependent. Few reports presented to date indicate that the regulation of IL-17-VEGF axis may occur via either STAT3- (Pan et al., 2015b; Hu et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2016) or STAT1-controlled (Huang et al., 2016) pathways. Interestingly, it has been suggested that IL-17-stimulated STAT3 activation in some cells required IL-6 induction (Wang et al., 2009). However, in other cells types (e.g., in corneal stromal fibroblasts) IL-17-induced VEGF production did not appear to be related to IL-6 and could not be inhibited by the IL-6 receptor blockade (Suryawanshi et al., 2012). The relationship between IL-17 and VEGF in tumor microenvironment may become even more complex during anti-VEGF therapy. It has been demonstrated that treatment with anti-VEGF drugs leads to an increase in IL-17 in the tumor micro-environment, which initiates a paracrine network that elicits an angiogenic response independently of VEGF and thus contributes to drug resistance (Chung et al., 2013).

IL-17 AND PERITONEAL VASCULATURE

IL-17 can affect peritoneal vasculature through at least three mechanisms, all involving mesothelial cells (Figure 5). Firstly,

REFERENCES

- Albrektsen, G. E., Wideroe, T. E., Nilsen, T. I., Romundstad, P., Radtke, M., Hallan, S., et al. (2004). Transperitoneal water transport before, during, and after episodes with infectious peritonitis in patients treated with CAPD. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 43, 485–491. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.10.043
- Amara, S., Alotaibi, D., and Tiriveedhi, V. (2016). NFAT5/STAT3 interaction mediates synergism of high salt with IL-17 towards induction of VEGF-A expression in breast cancer cells. *Oncol. Lett.* 12, 933–943. doi: 10.3892/ol.2016. 4713
- Arcondeguy, T., Lacazette, E., Millevoi, S., Prats, H., and Touriol, C. (2013). VEGF-A mRNA processing, stability and translation: a paradigm for intricate regulation of gene expression at the post-transcriptional level. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 7997–8010. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt539
- Benevides, L., da Fonseca, D. M., Donate, P. B., Tiezzi, D. G., De Carvalho, D. D., de Andrade, J. M., et al. (2015). IL17 promotes mammary tumor progression by changing the behavior of tumor cells and eliciting tumorigenic neutrophils recruitment. *Cancer Res.* 75, 3788–3799. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0054

IL-17 can stimulate mesothelial cells to produce ELR⁺ CXC chemokines such as CXCL1 (GRO α) and CXCL8 (IL-8), which – in addition to being powerful neutrophil chemoattractants – do possess angiogenic activity. Secondly, IL-17 can stimulate mesothelial cells to release IL-6. During peritonitis mesothelial cell-derived IL-6 interacts with soluble IL-6 receptor shed from neutrophils and the complex activates mesothelial cells to produce VEGF. Finally, IL-17 can probably directly induce VEGF in mesothelial cells through as yet undefined mechanism.

It is not known what determines the choice of a given pathway *in vivo*. It is probably the presence of a specific combination of cytokines which drives a particular mechanism in mesothelial cells. Not only may such a cytokine cocktail promote differentiation of IL-17-producing cells, but also modulate the effector functions of IL-17. For example, TNF α can synergistically amplify IL-17-induced CXCL1 secretion through both transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms involving stabilization of mRNA transcripts (Sun et al., 2011). Thus, this specific cytokine microenvironment (with IL-17 included) may arise in response to different types of infection and determine the course of inflammation and lead ultimately to changes in peritoneal vasculature.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EK, RC, and JW searched the literature and performed the experiments that suggested the mechanisms depicted in **Figure 5**. JK-M prepared the graphics. JW designed the paper and drafted the manuscript. JW and AJ wrote the manuscript. All authors revised, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

JW and EK were supported by the Polish National Science Centre grant (#2016/23/B/NZ4/03711).

- Beringer, A., Noack, M., and Miossec, P. (2016). IL-17 in chronic inflammation: from discovery to targeting. *Trends Mol. Med.* 22, 230–241. doi: 10.1016/j. molmed.2016.01.001
- Boulanger, E., Grossin, N., Wautier, M. P., Taamma, R., and Wautier, J. L. (2007). Mesothelial RAGE activation by AGEs enhances VEGF release and potentiates capillary tube formation. *Kidney Int.* 71, 126–133. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002016
- Catar, R., Witowski, J., Wagner, P., Annett, S. I, Kawka, E., Philippe, A., et al. (2013). The proto-oncogene c-Fos transcriptionally regulates VEGF production during peritoneal inflammation. *Kidney Int.* 84, 1119–1128. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.217
- Catar, R., Witowski, J., Zhu, N., Lucht, C., Derrac, S. A., Uceda, F. J., et al. (2017). IL-6 trans-signaling links inflammation with angiogenesis in the peritoneal membrane. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28, 1188–1199. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015101169
- Chalaris, A., Garbers, C., Rabe, B., Rose-John, S., and Scheller, J. (2011). The soluble Interleukin 6 receptor: generation and role in inflammation and cancer. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 90, 484–494. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2010.10.007
- Chung, A. S., Wu, X., Zhuang, G., Ngu, H., Kasman, I., Zhang, J., et al. (2013). An interleukin-17-mediated paracrine network promotes tumor resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1114–1123. doi: 10.1038/nm.3291

- Chung, D. R., Chitnis, T., Panzo, R. J., Kasper, D. L., Sayegh, M. H., and Tzianabos, A. O. (2002). CD4⁺ T cells regulate surgical and postinfectious adhesion formation. J. Exp. Med. 195, 1471–1478. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020028
- Chung, D. R., Kasper, D. L., Panzo, R. J., Chtinis, T., Grusby, M. J., Sayegh, M. H., et al. (2003). CD4⁺ T cells mediate abscess formation in intra-abdominal sepsis by an IL-17-dependent mechanism. *J. Immunol.* 170, 1958–1963. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.170.4.1958
- Combet, S., Ferrier, M. L., Van Landschoot, M., Stoenoiu, M., Moulin, P., Miyata, T., et al. (2001). Chronic uremia induces permeability changes, increased nitric oxide synthase expression, and structural modifications in the peritoneum. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 2146–2157.
- Cua, D. J., and Tato, C. M. (2010). Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 479–489. doi: 10.1038/nri2800
- Davies, S. J., Bryan, J., Phillips, L., and Russell, G. I. (1996). Longitudinal changes in peritoneal kinetics: the effects of peritoneal dialysis and peritonitis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 11, 498–506. doi: 10.1093/ndt/11.3.498
- Davies, S. J., Mushahar, L., Yu, Z., and Lambie, M. (2011). Determinants of peritoneal membrane function over time. *Semin. Nephrol.* 31, 172–182. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2011.01.006
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (2001). Peritoneal glucose exposure and changes in membrane solute transport with time on peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 1046–1051.
- De Vriese, A. S., Tilton, R. G., Mortier, S., and Lameire, N. H. (2006). Myofibroblast transdifferentiation of mesothelial cells is mediated by RAGE and contributes to peritoneal fibrosis in uraemia. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 21, 2549–2555. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl271
- Fan, X., and Rudensky, A. Y. (2016). Hallmarks of tissue-resident lymphocytes. *Cell* 164, 1198–1211. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.048
- Ferrantelli, E., Liappas, G., Vila, C. M., Keuning, E. D., Foster, T. L., Vervloet, M. G., et al. (2016). The dipeptide alanyl-glutamine ameliorates peritoneal fibrosis and attenuates IL-17 dependent pathways during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 89, 625–635. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.005
- Fusshoeller, A., Plail, M., Grabensee, B., and Plum, J. (2004). Biocompatibility pattern of a bicarbonate/lactate-buffered peritoneal dialysis fluid in APD: a prospective, randomized study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 19, 2101–2106. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfh326
- Gebhardt, T., Palendira, U., Tscharke, D. C., and Bedoui, S. (2018). Tissueresident memory T cells in tissue homeostasis, persistent infection, and cancer surveillance. *Immunol. Rev.* 283, 54–76. doi: 10.1111/imr.12650
- Gerber, S. A., Rybalko, V. Y., Bigelow, C. E., Lugade, A. A., Foster, T. H., Frelinger, J. G., et al. (2006). Preferential attachment of peritoneal tumor metastases to omental immune aggregates and possible role of a unique vascular microenvironment in metastatic survival and growth. Am. J. Pathol. 169, 1739–1752. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.051222
- Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Fernandez-Millara, V., Bellon, T., Liappas, G., Ruiz-Ortega, M., Lopez-Cabrera, M., et al. (2014). Paricalcitol reduces peritoneal fibrosis in mice through the activation of regulatory T cells and reduction in IL-17 production. *PLoS One* 9:e108477. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108477
- Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Loureiro, J., Jimenez-Hefferman, J. A., Bajo, M. A., Selgas, R., Lopez-Cabrera, M., et al. (2009). Chronic exposure of mouse peritoneum to peritoneal dialysis fluid: structural and functional alterations of the peritoneal membrane. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 29, 227–230.
- Gu, C., Wu, L., and Li, X. (2013). IL-17 family: cytokines, receptors and signaling. *Cytokine* 64, 477–485. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2013.07.022
- He, S., Fei, M., Wu, Y., Zheng, D., Wan, D., Wang, L., et al. (2011). Distribution and clinical significance of Th17 cells in the tumor microenvironment and peripheral blood of pancreatic cancer patients. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 12, 7424–7437. doi: 10.3390/ijms12117424
- Heimburger, O., Waniewski, J., Werynski, A., Tranaeus, A., and Lindholm, B. (1990). Peritoneal transport in CAPD patients with permanent loss of ultrafiltration capacity. *Kidney Int.* 38, 495–506. doi: 10.1038/ki. 1990.231
- Herjan, T., Yao, P., Qian, W., Li, X., Liu, C., Bulek, K., et al. (2013). HuR is required for IL-17-induced Act1-mediated CXCL1 and CXCL5 mRNA stabilization. *J. Immunol.* 191, 640–649. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203315
- Hirahara, I., Kusano, E., Yanagiba, S., Miyata, Y., Ando, Y., Muto, S., et al. (2006). Peritoneal injury by methylglyoxal in peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 26, 380–392.

- Ho-Dac-Pannekeet, M. M., Atasever, B., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (1997). Analysis of ultrafiltration failure in peritoneal dialysis patients by means of standard peritoneal permeability analysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 17, 144–150.
- Honorati, M. C., Neri, S., Cattini, L., and Facchini, A. (2006). Interleukin-17, a regulator of angiogenic factor release by synovial fibroblasts. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 14, 345–352. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2005.10.004
- Hu, B., Wang, J., Wu, X., Chen, Y., Yuan, W., and Chen, H. (2016). Interleukin-17 upregulates vascular endothelial growth factor by activating the JAK/STAT pathway in nucleus pulposus cells. *Joint Bone Spine* 84, 327–334. doi: 10.1016/j. jbspin.2016.05.014
- Huang, Q., Duan, L., Qian, X., Fan, J., Lv, Z., Zhang, X., et al. (2016). IL-17 promotes angiogenic factors IL-6, IL-8, and Vegf production via Stat1 in lung adenocarcinoma. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36551. doi: 10.1038/srep36551
- Jones, G. W., McLoughlin, R. M., Hammond, V. J., Parker, C. R., Williams, J. D., Malhotra, R., et al. (2010). Loss of CD4⁺ T cell IL-6R expression during inflammation underlines a role for IL-6 trans signaling in the local maintenance of Th17 cells. J. Immunol. 184, 2130–2139. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901528
- Jones, S., Holmes, C. J., Krediet, R. T., Mackenzie, R., Faict, D., Tranaeus, A., et al. (2001). Bicarbonate/lactate-based peritoneal dialysis solution increases cancer antigen 125 and decreases hyaluronic acid levels. *Kidney Int.* 59, 1529–1538. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.0590041529.x
- Keeley, E. C., Mehrad, B., and Strieter, R. M. (2011). Chemokines as mediators of tumor angiogenesis and neovascularization. *Exp. Cell Res.* 317, 685–690. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.10.020
- Kihm, L. P., Wibisono, D., Muller-Krebs, S., Pfisterer, F., Morath, C., Gross, M. L., et al. (2008). RAGE expression in the human peritoneal membrane. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 23, 3302–3306. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn272
- Kimura, M. Y., Hayashizaki, K., Tokoyoda, K., Takamura, S., Motohashi, S., and Nakayama, T. (2017). Crucial role for CD69 in allergic inflammatory responses: CD69-Myl9 system in the pathogenesis of airway inflammation. *Immunol. Rev.* 278, 87–100. doi: 10.1111/imr.12559
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Gruber, K., Lichtenauer, A. M., Kuster, L., et al. (2016). Addition of alanyl-glutamine to dialysis fluid restores peritoneal cellular stress responses - a first-in-man trial. *PLoS One* 11:e0165045. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0165045
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Lichtenauer, A. M., Salzer, E., Lechner, M., et al. (2012). Alanyl-glutamine dipeptide restores the cytoprotective stress proteome of mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluids. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 937–946. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr459
- Krediet, R. T. (2001). Dialysate cancer antigen 125 concentration as marker of peritoneal membrane status in patients treated with chronic peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 21, 560–567.
- Lalor, S. J., and McLoughlin, R. M. (2016). Memory gammadelta T cells-newly appreciated protagonists in infection and immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 37, 690–702. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.07.006
- Lameire, N., and Van Biesen, W. (2010). Epidemiology of peritoneal dialysis: a story of believers and nonbelievers. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 6, 75–82. doi: 10.1038/nrneph. 2009.210
- Liappas, G., Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Majano, P., Sanchez-Tomero, J. A., Ruiz-Ortega, M., Rodrigues, D. R., et al. (2015). T helper 17/regulatory t cell balance and experimental models of peritoneal dialysis-induced damage. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2015:416480. doi: 10.1155/2015/416480
- Liappas, G., Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Sanchez-Diaz, R., Lazcano, J. J., Lasarte, S., Matesanz-Marin, A., et al. (2016). Immune-regulatory molecule CD69 controls peritoneal fibrosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 3561–3576. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2015080909
- Lin, C. Y., Roberts, G. W., Kift-Morgan, A., Donovan, K. L., Topley, N., and Eberl, M. (2013). Pathogen-specific local immune fingerprints diagnose bacterial infection in peritoneal dialysis patients. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 24, 2002–2009. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013040332
- Liu, J., Duan, Y., Cheng, X., Chen, X., Xie, W., Long, H., et al. (2011). IL-17 is associated with poor prognosis and promotes angiogenesis via stimulating VEGF production of cancer cells in colorectal carcinoma. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 407, 348–354. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.03.021
- Liuzzi, A. R., Kift-Morgan, A., Lopez-Anton, M., Friberg, I. M., Zhang, J., Brook, A. C., et al. (2016). Unconventional human T cells accumulate at the site of infection in response to microbial ligands and induce local tissue remodeling. *J. Immunol.* 197, 2195–2207. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600990

- Mandl-Weber, S., Cohen, C. D., Haslinger, B., Kretzler, M., and Sitter, T. (2002). Vascular endothelial growth factor production and regulation in human peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Kidney Int.* 61, 570–578. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755. 2002.00143.x
- Margetts, P. J., Gyorffy, S., Kolb, M., Yu, L., Hoff, C. M., Holmes, C. J., et al. (2002). Antiangiogenic and antifibrotic gene therapy in a chronic infusion model of peritoneal dialysis in rats. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 721–728.
- Martin, P., Gomez, M., Lamana, A., Cruz-Adalia, A., Ramirez-Huesca, M., Ursa, M. A., et al. (2010). CD69 association with Jak3/Stat5 proteins regulates Th17 cell differentiation. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 30, 4877–4889. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00456-10
- Martina, M. N., Noel, S., Saxena, A., Bandapalle, S., Majithia, R., Jie, C., et al. (2016). Double-negative alphabeta T cells are early responders to AKI and are found in human kidney. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 27, 1113–1123. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2014121214
- Mateijsen, M. A., van der Wal, A. C., Hendriks, P. M., Zweers, M. M., Mulder, J., Struijk, D. G., et al. (1999). Vascular and interstitial changes in the peritoneum of CAPD patients with peritoneal sclerosis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 19, 517–525.
- McLoughlin, R. M., Jenkins, B. J., Grail, D., Williams, A. S., Fielding, C. A., Parker, C. R., et al. (2005). IL-6 trans-signaling via STAT3 directs T cell infiltration in acute inflammation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 9589–9594. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0501794102
- Meng, X. Y., Zhou, C. H., Ma, J., Jiang, C., and Ji, P. (2012). Expression of interleukin-17 and its clinical significance in gastric cancer patients. *Med. Oncol.* 29, 3024–3028. doi: 10.1007/s12032-012-0273-1
- Mortier, S., De Vriese, A. S., Van de Voorde, J., Schaub, T. P., Passlick-Deetjen, J., and Lameire, N. H. (2002). Hemodynamic effects of peritoneal dialysis solutions on the rat peritoneal membrane: role of acidity, buffer choice, glucose concentration, and glucose degradation products. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 13, 480–489.
- Murphy, A. G., O'Keeffe, K. M., Lalor, S. J., Maher, B. M., Mills, K. H., and McLoughlin, R. M. (2014). *Staphylococcus aureus* infection of mice expands a population of memory gammadelta T cells that are protective against subsequent infection. *J. Immunol.* 192, 3697–3708. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1303420
- Nagy, J. A., Dvorak, A. M., and Dvorak, H. F. (2007). VEGF-A and the induction of pathological angiogenesis. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* 2, 251–275. doi: 10.1146/annurev. pathol.2.010506.134925
- Nagy, J. A., Dvorak, A. M., and Dvorak, H. F. (2012). Vascular hyperpermeability, angiogenesis, and stroma generation. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a006544. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006544
- Numasaki, M., Fukushi, J., Ono, M., Narula, S. K., Zavodny, P. J., Kudo, T., et al. (2003). Interleukin-17 promotes angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Blood* 101, 2620–2627. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-05-1461
- Numasaki, M., Lotze, M. T., and Sasaki, H. (2004). Interleukin-17 augments tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced elaboration of proangiogenic factors from fibroblasts. *Immunol. Lett.* 93, 39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2004.01.014
- Numasaki, M., Tsukamoto, H., Tomioka, Y., Nishioka, Y., and Ohrui, T. (2016). A Heterodimeric cytokine, consisting of IL-17A and IL-17F, promotes migration and capillary-like tube formation of human vascular endothelial cells. *Tohoku J. Exp. Med.* 240, 47–56. doi: 10.1620/tjem.240.47
- Numasaki, M., Watanabe, M., Suzuki, T., Takahashi, H., Nakamura, A., McAllister, F., et al. (2005). IL-17 enhances the net angiogenic activity and in vivo growth of human non-small cell lung cancer in SCID mice through promoting CXCR-2-dependent angiogenesis. J. Immunol. 175, 6177–6189. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.9.6177
- Pajek, J., Kveder, R., Bren, A., Gucek, A., Ihan, A., Osredkar, J., et al. (2008). Shortterm effects of a new bicarbonate/lactate-buffered and conventional peritoneal dialysis fluid on peritoneal and systemic inflammation in CAPD patients: a randomized controlled study. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 28, 44–52.
- Pan, B., Che, D., Cao, J., Shen, J., Jin, S., Zhou, Y., et al. (2015a). Interleukin-17 levels correlate with poor prognosis and vascular endothelial growth factor concentration in the serum of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Biomarkers* 20, 232–239. doi: 10.3109/1354750X.2015.1068853
- Pan, B., Shen, J., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Shang, L., Jin, S., et al. (2015b). Interleukin-17 promotes angiogenesis by stimulating VEGF production of cancer cells via the STAT3/GIV signaling pathway in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Sci. Rep.* 5:16053. doi: 10.1038/srep16053

- Papotto, P. H., Ribot, J. C., and Silva-Santos, B. (2017). IL-17⁺ gammadelta T cells as kick-starters of inflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 18, 604–611. doi: 10.1038/ni. 3726
- Pickens, S. R., Chamberlain, N. D., Volin, M. V., Gonzalez, M., Pope, R. M., Mandelin, A. M., et al. (2011). Anti-CXCL5 therapy ameliorates IL-17-induced arthritis by decreasing joint vascularization. *Angiogenesis* 14, 443–455. doi: 10.1007/s10456-011-9227-z
- Qian, Y., Liu, C., Hartupee, J., Altuntas, C. Z., Gulen, M. F., Jane-Wit, D., et al. (2007). The adaptor Act1 is required for interleukin 17-dependent signaling associated with autoimmune and inflammatory disease. *Nat. Immunol.* 8, 247–256. doi: 10.1038/ni1439
- Riol-Blanco, L., Lazarevic, V., Awasthi, A., Mitsdoerffer, M., Wilson, B. S., Croxford, A., et al. (2010). IL-23 receptor regulates unconventional IL-17producing T cells that control bacterial infections. *J. Immunol.* 184, 1710–1720. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902796
- Rodrigues-Diez, R., Aroeira, L. S., Orejudo, M., Bajo, M. A., Heffernan, J. J., Rodrigues-Diez, R. R., et al. (2014). IL-17A is a novel player in dialysis-induced peritoneal damage. *Kidney Int.* 86, 303–315. doi: 10.1038/ki.2014.33
- Ryu, S., Lee, J. H., and Kim, S. I. (2006). IL-17 increased the production of vascular endothelial growth factor in rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes. *Clin. Rheumatol.* 25, 16–20. doi: 10.1007/s10067-005-1081-1
- Santoni, M., Bracarda, S., Nabissi, M., Massari, F., Conti, A., Bria, E., et al. (2014). CXC and CC chemokines as angiogenic modulators in nonhaematological tumors. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2014;768758. doi: 10.1155/2014/768758
- Shen, F., Hu, Z., Goswami, J., and Gaffen, S. L. (2006). Identification of common transcriptional regulatory elements in interleukin-17 target genes. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 24138–24148. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M604597200
- Shibata, K., Yamada, H., Hara, H., Kishihara, K., and Yoshikai, Y. (2007). Resident Vdelta1⁺ gammadelta T cells control early infiltration of neutrophils after *Escherichia coli* infection via IL-17 production. *J. Immunol.* 178, 4466–4472. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4466
- Smit, W., Schouten, N., van den, B. N., Langedijk, M. J., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2004). Analysis of the prevalence and causes of ultrafiltration failure during long-term peritoneal dialysis: a cross-sectional study. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 24, 562–570.
- Song, X., and Qian, Y. (2013). IL-17 family cytokines mediated signaling in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases. *Cell Signal*. 25, 2335–2347. doi: 10.1016/ j.cellsig.2013.07.021
- Strieter, R. M., Gomperts, B. N., and Keane, M. P. (2007). The role of CXC chemokines in pulmonary fibrosis. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 549–556. doi: 10.1172/ JCI30562
- Sun, D., Novotny, M., Bulek, K., Liu, C., Li, X., and Hamilton, T. (2011). Treatment with IL-17 prolongs the half-life of chemokine CXCL1 mRNA via the adaptor TRAF5 and the splicing-regulatory factor SF2 (ASF). *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 853– 860. doi: 10.1038/ni.2081
- Suryawanshi, A., Veiga-Parga, T., Reddy, P. B., Rajasagi, N. K., and Rouse, B. T. (2012). IL-17A differentially regulates corneal vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A and soluble VEGF receptor 1 expression and promotes corneal angiogenesis after herpes simplex virus infection. J. Immunol. 188, 3434–3446. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102602
- Szeto, C. C., Chow, K. M., Poon, P., Szeto, C. Y., Wong, T. Y., and Li, P. K. (2004). Genetic polymorphism of VEGF: impact on longitudinal change of peritoneal transport and survival of peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* 65, 1947–1955. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00605.x
- Takahashi, H., Numasaki, M., Lotze, M. T., and Sasaki, H. (2005). Interleukin-17 enhances bFGF-, HGF- and VEGF-induced growth of vascular endothelial cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 98, 189–193. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2004.11.012
- Turner, J. E., Krebs, C., Tittel, A. P., Paust, H. J., Meyer-Schwesinger, C., Bennstein, S. B., et al. (2012). IL-17A production by renal gammadelta T cells promotes kidney injury in crescentic GN. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23, 1486–1495. doi: 10. 1681/ASN.2012010040
- Velichko, S., Zhou, X., Zhu, L., Anderson, J. D., Wu, R., and Chen, Y. (2016). A novel nuclear function for the interleukin-17 signaling adaptor protein Act1. *PLoS One* 11:e0163323. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163323
- Vila, C. M., Keuning, E. D., Talhout, W., Paauw, N. J., van Ittersum, F. J., ter Wee, P. M., et al. (2018). Differences in peritoneal response after exposure to low-GDP bicarbonate/lactate-buffered dialysis solution compared to conventional

dialysis solution in a uremic mouse model. Int. Urol. Nephrol. 50, 1151–1161. doi: 10.1007/s11255-018-1872-3

- Wakita, D., Sumida, K., Iwakura, Y., Nishikawa, H., Ohkuri, T., Chamoto, K., et al. (2010). Tumor-infiltrating IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells support the progression of tumor by promoting angiogenesis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 40, 1927–1937. doi: 10.1002/eji.200940157
- Wang, H. H., Lee, T. Y., and Lin, C. Y. (2011). Kinetics and involvement of interleukin-17 in the outcome of peritonitis in nondiabetic patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. J. Chin. Med. Assoc. 74, 11–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jcma.2011. 01.002
- Wang, L., Yi, T., Kortylewski, M., Pardoll, D. M., Zeng, D., and Yu, H. (2009). IL-17 can promote tumor growth through an IL-6-Stat3 signaling pathway. J. Exp. Med. 206, 1457–1464. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090207
- Williams, J. D., Craig, K. J., Topley, N., Von Ruhland, C., Fallon, M., Newman, G. R., et al. (2002). Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 470–479.
- Witowski, J., and Jörres, A. (2011). "Angiogenic activity of the peritoneal mesothelium: implications for peritoneal dialysis," in *Progress in Peritoneal Dialysis*, ed. R. T. Krediet (Rijeka: In-Tech), 61–74.
- Witowski, J., Jörres, A., Coles, G. A., Williams, J. D., and Topley, N. (1996). Superinduction of IL-6 synthesis in human peritoneal mesothelial cells is related to the induction and stabilization of IL-6 mRNA. *Kidney Int.* 50, 1212–1223. doi: 10.1038/ki.1996.430
- Witowski, J., Ksiazek, K., Warnecke, C., Kuzlan, M., Korybalska, K., Tayama, H., et al. (2007). Role of mesothelial cell-derived granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in interleukin-17-induced neutrophil accumulation in the peritoneum. *Kidney Int.* 71, 514–525. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002082
- Witowski, J., Pawlaczyk, K., Breborowicz, A., Scheuren, A., Kuzlan-Pawlaczyk, M., Wisniewska, J., et al. (2000). IL-17 stimulates intraperitoneal neutrophil infiltration through the release of GRO alpha chemokine from mesothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 165, 5814–5821. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.10. 5814

- Wong, T. Y., Szeto, C. C., Lai, K. B., Lam, C. W., Lai, K. N., and Li, P. K. (2000). Longitudinal study of peritoneal membrane function in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis: relationship with peritonitis and fibrosing factors. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 20, 679–685.
- Wu, X., Yang, T., Liu, X., Guo, J. N., Xie, T., Ding, Y., et al. (2016). IL-17 promotes tumor angiogenesis through Stat3 pathway mediated upregulation of VEGF in gastric cancer. *Tumour Biol.* 37, 5493–5501. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4372-4
- Wynn, T. A. (2007). Common and unique mechanisms regulate fibrosis in various fibroproliferative diseases. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 524–529. doi: 10.1172/JCI31487
- Xiao, X., and Cai, J. (2017). Mucosal-associated invariant T Cells: new insights into antigen recognition and activation. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1540. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2017.01540
- Zhang, J., Friberg, I. M., Kift-Morgan, A., Parekh, G., Morgan, M. P., Liuzzi, A. R., et al. (2017). Machine-learning algorithms define pathogen-specific local immune fingerprints in peritoneal dialysis patients with bacterial infections. *Kidney Int.* 92, 179–191. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.01.017
- Zhang, J. P., Yan, J., Xu, J., Pang, X. H., Chen, M. S., Li, L., et al. (2009). Increased intratumoral IL-17-producing cells correlate with poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *J. Hepatol.* 50, 980–989. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep. 2008.12.033

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Witowski, Kamhieh-Milz, Kawka, Catar and Jörres. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Preventing Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Fibrosis by Therapeutic Blunting of Peritoneal Toll-Like Receptor Activity

Anne-Catherine Raby and Mario O. Labéta*

The Wales Kidney Research Unit, Division of Infection and Immunity, School of Medicine, Cardiff University, Cardiff, United Kingdom

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is an essential daily life-saving treatment for end-stage renal failure. PD therapy is limited by peritoneal inflammation, which leads to peritoneal membrane failure as a result of progressive fibrosis. Peritoneal infections, with the concomitant acute inflammatory response and membrane fibrosis development, worsen PD patient outcomes. Patients who remain infection-free, however, also show evidence of inflammation-induced membrane damage and fibrosis, leading to PD cessation. In this case, uraemia, prolonged exposure to bio-incompatible PD solutions and surgical catheter insertion have been reported to induce sterile peritoneal inflammation and fibrosis as a result of cellular stress or tissue injury. Attempts to reduce inflammation (either infection-induced or sterile) and, thus, minimize fibrosis development in PD have been hampered because the immunological mechanisms underlying this PDassociated pathology remain to be fully defined. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are central to mediating inflammatory responses by recognizing a wide variety of microorganisms and endogenous components released following cellular stress or generated as a consequence of extracellular matrix degradation during tissue injury. Given the close link between inflammation and fibrosis, recent investigations have evaluated the role that TLRs play in infection-induced and sterile peritoneal fibrosis development during PD. Here, we review the findings and discuss the potential of reducing peritoneal TLR activity by using a TLR inhibitor, soluble TLR2, as a therapeutic strategy to prevent PD-associated peritoneal fibrosis.

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, inflammation, peritoneal fibrosis, toll-like receptors, soluble toll-like receptor 2

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD), an essential therapy for end-stage kidney disease, depends on the integrity of the peritoneal membrane. Despite advantages over other dialysis techniques, PD failure due to peritoneal membrane damage remains the major limiting factor (Davies et al., 1999; Williams et al., 2003; Cho et al., 2014). Damage is driven by local peritoneal inflammation, which results in structural alterations of the peritoneal membrane, typically fibrosis – thickening of the sub-mesothelial compact zone – and vascular damage. This leads to altered solute transport through the membrane and dialysis failure (Lambie et al., 2013; Fielding et al., 2014).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Christoph Aufricht, Medizinische Universität Wien, Austria Bruno Vogt, University of Bern, Switzerland

> ***Correspondence:** Mario O. Labéta Labeta@cardiff.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 10 August 2018 Accepted: 09 November 2018 Published: 27 November 2018

Citation:

Raby A-C and Labéta MO (2018) Preventing Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Fibrosis by Therapeutic Blunting of Peritoneal Toll-Like Receptor Activity. Front. Physiol. 9:1692. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01692

Peritoneal infections and the concomitant inflammation resulting from the activity of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) derived from microbial components, are believed to be responsible for 20-40% of PD failure (Cho et al., 2014; Pajek et al., 2014). However, peritoneal inflammation and fibrosis are also observed in PD patients without defined infectious episodes (Tomino, 2012; Cho et al., 2014). In this case, uraemia, prolonged exposure to bio-incompatible PD fluids and surgical catheter insertion have all been reported to induce sterile peritoneal inflammation, fibrosis and membrane failure by promoting tissue damage and cellular stress. This leads to the release and/or generation of endogenous cellular components and matrix degradation products, acting as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). The DAMPs trigger pro-inflammatory and profibrotic responses (Anders and Schaefer, 2014) that result in local angiogenesis, vasculopathy, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in mesothelial cells and collagen deposition in the sub-mesothelial compact zone (Flessner et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2012; Tomino, 2012; Cho et al., 2014; Strippoli et al., 2016).

The immune mechanisms linking infection-induced or sterile inflammation with the onset, development and regulation of PD-associated peritoneal fibrosis are poorly defined and thus the focus of intense investigation (Fielding et al., 2014; Liappas et al., 2015, 2016; Raby et al., 2018). Consequently, effective therapies to prevent PD-associated fibrosis remain to be developed.

Critical to triggering pro-inflammatory responses is the activity of the Toll-like family of innate immune receptors (TLRs) (Kawai and Akira, 2010; Kawasaki and Kawai, 2014). TLRs are expressed in a variety of cell types, including peritoneal leukocytes and mesothelial cells (Colmont et al., 2011; Raby et al., 2017). They recognize a wide range of microorganisms and their PAMPs (e.g., lipopolysaccharide/endotoxin/LPS; lipopeptides) as well as DAMPs released as a consequence of cellular stress [e.g., High Mobility Group Box-1 (HMGB-1); heat shock proteins (Hsp)], or generated following extracellullar matrix degradation during tissue damage (e.g., hyaluronan, fibronectin) (Chen and Nuñez, 2010; Anders and Schaefer, 2014). TLR triggering results in the production of potent pro-inflammatory and fibrotic mediators, e.g., IL-6, TGF-β, TNF-α, IL-8, IFN- γ , and IL-1 β (Fielding et al., 2014; Kawasaki and Kawai, 2014).

Inappropriate TLR activation may result in serious inflammatory conditions, therefore, they are being considered as therapeutic targets for the prevention and/or treatment of a number of inflammatory pathologies (Riedemann et al., 2003; Kanzler et al., 2007; Mollnes et al., 2008; Dunne et al., 2011; Raby et al., 2013). Given the close link between inflammation and fibrosis, and the recognized involvement of TLRs in tissue fibrosis (Anders and Schaefer, 2014), we recently assessed the role that TLRs play in peritoneal fibrosis development during PD (Raby et al., 2017, 2018). Here, we review the findings and discuss the potential of reducing peritoneal TLR activity by using the soluble form of TLR2, a TLR modulator, as a therapeutic strategy to prevent PD-associated peritoneal fibrosis.

CRITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF TLR2 AND TLR4 TO PD-ASSOCIATED PERITONEAL MACROPHAGE AND MESOTHELIAL CELL PRO-INFLAMMATORY AND FIBROTIC RESPONSES

TLR2- and TLR4-Mediated Peritoneal Macrophage and Mesothelial Cell Responses to Infection

Recent studies have focused on TLR2 and TLR4, as these TLRs recognize the widest range of microbial components involved in PD-associated infections and are also the main TLRs involved in sterile inflammatory responses (Anders and Schaefer, 2014; Kawasaki and Kawai, 2014).

Consistent with their expression detected in PD effluent (PDE)-isolated uremic leukocytes, TLR2 and TLR4 were found to mediate pro-inflammatory (IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α) and fibrotic (TGF- β , IL-6, IL-13, MMP1, MMP3, MMP9, and TIMP-1) responses in PDE leukocytes stimulated with the Grampositive bacterium *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, Pam₃-Cys-Ser-(Lys)₄ (Pam₃Cys, a synthetic bacterial lipopeptide) – both TLR2 agonists – the Gram-negative bacterium *Escherichia coli* and the Gram-negative bacterial cell-wall component LPS – both TLR4 agonists. Macrophages were the main cell type responsible for the observed leukocyte responses, consistent with their high TLR receptor expression compared with lymphocytes (Raby et al., 2017).

Similar to peritoneal leukocytes, human peritoneal mesothelial cells (HPMC, from greater omentum) were found to respond to Pam₃Cys, *S. epidermidis* and *E. coli*, but not to LPS. HPMC's lack of response to LPS reflected the documented lack of TLR4 expression in HPMC (Colmont et al., 2011). However, HPMC responded to *E. coli*, most likely by recognizing bacterial lipopeptides through TLR2 and flagellin – the protein component of the flagellum of Gram-negative bacteria – through TLR5 expressed in these cells (Colmont et al., 2011).

In vivo studies confirmed the critical role that TLR2 and TLR4 play in infection-induced peritoneal inflammation and fibrosis (Raby et al., 2017). A mouse model of peritoneal inflammation and fibrosis induced by repeated intraperitoneal injections of S. epidermidis (TLR2 agonist) or E. coli (TLR4 agonist) was used. This model mimics the typical clinical episodes of recurrent bacterial peritonitis leading to peritoneal fibrosis observed in PD patients (Fielding et al., 2014). Repeated injection of S. epidermidis in wild-type (WT) mice resulted in substantial peritoneal fibrosis, whereas S. epidermidis injection in TLR2-deficient mice did not result in fibrosis development (Figure 1A). By contrast, injection of E. coli in TLR4-deficient mice resulted in a partial reduction in fibrosis when compared with WT mice (Figure 1B). This is consistent with the possibility that E. coli-induced pro-fibrotic responses may involve other receptors (e.g., TLR2, TLR5) in addition to TLR4. Together, these findings indicated a major role for TLR2 and to a lesser extent for TLR4 in bacteria-induced peritoneal fibrosis associated



with PD, and pointed at controlling infection-induced TLRmediated activation as a potential therapeutic against peritoneal fibrosis.

TLR2- and TLR4-Mediated Peritoneal Macrophage and Mesothelial Cell Responses to PD Solutions

The role of TLR2 and TLR4 in sterile inflammatory and fibrotic responses of peritoneal cells resulting from exposure to PD solutions (PDS) was also evaluated (Raby et al., 2018). A number of PDS elicited pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic responses (CXCL-8/IL-8, IL-6, TNF- α , TGF- β , and IL-1 β) from PDE-isolated uremic peritoneal leukocytes and mesothelial cells (from greater omentum), including those glucose-based (1.36 and 2.27% glucose Dianeal[®], Physioneal[®], Stay Safe[®]) or icodextrinbased (Extraneal[®]), having low pH (Dianeal[®], Extraneal[®], Stay Safe[®]) or physiologic pH (Physioneal[®]).

Interestingly, analysis of the expression of inflammatory and immunity-related genes in uremic peritoneal leukocytes and HPMC exposed from 16 h to low glucose Dianeal[®] (1.36% glucose), a commonly used PDS, showed substantial modulation of a number of genes. In leukocytes, 15 genes were found significantly up-regulated by Dianeal[®], and only 5 were down-modulated. The transcripts up-modulated by PDS included those coding for inflammatory mediators (CXCL8/IL-8, TNF- α , IFN- γ , monocyte chemoattractant CCL2/MCP-1, the chemokine receptor CCR4, IL-1 β) as well as for TLR2, TLR1, and TLR6 (TLR2 signaling partners), TLR3 and TLR signal intermediates.

In HPMC, 8 genes were found up-regulated and 6 downregulated following exposure to Dianeal[®]. The transcripts for the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 α , IL-1 β , and CXCL8/IL-8 were strongly up-modulated, whereas that for CXCL10/IL-10 – an anti-inflammatory cytokine – was found down-modulated. Fibrosis-related gene expression analysis in Dianeal[®]-exposed HPMC – the cell type that contributes to peritoneal fibrosis by acquiring a fibroblastic phenotype following epithelial-to-mesenchymal transdifferentiation (EMT) – showed a 3-fold increase in *VGEFA* (main isoform of VGEF) expression and a reduction in *E-cadherin*, both effects indicating EMT (Yung and Chan, 2012; Ruiz-Carpio et al., 2017).

Notably, peritoneal leukocyte TLR2 or TLR4 blocking with specific monoclonal antibodies inhibited the pro-inflammatory cytokine release induced by Dianeal[®], and the extent of the inhibition depended on the PD patient tested. Simultaneous blocking of TLR2 and TLR4 resulted in a stronger inhibition of a number of pro-inflammatory and fibrotic cytokines released by the PDS-exposed uremic peritoneal leukocytes. TLR2 blockade in PDS-exposed HPMC also showed a significant reduction in pro-inflammatory mediator release. Together, these findings indicated that peritoneal TLR2 and TLR4 control inflammatory and fibrotic responses to PDS exposure.

Interestingly, it was found that the cellular stress resulting from PDS exposure induces DAMP generation which in turn triggers TLR2 and TLR4 activation, and that the PDS does not contain pre-existing components capable of TLR activation. Of note, Hsp70 and low (~33 kDa) and medium (~289 kDa) molecular mass hyaluronan (HA) were identified as the main PDS-induced DAMPs. They elicited inflammatory responses from peritoneal cells through TLR2/TLR4 activation, as Hsp70 and HA are ligands of both TLR2 and TLR4 and their specific inhibition reduced PDS-induced inflammation in peritoneal leukocytes.

It is worth noting that, in addition to eliciting inflammatory responses, heat-shock proteins have shown cytoprotective activity against cytotoxicity resulting from PDS exposure (Kratochwill et al., 2009). It is believed that peritoneal damage due to PD exposure may reflect an imbalance between cellular injury-induced inflammation and cytoprotective processes. The extracellular exposure to otherwise intracellular cytoprotective molecules such as Hsp70, released as a consequence of tissue damage/cell death, may trigger DAMP signals leading to proinflammatory responses and exacerbating peritoneal damage (Kratochwill et al., 2011).



FIGURE 2 Therapeutic potential of soluble Toll-like receptor 2 (sTLR2) against bacteria- and PD solution-induced peritoneal fibrosis development. (**A**,**B**) mice (n = 5 per group) were inoculated intraperitoneally 4 times at weekly intervals with *S. epidermidis* (*S. epi.*, 5×10^8 CFU/mouse) or *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*, 2×10^7 CFU/mouse) in the presence or absence of sTLR2 (250 ng/mouse), or left untreated (control). Four weeks after the last injection, histological analysis of the peritoneal membrane was conducted and the thickness of the sub-mesothelial compact zone (SMC) was determined. Bar plots show the mean (\pm SEM) of SMC thickness in each experimental group. * P < 0.05; ****, P < 0.005. (**C**,**D**) Mice were instilled twice daily with 2 ml of PBS (n = 5) or Fresenius Standard glucose solution (PDS, n = 8) in the presence or absence of sTLR2 for 40 days before sacrifice, tissue sample collection and histological analysis of the peritoneal membrane for SMC thickness determination. Results show the mean (\pm SEM) for each experimental group. *P < 0.05; ***P < 0.01. Scatter plots in (**D**) show the effect of PDS on the expression of fibrosis-related genes in the absence and presence of sTLR2, as assessed by quantitative RT-PCR on RNA extracted from peritoneal membrane samples. Dotted lines indicate the 0.5 and 2 fold change thresholds. Open circles outside the dotted lines correspond to genes modulated in a non-statistically significant manner. Adapted with permission from Raby et al. (2018).

These findings suggested that inhibiting DAMP-TLR associations may have therapeutic potential against peritoneal fibrosis induced by PDS exposure.

THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF SOLUBLE TLR2 AGAINST INFECTION-INDUCED AND STERILE PERITONEAL INFLAMMATION AND FIBROSIS ASSOCIATED WITH PD

The therapeutic potential of inhibiting infection- or PDS-induced TLR activation to prevent peritoneal fibrosis development was evaluated by testing the ability of soluble Toll-like receptor 2 (sTLR2), a TLR inhibitor, to regulate peritoneal inflammation. It is well documented that sTLR2 reduces TLR-mediated inflammation by both acting as a decoy receptor, binding to TLR2 ligands, and by interfering with the co-receptor activity of CD14, the main co-receptor for most TLRs (Lebouder et al., 2003; Raby et al., 2009, 2013).

Inhibitory Effect of sTLR2 on PD-Associated Peritoneal Infection-Induced Inflammation and Fibrosis

When administered together with the repeated peritoneal injection of *S. epidermidis* in mice, sTLR2, was found to prevent fibrosis development (**Figure 2A**; Raby et al., 2017). This effect was accompanied by a substantial reduction of inflammatory parameters, including the peritoneal levels of a number of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, neutrophils (PMN) and monocytes at the peak time of their influx to the peritoneum as well as the prototypical pro-fibrotic cytokine TGF- β . Of note, in spite of reducing inflammation and phagocyte recruitment, the capacity of the mice to clear the infection was not found affected by the presence of sTLR2, as no difference in bacterial load (peritoneum and blood) between mice treated and non-treated with sTLR2 was observed.

Fibrosis-related gene transcripts were also markedly inhibited by sTLR2 administration. Of the 85 genes tested, 21 were found markedly up-regulated by *S. epidermidis*, and sTLR2 reduced this effect in 18 of them. The transcripts reduced by sTLR2 included *Fasl*, central to apoptosis, which impairs bacterial clearance during PD (Hohlbaum et al., 2001; Catalan et al., 2003); *STAT-1*, a critical signal intermediate for fibrosis development (Fielding et al., 2014), and *IL-6* – a major promoter of peritoneal fibrosis (Fielding et al., 2014). Notably, sTLR2 counteracted *S. epidermidis*' negative effect on matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) Mmp-1, Mmp-3 and Mmp-9, and *S. epidermidis*' positive effect on Mmp-13 and the MMP inhibitor Timp-1 (Raby et al., 2017).

Of note, peritoneal fibrosis induced by Gram-negative bacteria was also inhibited by sTLR2, as simultaneous peritoneal inoculation of sTLR2 with the repeated injection of *E. coli* resulted in reduced peritoneal fibrosis (**Figure 2B**). This reflects the fact that, in spite of not acting as a TLR decoy receptor

for most Gram-negative bacterial components, sTLR2 can still reduce TLR-mediated fibrotic signaling induced by Gramnegative bacteria by inhibiting CD14, a co-receptor for most TLRs (Raby et al., 2009), including TLR4. Thus, peritoneal fibrosis resulting from repeated peritoneal bacterial infections like those associated with PD can be inhibited by sTLR2 by acting on a variety of pro-inflammatory and fibrotic mediators, but notably, without affecting infection clearance.

Inhibitory Effect of sTLR2 on PDS-Induced Peritoneal Inflammation and Fibrosis

The therapeutic potential of sTLR2 against inflammation and fibrosis development resulting from prolonged peritoneal exposure to PDS was tested in a murine model of sterile peritoneal fibrosis consisting of daily peritoneal catheter infusions of a standard PDS (Raby et al., 2018). This mouse model mimics the changes in the peritoneal membrane (morphological and functional) observed in non-infected patients on PD (Gonzalez-Mateo et al., 2009; Loureiro et al., 2011). The peritoneal administration of sTLR2 together with the PDS twice weekly prevented the development of peritoneal fibrosis (Figure 2C). In agreement with this finding, sTLR2 was found to suppress the PDS-induced increased expression of inflammatory and fibrotic mediators (TNF-a, IL-1B, KC, IL-6, and IFN- γ). The suppressive effect of sTLR2 on inflammatory mediators correlated with a substantial reduction in the number of peritoneal leukocytes and the percentage of infiltrating neutrophils in particular (Raby et al., 2018). Notably, sTLR2 counteracted the negative effect of PDS on regulatory T cell (Treg) numbers, recovering their numbers to the levels observed following PBS inoculation. Tregs, an anti-inflammatory T cell subset, control T cell expansion, including that of Th17 cells, an inflammatory T cell subset involved in peritoneal damage and fibrosis development (Liappas et al., 2016). sTLR2's positive effect on Treg cells resulted in an increased in the Treg:Th17 ratio.

Analysis of fibrosis-related gene transcripts in mice peritoneal membranes carried out after the last inoculation of PDS+sTLR2 showed that sTLR2 also counteracted the positive effect of PDS on mRNA coding for several inflammatory mediators and fibrosis markers (**Figure 2D**). Of the 85 genes tested, 29 were markedly up-regulated by PDS at this time point, and sTLR2 was found to reduce this effect in 27 of them, including in the transcripts for FasL, STAT-1, IFN- γ , MMPs, TIMP1/3, TGF- β , IL-1 β , and TNF- α . Thus, the development of peritoneal fibrosis by long exposure to PDS can be prevented by administering sTLR2, which inhibits pro-inflammatory and fibrotic mediator production and controls the expansion of inflammatory cells.

CONCLUSION

The results of recent investigations reviewed here revealed the critical role that peritoneal TLR2 and TLR4, main members of the Toll-like family of innate immune receptors, play in mediating inflammation and fibrosis induced either by recurrent peritoneal infections during PD or prolonged exposure to PD

solutions. Furthermore, the investigations showed the potential of a novel therapeutic strategy that targets TLRs to blunt peritoneal inflammation and thus prevent fibrosis development (either infection-induced or sterile) during PD by the use of a decoy receptor, sTLR2. This soluble receptor also inhibits the activity of CD14, the common TLR co-receptor. Thus, sTLR2 can reduce pro-inflammatory and fibrotic responses to different pathogens (e.g., Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria) and their PAMPs and to endogenous TLR ligands (DAMPs) activating different TLRs, not only TLR2. These findings pave the way for future clinical trials to test the clinical efficacy of sTLR2 as a therapy for patients in long-term PD.

Notably, the preclinical studies showed that peritoneal inflammation and fibrosis induced by bacteria in mice can be inhibited by sTLR2 without affecting the animal's capacity to resolve the infection. Given that PD patients are prone to infections, this ability of sTLR2 would be advantageous when comparing with complete TLR blockade-based therapies, e.g., by combination of anti-TLR2 and -TLR4 antibodies (Lima et al., 2015), as these may have a detrimental effect on infection clearance. However, preclinical studies have shown the potential of combining anti-TLR2 and TLR4 antibodies with antibiotics to reduce inflammation whilst controlling infection (Spiller et al., 2008; Lima et al., 2015). Thus, a comparative evaluation of the efficacy of both TLR-targeting therapeutic strategies in PD models of infection/fibrosis will be required. Similarly, the efficacy of sTLR2 as a treatment for established fibrosis and membrane failure remains to be evaluated, since in the reported studies sTLR2 was inoculated together with the infecting bacteria or the PD solution in an initially healthy peritoneal membrane.

REFERENCES

- Anders, H. J., and Schaefer, L. (2014). Beyond tissue injury-damage-associated molecular patterns, toll-like receptors, and inflammasomes also drive regeneration and fibrosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 25, 1387–1400. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2014010117
- Blobe, G. C., Schiemann, W. P., and Lodish, H. F. (2000). Role of transforming growth factor beta in human disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 342, 1350–1358. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200005043421807
- Catalan, M. P., Esteban, J., Subira, D., Egido, J., Ortiz, A., and Grupo De Estudios Peritoneales De Madrid Friat/Irsin (2003). Inhibition of caspases improves bacterial clearance in experimental peritonitis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 23, 123–126.
- Chen, G. Y., and Nuñez, G. (2010). Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 826–837. doi: 10.1038/nri2873
- Cho, Y., Hawley, C. M., and Johnson, D. W. (2014). Clinical causes of inflammation in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Int. J. Nephrol.* 2014:909373. doi: 10.1155/2014/ 909373
- Colmont, C. S., Raby, A. C., Dioszeghy, V., Lebouder, E., Foster, T. L., Jones, S. A., et al. (2011). Human peritoneal mesothelial cells respond to bacterial ligands through a specific subset of Toll-like receptors. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 4079–4090. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr217
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Griffiths, A. M., Russell, L. H., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (1999). Impact of peritoneal membrane function on long-term clinical outcome in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 19(Suppl. 2), S91–S94.
- Duman, S., Gunal, A. I., Sen, S., Asci, G., Ozkahya, M., Terzioglu, E., et al. (2001). Does enalapril prevent peritoneal fibrosis induced by hypertonic (3.86%) peritoneal dialysis solution? *Perit. Dial. Int.* 21, 219–224.
- Dunne, A., Marshall, N. A., and Mills, K. H. (2011). TLR based therapeutics. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 11, 404–411. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2011.03.004

The pro-fibrotic cytokine TGF- β has been a main target for therapeutic interventions. Inhibition of its synthesis or activity showed promising effects (Duman et al., 2001; Margetts et al., 2002; Kyuden et al., 2005; Loureiro et al., 2011; Tomino, 2012; Zhang et al., 2014; Nongnuch et al., 2015). However, given TGF- β pleiotropic functions, its blockade is potentially hazardous (Blobe et al., 2000; Yoshimura et al., 2010), and it is just one of several mediators of fibrosis acting down-stream of TLR activation.

Thus, the reported sTLR2-based anti-fibrotic strategy may be a valuable complement to antibiotic therapies during PD infections, to biocompatible PDS or to PDS supplemented with immunomodulatory dipeptides to mitigate the PDS' adverse effects (Ferrantelli et al., 2016). sTLR2 may also be useful in other inflammatory conditions associated with PD, for example to help reduce the increased risk of cardiovascular diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML proposed the subject and conceived the general structure of the review. A-CR and ML revised the existing literature and contributed to all the sections.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the Kidney Research UK, Health and Care Research Wales (The Wales Kidney Research Unit) and The National Institute of Social Care and Health Research (NISCHR), Wales.

- Ferrantelli, E., Liappas, G., Vila Cuenca, M., Keuning, E. D., Foster, T. L., Vervloet, M. G., et al. (2016). The dipeptide alanyl-glutamine ameliorates peritoneal fibrosis and attenuates IL-17 dependent pathways during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 89, 625–635. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.005
- Fielding, C. A., Jones, G. W., Mcloughlin, R. M., Mcleod, L., Hammond, V. J., Uceda, J., et al. (2014). Interleukin-6 signaling drives fibrosis in unresolved inflammation. *Immunity* 40, 40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.022
- Flessner, M. F., Credit, K., Henderson, K., Vanpelt, H. M., Potter, R., He, Z., et al. (2007). Peritoneal changes after exposure to sterile solutions by catheter. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 2294–2302. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006121417
- Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Loureiro, J., Jimenez-Hefferman, J. A., Bajo, M. A., Selgas, R., Lopez-Cabrera, M., et al. (2009). Chronic exposure of mouse peritoneum to peritoneal dialysis fluid: structural and functional alterations of the peritoneal membrane. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 29, 227–230.
- Hohlbaum, A. M., Gregory, M. S., Ju, S. T., and Marshak-Rothstein, A. (2001). Fas ligand engagement of resident peritoneal macrophages in vivo induces apoptosis and the production of neutrophil chemotactic factors. *J. Immunol.* 167, 6217–6224. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.11.6217
- Johnson, D. W., Brown, F. G., Clarke, M., Boudville, N., Elias, T. J., Foo, M. W., et al. (2012). Effects of biocompatible versus standard fluid on peritoneal dialysis outcomes. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23, 1097–1107. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011121201
- Kanzler, H., Barrat, F. J., Hessel, E. M., and Coffman, R. L. (2007). Therapeutic targeting of innate immunity with Toll-like receptor agonists and antagonists. *Nat. Med.* 13, 552–559. doi: 10.1038/nm1589
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2010). The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 373–384. doi: 10.1038/ni.1863
- Kawasaki, T., and Kawai, T. (2014). Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Front. Immunol. 5:461. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00461

- Kratochwill, K., Lechner, M., Lichtenauer, A. M., Herzog, R., Lederhuber, H. C., Siehs, C., et al. (2011). Interleukin-1 receptor-mediated inflammation impairs the heat shock response of human mesothelial cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* 178, 1544– 1555. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.12.034
- Kratochwill, K., Lechner, M., Siehs, C., Lederhuber, H. C., Rehulka, P., Endemann, M., et al. (2009). Stress responses and conditioning effects in mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluid. *J. Proteome Res.* 8, 1731– 1747. doi: 10.1021/pr800916s
- Kyuden, Y., Ito, T., Masaki, T., Yorioka, N., and Kohno, N. (2005). Tgf-beta1 induced by high glucose is controlled by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor and angiotensin II receptor blocker on cultured human peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 25, 483–491.
- Lambie, M., Chess, J., Donovan, K. L., Kim, Y. L., Do, J. Y., Lee, H. B., et al. (2013). Independent effects of systemic and peritoneal inflammation on peritoneal dialysis survival. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 24, 2071–2080. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2013030314
- Lebouder, E., Rey-Nores, J. E., Rushmere, N. K., Grigorov, M., Lawn, S. D., Affolter, M., et al. (2003). Soluble forms of Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 capable of modulating TLR2 signaling are present in human plasma and breast milk. *J. Immunol.* 171, 6680–6689. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.12.6680
- Liappas, G., Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Majano, P., Sanchez-Tomero, J. A., Ruiz-Ortega, M., Rodrigues Diez, R., et al. (2015). T Helper 17/regulatory t cell balance and experimental models of peritoneal dialysis-induced damage. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:416480. doi: 10.1155/2015/416480
- Liappas, G., Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Sanchez-Diaz, R., Lazcano, J. J., Lasarte, S., Matesanz-Marin, A., et al. (2016). Immune-Regulatory Molecule CD69 Controls Peritoneal Fibrosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 3561–3576. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2015080909
- Lima, C. X., Souza, D. G., Amaral, F. A., Fagundes, C. T., Rodrigues, I. P., Alves-Filho, J. C., et al. (2015). Therapeutic effects of treatment with anti-tlr2 and anti-tlr4 monoclonal antibodies in polymicrobial sepsis. *PLoS One* 10:e0132336. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132336
- Loureiro, J., Aguilera, A., Selgas, R., Sandoval, P., Albar-Vizcaino, P., Perez-Lozano, M. L., et al. (2011). Blocking TGF-beta1 protects the peritoneal membrane from dialysate-induced damage. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 22, 1682–1695. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2010111197
- Margetts, P. J., Gyorffy, S., Kolb, M., Yu, L., Hoff, C. M., Holmes, C. J., et al. (2002). Antiangiogenic and antifibrotic gene therapy in a chronic infusion model of peritoneal dialysis in rats. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 721–728.
- Mollnes, T. E., Christiansen, D., Brekke, O. L., and Espevik, T. (2008). Hypothesis: combined inhibition of complement and CD14 as treatment regimen to attenuate the inflammatory response. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 632, 253–263. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-78952-1_18
- Nongnuch, A., Assanatham, M., Panorchan, K., and Davenport, A. (2015). Strategies for preserving residual renal function in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin. Kidney J.* 8, 202–211. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfu140
- Pajek, J., Hutchison, A. J., Bhutani, S., Brenchley, P. E., Hurst, H., Perme, M. P., et al. (2014). Outcomes of peritoneal dialysis patients and switching to hemodialysis: a competing risks analysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 34, 289–298. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012. 00248
- Raby, A. C., Colmont, C. S., Kift-Morgan, A., Kohl, J., Eberl, M., Fraser, D., et al. (2017). Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 are potential therapeutic targets in peritoneal dialysis-associated fibrosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28, 461–478. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2015080923

- Raby, A. C., Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Williams, A., Topley, N., Fraser, D., Lopez-Cabrera, M., et al. (2018). Targeting Toll-like receptors with soluble Toll-like receptor 2 prevents peritoneal dialysis solution-induced fibrosis. *Kidney Int.* 94, 346–362. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.03.014
- Raby, A. C., Holst, B., Le Bouder, E., Diaz, C., Ferran, E., Conraux, L., et al. (2013). Targeting the TLR co-receptor CD14 with TLR2-derived peptides modulates immune responses to pathogens. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 5:185ra164. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.3005544
- Raby, A. C., Le Bouder, E., Colmont, C., Davies, J., Richards, P., Coles, B., et al. (2009). Soluble TLR2 reduces inflammation without compromising bacterial clearance by disrupting TLR2 triggering. *J. Immunol.* 183, 506–517. doi: 10. 4049/jimmunol.0802909
- Riedemann, N. C., Guo, R. F., and Ward, P. A. (2003). Novel strategies for the treatment of sepsis. Nat. Med. 9, 517–524. doi: 10.1038/nm0503-517
- Ruiz-Carpio, V., Sandoval, P., Aguilera, A., Albar-Vizcaino, P., Perez-Lozano, M. L., Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., et al. (2017). Genomic reprograming analysis of the mesothelial to mesenchymal transition identifies biomarkers in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Sci. Rep.* 7:44941. doi: 10.1038/srep44941
- Spiller, S., Elson, G., Ferstl, R., Dreher, S., Mueller, T., Freudenberg, M., et al. (2008). TLR4-induced IFN-gamma production increases TLR2 sensitivity and drives Gram-negative sepsis in mice. J. Exp. Med. 205, 1747–1754. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20071990
- Strippoli, R., Moreno-Vicente, R., Battistelli, C., Cicchini, C., Noce, V., Amicone, L., et al. (2016). Molecular mechanisms underlying peritoneal EMT and fibrosis. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016, 3543678. doi: 10.1155/2016/3543678
- Tomino, Y. (2012). Mechanisms and interventions in peritoneal fibrosis. *Clin. Exp. Nephrol.* 16, 109–114. doi: 10.1007/s10157-011-0533-y
- Williams, J. D., Craig, K. J., Von Ruhland, C., Topley, N., Williams, G. T., and Biopsy Registry Study Group (2003). The natural course of peritoneal membrane biology during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 64 (Suppl. 88), S43– S49. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.08805.x
- Yoshimura, A., Wakabayashi, Y., and Mori, T. (2010). Cellular and molecular basis for the regulation of inflammation by TGF-beta. J. Biochem. 147, 781–792. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvq043
- Yung, S., and Chan, T. M. (2012). Pathophysiological changes to the peritoneal membrane during PD-related peritonitis: the role of mesothelial cells. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2012:484167. doi: 10.1155/2012/ 484167
- Zhang, L., Zeng, X., Fu, P., and Wu, H. M. (2014). Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers for preserving residual kidney function in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 23:CD009120. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009120. pub2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Raby and Labéta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Peritoneal Dialysis Is an Independent Factor Associated to Lower Intima Media Thickness in Dialysis Patients Free From Previous Cardiovascular Disease

Mercè Borràs^{1,2†}, Serafí Cambray^{1†}, Maria Crespo-Masip¹, Miguel Pérez-Fontán³, Milica Bozic¹, Marcelino Bermudez-López¹, Elvira Fernández^{1,2}, Àngels Betriu¹ and José M. Valdivielso^{1*} on behalf of the NEFRONA investigators

¹ Vascular and Renal Translational Research Group, Biomedical Research Institute (IRBLleida), RedinRen RETIC, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Lleida, Spain, ² Nephrology Department, University Hospital Arnau de Vilanova, Lleida, Spain, ³ Nephrology Department, A Coruña Hospital, A Coruña, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Kevin Woollard, Imperial College London, United Kingdom Bruno Vogt, University of Bern, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

José M. Valdivielso valdivielso@irblleida.cat; valdivielso@medicina.udl.es

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 24 July 2018 Accepted: 19 November 2018 Published: 04 December 2018

Citation:

Borràs M, Cambray S, Crespo-Masip M, Pérez-Fontán M, Bozic M, Bermudez-López M, Fernández E, Betriu À and Valdivielso JM (2018) Peritoneal Dialysis Is an Independent Factor Associated to Lower Intima Media Thickness in Dialysis Patients Free From Previous Cardiovascular Disease. Front. Physiol. 9:1743. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01743 Carotid intima media thickness (cIMT) displays prognostic value as a marker of cardiovascular risk in dialysis patients. However, few data are available regarding the impact of dialysis modality on cIMT. The aim of this study is to determine whether the modality of dialysis influences cIMT values. We compared 237 peritoneal dialysis (PD) and 451 hemodialysis (HD) patients without previous cardiovascular disease included in NEFRONA, a prospective, observational and multicenter study. This cross sectional study included the determination of cIMT in 6 carotid territories by arterial ultrasound. cIMT was determined in territories without atheroma plague and averaged. A second analysis was performed using all territories, giving a truncated cIMT value of 1,5 mm to territories presenting with atheroma plaque. Age and plaque presence at baseline were the clinical variables more closely associated to cIMT in dialysis patients. The evaluation of the impact of the modality of dialysis on cIMT showed that PD patients had lower cIMT than HD patients, both in territories with no plagues and when using truncated cIMT values. No differences were found between right and left sides, neither in cIMT or truncated cIMT values. Lineal multivariate analysis adjusted by several clinical variables showed a statistically significant association of PD with a lower cIMT (slope -0.036; SD 0.010). These results were also confirmed when truncated cIMT values were used. We conclude that the modality of dialysis has an impact on cITM. HD patients have greater global cIMT than PD patients, and PD is and independent factor associated with a lower cIMT.

Keywords: intima and media thickness, dialysis, cohorts study, ultrasound, atherosclerosis

INTRODUCTION

In the last 35 years, the incidence of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) has raised dramatically. ESRD patients have a 5-year survival probability of 50% (United States Renal Data System (USRDS), 2017; Kramer et al., 2018) and, compared to general population, have a crude excess mortality rate of 80 to 175.(Foster et al., 2018) Main contributors to this increased mortality rates are dialysis patients,

and among them, cardiovascular disease (CVD) accounts for 53% of the deaths.(United States Renal Data System (USRDS), 2017) In chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients, atherosclerosis hallmarks are more advanced than in the general population.(Betriu et al., 2014) This increase in atherosclerosis burden is parallel to the degree of kidney impairment, being higher in dialysis patients (Drueke and Massy, 2010). The contribution of atherosclerosis to the increase in mortality of ESRD patients has been questioned because most of the deaths are attributed to sudden death, and related to electrolyte imbalance. However, recent results have shown that atherosclerosis presence is an independent factor associated with cardiovascular events (CVE) in ESRD, and that each new arterial territory with plaque raised a 86% the hazards of having a CVE (Valdivielso et al., 2017).

Traditional risk factors are not useful to predict CVE on dialysis patients. The use of the traditional algorithms in risk stratification in CKD consistently underestimate the risk of the CKD patients of having a CVE (Coll et al., 2010). Therefore, new markers of cardiovascular risk in dialysis patients are needed. Among the candidates, vascular determination of intima media thickness of carotids (cIMT) has shown promising prognostic value in this population (Benedetto et al., 2001). Current knowledge about the impact of the type of dialysis on cIMT is based on studies in small cohorts, without adjustment for another possible confounding factors (Konings et al., 2002; Al-Hweish et al., 2010; Shi et al., 2012). These sparse data obtained in different cohorts, and with different methodology and criteria, precludes knowing whether peritoneal dialysis (PD) and hemodialysis (HD) affect cIMT differently.

There are significant differences between both modalities of dialysis. PD patients have a potentially higher atherogenic profile than their counterparts on HD, due to the recurrent peritoneal loading with glucose-based dialysis solutions, and to the continuous peritoneal leak of proteins. On the contrary, HD patients show a worse preservation of residual kidney function, which may contribute to inflammation, endothelial dysfunction and vascular calcification. Moreover, PD is associated with a stable fluid status and blood pressure pattern compared to periodic fluctuations found in HD. Therefore, the modality of dialysis itself could have a differential effect on cIMT determining factors.

With the aim of shedding some light on this clinical concern, we evaluated cIMT in a selected sub-cohort of the NEFRONA study, in order to determine whether the modality of dialysis influences cIMT.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

The ethics committee of University Hospital Arnau de Vilanova from Lleida, Spain, approved the study. All included patients signed informed consent and the study complied with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

The NEFRONA project is a prospective, multicentre, observational cohorts study from Spain aimed to assess the

atherosclerotic burden in CKD patients, including patients with ESRD. The rationale and baseline description of NEFRONA cohort have been reported in detail elsewhere. (Junyent et al., 2010a,b) Briefly, 2445 CKD patients free from previous CVE, aged 18 to 75 were enrolled from 81 Spanish hospitals between October 2009 and June 2011. The exclusion criteria were previous CVE, active infections (HIV, tuberculosis), pregnancy, having received any organ transplantation or having a life expectancy of less than 1 year. This study is a cross-sectional analysis in a subcohort of the NEFRONA study, including all the dialysis patients recruited (451 on HD and 237 on PD).

Clinical and Biochemical Data

At recruitment, patients were asked to complete a questionnaire including family history regarding premature CVD, clinical history (diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidaemia), cardiovascular risk factors (such as smoking habit), and medication use. Anthropometric data and medical history were also obtained from all patients at the time of recruitment. Biochemical data were obtained from a routine blood test 3 months either before or after the vascular ultrasound. For HD patients, blood samples were retrieved just before the second session of the week. High-sensitivity C reactive protein (hsCRP), 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-hydroxy-vitamin D were quantified in a centralized laboratory. ABI measurements were performed with a protocol previously described (Arroyo et al., 2017).

Carotid Ultrasound

Patients underwent B-mode ultrasound in both carotid arteries with the Vivid BT09 device (General Electric Instruments, Freiburg, Germany) and a 6-13 MHz broadband linear array probe. For imaging, patients were in supine position with the head turned 45° contralateral to the side of the probe. cIMT was measured in the last centimeter of the far wall of the common carotid artery, the bulb section and in the first centimeter of the internal carotid artery. Measurements were made in plaque-free arterial segments. Atheromatous plaque, following the recommendations of the ASE Consensus Statement (Stein et al., 2008) and the Mannheim cIMT Consensus report (Touboul et al., 2004), was defined by a cIMT > 1.5 mm protruding to the lumen of the imaged sections. In order to account for the values of cIMT in territories with plaques, a truncated cIMT value was also calculated. Truncated cIMT calculations were made giving a cIMT value equal to 1.5 mm to the territories with plaque. In each patient, averaged cIMT true values or truncated values of the six territories explored were calculated.

Ultrasound explorations were carried out by the same itinerant team of five trained technicians. Images were analyzed by a single reader in a blinded fashion using the EchoPAC Dimension software (General Electric Healthcare, Harten, Norway) in the UDETMA (Unit for the Detection and Treatment of Atherothrombotic Diseases, Hospital Universitari Arnau de Vilanova, Lleida, Spain). To assess the quality of the measurements a sample of 20 individuals was measured 3–5 times on different days, obtaining an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.93.

Statistical Analysis

Quantitative variables are shown as means and standard deviations, and its differences between groups were compared with the Student's *t*-test. Qualitative variables are summarized as absolute and relative frequencies, and chi-squared test (Fisher test for expected frequencies <5) was used to perform comparisons between groups. Pearson's correlations were used to determine univariate relationships between cIMT values and linear or categorical variables. Significant variables in univariate analyses and potential confounders were used to develop appropriate multivariate linear regression models. A forward step procedure was used to build the multivariate model, including the variables showing maximum contribution identifying those

patients with higher cIMT, according to the likelihood ratio test (LRT).

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

A total of 451 HD and 237 PD patients were included. **Table 1** shows anthropometrical, clinical and biochemical data comparisons between both groups. PD patients were younger, showed increased ratios of hypertension and dyslipidemia, and had higher systolic arterial pressure, total cholesterol, HDL and LDL cholesterol, haematocrit, calcium and phosphate; they had been less time on dialysis and presented with lower levels of potassium and 25-hydroxy-vitamin D.

Variables influencing cIMT on dialysis patients.

Figure 1 shows averaged cIMT values in HD and PD patients both in territories with no plaques (IMT) and in territories in

| | HD (<i>n</i> = 451) | PD (<i>n</i> = 237) | р |
|---|----------------------|----------------------|-------|
| Age (years) | 54 (14) | 51 (14) | 0,004 |
| Sex (man) | 272 (60,3) | 137 (57,8) | 0,567 |
| Smoker | 250 (55,4) | 135 (57,0) | 0,381 |
| Diabetes | 107 (23,7) | 47 (19,8) | 0,143 |
| Hypertension | 406 (90,0) | 229 (96,6) | 0,001 |
| Dyslipidemia | 214 (47,5) | 153 (64,6) | 0,000 |
| Plaque presence at baseline | 325 (72,1) | 156 (65,8) | 0,054 |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | 26,3 (5,0) | 26,7 (4,8) | 0,341 |
| SBP (mmHg) | 136 (23) | 144 (24) | 0,000 |
| Time on dialysis (months) | 33 (43) | 20 (19) | 0,000 |
| Total cholesterol (mg/dL) | 156 (39) | 180 (43) | 0,000 |
| HDL cholesterol (mg/dL) | 46 (16) | 49 (15) | 0,016 |
| LDL cholesterol (mg/dL) | 84 (32) | 104 (34) | 0,000 |
| Triglycerides (mg/dL) | 141 (81) | 137 (66) | 0,498 |
| Glucose (mg/dL) | 103 (40) | 101 (37) | 0,526 |
| Hematocrite (%) | 35,7 (4,3) | 36,6 (4,4) | 0,013 |
| Calcium (mg/dL) | 9,0 (0,7) | 9,2 (0,7) | 0,005 |
| Phosphate (mg/dL) | 4,8 (1,4) | 5,1 (1,2) | 0,008 |
| Uric acid (mg/dL) | 6,1 (1,4) | 6,0 (1,2) | 0,22 |
| iPTH (pg/mL) | 309 (281) | 277 (255) | 0,164 |
| Sodium (mEq/L) | 139 (3) | 139 (3) | 0,036 |
| Potassium (mEq/L) | 5,1 (0,8) | 4,5 (0,6) | 0,000 |
| usCRP (mg/L) | 5,6 (10,7) | 6,1 (13,9) | 0,624 |
| 250H vitamin D (ng/mL) | 16,4 (8,3) | 12,8 (5,5) | 0,000 |
| 1,25(OH) ₂ vitamin D (pg/mL) | 8,6 (5,1) | 7,7 (4,8) | 0,039 |
| Treatment with Calcium-containing P binders | 186 (41,2) | 119 (50,2) | 0.015 |
| Total Kt/V | 1,56 (0,39) | 2,52 (0,63)* | NC |
| Calcium content in dialysis fluid | | | 0.001 |
| 2.5 mEq/L | 182 (41,9) | 72 (35.8) | |
| 3 mEq/L | 221 (50,9) | NA | |
| 3,5 mEq/L | 31 (7,1) | 129 (64.2) | |

Quantitative data are shown as means (SD). Qualitative data are shown as number (%). HD, Hemodialysis; PD, Peritoneal Dialysis; BMI, Body mass index; SBP, Systolic blood pressure; iPTH, Intact parathyroid hormone; usCRP, Ultra-sensitive C reactive protein; NA, Not available. The concentration of 3 mEq/L is not available for PD dialysis fluid. NC, non comparable; *weekly Kt/V.



which the values of cIMT were truncated to 1.5 mm when there was a plaque present (truncated cIMT). In both cases, PD patients showed lower levels of cIMT than HD patients.

Among all clinical and biochemical variables considered, the ones more closely related to cIMT were age and plaque presence at baseline, both positively correlated (**Table 2**). The other variables with positive correlation with cIMT were body mass index (BMI), diabetes, dyslipidemia, ankle-brachial index (ABI), potassium and glucose. The only variable with negative correlation to cIMT was phosphate levels. We also found that being male and in HD were correlated with a higher cIMT. When truncated cIMT was considered, all the correlations and significances were exacerbated except the one with phosphate, which became non-significant.

When patients were stratified according to sex and age, the relationship of these variables to cIMT was clearly visible, with cIMT values increasing with age (showing a statistically significant *p*-value for the trend), and more abruptly in men (both in normal cIMT and truncated cIMT) (**Figure 2**). Furthermore, the difference related to sex was maintained in all age groups. The differences in laterality are also depicted in **Figure 3**. No differences in cIMT were observed between left and right carotids, being always higher in HD patients, regardless of the side or whether we analyzed cIMT or truncated cIMT values.

To better assess the influence of dialysis type on cIMT, we generated different models by means of lineal multivariate analysis. Univariate regression assessing the effect of dialysis type on cIMT showed a statistically significant association of PD with a lower cIMT value. (**Table 3**). After adjusting by sex and age (Model 2) the association between cIMT and type of dialysis remained significant. This association was maintained even after adjusting by several clinical variables in model 3 (Diabetes, Dyslipidemia, Hypertension, BMI, ABI, Plaque presence at baseline, Total Cholesterol, LDL Cholesterol, Glucose, Potassium, SBP, time on dialysis) confirming an association of PD with lower cIMT values. When truncated cIMT

values were used as the dependent variable, the effect of dialysis type on cIMT remained. Only statistically significant variables were maintained in the final model and shown in the table.

DISCUSSION

Our results show that on dialysis patients, cIMT values correlate to gender, age, plaque presence at baseline, BMI and diabetes. In non-dialysis population, previous studies also found association of cIMT with age and sex (Dobs et al., 1999; Mutluay et al., 2012), plaque presence (Ebrahim et al., 1999), BMI (Berni et al., 2011) and diabetes (Brohall et al., 2006). Furthermore, our results show that the modality of dialysis has an impact on cIMT, even when adjusting by possible confounders. Thus, HD patients have greater global cIMT than PD patients and being in PD is independently associated with a lower cIMT.

Currently, studies about dialysis impact on ultrasound measured cIMT have shown contradictory results. Despite all studies have found higher cIMT on dialysis patients than in nondialysis population, (Cengiz and Dolu, 2007; Mutluay et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2012) some of them reported higher cIMT in PD than in HD (Ozdemir et al., 2001; Shi et al., 2012), some other did not find significant differences on cIMT between dialysis type (Cengiz and Dolu, 2007; Yilmaz et al., 2007; Al-Hweish et al., 2010), and some others reported increased cIMT in HD patients (Mutluay et al., 2012). However, it is important to remark that, in contrast to most previous studies, the NEFRONA study excluded patients with a previous CVE. Indeed, the only similar study that also excluded patients that suffered a CVE (although with a quite lower number of patients that our study) also found that HD dialysis patient have higher cIMT (Tonbul et al., 2006).

Recently, the same NEFRONA cohort with a matched casecontrol design revealed that the modality of dialysis did not influence atheromatous vascular disease progression (assessed as an increase in the number of atheromatous plaques) neither
TABLE 2 | Statistically significant correlations between different parameters and cIMT values.

| | IN | лт | IMT tru | ncated |
|-----------------------------|--------|-------|---------|--------|
| | R | p | r | p |
| Sex (women) | -0.138 | 0.000 | -0.137 | 0.000 |
| Age | 0.545 | 0.000 | 0.613 | 0.000 |
| BMI | 0.232 | 0.000 | 0.233 | 0.000 |
| Diabetes | 0.213 | 0.000 | 0.271 | 0.000 |
| Dyslipidemia | 0.077 | 0.049 | 0.129 | 0.001 |
| ABI | 0.082 | 0.037 | 0.137 | 0.000 |
| Phosphate | -0.086 | 0.027 | | |
| Potassium | 0.112 | 0.004 | 0.130 | 0.001 |
| Glucose | 0.122 | 0.002 | 0.158 | 0.000 |
| Plaque presence at baseline | 0.421 | 0.000 | 0.663 | 0.000 |
| Type of dialysis (PD) | -0.165 | 0.000 | -0.130 | 0.001 |



did cardiovascular outcomes (Borràs Sans et al., 2017). These results suggest that plaque and cIMT may be distinct phenotypes rather than a manifestation of the same phenotype at different stages or phases in the progression of atherosclerosis, being in line with recent studies. Thus, the Northern Manhattan Study showed that the association between elevated baseline cIMT and the risk of new plaque formation disappeared after adjusting for demographic and vascular risk factors (Rundek et al., 2015). Similarly, Baroncini et al. (2015) found that increased cIMT was related to hypertension, but plaque presence was associated to age and dyslipidemia. Therefore, the results seems to show that despite increased cIMT and atherosclerosis are commonly found together, the risk factors influencing one or another could be different and may be genetically and biologically distinct atherosclerotic phenotypes with a heterogeneous etiology (Spence, 2006; Della-Morte et al., 2012). Therefore, plaque may not be a simple result of progressive intima-media thickening, but rather a new and different event. Indeed the hypothesis that increases in cIMT might be an adaptive event of the median layer to increased shear stress, rather than an atherosclerotic sign, is gaining adepts nowadays.

The possible causes of higher cIMT in HD patients than in PD patients are unknown. However, it is well stablished that hypertension, and particularly blood pressure variability (BPV), plays a major role in cIMT increase (Mancia et al., 2001; García-García et al., 2013). Short and long-term BPV are inherent to HD treatment because of day-to-day fluctuations of volume status. Moreover, cIMT in HD patients is more associated with long (24-and 48-h ambulatory BP measurements) than routine dialysis center BP measurements (Ekart et al., 2009). On the contrary,



FIGURE 3 | Averaged intima media thickness in carotid arterial territories stratified by side. Dark bars: HD patients; White bars: PD patients. (A) Excluding territories with atheroma plaque; (B) Including territories with atheroma plaque. In territories with plaque, the IMT value was truncated to 1,5 mm.

TABLE 3 | Lineal multivariate analysis.

| | Model 1 | | | | Model 2 | | | Model 3 | | |
|------------------------------|---------|-------|-------|--------|---------|-------|--------|---------|-------|--|
| | Slope | SD | р | Slope | SD | р | Slope | SD | p | |
| cIMT | | | | | | | | | | |
| Type of dialysis (DP vs. HD) | -0.051 | 0.012 | 0.000 | -0.034 | 0.010 | 0.001 | -0.033 | 0.010 | 0.001 | |
| Sex (women vs. men) | | | | -0.041 | 0.010 | 0.000 | -0.036 | 0.010 | 0.000 | |
| Age (year) | | | | 0.013 | 0.001 | 0.000 | 0.004 | 0.000 | 0.000 | |
| Hypertension | | | | | | | 0.041 | 0.017 | 0.016 | |
| Plaque presence at baseline | | | | | | | 0.036 | 0.012 | 0.002 | |
| Diabetes | | | | | | | 0.033 | 0.012 | 0.006 | |
| Truncated cIMT | | | | | | | | | | |
| Type of dialysis (DP vs. HD) | -0.084 | 0.025 | 0.001 | -0.041 | 0.019 | 0.033 | -0.044 | 0.017 | 0.008 | |
| Sex (women vs. men) | | | | -0.076 | 0.019 | 0.000 | -0.038 | 0.017 | 0.023 | |
| Age (year) | | | | 0.005 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.008 | 0.001 | 0.000 | |
| BMI | | | | | | | 0.004 | 0.002 | 0.019 | |
| SBP (mmHg) | | | | | | | 0.001 | 0.000 | 0.005 | |
| Plaque presence at baseline | | | | | | | 0.269 | 0.021 | 0.000 | |
| Diabetes | | | | | | | 0.063 | 0.020 | 0.002 | |

Model 1 unadjusted. Model 2 adjusted for sex and age. Model 3 adjusted by sex, age, diabetes, dyslipidemia, hypertension, BMI, ABI, plaque presence at baseline, Total Cholesterol, LDL Cholesterol, Glucose, Potassium, SBP, time on dialysis, treatment with calcium-containing phosphate binders, calcium levels in dialysis fluid.

patients in PD have more volume status stability and, accordingly, they should present less BPV. Indeed, HD is associated with higher systolic BPs and greater systolic loads than PD in a study monitoring BP by continuous ambulatory blood pressure measurements (Rodby et al., 1994). One may hypothesize that the difference in short and long-term BPV between HD and PD patients could explain the higher cIMT in HD patients despite having lower casual BP measurements. In the same line of reasoning, Günal et al. (2006) showed a decrease in cIMT with an strict volume control in HD patients, a fact that has not been proven to be true in PD patients (Hiramatsu et al., 2007). As a

last hypothesis for the increased cIMT in HD patients, there is the possibility that the previously described increased levels of pro-BNP in HD patients (Nakatani et al., 2002; Al-Hweish et al., 2010; Sanjuan et al., 2011) could favor an increased cIMT, as it has been published for CKD patients (DeFilippi et al., 2005; Sathi et al., 2014); a similar effect has been described for Troponins (Al-Hweish et al., 2010; Caliskan et al., 2012).

There is growing evidence that calcium supplements can increase atherosclerotic CVE (Bolland et al., 2008, 2010; Li et al., 2012; Mao et al., 2013), although some reports have shown no statistically significant effect (Wang et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2011). Therefore, there is a concern that calcium supplements can increase atherosclerosis. Dialysis patients can have a significant calcium intake, mainly due to the calcium content in the dialysis fluid and in phosphate binders administered to control hyperphosphatemia. In our study, there was a statistically significant difference in calcium supplements, as a higher percentage of PD patients received calciumcontaining phosphate binders and were treated with dialysis fluid containing higher concentrations of calcium. This can be the cause of the small but significant increase in serum calcium levels. However, and although an inverse relationship between calcium load and IMT is suggested in the bivariate analysis, the difference did not reach statistical significance after adjustment for potential confounders.

Another risk factor for atherosclerosis development is hypertension (Hurtubise et al., 2016). Again, the percentage of patients diagnosed with hypertension and the SBP levels are higher in patients in PD, precisely those with lower IMT values. The multivariate analysis demonstrated that the statistical significance for both parameters was lost after adjustment. Therefore, either the effect of HD on IMT is so strong that can overcome the effect of common risk factors like hypertension, or the increases in IMT are influenced by different risk factors than those affecting atheroma plaque formation. Interestingly, PD patients were more dyslipidemic and presented with higher serum LDL-cholesterol levels than those in HD. This could be considered not only as one more piece of evidence supporting the hypothesis of increases in cIMT beyond an atherosclerotic sign or a consequence of some protective effect of PD versus HD, but also as another example of the controversial significance of LDL-cholesterol levels in dialysis patients.

Our results also show that there are no differences between left and right sides in cIMT neither, in PD nor HD patients. Several reports have shown a significantly higher proportion of cerebral ischemic events diagnosed in the left hemisphere than in the right (Hedna et al., 2013). An explanation for the higher incidence of events in the left hemisphere may be related to a higher prevalence, severity, or vulnerability of atherosclerotic disease in the left carotid artery. This is primarily attributable to differences in flow velocity in the left carotid artery, resulting in higher stress and intimal damage (Rodríguez Hernández et al., 2003). However, recent reports show that the higher incidence in left hemisphere strokes might be due to an increase in the vulnerability of the plaques, rather than in plaque formation (Adams et al., 2002; Selwaness et al., 2014). Thus, in our study, no differences in cIMT were found between right and left sides, suggesting that a systemic factor is involved in the increased cIMT found in HD patients.

Strengths of our study are the relatively high number of patients being, as far as we know, the biggest cohort used to determine the effects of dialysis on cIMT. Therefore, we have been able to adjust the models for many potential confounders. Furthermore, and although the study is multicentric, the execution and the analysis of the ultrasounds have been made by a single team, avoiding the high variability associated to the cIMT measurements. On the other hand, we have to mention some limitations. First, the exclusion of patients that presented CVE on the recruitment phase avoid extrapolating our results to the entire ESRD population. Second, we only have a single BP measurement and no fluid status data that could support the hypothesis that higher BPV in HD patients may be related to thicker cIMT. Third, the lack of determinations of cardiovascular biomarkers that could affect cIMT like pro-BNP or troponins, preclude us to determine whether the effect of dialysis modality is related to these biomarkers or to some other factor.

In summary, we have shown that cIMT is higher in HD than in PD and that being in PD is an independent risk factor associated with lower cIMT in dialysis patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MeB, EF, ÀB, and JV designed the study. SC, MP-F, and JV analyzed the data. MC-M, MiB, and MB-L performed the experiments. JV wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the intramural program of the IRBLleida, the Instituto de Salud Carlos III (RETIC RD16/0009/0011, PI15/00960, and PI16/01354), and FEDER funds 'A way to make Europe.'

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the NEFRONA team (Eva Castro, Virtudes María, Teresa Molí, Teresa Vidal, Meritxell Soria) and the Biobank of RedInRen for their invaluable support. The NEFRONA study investigator group is composed by the following: Aladrén Regidor, Mª José. Hospital Comarcal Ernest Lluch (Calatayud); Almirall, Jaume; Ponz, Esther. Corporació Parc Taulí (Barcelona); Arteaga Coloma, Jesús. Hospital de Navarra (Pamplona); Bajo Rubio, M^a Auxiliadora; Díaz, Raquel Hospital La Paz (Madrid); Belart Rodríguez, Montserrat. Sistemes Renals (Lleida); Gascón, Antonio, Hospital Obispo Polanco (Teruel); Bover Sanjuan, Jordi. Fundació Puigvert. IIB Sant Pau (Barcelona); Bronsoms Artero, Josep. Clínica Girona (Girona); Cabezuelo Romero, Juan B; Muray Cases, Salomé. Hospital Reina Sofía (Murcia); Calviño Varela, Jesús. Hospital Universitario Lugus Augusti (Lugo); Caro Acevedo, Pilar. Clínica Ruber (Madrid); Carreras Bassa, Jordi. Diaverum Baix Llobregat (Barcelona); Cases Amenós, Aleix; Massó Jiménez, Elisabet. Hospital Clínic (Barcelona); Moreno López, Rosario. Hospital de la Defensa (Zaragoza); Cigarrán Guldris, Secundino; López Prieto, Saray. Hospital Da Costa (Lugo); Comas Mongay, Lourdes. Hospital General de Vic (Barcelona); Comerma, Isabel. Hospital General de Manresa (Barcelona); Compte Jové, Mª Teresa, Hospital Santa Creu Jesús (Tarragona); Cuberes Izquierdo, Marta. Hospital Reina Sofía (Navarra); de Álvaro, Fernando; Hevia Ojanguren, Covadonga. Hospital Infanta Sofía (Madrid); de Arriba de la Fuente, Gabriel. Hospital Universitario Guadalajara (Guadalajara); del Pino y Pino, M^a Dolores.

Complejo Hospitalario Universitario Torrecardenas (Almería); Diaz-Tejeiro Izquierdo, Rafael; Ahijado Hormigos, Francisco Hospital Virgen de la Salud (Toledo); Dotori, Marta. USP Marbella (Málaga); Duarte, Verónica. Hospital de Terrassa (Barcelona); Estupiñan Torres, Sara. Hospital Universitario Canarias (Santa Cruz de Tenerife); Fernández Reyes, M^a José. Hospital de Segovia (Segovia); Fernández Rodríguez, Ma Loreto. Hospital Príncipe de Asturias (Madrid); Fernández, Guillermina, Clínica Santa Isabel (Sevilla); Galán Serrano, Antonio. Hospital General Universitario de Valencia (Valencia); García Cantón, Cesar. Hospital Universitario Insular de Gran Canaria (Las Palmas); García Herrera, Antonio L. Hospital Universitario Puerto Real (Cádiz); García Mena, Mercedes. Hospital San Juan de Dios (Zaragoza); Gil Sacaluga, Luis; Aguilar, Maria. Hospital Virgen del Rocío (Sevilla); Górriz, José Luis. Hospital Universitario Doctor Peset (Valencia); Huarte Loza, Emma. Hospital San Pedro (Logroño); Lerma, José Luis. Hospital Universitario Salamanca (Salamanca); Liebana Cañada, Antonio. Hospital de Jaén (Jaén); Marín Álvarez, Jesús Pedro. Hospital San Pedro de Alcántara (Cáceres); Martín Alemany, Nàdia. Hospital Josep Trueta (Girona); Martín García, Jesús. Hospital Nuestra Señora de Sonsoles (Ávila); Martínez Castelao, Alberto. Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge (Barcelona); Martínez Villaescusa, María. Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Albacete (Albacete); Martínez, Isabel. Hospital Galdakao (Bilbao); Moina Eguren, Iñigo. Hospital Basurto (Bilbao); Moreno Los Huertos, Silvia. Hospital Santa Bárbara (Soria); Mouzo Mirco, Ricardo. Hospital El Bierzo, Ponferrada (León); Munar Vila, Antonia. Hospital Universitari Son Espases (Palma de Mallorca); Muñoz Díaz, Ana Beatriz. Hospital Virgen del Consuelo (Valencia); Navarro González, Juan F. Hospital Universitario Nuestra Señora de Candelaria (Santa Cruz de Tenerife); Nieto, Javier; Carreño, Agustín. Hospital General Universitario de Ciudad Real (Ciudad Real); Novoa Fernández, Enrique. Complexo Hospitalario de Ourense (Ourense); Ortiz, Alberto; Fernandez, Beatriz.

REFERENCES

- Adams, G. J., Simoni, D. M., Bordelon, C. B., Vick, G. W., Kimball, K. T., Insull, W., et al. (2002). Bilateral symmetry of human carotid artery atherosclerosis. *Stroke* 33, 2575–2580. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000035736. 30488.7A
- Al-Hweish, A., Sultan, S. S., Mogazi, K., and Elsammak, M. Y. (2010). Plasma myeloperoxidase, NT-proBNP, and troponin-I in patients on CAPD compared with those on regular hemodialysis. *Hemodial. Int.* 14, 308–315. doi: 10.1111/j. 1542-4758.2010.00455.x
- Arroyo, D., Betriu, A., Valls, J., Gorriz, J. L., Pallares, V., Abajo, M., et al. (2017). Factors influencing pathological ankle-brachial index values along the chronic kidney disease spectrum: the nefrona study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 32, 513–520. doi: 10.1093/ndt/ gfw039
- Baroncini, L. A. V., de Castro Sylvestre, L., and Filho, R. P. (2015). Carotid intimamedia thickness and carotid plaque represent different adaptive responses to traditional cardiovascular risk factors. *Int. J. Cardiol. Heart Vasc.* 9, 48–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcha.2015.08.003
- Benedetto, F. A., Mallamaci, F., Tripepi, G., and Zoccali, C. (2001). Prognostic value of ultrasonographic measurement of carotid intima media thickness in dialysis patients. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 2458–2464.

IIS-Fundación Jiménez Díaz (Madrid); Paraíso, Vicente. Hospital Universitario del Henares (Madrid); Pérez Fontán, Miguel. Complejo Hospitalario Universitario A Coruña (A Coruña); Peris Domingo, Ana. Hospital Francesc de Borja (Valencia); Piñera Haces, Celestino. Hospital Universitario Marqués de Valdecilla (Santander); Prados Garrido, M^a Dolores. Hospital Universitario San Cecilio (Granada); Prieto Velasco, Mario. Hospital de León (León); Puig Marí, Carmina. Hospital d'Igualada (Barcelona); Rivera Gorrín, Maite. Hospital Universitario Ramón v Cajal (Madrid); Rubio, Esther. Hospital Puerta del Hierro (Madrid); Ruiz, Pilar. Hospital Sant Joan Despí Moisès Broggi (Barcelona); Salgueira Lazo, Mercedes; Martínez Puerto, Ana Isabel. Hospital Virgen Macarena (Sevilla); Sánchez Tomero, José Antonio. Hospital Universitario de la Princesa (Madrid); Sánchez, José Emilio. Hospital Universitario Central de Asturias (Oviedo); Sans Lorman, Ramon. Hospital de Figueres (Girona); Saracho, Ramon. Hospital de Santiago (Vitoria); Sarrias, Maria; Serón, Daniel. Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron (Barcelona); Soler, María José; Barrios, Clara. Hospital del Mar (Barcelona); Sousa, Fernando. Hospital Rio Carrión (Palencia); Toran, Daniel. Hospital General de Jerez (Cadiz); Tornero Molina, Fernando. Hospital de Sureste (Arganda del Rey); Usón Carrasco, José Javier. Hospital Virgen de la Luz (Cuenca); Valera Cortes, Ildefonso. Hospital Virgen de la Victoria (Málaga); Vilaprinyo del Perugia, M^a Merce. Institut Catala d'Urologia i Nefrologia (Barcelona); Virto Ruiz, Rafael C. Hospital San Jorge (Huesca); Vicente Pallarés Carratalá Clinica MEDEFIS (Vila-real. Castellón), Carlos Santos Altozano CS Azuqueca de Henares (Guadalajara); Miguel Artigao Ródenas CS Zona III (Albacete); Inés Gil Gil Área Básica Sanitaria de Arán. CAP Viella (Lleida); Francisco Adan Gil CS Alfaro (La Rioja); Emilio García Criado Centro de Salud del Carpio (Córdoba.); Rafael Durá Belinchón CS Godella (Valencia); Jose Ma Fernández Toro CS Zona Centro (Cáceres); Juan Antonio Divisón Garrote Centro de Salud de Casas Ibáñez. Consultorio de Fuentealbilla (Albacete).

- Berni, A., Giuliani, A., Tartaglia, F., Tromba, L., Sgueglia, M., Blasi, S., et al. (2011). Effect of vascular risk factors on increase in carotid and femoral intimamedia thickness. identification of a risk scale. *Atherosclerosis* 216, 109–114. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.01.034
- Betriu, A., Martinez-Alonso, M., Arcidiacono, M. V., Cannata-Andia, J., Pascual, J., Valdivielso, J. M., et al. (2014). Prevalence of subclinical atheromatosis and associated risk factors in chronic kidney disease: the nefrona study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 29, 1415–1422. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfu038
- Bolland, M. J., Avenell, A., Baron, J. A., Grey, A., MacLennan, G. S., Gamble, G. D., et al. (2010). Effect of calcium supplements on risk of myocardial infarction and cardiovascular events: meta-analysis. *BMJ* 341:c3691. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c3691
- Bolland, M. J., Barber, P. A., Doughty, R. N., Mason, B., Horne, A., Ames, R., et al. (2008). Vascular events in healthy older women receiving calcium supplementation: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 336, 262–266. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.39440.525752.BE
- Borràs Sans, M., Pérez-Fontán, M., Martinez-Alonso, M., Bajo, A., Betriu, À., Valdivielso, J. M., et al. (2017). The modality of dialysis does not influence atheromatous vascular disease progression or cardiovascular outcomes in dialysis patients without previous cardiovascular disease. *PLoS One* 12:e0186921. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186921.
- Brohall, G., Odén, A., and Fagerberg, B. (2006). Carotid artery intima-media thickness in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose

tolerance: a systematic review. *Diabet. Med.* 23, 609–616. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01725.x

- Caliskan, Y., Ozkok, A., Akagun, T., Alpay, N., Guz, G., Polat, N., et al. (2012). Cardiac biomarkers and noninvasive predictors of atherosclerosis in chronic peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Blood Press. Res.* 35, 340–348. doi: 10.1159/ 000332084
- Cengiz, K., and Dolu, D. (2007). Comparison of atherosclerosis and atherosclerotic risk factors in patients receiving hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. *Dial. Transplant.* 36, 205–214. doi: 10.1002/dat.20117
- Coll, B., Betriu, A., Martinez-Alonso, M., Borras, M., Craver, L., Amoedo, M. L., et al. (2010). Cardiovascular risk factors underestimate atherosclerotic burden in chronic kidney disease: usefulness of non-invasive tests in cardiovascular assessment. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 25, 3017–3025. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq109
- DeFilippi, C. R., Fink, J. C., Nass, C. M., Chen, H., and Christenson, R. (2005). N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide for predicting coronary disease and left ventricular hypertrophy in asymptomatic CKD not requiring dialysis. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 46, 35–44. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.04.007
- Della-Morte, D., Guadagni, F., Palmirotta, R., Ferroni, P., Testa, G., Cacciatore, F., et al. (2012). Genetics and genomics of ischemic tolerance: focus on cardiac and cerebral ischemic preconditioning. *Pharmacogenomics* 13, 1741–1757. doi: 10.2217/pgs.12.157
- Dobs, A. S., Nieto, F. J., Szklo, M., Barnes, R., Sharrett, A. R., and Ko, W. J. (1999). Risk factors for popliteal and carotid wall thicknesses in the atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC) Study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 150, 1055–1067. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009929
- Drueke, T. B., and Massy, Z. A. (2010). Atherosclerosis in CKD: differences from the general population. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 6, 723–735. doi: 10.1038/nrneph. 2010.143
- Ebrahim, S., Papacosta, O., Whincup, P., Wannamethee, G., Walker, M., Nicolaides, A. N., et al. (1999). Carotid plaque, intima media thickness, cardiovascular risk factors, and prevalent cardiovascular disease in men and women: the british regional heart study. *Stroke* 30, 841–850. doi: 10.1161/01. STR.30.4.841
- Ekart, R., Hojs, R., Pecovnik-Balon, B., Bevc, S., and Dvorsak, B. (2009). Blood pressure measurements and carotid intima media thickness in hemodialysis patients. *Ther. Apher. Dial.* 13, 288–293. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-9987.2009.00726.x
- Foster, B. J., Mitsnefes, M. M., Dahhou, M., Zhang, X., and Laskin, B. L. (2018). Changes in excess mortality from end stage renal disease in the united states from 1995 to 2013. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 13, 91–99. doi: 10.2215/CJN. 04330417
- García-García, A., García-Ortiz, L., Recio-Rodríguez, J. I., Patino-Alonso, M. C., Agudo-Conde, C., Rodriguez-Sanchez, E., et al. (2013). Relationship of 24-h blood pressure variability with vascular structure and function in hypertensive patients. *Blood Press. Monit.* 18, 101–106. doi: 10.1097/MBP. 0b013e32835ebc58.
- Günal, A. I., Karaca, I., Ozalp, G., Ozturk, A., Dogukan, A., and Celiker, H. (2006). Strict volume control can improve structure and function of common carotid artery in hemodialysis patients. J. Nephrol. 19, 334–340.
- Hedna, V. S., Bodhit, A. N., Ansari, S., Falchook, A. D., Stead, L., Heilman, K. M., et al. (2013). Hemispheric differences in ischemic stroke: is left-hemisphere stroke more common? J. Clin. Neurol. 9, 97–102. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2013.9.2.97
- Hiramatsu, T., Furuta, S., and Kakuta, H. (2007). Favorable changes in lipid metabolism and cardiovascular parameters after icodextrin use in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 23, 58–61.
- Hurtubise, J., McLellan, K., Durr, K., Onasanya, O., Nwabuko, D., and Ndisang, J. F. (2016). The different facets of dyslipidemia and hypertension in atherosclerosis. *Curr. Atheroscler. Rep* 18:82. doi: 10.1007/s11883-016-0632-z
- Junyent, M., Martinez, M., Borras, M., Betriu, A., Coll, B., Craver, L., et al. (2010a). Usefulness of imaging techniques and novel biomarkers in the prediction of cardiovascular risk in patients with chronic kidney disease in Spain: the nefrona project. *Nefrologia* 30, 119–126. doi: 10.3265/Nefrologia.pre2010.Jan. 10216
- Junyent, M., Martinez, M., Borras, M., Coll, B., Valdivielso, J. M., Vidal, T., et al. (2010b). Predicting cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality in chronic kidney disease in Spain. the rationale and design of nefrona: a prospective, multicenter, observational cohort study. *BMC Nephrol.* 11:14. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-2369-11-14

- Konings, C. J., Dammers, R., Rensma, P. L., Kooman, J. P., Hoeks, A. P., Kornet, L., et al. (2002). Arterial wall properties in patients with renal failure. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 39, 1206–1212. doi: 10.1053/ajkd.2002.33392
- Kramer, A., Pippias, M., Noordzij, M., Stel, V. S., Afentakis, N., Ambühl, P. M., et al. (2018). The european renal association - european dialysis and transplant association (ERA-EDTA) registry annual report 2015: a summary. *Clin. Kidney J.* 11, 108–122. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfx149
- Lewis, J. R., Calver, J., Zhu, K., Flicker, L., and Prince, R. L. (2011). Calcium supplementation and the risks of atherosclerotic vascular disease in older women: results of a 5-year RCT and a 4.5-year follow-up. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 26, 35–41. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.176
- Li, K., Kaaks, R., Linseisen, J., and Rohrmann, S. (2012). Associations of dietary calcium intake and calcium supplementation with myocardial infarction and stroke risk and overall cardiovascular mortality in the Heidelberg cohort of the european prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition study (EPIC-Heidelberg). *Heart* 98, 920–925. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2011-301345
- Mancia, G., Parati, G., Hennig, M., Flatau, B., Omboni, S., Glavina, F., et al. (2001). Relation between blood pressure variability and carotid artery damage in hypertension: baseline data from the european lacidipine study on atherosclerosis (ELSA). J. Hypertens. 19, 1981–1989. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200111000-00008
- Mao, P. J., Zhang, C., Tang, L., Xian, Y. Q., Li, Y. S., Wang, W. D., et al. (2013). Effect of calcium or vitamin D supplementation on vascular outcomes: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 169, 106–111. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.08.055
- Mutluay, R., Degertekin, C. K., Poyraz, F., Yılmaz, M. I., Yücel, C., Turfan, M., et al. (2012). Dialysis type may predict carotid intima media thickness and plaque presence in end-stage renal disease patients. *Adv. Ther.* 29, 370–382. doi: 10.1007/s12325-012-0011-2
- Nakatani, T., Naganuma, T., Masuda, C., Uchida, J., Sugimura, T., and Sugimura, K. (2002). Significance of brain natriuretic peptides in patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 10, 457–461. doi: 10.3892/ijmm. 10.4.457
- Ozdemir, F. N., Güz, G., Sezer, S., Arat, Z., Turan, M., and Haberal, M. (2001). Atherosclerosis risk is higher in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients than in hemodialysis patients. *Artif. Organs* 25, 448–452. doi: 10.1046/ j.1525-1594.2001.025006448.x
- Rodby, R. A., Vonesh, E. F., and Korbet, S. M. (1994). Blood pressures in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis using ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 23, 401–411. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(12) 81003-1
- Rodríguez Hernández, S. A., Kroon, A. A., van Boxtel, M. P., Mess, W. H., Lodder, J., Jolles, J., et al. (2003). Is there a side predilection for cerebrovascular disease? *Hypertension* 42, 56–60. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000077983.66161.6F
- Rundek, T., Gardener, H., Della-Morte, D., Dong, C., Cabral, D., Tiozzo, E., et al. (2015). The relationship between carotid intima-media thickness and carotid plaque in the northern manhattan study. *Atherosclerosis* 241, 364–370. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.05.027
- Sanjuan, R., Martín Oliva, S., Blasco, M. L., Puchades, M., Torregrosa, I., García Ramón, R., et al. (2011). Plasma brain natriuretic peptide levels in cardiac function assessment in chronic dialysis patients. *Cardiorenal Med.* 1, 147–155. doi: 10.1159/000329337
- Sathi, S., Mahapatra, H., Sunder, S., Jayaraman, R., Sharma, N., Verma, H., et al. (2014). Nontraditional cardiovascular biomarkers and estimation of cardiovascular risk in predialysis chronic kidney disease patients and their correlations with carotid intima media thickness. *Nephrourol. Mon.* 6:e22112. doi: 10.5812/numonthly.22112
- Selwaness, M., van den Bouwhuijsen, Q., van Onkelen, R. S., Hofman, A., Franco, O. H., van der Lugt, A., et al. (2014). Atherosclerotic plaque in the left carotid artery is more vulnerable than in the right. *Stroke* 45, 3226–3230. doi: 10.1161/ STROKEAHA.114.005202
- Shi, Z., Zhu, M., Guan, J., Chen, J., He, Q., Zhang, X., et al. (2012). Dialysis methods may affect carotid intima-media thickness in Chinese end-stage renal disease patients. *Ren. Fail.* 34, 1206–1211. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2012. 718954
- Spence, J. D. (2006). Measurement of intima-media thickness vs. carotid plaque: uses in patient care, genetic research and evaluation of new therapies. *Int. J. Stroke* 1, 216–221. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2006.00068.x

- Stein, J. H., Korcarz, C. E., Hurst, R. T., Lonn, E., Kendall, C. B., Mohler, E. R., et al. (2008). Use of carotid ultrasound to identify subclinical vascular disease and evaluate cardiovascular disease risk: a consensus statement from the american society of echocardiography carotid intima-media thickness task force. endorsed by the society for vascular medicine. J. Am. Soc. Echocardiogr. 21, 93–111. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2007.11.011
- Tonbul, H. Z., Demir, M., Altintepe, L., Güney, I., Yeter, E., Türk, S., et al. (2006). Malnutrition-inflammation-atherosclerosis (MIA) syndrome components in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. *Ren. Fail.* 28, 287–294. doi: 10. 1080/08860220600583625
- Touboul, P. J., Hennerici, M. G., Meairs, S., Adams, H., Amarenco, P., Desvarieux, M., et al. (2004). Mannheim intima-media thickness consensus. *Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 18, 346–349. doi: 10.1159/000081812
- United States Renal Data System (USRDS). (2017). USRDS. Annual Data Report. Available at: https://www.usrds.org/adr.aspx
- Valdivielso, J. M., Betriu, A., Martinez-Alonso, M., Arroyo, D., Bermudez-Lopez, M., Fernandez, E., et al. (2017). Factors predicting cardiovascular events in chronic kidney disease patients. role of subclinical atheromatosis extent assessed by vascular ultrasound. *Plos One* 12:e0186665. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0186665

- Wang, L., Manson, J. E., Song, Y., and Sesso, H. D. (2010). Systematic review: vitamin D and calcium supplementation in prevention of cardiovascular events. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 152, 315–323. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-152-5-201003020-00010
- Yilmaz, F. M., Akay, H., Duranay, M., Yilmaz, G., Oztekin, P. S., Koşar, U., et al. (2007). Carotid atherosclerosis and cardiovascular risk factors in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin. Biochem.* 40, 1361–1366. doi: 10.1016/j. clinbiochem.2007.07.017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Borràs, Cambray, Crespo-Masip, Pérez-Fontán, Bozic, Bermudez-López, Fernández, Betriu and Valdivielso. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ultrafiltration Failure Is a Reflection of Peritoneal Alterations in Patients Treated With Peritoneal Dialysis

Raymond T. Krediet*

Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Amsterdam UMC, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Ultrafiltration (UF) failure is a common and important complication of peritoneal dialvsis (PD), especially in long-term patients without residual urine production, because it often causes overhydration, which is an important cause of death in this population. The current review provides an overview of the pathways of peritoneal fluid transport, followed by the mechanisms and causes of UF failure. The egression of circulating fluid to the tissue compartment and its subsequent re-uptake by the colloid osmotic pressure are markedly influenced by PD, because the dialysis solutions contain glucose as a low molecular weight agent causing removal of fluid from the circulation by crystalloid osmosis. Pores involved in transcapillary UF consist of inter-endothelial small pores and the intra-endothelial water channel aquaporin-1. The former allows transport of plasma fluid with dissolved low molecular weight solutes and accounts for 60% of the filtered volume, the latter transports 40% as pure water. This free water transport (FWT) is driven by the crystalloid pressure gradient, while small pore fluid transport (SPFT) is dependent on both hydrostatic and crystalloid osmotic pressure. The number of perfused peritoneal microvessels as assessed by small solute transport parameters, is differently associated with UF: a positive relationship is present with SPFT, but a negative one with FWT, because the effect of more vessels is counteracted by a faster disappearance rate of glucose. Ultrafiltration failure can be present shortly after the start of PD, for instance due to mesothelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Late UF failure develops in 21% of long-term patients. Both FWT and SPFT can be affected. Patients with encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis have severely impaired FWT, probably due to interference of interstitial collagen-1 with the crystalloid osmotic gradient. This mechanism may also apply to other patients with reduced FWT. Those with mainly impaired SPFT likely have a reduced hydrostatic filtration pressure due to vasculopathy. Deposition of advanced glycosylation end products is probably important in the development of this vasculopathy. It can be concluded that long-term UF failure may affect both SPFT and FWT. Vasculopathy is important in the former, interstitial fibrosis in the latter. Measurements of peritoneal transport function should include separate assessments of small pore-and FWT.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Mark Lambie, Keele University, United Kingdom Bengt Lindholm, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

> *Correspondence: Raymond T. Krediet r.t.krediet@amc.uva.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 19 September 2018 Accepted: 05 December 2018 Published: 20 December 2018

Citation:

Krediet RT (2018) Ultrafiltration Failure Is a Reflection of Peritoneal Alterations in Patients Treated With Peritoneal Dialysis. Front. Physiol. 9:1815. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01815

Keywords: ultrafiltration failure, fluid transport, vasculopathy, AGE's, peritoneal dialysis, fibrosis, AQP-1

42

INTRODUCTION

Ultrafiltration (UF) failure during peritoneal dialysis (PD) is the commonly used term for a situation, where netUF, i.e., the difference between the drained and the instilled volume is less than expected in the PD population. As the glucose concentration of the dialysis solution is an important determinant of net ultrafiltration (netUF) by osmosis, normal values are related to the glucose concentration of the dialysate. After a 4 h exchange with 1.36% glucose median netUF was -85 mL (95% confidence interval -454 to +286) in 83 prevalent patients (Pannekeet et al., 1995) and 635 mL (range 95-1305) in 80 prevalent patients after a similar exchange with a 3.86% glucose dialysis solution (Parikova et al., 2005). The extremely large interindividual variability contrasts with an intraindividual variability of about 20% (Imholz et al., 1978) and points to large differences in transport characteristics of the "peritoneal membrane" between individual patients. The International Society for PD published a guideline on UF failure in 2000, containing a definition of UF failure, based on the results of the above mentioned studies: the 3×4 rule (Mujais et al., 2000). It states that UF failure is present when netUF is less than 400 mL after drainage of a 4% (3.86 or 4.25%, depending on the pharmacopeia) dialysis solution with an intraperitoneal stay of 4 h. Although patients with UF failure according to this definition are often hypervolemic, overhydration is not included in the definition of UF failure, because overhydration is not only dependent on fluid removal, but also on fluid intake. Yet overhydration is probably the most important cause of cardiovascular death in PD patients (Krediet and Balafa, 2010). As the vast majority of patients with UF failure is hypervolemic, knowledge of the mechanisms for UF failure, its presence, development, diagnosis, treatment and prevention are important.

The aim of the present review is to give an update on pathways and mechanisms of peritoneal fluid transport, and the way functional characteristics can be used in patient's followup to identify the most important cause for UF failure in an individual patient and the mayor underlying morphological abnormalities.

PATHWAYS FOR PERITONEAL FLUID TRANSPORT

According to Starling's law fluid with dissolved crystalloids egress from circulating blood at the arteriolar side of microcirculatory capillaries to the interstitium of perfused tissues by the hydrostatic pressure, after which the majority is taken up at the venous part by the increased intravascular colloid osmotic pressure and partly into the lymphatic system. Crystalloid fluid administered into the peritoneal cavity increases the intraperitoneal pressure, which is also transmitted to the peritoneal interstitial tissue and will thereby lower the hydrostatic filtration gradient to some extent. The protein content of such solution is so low, that extensive reabsorption by the intracapillary colloid osmotic pressure occurs and also into the lymphatic system. This leads to a complete absorption of all intraperitonealy administered isotonic solutions.

The objective of PD is removal of excess uremic waste products and fluid from the body by drainage of an intraperitoneally administered solution, usually called the dialysate. This is only possible when the reabsorption of filtered fluid is minimal, allowing net transport of fluid and solutes from the tissues to the dialysate, which can subsequently be drained out of the peritoneal cavity. The magnitude of filtration is partly dependent on the systemic blood pressure, and more importantly on autoregulation of organ perfusion by the tonus of the precapillary sphincter in afferent arterioles. Peritoneal diffusion of solutes is another transport mechanism to this hydrostatically induced convection, because the peritoneal cavity is filled with a dialysis solution. The distribution of this electrolyte-containing fluid is not restricted to the peritoneal cavity, but extends into the interstitial tissue up to the vascular wall. This implies that diffusion of solutes from the vascular lumen to the dialysis fluid occurs, which is quantitatively more important than hydrostatic convection, because of the large concentration gradient between blood and dialysate. Addition of a lowmolecular weight solute, e.g., glucose to dialysis fluid creates a crystalloid osmotic pressure gradient which is temporary, because the osmotic agent diffuses into the interstitium and from there back into the systemic microcirculation. Together with the hydrostatic pressure gradient, the glucoseinduced crystalloid pressure gradient induces fluid transport from the microcirculation to the peritoneal cavity, usually called UF.

According to the 3-pore theory of transport through the microvascular wall (Rippe, 1993), interendothelial pores are the pathways involved in solute transport. These consist mainly of small pores with radii of about 40 Å. The number of large pores (radius > 250 Å) is so small that their contribution to fluid transport and that of low molecular weight solutes can be neglected. Low molecular weight solutes pass the small pores easily, because their molecular radii are about 3 Å and even that of β_2 -microglobulin is only 16 Å. Consequently glucose that has a molecular radius of 3.12 Å, can only induce a limited crystalloid osmotic pressure gradient across the small interendothelial pores. This requires extremely high dialysate concentrations and lasts for a limited length of time, because of its absorption. We found that small pore water transport rates after the first one to two hours of a 3.86% glucose exchange averages 3 mL/min (Parikova et al., 2008). This value remains stable during the remaining 2-3 h (Parikova et al., 2008). The difference between the crystalloid and colloid pressure gradient during the last part of the dwell decreases from 16 to 2 mmHg during the last 2 h of a dwell (Parikova et al., 2008). This is a low value compared to the hydrostatic pressure gradient of 17 mmHg, the latter calculated as the difference between the pressure in peritoneal capillaries which averages 25 mmHg at the arteriolar side (Struijk et al., 1996) and the intraperitoneal pressure of 8 mmHg (Guyton, 1981). Given a net combined crystalloid and colloid osmotic pressure gradient in the initial phase of a 3.86% glucose exchange of about 50 mmHg (Parikova et al., 2008), the contribution of the hydrostatic pressure gradient to small-pore fluid transport will increase from about 34% in the beginning to about 80% during the last 2 h of the dwell.

Besides transcapillary UF by the crystalloid osmotic and hydrostatic pressure gradients which both increase intraperitoneal volume, fluid egresses from the peritoneal cavity by colloid osmosis-induced backfiltration at a rate of 0.4 mL/min (Imholz et al., 1993) and by absorption into the lymphatic system. Assessment of the latter requires intraperitoneal administration of a macromolecule, which is so large that its diffusion can be neglected. Radiolabeled albumin and neutral dextrans have been employed in PD patients (Krediet et al., 1991; Heimburger et al., 1992). The obtained values are dependent on the use of either the disappearance rate of the macromolecule from the peritoneal cavity or its appearance rate in the circulation. Typical values for the disappearance rate are 1.0-1.5 mL/min in PD patients, while they average 0.2 mL/min for the appearance rate (Rippe et al., 1986). The difference is partly explained by underestimation of the appearance rate, because the albumin space is about twice that of the circulating volume, and also by overestimation by the disappearance rate by transmesothelial passage of the macromolecule (Krediet, 2004).

Transcapillary UF by crystalloid osmosis occurs not only through small interendotheliaal pores, but also by the intraendothelial water channel aquaporin-1 (AQP-1; Stelin and Rippe, 1990; Ni et al., 2006). This transcellular membrane protein functions as an ultrasmall pore, allowing transport of water, but not of solutes, including glucose and Na⁺. Consequently it functions as an ideal semipermeable pore with a refection coefficient of 1.0, while that to glucose of the small pores is only 0.03-0.04 (Imholz et al., 1994). AQP-1 therefore induces free water transport (FWT) by crystalloid osmosis. It explains the socalled sodium sieving, found in an old clinical observation in severely overhydrated patients with acute kidney insufficiency, who were treated with PD using dialysate with very high glucose concentrations (Nolph et al., 1969). These patients showed a decrease of the dialysate Na⁺ concentration, while the plasma concentration remained unaltered. In retrospect this must have been caused by dilution due to high FWT rates.

Assessment of the dialysate/plasma (D/P) ratio of Na⁺ after 60 min of a dialysis exchange has been proposed as a semiquantitative method for AQP-1 function (Mujais et al., 2000). Calculation of $FWT_{0-60 \text{ min}}$ in patients is also possible using sodium transport in that period: the drained volume is divided in the volume that accompanies Na⁺ transport from the circulation to the dialysate which is assumed to have occurred through the small pores, the remaining part of the drained volume is considered to represent FWT (Smit et al., 2004; La Milia et al., 2005). Transcapillary UF during the initial 60 min can therefore be considered to be composed of small pore fluid transport (SPFT) and FWT. Calculations in patients show that SPFT accounts for 60% of UF and FWT for 40% (Parikova et al., 2005). These values are in close agreement to previous results of computer simulations (Rippe et al., 1991).

MECHANISMS AND CAUSES OF UF FAILURE

Peritoneal transport of a solute from the circulation to the dialysate-filled peritoneal cavity is dependent on its diffusion velocity mainly determined by molecular weight, and the number of perfused peritoneal microvessels so the number of pores available (Krediet et al., 1993). Comparison of the small pore radius with those of low molecular weight solutes points to the importance of the effective peritoneal surface area (EPSA), i.e., the number of perfused peritoneal capillaries in the determination of the mass transfer area (MTAC) of a solute. This representation of the maximal transport of a solute by diffusion at time zero is often replaced by the D/P ratio after drainage of the dialysate, which is usually performed after a dialysate dwell time of 4 h. Creatinine is usually used as marker solution, because no evidence of local peritoneal production or release is present. Therefore changes in the MTAC creatinine or D/P creatinine represent changes in EPSA. High values of MTAC or D/P creatinine indicate fast peritoneal solute transport including that of glucose, and thereby a rapid disappearance of the crystalloid osmotic gradient and impaired UF. Consequently an inverse relationship between MTAC creatinine and netUF is present, as shown in Figure 1. This is also the case for FWT, but for SPFT a positive relationship is present with MTAC creatinine, as shown in Figure 2. This can be explained by the limited dependence of SPFT on crystalloid osmosis, compared to that on the hydrostatic pressure gradient.



FIGURE 1 | The negative relationship between the transcapillary ultrafiltration rate during a 4 h exchange with 3.86% glucose dialysis solution and the mass transfer area coefficient of creatinine, representing the effective peritoneal vascular surface area. This figure was part of Figure 6.8 of chapter 6 in Krediet (2009). Published with permission of the author and of Springer Science and Business media.



Ultrafiltration failure can be distinguished into early (<2 years) of PD and late UF failure (Sampimon et al., 2011). Early UF failure occurs in about 4% of incident PD patients and is often not a clinical problem, because most patients still have urine production, which protects them for overhydration. With the exception of a high lymphatic absorption rate, which is rarely present, a large EPSA is usually present, not caused by a large number of microvessels, but by increments in their perfusion. EPSA is not a static property of the peritoneal membrane, but fluctuates due to intraperitoneally produced or released vasoactive factors. Acute peritonitis is the best example. It is characterized by a low UF rate and a high MTAC creatinine, caused by peritoneal hyperemia (Krediet et al., 1987; Douma et al., 1998) and mediated by vasoactive substances, like prostaglandins and interleukin-6 (Il-6; Zemel et al., 1993). The higher dialysate than plasma values of these factors point to intraperitoneal production. Peritonitis is an acute and largely reversible condition (Van Diepen et al., 2015), but also microinflammation likely influences peritoneal solute transport, as evidenced by relationships between dialysate Il-6 and D/P creatinine (Pecoits-Filho et al., 2006; Lambie et al., 2013). No association is present with systemic inflammation (Lambie et al., 2013). The increased EPSA, associated with acute peritonitis and with chronic micro inflammation impairs UF, because of the rapid disappearance of the crystalloid osmotic gradient. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells (MMT) is present in ex vivo obtained mesothelial cells from peritoneal effluent of PD patients (Yanez-Mo et al., 2003). Histology studies of peritoneal tissues in PD patients also show this phenomenon. It occurs during the first two years of treatment and is associated with an increased EPSA (Del Peso et al., 2008) and high dialysate concentrations of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF; Aroeira et al., 2005). Previously an association between dialysate VEGF and MTAC creatinine has been shown in a cross-sectional analysis (Zweers et al., 1999). A clinical diagnosis of MMT without histologic confirmation is likely when early UFF is associated with high

values of MTAC creatinine, effluent VEGF and cancer antigen 125, a marker of mesothelial cell mass or turn-over (Van Esch et al., 2004).

Late UFF develops in about 21% of patients who are treated with PD for >2 years (Sampimon et al., 2011). It involves both FWT and SPFT (Coester et al., 2014). FWT remains stable during the first 3 years of PD, but a subsequent decrease of $FWT_{0-60 \text{ min}}$ occurs to 67% of the initial value. This is accompanied by an increase of small solute transport that mirrors FWT: MTAC creatinine rises from 10 to 13 mL/min and glucose absorption after 4 h augments from 63 to 69% (Coester et al., 2014).

Very low values for FWT are present in patients with encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. This is a rare, but severe complication of long-term PD, which occurs in 3% of incident PD patients in the Netherlands after a duration of 5 to 13, mean 8 years (Sampimon et al., 2011), but it occurs more often in Japan (Kawanishi et al., 2004). EPS is clinically characterized by signs of bowel obstruction and morphologically by a thickened peritoneal interstitium with sclerotic changes, leading to adhesion of bowel loops. Especially the deposition of collagen-1 is extremely dense and is associated with osmotic water transport, assessed semiquantitatively, despite a normal expression of AQP-1 (Morelle et al., 2015). Also quantitative values for $FWT_{0-60 \text{ min}}$ are very low: we found an interquartile range of 24 to 73, median 26 mL (Sampimon et al., 2014). FWT_{0-60 min} < 75 mL predicted EPS with a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 81% (Lopes Barreto et al., 2018). Why EPS is associated with low FWT, is still unsolved. AQP-1 function may be impaired, but the deposition of interstitial collagen-1 is probably more important in the function of the crystalloid osmotic gradient, although the mechanism is still unsolved. The use of FWT in the follow-up of PD patients to identify those with progressive interstitial fibrosis has been proposed, but is hampered by the absence of a good reference method for quantification of peritoneal fibrosis (Krediet et al., 2016).

The time course of SPFT, the other constituent of transcapillary UF, is different. It shows a gradual decline to 46% of the initial value at 5 years (Coester et al., 2014). The influence of the crystalloid pressure gradient on this decrease can be neglected, compared to that of the hydrostatic pressure gradient, as shown previously. A reduction in the hydrostatic filtration pressure has been hypothesized, due to progressive vasculopathy (Krediet et al., 2018). This condition has first been described in the report of the peritoneal biopsy registry (Williams et al., 2002). Four grades are distinguished, ranging from subendothelial hvalinosis to luminal distortion and even obliteration. It is present in 70% of peritoneal biopsies after PD for more than 5 years. Vasculopathic blood vessels have a narrowed lumen and are therefore likely to lower the filtration pressure and thereby reduce SPFT, in contrast to FWT in EPS which is not related to vasculopathy (Morelle et al., 2015). Similar to diabetic microvascular disease, deposition of advanced glycosylation end products (AGEs) in the vascular wall may be the major culprit for the development of peritoneal vasculopathy. AGEs are irreversible covalently bound complexes between glucose molecules and proteins. In vivo they are formed within the vascular wall and lead to protein crosslinks in it, thereby increasing its rigidity. AGEs are important in diabetic microangiopathy and impaired kidney function (Makita et al., 1991). AGE deposition is also present in peritoneal tissue of PD patients, especial submesothelial and in the vascular wall (Nakayama et al., 1997; Combet et al., 2000). An

REFERENCES

- Aroeira, L. S., Aquillera, A., Selgas, R., Ramirez-Huesca, M., Perez-Lozano, M. L., Cirugeda, A., et al. (2005). Mesenchymal conversion of mesothelial cells as a mechanism responsible for high solute transport rate in peritoneal dialysis: role of vascular endothelial growth factor. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 46, 938–948. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.08.011
- Coester, A. M., Smit, W., Struijk, D. G., Parikova, A., and Krediet, R. T. (2014). Longitudinal analysis of fluid transport and their determinants in PD patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 34, 195–203. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00189
- Combet, S., Miyata, T., Moulin, P., Pouthier, D., Goffin, E., and Devuyst, O. (2000). Vascular proliferation and enhanced expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in human peritoneum exposed to long-term peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11, 717–728.
- Del Peso, G., Jimenez-Heffernan, J. A., Bajo, M. A., Aroeira, L. S., Aquillera, L. S., Fernandez-Perpen, A., et al. (2008). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells is an early event during peritoneal dialysis and is associated with high peritoneal transport. *Kidney Int.* 73(Suppl. 108), S26–S33. doi: 10. 1038/sj.ki.5002598
- Douma, C. E., De Waart, D. R., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (1998). Are phospholipase A2 and nitric oxide involved in the alterations in peritoneal transport during CAPD peritonitis? J. Lab. Clin. Med. 132, 329–340. doi: 10. 1016/S0022-2143(98)90047-6
- Guyton, A. C. (1981). Textbook of Medical Physiology, 6th Edn. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders, 358–369.
- Heimburger, O., Waniewski, J., Werynski, A., and Lindholm, B. (1992). A quantitative description of solute and fluid transport during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 41, 1320–1332. doi: 10.1038/ki.1992.196
- Honda, K., Nita, K., Horita, S., Yumura, W., Nihei, N., Nagai, R., et al. (1999). Accumulation of advanced glycation end products in the peritoneal vasculature of continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients with low ultrafiltration. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 14, 1541–1549. doi: 10.1093/ndt/14.6. 1541

association between UF failure, peritoneal AGE deposition and the severity of vasculopathy has been described (Honda et al., 1999).

CONCLUSION

The development of UF failure in patients solely treated with conventional PD solution, is a major problem for the longterm use of this mode of renal replacement therapy in end stage renal disease patients without residual urine production. Peritoneal fibrosis and vasculopathy are the most important structural abnormalities, involved in its pathogenesis. FWT is especially dependent on the number of perfused peritoneal blood vessels and probably on the amount of fibrosis, SPFT is reduced by vasculopathy. A reduction of both FWT and SPFT is likely to occur in the majority of long-term PD patients. Those who develop EPS should be considered as a separate subgroup, in which FWT is much more impaired than SPFT. Measurement of peritoneal transport function should not only include netUF, but also separate determinations of FWT and SPFT to guide treatment options.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RK wrote this review.

- Imholz, A. L., Koomen, G. C., Struijk, D. G., Arisz, L., and Krediet, R. T. (1993). Effect of an increased intraperitoneal pressure on fluid and solute transport during CAPD. *Kidney Int.* 44, 1078–1085. doi: 10.1038/ki. 1993.351
- Imholz, A. L. T., Koomen, G. C. M., Struijk, D. G., Arisz, L., and Krediet, R. T. (1994). Fluid and solute transport in CAPD patients using ultralow sodium dialysate. *Kidney Int.* 46, 333–340. doi: 10.1038/ki.1994.279
- Imholz, A. L. T., Koomen, G. C. M., Voorn, W. J., Struijk, D. G., Arisz, L., and Krediet, R. T. (1978). Day-to-day variability of peritoneal fluid and solute transport in recumbent and upright position during CAPD. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 13, 145–153.
- Kawanishi, H., Kawaguchi, Y., Fukui, H., Hara, S., Imada, A., Kubo, H., et al. (2004). Encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis in Japan: a prospective, controlled, multicenter study. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 44, 729–737. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(04) 00953-9
- Krediet, R. T. (2004). The effective lymphatic absorption rate is an accurate and useful concept in the physiology of peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 24, 309–313.
- Krediet, R. T. (2009). "The physiology of peritoneal solute, water and lymphatic transport," in *Nolph and Gokal's Textbook of Peritoneal Dialysis*, 3rd Edn, eds R. Khanna and R. T. Krediet (Berlin: Springer).
- Krediet, R. T., and Balafa, O. (2010). Cardiovascular risk in the peritoneal dialysis patient. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 6, 451–460. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2010.68
- Krediet, R. T., Lopes Barreto, D., and Struijk, D. G. (2016). Can free water transport be used as a clinical parameter for peritoneal fibrosis in long-term PD patients? *Perit. Dial. Int.* 36, 124–128. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2015.00129
- Krediet, R. T., Struijk, D. G., Koomen, G. C. M., and Arisz, L. (1991). Peritoneal fluid kinetics during CAPD measured with intraperitoneal dextran 70. ASAIO Trans. 37, 662–667.
- Krediet, R. T., Van Diepen, A. T. N., Coester, A. M., and Struijk, D. G. (2018). Peritoneal vasculopathy in the pathophysiology of long-term ultrafiltration failure. An hypothesis based on clinical observations. *Clin. Nephrol.* doi: 10. 5414/CN109596 [Epub ahead of print].

- Krediet, R. T., Zemel, D., Imholz, A. L. T., Koomen, G. C. M., Struijk, D. G., and Arisz, L. (1993). Indices of peritoneal permeability and surface area. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 13(Suppl. 2), S31–S34.
- Krediet, R. T., Zuyderhoudt, F. M. J., Boeschoten, E. W., and Arisz, L. (1987). Alterations in the peritoneal transport of water and solutes during peritonitis in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 17, 43–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1987.tb01224.x
- La Milia, V., Di Fillipo, S., Crepaldi, M., Dell Vecchio, L., DellÓro, C., Andrulli, S., et al. (2005). Mini-peritoneal equilibration test: a simple and fast metod to assess free water transport and small solute transport across the peritoneal membrane. *Kidney Int.* 68, 840–846. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00465.x
- Lambie, M., Chess, J., Donovan, K. L., Kim, Y. L., Do, J. Y., Lee, H. B., et al. (2013). Independent effects of systemic and peritoneal inflammation on peritoneal dialysis survival. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 24, 2071–2080. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2013030314
- Lopes Barreto, D., Sampimon, D. E., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2018). Early detection of imminent encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis: free water transport, selected effluent proteins or both? *Perit. Dial. Int.* doi: 10.3747/pdi.2017.00194 [Epub ahead of print].
- Makita, Z., Radoff, S., Rayfield, E. J., Yang, Z., Skonik, E., Delaney, V., et al. (1991). Advanced glycoslation end products in patients with diabetic nephropathy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 325, 836–842. doi: 10.1056/NEJM1991091932 51202
- Morelle, J., Snow, A., Hautem, N., Bouzin, C., Crott, R., Devuijst, O., et al. (2015). Interstitial fibrosis restricts osmotic water transport in encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 26, 2521–2533. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014090939
- Mujais, S., Nolph, K. D., Gokal, R., Blake, P., Burkart, J., Coles, G., et al. (2000). Evaluation and management of ultrafiltration problems in peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 20(Suppl. 4), S5–S21.
- Nakayama, M., Kawaguchi, Y., Yamada, K., Hasegawa, T., Takazoe, K., Katoh, N., et al. (1997). Immunohistochemical detection of advanced glycosylation endproducts in the peritoneum and its possible pathophysiological role in CAPD. *Kidney Int.* 51, 182–186. doi: 10.1038/ki.1997.22
- Ni, J., Verbavatz, J.-M., Rippe, A., Boisde, I., Moulin, P., Rippe, B., et al. (2006). Aquaporin-1 plays an essential role in water permeability and ultrafiltration during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 69, 1518–1525. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000285
- Nolph, K. D., Hano, J. E., and Teschan, P. E. (1969). Peritoneal sodium transport during hypertonic peritoneal dialysis. Ann. Intern. Med. 70, 931–941. doi: 10. 7326/0003-4819-70-5-931
- Pannekeet, M. M., Imholz, A. L. T., Struijk, D. G., Koomen, G. C. M., Langedijk, M. J., Schouten, N., et al. (1995). The stanard peritoneal permeability analysis: a tool for the assessment of peritoneal permeability characteristics in CAPD patients. *Kidney Int.* 48, 866–875. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.363
- Parikova, A., Smit, W., Struijk, D. G., Zweers, M. M., and Krediet, R. T. (2005). The contribution of free water transport and small pore fluid transport to the total fluid removal in peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 68, 1849–1856. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00604.x
- Parikova, A., Smit, W., Zweers, M. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2008). Free water transport, small pore transport and the osmotic pressure gradient. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 23, 2350–2355. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfm768
- Pecoits-Filho, R., Cavalho, M. J., Stenvinkel, P., Lindholm, B., and Heimburger, O. (2006). Systemic and intraperitoneal interleukin-6 system during the first year of peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 26, 53–63.
- Rippe, B. (1993). A three-pore model of peritoneal transport. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 12(Suppl. 2), S35–S38.

- Rippe, B., Stelin, G., and Ahlmen, J. (1986). "Lymph flow from the peritoneal cavity in CAPD patients," in *Frontiers in Peritoneal Dialysis*, eds J. F. Maher and J. F. Winchester (New York, NY: Field, Rich and Associates), 224–230.
- Rippe, B., Stelin, G., and Haraldsson, B. (1991). Computer simulations of peritoneal fluid transport in CAPD. *Kidney Int.* 40, 315–325. doi: 10.1038/ki.1991.216
- Sampimon, D. E., Coester, A. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2011). The time course of peritoneal transport parameters in peritoneal dialysis patients who develop encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 291–298. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq343
- Sampimon, D. E., Lopes Barreto, D., Coester, A. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2014). The value of osmotic conductance, and free water transport in the prediction of encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 30, 21–26.
- Smit, W., Struijk, D. G., Ho-dac-Pannekeet, M. M., and Krediet, R. T. (2004). Quantification of free water transport in peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 66, 849–854. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00815.x
- Stelin, G., and Rippe, B. (1990). A phenomenological interpretation of the variation in dialysate volume with dwell time in CAPD. *Kidney Int.* 38, 465–472. doi: 10.1038/ki.1990.227
- Struijk, D. G., Krediet, R. T., Imholz, A. L. T., Koomen, G. C. M., and Arisz, L. (1996). Fluid kinetics in CAPD patients during dialysis with a bicarbonatebased hypoosmolar solution. *Blood Purif.* 14, 217–226. doi: 10.1159/000170264
- Van Diepen, A. T. N., Van Esch, S., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2015). The first peritonitis episode alters the natural course of peritoneal membrane characteristics in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 35, 324–332. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00277
- Van Esch, S., Zweers, M. M., Jansen, M. A. M., De Waart, D. R., Van Maanen, J. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2004). Determinants of peritoneal solute transport rates in newly started non-diabetic peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 24, 554–561.
- Williams, J. D., Craig, K. J., Topley, N., Von Ruhland, C., Fallon, M., Newman, G. R., et al. (2002). Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 470–479.
- Yanez-Mo, M., Lara-Pezzi, E., Selgas, R., Ramirez-Huska, M., Dominiqez-Jimenez, C., Jimenez-Heffernan, J. A., et al. (2003). Peritoneal dialysis and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348, 403–413. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020809
- Zemel, D., Koomen, G. C. M., Hart, A. A. M., Ten Berge, R. J. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (1993). Relationship of TNFα, interleukin-6, and prostaglandins to peritoneal permeability for macromolecules during longitudidnal follow-up of peritonitis in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 122, 686–696.
- Zweers, M. M., De Waart, D. R., Smit, W., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (1999). The growth factors VEGF and TGF-β1 in peritoneal dialysis. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 134, 124–132. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2143(99)90116-6

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Krediet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Urgent-Start Peritoneal Dialysis as a Bridge to Definitive Chronic Renal Replacement Therapy: Short- and Long-Term Outcomes

Ewa Wojtaszek^{1*}, Agnieszka Grzejszczak¹, Katarzyna Grygiel², Jolanta Małyszko¹ and Joanna Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska¹

¹ Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Internal Medicine, Warsaw Medical University, Warsaw, Poland, ² Department of General, Vascular and Transplant Surgery, Warsaw Medical University, Warsaw, Poland

Background: The peritoneal dialysis (PD) urgent-start pathway, without typical 2-week break-in period, was meant for late-referral patients able and prone to join PD-first program, with its main advantages such as: keeping the vascular system intact, preserving their residual renal function and retaining life-style flexibility. We compared the short- and long-term outcomes of consecutive 35 patients after urgent- and 94 patients after the planned start of PD as the first choice.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Robert Ekart, University Clinical Centre Maribor, Slovenia Rümeyza Kazancıoğlu, Bezmiâlem Vakıf Üniversitesi, Turkey Martin E. Wilkie, Sheffield Teaching Hospital, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Ewa Wojtaszek ewojtaszek@wum.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 24 September 2018 Accepted: 06 December 2018 Published: 04 January 2019

Citation:

Wojtaszek E, Grzejszczak A, Grygiel K, Małyszko J and Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska J (2019) Urgent-Start Peritoneal Dialysis as a Bridge to Definitive Chronic Renal Replacement Therapy: Shortand Long-Term Outcomes. Front. Physiol. 9:1830. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01830 **Methods:** The study included all incident end-stage renal disease patients starting PD program between January 2005 and December 2015, classified into two groups: those with urgent (unplanned) and those with elective (planned) start. Urgent PD was initiated as an overnight automatic procedure (APD) with dwell volume gradually increased, and after 2–3 weeks, target PD method was established.

Results: The mean time between catheter implantation and PD start was 3.5 ± 2.3 in urgent and 16.2 ± 1.7 days in planned-start groups (p < 0.00001). 51% of the patients in the urgent-start group required PD during first 48 h after catheter insertion. Mean follow-up of 17.6 ± 11.09 months (median: 19.0) was in the urgent-start group and 28.6 ± 26.6 months (median: 19.5) in the planned-start group. The early mechanical complications were observed more often in the urgent-start group (29 vs. 4%, p = 0.00005). The only significant predictors of early mechanical complications were serum albumin (p = 0.02) and time between the catheter insertion and PD start. The first year patient survival and technique survival censored for death and kidney transplantation were not significantly different between groups. In Cox proportional analysis the independent risk factors for patient survival as well as for method and patient survival appeared Charlson Comorbidity Index CCI (HR 1.4; p = 0.01 and 1.24; p = 0.02) and time from catheter implantation to PD start with HR 5.11; p = 0.03 and 4.29; p = 0.04 for <2 days, while time > 14 days lost its predictive value (p = 0.07).

Conclusion: Peritoneal dialysis may be a feasible and safe alternative to HD in patients who need to start dialysis urgently without established dialysis access, with an acceptable complications rates, as well as patient and technique survival.

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, short-term outcomes, mechanical complication, technique survival, patient survival, long-term outcomes, infectious complications

48

INTRODUCTION

Almost 3 million people worldwide are affected by end stage renal disease (ESRD), and the vast majority of those who cannot undergo renal transplantation are treated with hemodialysis (HD), while less than 10% are on peritoneal dialysis (PD) (Liyanage et al., 2015; Li and Kwong, 2017). Moreover, despite many advantages, comparable survival rates for both techniques and the efforts of PD societies, the numbers of PD patients are still declining, year by year (Mehrotra et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017). The problem is complex, with the main causes being: an inadequate education and training of the nephrologists, shortages of trained nurses, easy access to HD, lack of patients education, and, in some countries, financial issues. Another important aspect is that as much as 40–60% of the patients initiate dialysis urgently, with no dialysis access, due to a late referral (Perl et al., 2011; Blake et al., 2013).

Since the insertion of central venous catheter is readily available and much easier than PD catheter placement, HD becomes the typical initial modality in such situations and many remain on HD, taking the path of least resistance. This can be overcome by introducing a so-called PD urgent-start program, which has attracted increased interest in recent years (Povlsen and Ivarsen, 2006; Lobbedez et al., 2008; Sharma et al., 2008; Oliver et al., 2012; Arramreddy et al., 2014; Mahnensmith, 2014).

A program of this kind was introduced in the Department of Nephrology of the Medical University of Warsaw in 2004. The aim of our study was to compare the impact of planned and unplanned (urgent) initiation of PD therapy in ESRD patients on infectious and non-infectious complications rate, and patients as well as patient technique short- and long-term survival.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All incident patients with ESRD starting a PD program in the Department of Nephrology at the Medical University of Warsaw between January 2005 and December 2015 were enrolled into the study. The protocol was approved by the Bioethical Committee of Medical University of Warsaw. All patients gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

In accordance with the International Society for PD (ISPD) (Li et al., 2016) and the European Renal Best Practice (ERBP) guidelines (Dombros et al., 2005), they were classified into two groups: those with urgent (unplanned) and those with elective (planned) start, depending on whether PD initiation took place during less than 14 days after peritoneal access creation or later.

In every late referral case the decision to initiate PD urgently was made individually in three steps. First, in patients with life-threatening metabolic disturbances (hyperkalemia, severe acidosis, severe volume overload, or marked uremia) the PD catheter implantation was preceded by 1–3 emergency HD procedures performed via temporary femoral vein access. Secondly, any medical or social contradictions to PD were carefully checked. In the last step, eligible patients were offered an informed choice of dialysis modality. In those who opted for PD, a Tenckhoff catheter (straight or coiled) was inserted by open surgery under local or general anesthesia. PD was initiated as an overnight automatic procedure (APD) in supine position with 800–1000 mL dwell volume (for patients < , and \geq 60 kg, respectively) and a dry day. The dwell volumes were gradually increased, and after 2–3 weeks patients remained on standard APD or were converted to continuous ambulatory PD (CAPD).

Follow up analyses of mechanical (leak, hernia, catheter migration, catheter obstruction, and bleeding) and infectious (peritonitis, exit site/tunnel infection) complications were performed after first 4 weeks, 90 days, and 12 months. Patients and technique survival rates were evaluated after first 90 days, 12 months, and at the end of the observation. The patients were observed for 3306 patient-moths (for entire group mean 25.6 \pm 23.8, median 19 months); for planned-start group 28.6 \pm 26.6, median 19.5 months, for urgent-start group 17.6 \pm 0.9, median 19.0 months. Peritonitis and ESI/TI rates are expressed as episodes per year of treatment. Catheter migration as reflected by clinical suspicion was defined as lack/drop of ultrafiltration or problems with dialysate outflow. This suspicion was confirmed by X-ray of abdominal cavity; Catheter obstruction did not occur in our patients. Pericatheter leak (exit-site leak) was defined as fluid leak around the catheter exit-site. Abdominal leak on clinical suspicion seen as drop of ultrafiltration, asymmetric swelling of abdominal wall tissues and "orange peel" syndrome; was confirmed on radiological examination with contrast given to the catheter or during CT.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with STATISTICA software package (version12), StatSoft Poland. Continuous variables with normal distribution were presented as mean (standard deviation [SD]) and compared between two groups using Student's t-test. Non-normal variables were expressed as median (interquartile range [IQR]) and compared with Mann-Whitney U-test. Categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages, and compared using Chi² test. The survival rates were analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier technique and log-rank test. The multivariate Cox proportional hazards model was used in survival analysis to adjust outcomes for confounding variables such as: estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), serum albumin and blood hemoglobin concentration, Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI), time between catheter insertion and PD start, any complication appearance during first 4 weeks of the treatment and the urgent start per se. The statistical difference was considered to be significant for p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

One hundred twenty nine incident patients (56% men), aged 50.8 \pm 17.8 years entered the study. Among them, 35 (27%) started PD urgently and the remaining 94 (73%) in the planned manner. The main demographic and clinical data of the unplanned and planned beginners are presented in **Table 1**. There

| TABLE 1 The main demographic and | d clinical characteristics of the study groups |
|------------------------------------|--|
|------------------------------------|--|

| Parameter | Urgent-start (n = 35) | Planned-start (n = 94) | р |
|--|--------------------------|---------------------------|----------|
| Age (years) | 51 ± 18.5 | 51 ± 17.7 | NS |
| Sex (% of men) | 49 | 52 | NS |
| eGFR (<i>ml/min/1.73 m</i> ²) | 6.1 ± 2.9 | 8.1 ± 2.7 | < 0.001 |
| Serum albumin (<i>g/dl</i>) | 3.23 ± 0.36 | 3.55 ± 0.46 | < 0.01 |
| Blood hemoglobin (g/dl) | 9.3 ± 1.36 | 10.4 ± 1.27 | < 0.0001 |
| Diabetes (%) | 11 | 36 | < 0.0001 |
| Cause of kidney disease (%) | | | < 0.01 |
| diabetic kidney disease | 9 | 25 | |
| glomerulonephritis | 37 | 43 | |
| hypertensive nephropathy | 9 | 11 | |
| unknown/other | 45 | 21 | |
| Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) | 6 ± 3 | 5 ± 3 | NS |
| | | | |

were no significant differences between study groups in terms of age, sex, and CCI. The patients who started PD urgently had worse kidney function, lower serum albumin, and blood hemoglobin concentrations at the beginning of the treatment.

Dialysis Initiation

The mean time between peritoneal access creation and PD start was 3.5 ± 2.3 and 16.2 ± 1.7 days, in urgent- and planned-start groups, respectively (p < 0.00001). Fifty-one percent of patients in the urgent-start group required PD during first 48 h after catheter insertion, and in 3 of them with life-threatening clinical symptoms – 2–3 short emergency HD procedures via femoral access were performed before PD catheter placement. In the remaining patients who started the treatment urgently, the time to PD commencement ranged between 3 and 8 days.

Non-infectious Complications

All mechanical complications are presented in **Table 2**. The early ones were observed more often in the urgent-start group (29% of patients vs. 4%, p = 0.00005), however, with no need for surgical intervention or temporary transition to HD. The most frequent early complication was dialysate leakage, which occurred in four patients – all of them started PD within 48 h after catheter implementation. In these patients, PD was postponed for 3–5 days and subsequently resumed with low-volume dwells.

The late mechanical complications occurred in 33.5% of all studied patients, 20% in urgent-start and 31% in the planned-start group (p = 0.15). The rate of late non-infectious complications

was similar in both groups, with the exception of PD catheter migration, more frequently seen in the planned-start group.

In the regression logistic analysis, serum albumin as continuous variable (0.18; CI: 0.04–0.77; p = 0.02) and time between the catheter insertion and PD start expressed as categorical variables: ≤ 48 h (1,79; CI: 0.45–7,18; p = 0.02), and >14 days (0.08; CI: 0.01–0.5; p = 0.003) occurred the only significant predictors of early mechanical complications. In regard to long-term follow-up, neither the time between the catheter insertion and PD start, the urgent start *per se* nor any early complication influenced the occurrence of late mechanical events.

Infectious Complications

There were no infectious complications in any studied patient during the first 4 weeks of PD treatment. During the whole observation at least one episode of peritonitis was observed in 12 patients (34%) in the urgent-start group and in 31 (33%) patients in the planned-start group. There were no differences between the groups regarding peritonitis and/or exit-site/tunnel infection rates during the first year of PD therapy as well as during the whole observation period (**Tables 3, 4**). In the regression logistic analysis none of analyzed parameters had an influence on peritonitis or exit-site/tunnel infection occurrence.

The Technique and Patients Survival

The patients were observed for 3306 patient-months, with mean follow-up of 17.6 \pm 11.09 months (median: 19.0, range: 1.0–44 months) in the urgent-start group and 28.6 ± 26.6 months (median: 19.5, range: 1.0-103 months) in the planned-start group. The short- and long-term outcomes in studied patients are presented in Table 5. The analysis revealed that PD urgent-start was associated with reduced survival but only in the first 90 days of the therapy (86 vs. 99%; p < 0.0001), and at the end of observation the rates were similar. During the study period five patients died of peritonitis (1 from US group and 4 from PLS group), which creates quite a high mortality rate due to PD peritonitis in our population (5/56 episodes). A review of these cases revealed: all patients had high comorbidity: CCI 7-9; all episodes occurred > 12 months from PD start; in two cases polymicrobial peritonitis was secondary to bowel perforation; in one case due to Gram negative (E. coli); in one case due polymicrobial (E. coli, Enterococcus fecal, Enterobacter cloacae, Candida spp.) infection without proven bowel perforation; in one case it occurred in the course of sepsis secondary to the complications after surgical treatment of lower limb ischemia.

TABLE 2 | Rate of early (first 4 weeks) and late (>4 weeks) mechanical complications in the studied groups.

| Complication | Urgent-start (n = 35) | | Planned | -start (<i>n</i> = 94) | p | | |
|----------------------|-----------------------|---------|---------|-------------------------|--------|------|--|
| | Early | Late | Early | Late | Early | Late | |
| Leakage | 4 (11%) | 5 (14%) | 0 | 7 (7%) | <0.001 | NS | |
| Bleeding | 3 (9%) | 0 | 1 (1%) | 0 | < 0.05 | - | |
| Catheter migration | 3 (9%) | 1 (3%) | 3 (3%) | 15 (16%) | NS | 0.04 | |
| Catheter obstruction | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | - | - | |
| Hernia | 0 | 2 (6%) | 0 | 12 (13%) | - | NS | |

TABLE 3 | Peritonitis rates and time to first episode in both studies groups.

| Period | Urgent-st | art (n = 35) | Planned-s | p | | |
|---------------------|---|---|---|---|----|------|
| Evaluated parameter | (A) Number of episodes/rate [episodes/year] | (B) Time to first episode (median) [months] | (A) Number of episodes/rate [episodes/year] | (B) Time to first episode (median) [months] | A | В |
| First year of PD | 6/0.17 | 6.8 ± 2.6 (7) | 10 /0.10 | 8.4 ± 2.6 (8) | NS | NS |
| Whole observation | 14/0.40 | 13.9 ± 10.5 (11.5) | 42 /0.44 | 27.5 ± 21.3 (22) | NS | 0.04 |

TABLE 4 | Exit-site/tunnel infections rates and time to first episode in both studies groups.

| Period | Urgent-st | art (n = 35) | Planned-s | p | | |
|---------------------|--|---|---|---|----|----|
| Evaluated parameter | (A) Number of episodes /rate [episodes/year] | (B) Time to first episode (median) [months] | (A) Number of episodes/rate [episodes/year] | (B) Time to first episode (median) [months] | A | В |
| First year of PD | 1/0.02 | 10.0 ± 2.8 (10) | 6/0.06 | 8.3 ± 2.8 (9) | NS | NS |
| Whole observation | 3/0.08 | 11.3 ± 3.1 (12) | 14/0.1 | 23.6 ± 18.1 (14) | NS | NS |

TABLE 5 | The short- and long-term outcomes in studied patients.

| | Di | Died | | Receive transplant | | Changed to HD | | Stayed on PD | | Technique survival** | |
|-------------------|----------|----------|----------|--------------------|----------|---------------|-------------|--------------|-----------|----------------------|--|
| 90 days | 6 (4.6%) | | 1 (0.8%) | | 4 (3.1%) | | 118 (91.5%) | | 118 (97%) | | |
| | US | US PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | |
| | 5* (14%) | 1 (1.1%) | 0 | 1 (1.1%) | 0 | 4 (4.2%) | 30 (86%) | 88 (94%) | 30 (100%) | 88 (95.7%) | |
| 90 days-12 months | 8 (| 6%) | 17 (| 13%) | 11 | (9%) | 93 (| 72%) | 93 (8 | 9%) | |
| | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | |
| | 6 (17%) | 2 (2%) | 3 (9%) | 14 (15%) | 1 (3%) | 10 (11%) | 25 (71%) | 68 (72%) | 34 (97%) | 84 (87%) | |
| >12 months | 29 (2 | 23%) | 44 (| 34%) | 29 | (22%) | 27 (| 21%) | 27 (4 | .8%) | |
| | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | US | PLS | |
| | 13 (37%) | 16 (17%) | 10 (29%) | 34 (36%) | 6 (17%) | 23 (25%) | 6 (17%) | 21 (22%) | 29 (83%) | 71 (76%) | |

*p < 0.0001; **Censored by death and kidney transplantation; US, urgent-start; PLS, planned-start.

Thus, peritonitis was one of the contributing cause of death in these seriously ill patients. The causes of death are shown in **Table 6**.

At the end of observation only 27 (21%) of all studied patients (17% from urgent- and 22% from planned-start group) stayed on PD. The most frequent reason for PD cessation was kidney transplantation – 34% of all patients (29 and 34%, respectively), death – 23% of all patients (37 and 17%, respectively), and transition to HD – 23% of all patients (17 and 25%, respectively). The causes of transition to HD are presented in **Table 7**.

Cox proportional analysis was performed for patient survival, method survival and both in 90 days, 1 year and all follow-up period. The results are presented in **Table 8**.

During the first 90 days of dialysis therapy the only important negative predictor for patient survival appeared to be CCI (HR 1.6 [CI: 1.06–2.4]; p = 0.02); however, later on, both CCI and time from catheter implantation to PD start were found to be significant. The same applies for both method and patient survival: CCI (HR 1.24 [CI: 1.05–1.47]; p = 0.02), time from catheter implantation (continuous variable HR 0.66 [CI: 0.48–0.91]; p = 0.01) and ≤ 2 days (HR 4.29 [CI: 0.73–25.1];

| TABLE O Gauses of deal | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|----------------|----|-----|------------|----------------|----|-----|--|--|--|
| Time | Cause | US | PLS | Time | Cause | US | PLS | | | |
| 90 days | Cardiovascular | 4 | _ | >12 months | Cardiovascular | 1 | 6 | | | |
| | AIDS | - | 1 | | Peritonitis | 1 | 4 | | | |
| | Unknown | 1 | - | | PAD | З | 3 | | | |
| 90 days–12 months | Cardiovascular | - | 1 | | Malignancy | 2 | - | | | |
| | Malignancy | 1 | - | | Other/unknown | - | 1 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

TABLE 6 | Causes of death in patients with urgent- and planned PD start

PAD, peripheral arterial disease; US, urgent-start; PLS, planned-start.

| | Urge | nt-start (<i>n</i> = 35) | Planned-start (n = 94) | | | |
|------------|----------|---------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Time | Patients | Causes | Patients | Causes | | |
| 90 days | 0 | | 2 1 | Loss of independence | | |
| | | | 1 | Patients decision | | |
| | | | | Onco-surgery | | |
| 90 days – | 1 | Peritonitis | 2 | Peritonitis | | |
| 12 months | | | 2 | Loss of | | |
| | | | 2 | independence | | |
| | | | | Leakage | | |
| >12 months | 2 | Membrane | 5 | Peritonitis | | |
| | 1 | failure | 3 | Loss of | | |
| | 1 | Peritonitis | 3 | independence | | |
| | 1 | Leakage Non-compliance | 2 | Membrane failure Abdominal surgery | | |

p = 0.04) were found to be predictive during the whole analyzed period, although after 1 year – time >14 days lost its predictive value (p = 0.07). There were no predictors for method survival alone in any analyzed period.

DISCUSSION

In our nephrology clinic, the PD urgent-start pathway, without typical 2-week break-in period, was opened 14 years ago; its outline is presented in **Figure 1**. It was meant for late-referral patients, able and prone to join PD-first program, with its main advantages such as: keeping the vascular system intact, preserving their residual renal function and retaining life-style flexibility.

There was also our hope that early unplanned PD may be a good method to increase use this option of RRT. Finally, for patients who ultimately decided to change the treatment for HD, PD treatment continued until arteriovenous fistula maturation enabled to avoid temporary vascular access catheter placement. In this paper we compare the short- and long-term outcomes of consecutive 35 patients after urgent- and 94 patients after the planned start, who have commenced PD as a first RRT in our unit during this period.

The results confirm that PD can be a safe method of introducing RRT in unplanned acute dialysis settings. In general they are comparable with those of other authors, presented in Table 9 (Song et al., 2000; Banli et al., 2005; Povlsen and Ivarsen, 2006; Jo et al., 2007; Lobbedez et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2011; Casaretto et al., 2012; Ghaffari, 2012; Koch et al., 2012; Masseur et al., 2014; Alkatheeri et al., 2016; Bitencourt Dias et al. 2016, 2017; Jin et al., 2016; Pai et al., 2016; Wong et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017; Nayak et al., 2018). However, there are many methodological differences among these studies concerning patients population, the technique of peritoneal catheter placement, or length of break-in period. In most of them the observation period was rather short (mostly 3-6 months), and only some of them have the control groups. In the presented study the median of the observation time was 19 months.

The biggest concern about acute PD start is the risk of early mechanical complications: dialysate leaks as well as the catheter dysfunction. It may be that an early rise in peritoneal pressure negatively affects the wound healing and facilitates leakage. This can be further intensified by hypoalbuminemia, relatively often present in ESRD patients who need urgent dialysis start. In the presented study a short break-in period together with low serum albumin occurred to be the independent predictors for early

TABLE 8 | Independent risk factors for patient and patient-method outcomes (Cox proportional analysis).

| | 90 days | | 12 m | onths | Whole observation period | | |
|---------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| Variable | Patient survival | Patient and technique survival* | Patient survival | Patient and technique survival* | Patient survival | Patient and technique survival* | |
| eGFR | 1.0; | 1.02; | 0.84; | 0.99; | 1.0; | 1.02; | |
| | Cl, 0.88-1.13; | Cl, 0.94-1.11; | Cl, 0.62-1.15; | Cl, 0.84-1.17; | Cl, 0.88-1.13; | Cl, 0.9-1.11; | |
| | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | |
| Hb | 0.8; | 0.7; | 1.46; | 1.0; | 0.77; | 0.67; | |
| | Cl, 0.53-1.1; | Cl, 0.48-1.04; | Cl, 0.75–2.87; | Cl, 0.67-1.52; | Cl, 0.53-1.11; | Cl, 0.51–0.87; | |
| | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | p = 0.003 | |
| CCI | 1.6; | 1.4; | 1.4; | 1.24; | 1.43; | 1.2; | |
| | Cl, 1.06–2.4; | Cl, 1.09–1.78; | Cl, 1.02-1.79; | Cl, 1.05–1.47; | Cl, 1.2–1.66; | Cl, 1.08–1.32; | |
| | p = 0.02 | p = 0.007 | p = 0.01 | p = 0.02 | p = 0.00002 | p = 0.0003 | |
| Time ≤2 days | 0.7; | 8.53; | 5.11; | 4.29; | 1.69; | 1.4; | |
| | Cl, 0.13–3.65; | Cl, 0.77-94.89 | Cl, 0.58-44.4; | Cl, 0.73-25.1; | Cl, 0.44-6.47; | Cl, 0.56-3.51; | |
| | NS | p = 0.02 | p = 0.03 | <i>ρ</i> = 0.04 | p = 0.07 | NS | |
| Time >14 days | 0.6; | 0.18; | 0.08; | 0.38; | 0.21; | 0.56; | |
| | Cl, 0.16-1.86; | Cl, 0.02-1.25; | Cl, 0.004-1.67; | Cl, 0.08-1.89; | Cl, 0.08–0.58; | Cl, 0.28-1.12; | |
| | NS | p = 0.01 | p = 0.04 | p = 0.07 | p = 0.0006 | p = 0.02 | |

CCI, Charlson Comorbidity Index; Time, time between catheter insertion and PD start. *Censored by death and kidney transplantation.



FIGURE 1 | PD urgent–start program realized in our nephrology unit. Every late referral patient is quickly but carefully evaluated. Those who have no contradictions to PD and give an informed consent for PD as a bridge to final therapy choice are qualified to the program. The patients with life-threatening clinical symptoms like: pulmonary edema, severe hyperkalemia or acidosis, are given 1–3 short HD treatments via acute femoral catheter, before peritoneal access creation. The peritoneal catheter is introduced by a surgeon from our team, and the low-volume 8–12 night hours APD is started, with concomitant RRT education program for the patients decide to remain on PD, the PD training is started, while in case when he/she considers HD as a more suitable RRT option – a arteriovenous fistula is created and PD continued until matured.

dialysate leakage. The risk of this complication in patients who started PD urgently was 11% (vs. 0% in planned start group, p < 0.001), and its overall incidence was higher than described by some other authors (Povlsen and Ivarsen, 2006; Lobbedez et al., 2008; Sharma et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2014). There was also a higher incidence of bleeding into peritoneal cavity in urgent PD start group. However, after several days of peritoneal rest PD was resumed, and – unlike in some other studies – none of the patients needed a surgical intervention, and PD technique success at 3 months as well as during the whole observation was similar in both groups. The rates of late non-infectious complications were in both groups similar, with an exception of PD catheter migration, more frequently seen in the planned-start group. It did not affect the technique and patient survival either.

Contrary to the common perception that early use of peritoneal catheter may increase a risk of infectious complications such as exit-site/tunnel infections and peritonitis, we did not observe any of these in the early 4-week period of the treatment. The incidence rates during the whole observation period were in both studied groups similar. A shorter time to first peritonitis episode in urgent-start group shorter (p = 0.04) seems to be rather a consequence of a shorter observation period in this group. In the regression logistic analysis none of analyzed parameters had influence on peritonitis or exit-site/tunnel infection occurrence.

We found significantly higher mortality rate after first 90 days of the therapy in patients initiating PD urgently (14 vs. 1.1%, p < 0.0001). Although both groups were comparable in respect to age, many other factors may explain the reduced short-term survival in the unplanned starters (Lobbedez et al., 2008; Ivarsen and Povlsen, 2014). It is well-known that first 90 days of any dialysis therapy is a period of disproportionately high mortality and that in patients who start the treatment urgently and are often in a challenging clinical condition the outcomes are worst, with the percentages reaching even 30% in unplanned HD (where a part of which may be attributable to CVC (Khan et al., 1995; Collins et al., 2009; Mendelssohn et al., 2009; Baer et al., 2010; Panochia et al., 2016). Our urgent start patients were "sicker": had more advanced uremia, lower albumin and hemoglobin levels and worse general clinical status, with necessity of dialysis within first 48 h in 51% of them, including 3 (8.6%) patients with life-threatening uremic symptoms in whom 2-3 short emergency HD via femoral access were performed before PD catheter placement.

The higher mortality rate in the urgent-start group persisted after 1 year (17 vs. 2%) and at the end of observation (37 vs. 17%), although the difference did not reach the statistical significance, possibly because small numbers of studied patients. The only significant predictor of patient death during first 90 days of dialysis therapy appeared to be CCI (HR 1.6 [CI: 1.06-2.4]; p = 0.02), however, later on both: CCI and time from catheter implantation to PD start were found to be significant.

The studied group consists of unselected incident patients started PD in our unit and seems to be fairly typical patients population treated with PD (age, comorbidity, ~30% urgent start). The mortality rate in this group in the entire observation period (mean: 25.6 ± 23.8 , median: 19 months) was 23%, and 10.6% in the first year (4.6%-90 days, 6%-90 days-12 months). It seems to be comparable with reported mortality rates in dialysis populations (USRDS, ERA-EDTA Registry), which despite some improvement in the last decade, remains very high ($\sim 20\%$) with a universal phenomenon of increased mortality early after dialysis initiation (Robinson et al., 2014). The mortality rate was distinctly, however not statistically significant higher (effect of the sample size?) in urgent-starters in all time intervals, and this is good established observation that urgent dialysis start is an important factor of poor prognosis (short and long-term) irrespective of dialysis modality and generally results from various aspects related to uremic complications and comorbidities, as well as dialysis issues (i.e., CVC in HD patients). In our study, in Cox proportional analysis the time ≤ 2 days from catheter implantation to dialysis start (which may be a marker of necessity of dialysis initiation - more advanced uremia, worse general clinical status), and CCI proved to be an independent risk factors for patient survival in the whole observation.

With death and renal transplantation being the censored events, the PD technique survival was excellent in both, urgent and planned start groups, being respectively: 100 and 96% at 3 months, 97 and 87% at 12 months, and 83 and 76% at the end of the observation. These percentages are higher than reported by

| Reference | Patients (groups) | Insertion technique | Urgent-start intervention | Observation period | Mechanical complications | Infectious complications | Survival (patient survival, method survival) |
|---------------------------|-----------------------------------|------------------------------------|--|-----------------------|--|--|---|
| Povisen and Ivarsen, 2006 | 140 pts (52-US vs. 88-PLS) | Surgical | APD < 24 h after catheter insertion | 3 months | Leakage : 7.7% in US vs. 0% in PLS. Catheter dystunction: 15% in US vs. 5.8% in PLS | Peritonitis: 15% in US vs. 15% in PLS ESI: 3.9% in US vs. 3.8% in PLS | Technique survival: 87% for US, 90% for PLS |
| Yang et al., 2011 | 310 pts (226-US vs. 84-PLS) | Surgical | CAPD 48–64 h after catheter insertion | 6 months | Leakage: 2.2% in US vs. 2.4% in PLS Catheter dysfunction: 1,3% in US vs. 0% in PLS | Pertronitis: 4% in US vs. 2.4% in PLS ESI: 1.3% in US vs. 0% in PLS | Not specified |
| Pai et al., 2016 | 149 pts (80-US vs. 69-PLS) | Surgical | 6–13 days after catheter insertion | 30 土 25 months | I | Peritonitis: 1/65 patient-months in US vs. 1/95 patient-months in PLS | Drop out of PD 45 in early and 34 in delayed starters |
| Jin et al., 2016 | 178 pts (96-US vs. 82-US HD) | Surgical | PD start within 14 days after catheter insertion | | Catheter malposition 3.1% | Peritonitis: 2.1% ESI: 0% | 3 months survival 98% for PD and HD 1 year survival 92% for PD, 93% for HD |
| Xu et al., 2017 | 922 pts US | Surgical | 50% within 1 day after catheter insertion | Median 31 months | Abdominal wall complications 4.8% Catheter complications 9.5% | I | 36% pts continued to receive PD therapy |
| Wang et al., 2017 | 101 pts US | Surgical | 2 days after catheter insertion | 12 months | Leakage 10% in IPD vs. 3.9% in APD Catheter malposition 4% in IPD vs. 3.9% in APD | Infection 26% in IPD and 13.7% in APD | I |
| Nayak et al., 2018 | 56 pts (32-US vs. 24 PLS) | Surgical | ≤48 h after catheter insertion | 90 days | Leakage 9.4% in US vs. 0% in PLS Catheter migration 25% in US vs. 16.7% in PLS | Peritonitis: 9.4%??? | Technique survival 91% for US, 96% for PLS |
| Casaretto et al., 2012 | 11 pts US | Laparoscopic | APD < 48 h after catheter insertion | 90 days | No leaks, catheter dysfunction in 1 patient | No peritonitis | I |
| Koch et al., 2012 | 123 pts (66-US vs. 57-US HD) | Laparoscopic | APD during 12 h after catheter implantation | 4.7 ± 2.0 months | Catheter dysfunction: 7.6% for PD vs. 5.3% for HD | Bacteremia 3% for PD vs. 21% for HD. Peritonitis: 3%, ESI: 4.5% | 6 months survival 70% for PD, 58% for HD (NS) |
| Masseur et al., 2014 | 81 pts US | Laparoscopic | ADP – immediately to 3–6 days after catheter implantation | 3 months | No leaks Catheter dysfunction in eight patients | No peritonitis | 95% |
| Alkatheeri et al., 2016 | 30 pts US | Laparoscopic or percutaneous | APD – immediately (6 pts) to median 6 days after catheter implantation | Median 201 days | Leakage in 10%; Catheter dystunction in 20% | Peritonitis – 1 (1:319 patient-months) ESI 2 (1:159 patient-months) | 3 months patient survival 100%; technique survival 93% |
| | | | | | | | (Continued) |

| TABLE 9 Continued | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------|--|---|---|-----------------------|--|---|---|
| Reference | Patients (groups) | Insertion technique | Urgent-start intervention | Observation period | Mechanical complications | Infectious complications | Survival (patient survival, method survival) |
| Song et al., 2000 | 59 pts US | Percutaneous | Immediately (<24 h)after catheter implantation: () gradual increase in exchange volume (II) Full exchange volume (2 L) | 12 months | Leakage: 9.5% in Group I vs. 10.5% in Group II Catheter dystunction: 4.8% in Group IVs. 5.3% in Group II | Peritonitis: 24% in Group I vs. 16% in Group I ESI: 9.5% in Group I vs. 5.3% in Group II | Catheter survival: Group I – 86%, Group II – 84% |
| Banli et al., 2005 | 41 pts US | Percutaneous | CAPD incremental since 6-th day after implantation | I | Leakage: 4.8%; Catheter dysfunction: 2.4% | Peritonitis: 2.4% ESI: 0% | I |
| Jo et al., 2007 | 51 pts US | Percutaneous | CAPD immediately after catheter implantation | 12 months | Leakage: 2%; Catheter dysfunction: 12% | Peritonitis: 4% ESI: 4% | I |
| Ghaffari, 2012 | 27 pts (18-US vs. 9-PLS) | Percutaneous | Urgent: <2 weeks after catheter implantation Planned: 2-4 weeks after catheter implantation | 3 months | Leakage: 33% in US vs. 11% in PLS Catheter dysfunction: 11% in US vs. 22% in PLS | Peritonitis: 1:110 patient-months in US vs. 1:42 patient-months in PLS ESI: 1:55 patient-months in US vs. 1:42 patient-months in PLS | 1 |
| Bitencourt Dias et al. 2016 | 76 pts (35-US vs. 6-PLS vs. 29-US HD vs. 6-PLS HD | Percutaneous | High volume PD < 48 h after catheter implantation | 3 months | Leakage: 2.8% Catheter dysfunction: 20% | Peritonitis: 14.2% ESI: 8.6% | Patient survival – 80% Technique survival – 86% |
| Bitencourt Dias et al., 2017 | 51 pts US | Percutaneous | High volume PD < 72 h after catheter implantation | 180 days | Leakage: 9.7% Catheter migration: 16% | Peritonitis: 0.5 patient/y ESI 17% | Patient survival – 82% Technique survival – 86% |
| Wong et al., 2016 | 81 pts US | Surgical or laparoscopy or percutaneous | Emergent – within 48 h of catheter implantation; Urgent – 48 h – 14 days after catheter implantation | 12 months | Leakage: 5% Catheter dysfunction: 15% | Peritonitis – 16% (72/100 patient-years) | 1 |
| Lobbedez et al., 2008 | 60 pts (34 US PD vs. 26 US HD) | Not specified | APD 9.6 ± 10.3 days (median: 4 days) after catheter insertion | 12 months | Leakage: 5.8% | The survival free of peritonitis: 73% at 6 months and 55% at 1 year | Patient survival: 83% for PD, 79% for HD PD technique survival – 90% after 6 months and 88% after 12 months |

the other experienced urgent-start PD centers. In a French study by Lobbedez et al. (2008), which included 34 unplanned dialysis patients the actuarial PD technique survival was 90% at 6 months and 88% at 1 year. In the study done by Povlsen and Ivarsen, who compared outcomes of 52 urgent start with 52 planned-start patients, the 3-month PD technique censored survival rates were even lower, with corresponding values: 87 and 90% (Povlsen and Ivarsen, 2006).

CONCLUSION

Peritoneal dialysis may be a feasible and safe alternative to HD in patients who need to start dialysis urgently without established dialysis access, with an acceptable complications rates, as well as patient and technique survival. We found this method an important part of full RRT program in every reference dialysis unit, allowing for real free individual choice of the modality. However to be successful PD urgent start program needs adequate infrastructure, expertise, good organization with continuous availability of experienced surgeons or other doctors who place peritoneal catheters, dedication of the complete team, and a good RRT educational program, adjusted to the unplanned

REFERENCES

- Alkatheeri, A. M., Blake, P. G., Gray, D., and Jain, A. K. (2016). Success of urgentstart peritoneal dialysis in a large Canadian renal program. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 36, 171–176. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00148
- Arramreddy, R., Zheng, S., Saxena, A. B., Liebman, S. E., and Wong, L. (2014). Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis: a chance fo a new beginning. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 63, 390–395.
- Baer, G., Lameire, N., and Van Biesen, W. (2010). Late referral of patients with endstage renal disease: an in-depth review and suggestions for further actions. NDT Plus 3, 17–27. doi: 10.1093/ndtplus/sfp050
- Banli, O., Altun, H., and Oztemel, A. (2005). Early start of CAPD with the Seldinger technique. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 25, 556–559.
- Bitencourt, Dias D, Mendes, M. L., Burgugi, Banin V, Barretti, P., and Ponce, D. (2017). Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis: the first year of brazilian experience. *Blood Purif*, 44, 283–287. doi: 10.1159/000478970
- Blake, P. G., Quinn, R. R., and Oliver, M. J. (2013). Peritoneal dialysis and the process of modality selection. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 33, 233–241. doi: 10.3747/pdi. 2012.00119
- Casaretto, A., Rosario, R., Kotzker, W. R., Pagan-Rosario, Y., Groenhoff, C., and Guest, S. (2012). Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis: report from a U.S. private nephrology practice. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 28, 102–105.
- Collins, A. J., Foley, R. N., Gilbertson, D. T., and Chen, S. C. (2009). The state of chronic kidney disease, ESRD, and morbidity and mortality in the first year of dialysis. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 4, S5–S11. doi: 10.2215/CJN.0598 0809
- Dias, D. B., Banin, V., Mendes, M. L., Barretti, P., and Ponce, D. (2016). Peritoneal dialysis can be an option for unplanned chronic dialysis: initial results from a developing country. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* 48, 901–906. doi: 10.1007/s11255-016-1243-x
- Dombros, N., Dratwa, M., Feriani, M., Gokal, R., Heimburger, O., Krediet, R., et al. (2005). European best practice guidelines for peritoneal dialysis. 3 peritoneal access. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 20(Suppl. 9), ix8–ix12.
- Ghaffari, A. (2012). Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis: a quality improvement report. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 59, 400–408. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011. 08.034
- Ivarsen, P., and Povlsen, J. V. (2014). Can peritoneal dialysis be applied for unplanned initiation of chronic dialysis? *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 29, 2201–2206. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft487

setting, to give the full possibility of unbiased final choice of the RRT method, that fits best to their lifestyle.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was exempted from the requirement of the Ethics Committee, as all the patients were in end-stage kidney disease and require renal replacement therapy in other planned or urgent manner. All of them singed the informed consent to start renal replacement therapy as required by the National Health found (routine informed consent for the procedure of increased risk).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EW, AG, and JM-R conceived the idea for the study and contributed to the design of the research. EW and JM-R performed the statistical analysis of the collected data and performed the analysis. EW, JM, and JM-R were involved in the preparation of the manuscript. EW, AG, and KG were involved in data collection. All the authors analyzed the data, edited, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

- Jin, H., Fang, W., Zhu, M., Yu, Z., Fang, Y., Yan, H., et al. (2016). Urgentstart peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis in esrd patients: complications and outcomes. *PLoS One* 11:e0166181. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.016 6181
- Jo, Y. I., Shin, S. K., Lee, J. H., Song, J. O., and Park, J. H. (2007). Immediate initiation of CAPD following percutaneous catheter placement without breakin procedure. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 27, 179–183.
- Khan, I. H., Catto, G. R., Edward, N., and MacLeod, A. M. (1995). Death during the first 90 days of dialysis: a case control study. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 25, 276–280.
- Koch, M., Kohnle, M., Trapp, R., Haastert, B., Rump, L. C., and Aker, S. (2012). Comparable outcome of acute unplanned peritoneal dialysis and haemodialysis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 375–380. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr262
- Li, P. K., Chow, K. M., Van de Luijtgaarden, M. W., Johnson, D. W., Jager, K. J., Mehrotra, R., et al. (2017). Changes in the worldwide epidemiology of peritoneal dialysis. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 13, 90–103. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.181
- Li, P. K., and Kwong, V. W. K. (2017). Current challanges and opportunities in PD. Semin. Nephrol. 37, 2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2016. 10.002
- Li, P. K. T., Szeto, C. C., Piraino, B., de Artega, J., Fan, S., Figueiredo, A. E., et al. (2016). ISPD peritonitis recommendations:update on prevention and treatment. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 36, 481–508.
- Liu, F. X., Ghaffari, A., Dhatt, H., Kumar, V., Balsera, C., Wallace, E., et al. (2014). Economic evaluation of urgent-start peritoneal dialysis versus urgentstart hemodialysis in the United States. *Medicine* 93, 1–7. doi: 10.1097/MD. 00000000000293
- Liyanage, T., Ninomiya, T., Jha, V., Neal, B., Patrice, H. M., Okpechi, I., et al. (2015). Worldwide access to tretment for end-stage kidney disease: a systematic review. *Lancet* 385, 1975–1982. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61601-9
- Lobbedez, T., Lecouf, A., Ficheux, M., Henri, P., Hurault de Ligny, B., and Ryckelynck, J. P. (2008). Is rapid initiation of peritoneal dialysis feasible in unplanned dialysis patients? A single-centre experience. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 23, 3290–3294. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn213
- Mahnensmith, R. L. (2014). Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis; what are the problems and their solutions? *Semin. Dial.* 27, 291–294.
- Masseur, A., Guest, S., and Kumar, V. (2014). Early technique success after initiation of treatment with urgent-start peritoneal dialysis. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 30, 36–39.
- Mehrotra, R., Devuyst, O., Davies, S. J., and Johnson, D. W. (2016). The current state of peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 3238–3252.

- Mendelssohn, D. C., Malmberg, C., and Hamandi, B. (2009). An integrated review of 'unplanned' dialysis initiation: reframing the terminology to 'suboptimal' initiation. BMC Nephrol. 10:22. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-10-22
- Nayak, K. S., Subhramanyam, S. V., Pavankumar, N., Antony, S., and Sarfaraz, Khan MA (2018). Emergent start peritoneal dialysis for end-stage renal disease: outcomes and advantages. *Blood Purif.* 45, 313–319. doi: 10.1159/000486543
- Oliver, M. J., Verrelli, M., Zacharias, J. M., Blake, P. G., Garg, A. X., Johnson, J. F., et al. (2012). Choosing peritoneal dialysis reduces the risk of invasive access interventions. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 810–816. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr289
- Pai, M. F., Yang, J. Y., Chen, H. Y., Hsu, S. P., Chiu, Y. L., Wu, H. Y., et al. (2016). Comparing long-term outcomes between early and delayed initiation of peritoneal dialysis following catheter implantation. *Ren. Fail.* 38, 875–881. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2016.1165069
- Panochia, N., Tazza, L., Stazzio, E. D., Liberatori, M., Vulpio, C., Giungi, S., et al. (2016). Mortality in hospitalized chronic kidney disease patients starting unplanned urgent haemodialysis. *Nephrology* 21, 62–67. doi: 10.1111/nep.12561
- Perl, J., Wald, R., McFarlane, P., Bargman, J. M., Vonesh, E., Na, Y., et al. (2011). Hemodialysis vascular access modifies the association between dialysis modality and survival. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 22, 1113–1121. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2010111155
- Povlsen, J. V., and Ivarsen, P. (2006). How to start the late referred ESRD patient urgently on chronic APD. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 21, ii56-ii59.
- Robinson, B. M., Zhang, J., Morgenstern, H., Bradbury, B. D., Ng, L. J., McCullough, K. P., et al. (2014). Worldwide, mortality risk is high soon after initiation of hemodialysis. *Kidney Int.* 85, 158–165. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.252
- Sharma, A. P., Mandhani, A., Daniel, S. P., and Filler, G. (2008). Shorter break-in period is a viable option with tighter PD catheter securing during the insertion. *Nephrology* 13, 672–676. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1797.2008. 01000.x

- Song, J. H., Kim, G. A., Lee, S. W., and Kim, M. J. (2000). Clinical outcomes of immediate full-volume exchange one year after peritoneal catheter implantation for CAPD. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 20, 194–199.
- Wang, C., Fu, X., Yang, Y., Deng, J., Zhang, H. Q., Deng, H. M., et al. (2017). A comparison between intermittent peritoneal dialysis and automatic peritoneal dialysis on urgent peritoneal dialysis. Am. J. Nephrol. 45, 540–548. doi: 10.1159/000477178
- Wong, L. P., Li, N.-C., Kansal, S., Lacson, E. Jr., Maddux, F., Kessler, J., et al. (2016). Urgent peritoneal dialysis starts for ESRD: initial multicenter experiences in the United States. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 68, 499–502.
- Xu, D., Liu, T., and Dong, J. (2017). Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis complications: prevalence and risk factors. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 70, 102–110.
- Yang, Y. F., Wang, H. J., Yeh, C. C., Lin, H. H., and Huang, C. C. (2011). Early initiation of continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis in patients undergoing surgical implantation of Tenckhoff catheter. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 31, 551–557. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00171

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Wojtaszek, Grzejszczak, Grygiel, Małyszko and Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Biocompatible Peritoneal Dialysis: The Target Is Still Way Off

Maria Bartosova and Claus Peter Schmitt*

Center for Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine Heidelberg, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a cost-effective, home-based therapy for patients with end-stage renal disease achieving similar outcome as compared to hemodialysis. Still, a minority of patients only receive PD. To a significant extend, this discrepancy is explained by major limitations regarding PD efficiency and sustainability. Due to highly unphysiological composition of PD fluids, the peritoneal membrane undergoes rapid morphological and long-term functional alterations, which limit the treatment and contribute to adverse patient outcome. This review is focused on the peritoneal membrane ultrastructure and its transformation in patients with kidney disease and chronic PD, underlying molecular mechanisms, and potential systemic sequelae. Current knowledge on the impact of conventional and second-generation PD fluids is described; novel strategies and innovative PD fluid types are discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Ramon Paniagua, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social (IMSS), Mexico Miguel Perez Fontan, University of A Coruña, Spain

*Correspondence:

Claus Peter Schmitt clauspeter.schmitt@med. uni-heidelberg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 21 September 2018 Accepted: 07 December 2018 Published: 07 January 2019

Citation:

Bartosova M and Schmitt CP (2019) Biocompatible Peritoneal Dialysis: The Target Is Still Way Off. Front. Physiol. 9:1853. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01853 Keywords: peritoneum, peritoneal dialysis, glucose, glucose degradation products, biocompatibility, transformation, transport, junctions

PERITONEAL MEMBRANE ANATOMY AND PHYSIOLOGY

The peritoneum is a delicate structure covering the entire peritoneal cavity. The parietal peritoneum is composed of a single layer of mesothelial cells and a submesothelial zone, which contains blood vessels, lymphatic vessels, and nerves that are mainly organized in a three layer structure (Blackburn and Stanton, 2014; Schaefer et al., 2016a) (Figure 1). The parietal peritoneal capillary density is age-dependent, with a two times higher blood vessel density in infants than in older children. In adults, peritoneal blood vessel density slowly increases with age but remains below the density observed in infants (Schaefer et al., 2016a). The age-dependent changes in peritoneal vascularization during childhood may be explained by the rapid increase in body dimension in early life, which should reduce a constant number of capillaries in an increasing tissue volume, as it is the case for the number of glomeruli found in a given cone kidney biopsy in children of different ages (Feneberg et al., 1998). Similar findings were observed for the lymphatic density, which overall is much lower than blood vessel density. Submesothelial thickness steadily increases until the age of 18 years and is again lower in adults. Respective percentile curves for age-appropriate evaluation of the peritoneum have been established (Schaefer et al., 2016a). The extracellular peritoneal matrix contains bundles of collagens and mucopolysaccharides and a small number of cells such as fibroblasts and mononuclear cells, including sparse CD45 lymphocytes and CD68 macrophages (Schaefer et al., 2016a).

The visceral peritoneum covers the abdominal organs and their supply structures, the mesentery, but no detailed systematic analyses across age groups have been performed. The omental peritoneum consists of a calretinine and podoplanin positive mesothelial cell layer as the parietal peritoneum. It covers the adjacent adipose tissue, which contains isolated bundles of large vessels and a much lower numbers of capillaries than the parietal submesothelium. The omental and parietal peritoneal blood capillary microvessel density are correlated. Thus, omental tissue specimen should be informative regarding the

58



parietal peritoneal vessel density, at least in the non-diseased state (Schaefer et al., 2016a).

The peritoneum exerts numerous functions, many of which have already been recognized in the 19th century (Robinson, 1897; van Baal et al., 2017). The peritoneum maintains local homeostasis and provides protection from movement-induced frictions and adhesions by secretion of phospholipids, mainly phosphatidylcholine, together with surfactant proteins (SP-A, -B, -C) (Hills et al., 1998). In steady state, mesothelial cells produce 5-100 ml of peritoneal fluid containing complement factors (Tang et al., 2004; Zelek et al., 2016), immunoglobulins (Davies et al., 1990), defensins (Grupp et al., 2007), and immune cells like macrophages, lymphocytes, eosinophils, and mast cells (van Baal et al., 2017) that exert antiinfectious actions and regulate the inflammatory response (Isaza-Restrepo et al., 2018). In vitro, mesothelial cells migrate in an AQP-1-dependent manner (Ryu et al., 2012; Zhai et al., 2012), suggesting efficient wound healing capacity of superficial peritoneal erosions. Tissue remodeling is balanced by profibrotic cytokines and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase and by extracellular matrix degrading proteins such as metalloproteinases, gelatinase, and collagenase (Marshall et al., 1993; Ma et al., 1999). Plasminogen activator is responsible for a physiological fibrinolytic activity of peritoneum, and reduced concentrations following abdominal surgery promote adhesion formation (Holmdahl et al., 1996).

Angiogenesis in postnatal development is controlled by cytokines, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and angiopoietins, and their receptors (Eklund and Saharinen, 2013). Angiogenesis is tightly regulated through a balance between activating and inhibiting signals (Fagiani and Christofori, 2013).

Adult vasculature is quiescent, but blood vessels retain a high plasticity in order to respond to angiogenic signals after inflammation or injury. These angiogenic mechanisms should also be active in the peritoneum.

The omental fat tissue (Summers, 2006) generates numerous hormones and cytokines involved in immune responses and angiogenic and neurogenic factors (Chamorro et al., 1993; Goldsmith, 2001). It is a lipid store and pools immune cells, and it can adhere to neighboring peritoneum to embank local inflammation (Hall et al., 1998).

Altogether, the peritoneum is of clinical impact in various conditions such as postoperative adhesions (Hills et al., 1998; Arung et al., 2011), in patients with abdominal and gynecological carcinoma (Lemoine et al., 2016), and in patients with chronic kidney disease stage 5D requiring dialysis (CKD5D). This review focuses on the usage of the semipermeable peritoneum as a biological dialysis membrane, its transformation with peritoneal dialysis (PD), and current concepts and future prospects to improve PD efficacy and sustainability.

PERITONEAL DIALYSIS

PD is a life-saving, renal replacement therapy for a worldwide increasing number of patients with CKD5D. PD removes excess water and electrolytes as well as metabolic waste products by osmosis across a concentration gradient between the blood and the PD fluid and ultrafiltration-associated solvent drag (convection). PD is a costeffective, home-based therapy and has significant advantages over

PD Fluid Bioincompatibility

hemodialysis (HD), in particular, regarding quality of life. Early patient outcome is at least similar to patients on HD (McDonald et al., 2009; Waldum-Grevbo et al., 2015). Despite these benefits, only a small number of dialysis patients receive PD, in Europe about 13% and in the USA about 10% (Mehrotra et al., 2016; Kramer et al., 2018). This discrepancy is in part explained by major limitations of PD. Infectious complications, mainly peritonitis, and the PD fluid induced progressive deterioration of the PD membrane with chronic PD, lead to PD function deterioration and eventually technique failure. As with hemodialysis, the uremic toxin and water removal capacity is far below physiological renal function. Most of the patients require strict dietary control and pharmacological treatment, such as phosphate binders, but the vast majority of patients are salt, fluid, and toxin overloaded. In particular, dietary phosphate and sodium intake are inadequately compensated by PD and essentially contribute to high blood pressure (Ortega and Materson, 2011), CKD mineral bone disorder, and cardiovascular disease (CVD). Mortality rates of both hemodialysis and PD patients are 40-fold higher compared to the age-related healthy population; accelerated cardiovascular disease is the primary cause of death (de Jager et al., 2009).

PD FLUID COMPOSITION

The osmotic agent most frequently applied is glucose. PD fluids contain glucose at concentrations of 10- to 50-fold above physiological serum concentrations. Glucose creates an osmotic gradient with an osmolality of about 50–150 mOsmol/l above serum osmolality allowing for removal of water (called "ultrafiltration") and of electrolytes and toxins by ultrafiltration-associated convection. Correction of metabolic acidosis is achieved by uptake of a buffer compound, lactate or bicarbonate, present in the dialysate at concentrations of 34–40 mmol/l.

First-generation PD fluids contain 35-40 mM lactate buffer and have an acidic pH of 5.5. The low pH aggravates the detrimental effects of the high lactate concentrations on peritoneal mesothelial and leukocyte function (Topley et al., 1988, 1996). During heat-sterilization and prolonged storage, high amounts of glucose degradation products (GDP) are formed, e.g., methylglyoxal and 3,4-dideoxyglucosone-3-ene. Peritoneal GDP exposure correlates with peritoneal advanced glycation end products (AGE) deposition and increasing peritoneal transporter status function, with the latter reflecting the PD fluidinduced peritoneal transformation process (Nataatmadja et al., 2018). GDP are rapidly absorbed into the circulation and increase systemic AGE concentrations (Zeier et al., 2003; Schmitt et al., 2007). AGE bind to the AGE receptor RAGE and trigger various intracellular events, such as oxidative stress and inflammation, leading to cardiovascular complications (Stinghen et al., 2016). Skin tissue AGE concentrations are increased in PD as compared to HD patients and independently associated with CV morbidity (Jiang et al., 2012).

To prevent GDP formation and to achieve a neutral to physiological pH, second-generation PD fluids have been introduced 20 years ago. These separate the buffer compound, lactate and/or bicarbonate, from the glucose, which is kept at a very low pH to reduce GDP formation during heat sterilization and storage. Prior to administration, the compartments are mixed; the final pH of the ready-to-use fluid is 7–7.4. Depending on the manufacturing process, GDP formation is

substantially reduced but still varies considerably between different brands (Erixon et al., 2006). Second-generation PD fluids significantly reduce systemic GDP load and circulating AGE concentrations. The impact of 10–20% reduction in serum AGE concentrations achieved with low versus high GDP PD fluids on PD patient outcome, however, is still uncertain (Zeier et al., 2003; Schmitt et al., 2007).

PD fluids with an alternative osmotic agent contain icodextrin, a much less resorbed osmotic agent derived from starch. It allows for a slow but persistent colloid osmotic ultrafiltration and therefore can be used for a single long dwell per day (Dousdampanis et al., 2018; Morelle et al., 2018). Icodextrin fluid is especially applied in patients with high peritoneal solute transporter status and improves patient's hydration status (Cho et al., 2013). Despite the absence of glucose and the very low GDP content, the acidic PD fluid has been associated with increased local and systemic inflammation (Parikova et al., 2003; Martikainen et al., 2005; Moriishi and Kawanishi, 2008; Velloso et al., 2014). Another alternative to glucose-based PD fluids is amino acid containing solutions, which are free of GDP and have an only slightly acidic pH of 6.7. For optimized nutrition of malnourished patients and to prevent increased serum nitrogen levels and metabolic acidosis (Dombros et al., 1990), they should be applied at a ratio of 1-4 with glucose-containing PD fluids (Tjiong et al., 2005). The nutritional effects are limited; stable isotope studies in adult CAPD patients yielded a 4% higher protein synthesis rate than patients treated with glucose-containing PD solution only (Tjiong et al., 2007). The biocompatibility of amino acid fluids remains uncertain, and experimental studies and findings in humans do not unanimously support the notion of improved peritoneal biocompatibility. Rats exposed to amino acid PD fluid had less peritoneal AGE deposition, lower VEGF levels, and a lower vessel density compared to rats treated with first-generation PD fluid (Mortier et al., 2004). In vitro, mesothelial cells exposed to amino acid PD fluid synthesized less HSP72, released more IL-6 and prostaglandin E2, and had superior viability as compared to acidic, high GDP fluid (Bender et al., 2008). Others, however, reported more mesothelial nitric oxide (NO) synthesis (Reimann et al., 2004). NO plays a key signaling role in numerous biologic processes, including control of vascular tone and permeability, and angiogenesis, via an interaction with VEGF (Papapetropoulos et al., 1997). Human peritoneal endothelial NO synthase expression and activity increase with time on PD and are related to endothelial VEGF upregulation and peritoneal vessel density (Combet et al., 2000).

Altogether, limited progress has been achieved during the past 50 years of PD treatment regarding PD fluid technology and mainly consists of reduction of the GDP content, pH neutralization, introduction of the bicarbonate buffer and of two alternative osmotic compounds. Glucose-based PD fluids still predominate, and PD treatment still confers major local peritoneal and systemic toxicity (**Figure 1**) (Schmitt and Aufricht, 2016).

PERITONEAL MEMBRANE TRANSFORMATION WITH CHRONIC PD

In patients with CKD5, at the time of catheter insertion, the peritoneum already exhibits minor but distinct alterations, including submesothelial thickening and vasculopathy, as compared to controls

with normal renal function (Williams et al., 2002). In diabetic patients, peritoneal changes at start of PD are even more pronounced and comprise mesothelial loss, mesothelial basement membrane thickening, vascular wall thickening, and inflammatory cell infiltration (Contreras-Velazquez et al., 2008). The latter and hypoalbuminemia are associated with technique failure and mortality rate. In pediatric CKD5 patients, an increase in parietal vessel density (Schaefer et al., 2018) was observed. In contrast, omental fat vessel density was found to be reduced in pediatric CKD5D, pointing to another distinct and early feature of CKD-related vascular disease (Burkhardt et al., 2016). Parietal peritoneal micromorphological changes are accompanied by vascular endothelial telomere shortening, mild inflammatory cell invasion, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), fibrin deposition, and TGF-β-induced SMAD phosphorylation (Schaefer et al., 2018). Compared to the subsequent PD-induced changes, morphological alterations are still mild and do not progress much in patients on HD (Williams et al., 2002).

In a landmark paper of Williams et al., severe transformation of the peritoneum was demonstrated with chronic PD in patients treated with acidic, high GDP fluids (Williams et al., 2002). These changes included progressive loss of the mesothelial cell layer, a massive increase in submesothelial thickness especially in patients with more than 4 years of PD, and rapidly progressing, severe peritoneal vasculopathy. Number of peritoneal vessels per peritoneal section length was increased at the time of PD-related surgery and in patients with PD membrane failure, i.e., insufficient peritoneal transport function, as compared to a small group of patients with normal renal function. The study group did not relate their histologic findings to PD function and patient outcome; however, resulting therapeutic complications of long-term PD have repeatedly been described. Peritoneal solute transport gradually increases with time on PD, particularly when increasing concentrations of glucose are applied (Davies et al., 1998, 2001). Ultrafiltration capacity declines and eventually results in long-term ultrafiltration failure, which is often characterized by impaired osmotic conductance to glucose and reduced free water transport (Krediet and Struijk, 2013). High solute transport predicts technique failure and is associated with poorer patient survival (Davies et al., 1998). Peritoneal protein clearance also increases during the course of PD, but to a relatively smaller extend (Struijk et al., 1991; Ho-dac-Pannekeet et al., 1997).

Introduction of neutral pH, low GDP fluids raised hope to prevent long-term deterioration of the peritoneal membrane, based on numerous in vitro and experimental in vivo studies. These studies suggested improved local host defense (Mortier et al., 2003), reduced mesothelial damage (Grossin et al., 2006) and EMT (Bajo et al., 2011), less peritoneal GDP and AGE deposition, less TGF-β and VEGF signaling, and less submesothelial fibrosis and angiogenesis, altogether resulting in better preservation of peritoneal ultrafiltration capacity (Mortier et al., 2004, 2005; Rippe, 2009). Respective clinical trials were less consistent. Compared to first-generation PD fluids, administration of neutral pH, low GDP fluids resulted in higher CA125 effluent concentrations (Haas et al., 2003; Szeto et al., 2007), a putative marker of mesothelial cell viability and lower hyaluronic acid and procollagen peptide concentrations, suggesting improved peritoneal membrane integrity (Williams et al., 2004). A declining incidence of encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis has been associated with low GDP fluid usage (Nakao et al., 2017). Residual renal

function, a major predictor of patient outcome, was better preserved (Kim et al., 2008; Haag-Weber et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2012b). While superior residual renal function during the first year of PD may be related to less-effective fluid removal and consequent volume expansion with neutral pH, low GDP fluid, the long-term effect could be related to lower renal GDP and AGE exposure (Cho et al., 2014; Yohanna et al., 2015). The Euro-Balance trial, a randomized, two times 12-week crossover trial, demonstrated improved residual renal function together with decreased peritoneal ultrafiltration with the pH neutral, low GDP fluid, as compared to the firstgeneration, acidic high GDP solution (Williams et al., 2004). The largest study up to now, the BalANZ trial yielded a lower risk of anuria and lower ultrafiltration and higher solute clearance rates with the low GDP fluid during the first 9 months of PD. Over the entire 2 study years, the increase in solute transport and ultrafiltration decline were less pronounced with the low GDP fluid, resulting in comparable peritoneal membrane function at the study end with either fluid (Johnson et al., 2012b). A recent meta-analysis confirmed that neutral pH, low-GDP solutions result in a higher D/P creatinine during the first 6 months of treatment as compared to acidic, high GDP fluids but not subsequently (Yohanna et al., 2015). Peritonitis incidence and severity were reduced in the BalANZ trial and in another randomized, parallel trial over 2 years (Johnson et al., 2012a; Farhat et al., 2017), whereas other randomized trials did not report such differences (Williams et al., 2004; Szeto et al., 2007). Of note, these studies all compared the neutral pH, lactate-buffered, low GDP fluid with the acidic, lactate-buffered, high GDP PD fluid. Consecutive 1-day and 12-week randomized crossover studies in children comparing physiological pH, pure bicarbonate-buffered, low GDP fluid with first-generation PD fluid demonstrated similar ultrafiltration rates and a similar to 10% lower small solute transport rate with the former, which is in contrast to the reduced ultrafiltration and increased solute transport rates reported with neutral pH, lactate-based, low GDP fluids (Schmitt et al., 2002; Haas et al., 2003).

Peritoneal biopsies are usually not performed within clinical routine and limited to occasion of abdominal surgery required for other reasons. On the other hand, they are well tolerated, even in small children, and highly informative. They provide information not only on acute inflammatory but also on chronic PD-induced peritoneal damage and should allow for a prognostic estimate of PD performance. Scientific impact of peritoneal tissue analysis is considerable. Based on findings in 100 patients with diseases not affecting the peritoneal integrity and 90 CKD5 patients at time of first PD catheter insertion, Schaefer et al. (2018) analyzed 82 children on PD with low GDP fluids and revealed unexpected findings. In patients with a median PD vintage of 4 months, peritoneal blood capillary density and number per section length doubled, endothelial exchange area increased, and the three-layer structure has turned to a rather homogenous vessel distribution. Hypervascularization further increased in the majority of patients after 9 months of PD and remained largely unchanged thereafter. Peritoneal vessel density independently predicted glucose and creatinine transport. Vasculopathy, already present at time of PD initiation significantly progressed. In contrast, lymphatic vessel density remained largely unchanged in all PD patient groups. Submesothelial thickening progressed slowly and was severe in patients on PD for more than 4 years. These changes were



within few months of PD. It is closely correlated with endothelial surface area, which presents the primary barrier for transport across the peritoneal dialysis membrane. Percentage of patients with substantial inflammatory cell infiltration and EMT increases with time on PD. VEGF signaling is particularly induced within the first year of PD, the TGF-β signaling cascade (pSMAD) activation is delayed but remains high during long-term treatment (Schaefer et al., 2018).

accompanied by induction of VEGF- and TGF-β-induced SMAD phosphorylation, by EMT and inflammatory cells invasion (Schaefer et al., 2018) (Figure 2). This first study looking in detail in a larger number of patients into early and long term induced peritoneal changes and applying digital imaging analysis suggests that the assumption of significantly improved biocompatibility with neutral pH, low GDP fluids cannot be maintained (Blake, 2018). Still, conclusions need to be drawn with caution, and comparison with high GPD fluids is difficult. Children are uniquely suited for the analysis of specific CKD- and PD-related pathomechanisms, since, different from adults, they mostly suffer from underlying diseases not affecting the peritoneum (Harambat et al., 2012) and they are largely free of lifestyle and aging-related tissue damage. On the other hand, findings cannot necessarily be transferred altogether to the adult PD population. Angiogenesis may be regulated differently in growing children, and factors absent in children may have an impact on peritoneal pathomechanisms in elderly PD patients. Neutral pH, low GDP fluids have been recommended by the European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group in 2011 (Schmitt et al., 2011), and the majority of European children are now treated with low GDP fluids. PD vintage and body surface area adjusted dialytic glucose exposure matched comparison with high GDP fluid treatment thus far has been limited to a total of 30 children. After 1 year of PD, children on high GDP PD had a higher degree of vasculopathy and more submesothelial thickening (Schaefer et al., 2016b). Similar findings were reported in 24 adult Japanese patients on PD for about 4.5 years. Peritoneal AGE accumulation, submesothelial thickening, and vasculopathy were less severe with low GDP usage (Kawanishi et al., 2013). In a subsequent study from the same group including additional patients, the protective effect of low GDP fluid on vasculopathy was reconfirmed (Hamada et al., 2015). Del Peso et al. (2016) compared 23 low and 23 high GDP PD-treated patients matched for PD vintage, and the mean treatment duration was 2 years. The mesothelial cell layer was better preserved, and vasculopathy was less pronounced in the patients on low GDP PD. In children, better preservation of the mesothelium cell layer could not be demonstrated, possibly due to the fragility of the pediatric samples and related processing artifacts. Altogether, these findings suggest distinct benefits of second over first-generation PD fluids, but higher patient numbers are needed to draw firm conclusions, at best in combination with functional data.

No peritoneal tissues have been obtained from patients on amino acids or icodextrin solutions, clinical trials, however, suggest better preservation of the peritoneal transporter status when icodextrin solution is added to glucose-based high GDP regime (Davies et al., 2005).

In order to improve PD fluid biocompatibility, an in-depth understanding of molecular mechanisms of PD-induced membrane transformation and of related systemic effects of PD is required. Derived surrogate biomarkers of PD-induced pathomechanisms may allow predicting individual PD patient prognosis at an early stage and to guide dialysis therapy and establish therapeutic interventions. Up to now in clinical practice, PD biomarkers are largely limited to effluent cell count and cell differential. A number of potential surrogate parameters of peritoneal pathophysiology are on the horizon but still far from being established in clinical routine (Aufricht et al., 2017).

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF PD-INDUCED PERITONEAL TRANSFORMATION

Progressive destruction of the mesothelial cell layer, angiogenesis, and fibrosis and ultimately (life-threatening) peritoneal sclerosis (EPS) are due to an array of molecular mechanisms, which interact with each other. Peritoneal vessel density predicts peritoneal solute transport and overshooting vessel formation reduces ultrafiltration capacity, unless major fibrosis has developed, which reduces the osmotic conductance of glucose (Krediet et al., 2000). Experimental and human biopsy studies not only related peritoneal VEGF synthesis to peritoneal angiogenesis (De Vriese et al., 2001; Schaefer et al., 2018) but also shedded light on further aspects of the angiogenic machinery. Monoclonal VEGF antibody bevacizumab inhibits peritoneal angiogenesis and fibrosis in response to chlorhexidine (Ada et al., 2015). TNP-470, an endothelial cell cycle, and tumor angiogenesis inhibitor decreased peritoneal VEGF expression, EMT, vessel density, and fibrosis (Yoshio et al., 2004). Administration of endothelin-1 receptor antagonists in mice attenuated PD-induced EMT, angiogenesis, fibrosis, and peritoneal functional decline (Busnadiego et al., 2015). Similar findings were obtained for endostatin, an endothelial cell proliferation and migration inhibitor, in a mouse model of EPS (Tanabe et al., 2007) and for intraperitoneal rho-kinase inhibition in a rat model of peritoneal fibrosis (Peng et al., 2013). Rapamycin decreased mesothelial cell VEGF synthesis and VEGF-C and VEGF-D release in vitro; combined PD and rapamycin treatment in mice reduced peritoneal EMT and thickening and submesothelial blood and lymphatic vessel proliferation as compared with mice exposed to PD fluid only (Gonzalez-Mateo et al., 2015). Addition of Tie2 fusion protein sTie2/Fc blocking Angiopoietin 2 downstream signaling to PD fluid infused once daily in uremic mice dose dependently reduces PD-induced peritoneal angiopoietin 2 synthesis and peritoneal hypervascularization (Xiao et al., 2013). Thus, several different interventions within the angiogenic signaling cascades can substantially reduce PD-induced peritoneal membrane transformation. Thus far, however, such approaches have not been tested in the clinical setting of PD.

While experimental studies clearly demonstrated reduction of peritoneal angiogenesis with low compared to high GDP fluids (Mortier et al., 2004, 2005), the role of the buffer compound is less clear. In vitro, bicarbonate-buffered low GDP fluid induced less endothelial tube formation than the respective lactate-based fluid, due to an increase in angiopoietin 1/2 ratio, that is, a shift towards vessel maturation, and tyrosine kinase receptor (TEK) translocation to the endothelial cell membrane, where it co-localized with vascularendothelial cadherin, which stabilizes vessels (Eich et al., 2017). TEK plays a pivotal role in the regulation of sprouting and maturation of the vessels (Eklund and Saharinen, 2013). The finding was supported by a larger cross-sectional area of peritoneal vessels in eight bicarbonate fluid treated, peritonitis free children, as compared to the vessel area in age and glucose exposure matched children treated with the respective second-generation lactate PD fluid. Vessel size is an indicator of maturation (Suri et al., 1998). Up to now, only one, small size randomized trial comparing lactate and bicarbonatebuffered, neutral pH, low GDP fluids has been accomplished and in line with the experimental findings - demonstrated better preservation of ultrafiltration achieved per gram of dialytic glucose exposure and body surface area in pediatric patients over 10 months with the bicarbonate fluid (Schmitt et al., 2013).

PD fluid toxicity induced early and pronounced peritoneal inflammation involving invasion of the PD membrane with macrophages and leucocytes, and inflammatory cytokine release is another major driver of structural and functional deterioration (Lambie et al., 2013, 2016; Schaefer et al., 2018). IL-6 is secreted by mesothelial cells after induction by IL-1ß and TNF- α (Topley et al., 1993). Individual differences in dialysate IL-6 concentrations have been linked to genetic polymorphisms (Siddique et al., 2015). In vitro and in mice, IL-6 was linked to VEGF production and thus angiogenesis via STAT3 and SP4 transcriptional factors (Catar et al., 2017); effluent IL-6 and VEGF concentrations are correlated (Pecoits-Filho et al., 2002). In PD patients, dialysate concentrations of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 are associated not only with higher peritoneal transporter status, i.e., faster solute and toxin removal, but also with ultrafiltration decline and protein loss (Lambie et al., 2013). In experimental PD, the anti-inflammatory Cox-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, reduced peritoneal inflammation, angiogenesis, and fibrosis and preserved peritoneal membrane function (Fabbrini et al., 2009).

Another key element of peritoneal membrane transformation is epithelial (mesothelial) to mesenchymal transition (EMT), i.e., migration of mesothelial cells into the submesothelium and transition to a myofibroblast cell type. Lineage tracing studies furthermore suggest that myofibroblasts may also be derived from type I collagen-producing submesothelial fibroblasts (Chen et al., 2014). EMT is triggered by profibrotic and inflammatory stimuli cytokines (Yanez-Mo et al., 2003; Margetts et al., 2005; Loureiro et al., 2011; Bowen et al., 2013). Myofibroblasts secrete inflammatory, proangiogenic, and profibrotic cytokines and extracellular matrix components (Aroeira et al., 2007). In CKD5 patients, only single isolated EMT cells are present in the submesothelium, but their numbers rapidly increase with PD (Schaefer et al., 2018). In multivariate analysis, peritoneal EMT was independently associated with submesothelial thickness and with the microvessel number per mm tissue section. In experimental PD, EMT and associated peritoneal membrane damage can be inhibited by intraperitoneal BMP-7, antagonizing TGF-β signaling (Loureiro et al., 2010). TGF-β signaling again is centrally involved in the peritoneal fibrotic process as shown in various animal models of PD (Margetts et al., 2001) and in humans (Zhou et al., 2016; Schaefer et al., 2018). TGF-β is secreted by resident (myo-) fibroblasts, with different fibroblast subgroups having different profibrotic properties. Glycopeptide Thy1-positive fibroblasts exhibit particular profibrotic and myofibroblast features (Kawka et al., 2017). MicroRNA (miR) array studies identified miR-21 and miR-31 to be highly expressed and induced by TGF-β in mesothelial cells and to correlate with mesenchymal transition in vitro. Micro ribonucleic acid-21 and miR-31 are upregulated in the peritoneum of PD patients, and their effluent concentrations are associated with icodextrin and low GDP fluid use and related to peritonitis count and effluent IFN-y concentration. Altogether these findings suggest a great potential of these miRs as biomarker for membrane change in patients receiving PD (Lopez-Anton et al., 2017), respective large size clinical trials are needed.

SYSTEMIC IMPACT OF PD FLUID BIOINCOMPATIBILITY

Rather than mitigating CKD-associated pathomechanisms, such as inflammatory, carbonyl, and oxidative stress, PD, while partially replacing renal function, adds additional risk factors. CKD-associated vasculopathy, prevalent even in young CKD patients, is further accelerated by PD. Potential pathomechanisms include the peritoneal glucose uptake, the additional GDP, and consequent AGE load and PD-associated inflammation. In a cohort of almost 1,000 PD patients, intraperitoneal inflammation was the most important determinant of peritoneal solute transport but did not affect patient survival (Lambie et al., 2013). In contrast, systemic inflammation associated with comorbidity and independently predicted patient survival, suggesting independent peritoneal and systemic processes being active. Other studies point to a strong link between PD treatment and vasculopathy. Whole exome expression analyses of omental arterioles isolated from children with normal renal function, with CKD5D and while on low GDP PD revealed activation of metabolic processes in CKD5D arterioles and of inflammatory, immunologic, and stress-response cascades in arterioles of PD patients. The latter exhibited particular upregulation of the complement system and respective regulatory pathways, with concordant findings at the proteomic level. In independent validation cohorts, PD specimens had the highest abundance of omental and parietal arteriolar C1q, C3d, terminal complement complex and of phosphorylated SMAD2/3, a downstream effector of TGF-β. Furthermore, in the PD parietal arterioles, C1q and terminal complement complex abundance correlated with the level of dialytic glucose exposure, the abundance of phosphorylated SMAD2/3, and the degree of vasculopathy (Bartosova et al., 2018). The close correlation of vascular TGF-β-induced SMAD2/3 phosphorylation and the severity of vasculopathy is supported by recent genome wide association, and systems biology studies identified the TGF-B-SMAD pathway to be strongly associated with coronary artery disease (Zeng et al., 2016). The analysis of small arteries and precapillary arterioles at least 1 mm below the mesothelial surface and thus beyond the PD penetration level (Stachowska-Pietka et al., 2012) is of particular interest because they control peripheral resistance and microcirculation. Vasculopathy in this part of the arterial tree predicts left ventricular hypertrophy and cardiovascular events in hypertensive patients (Rizzoni et al., 2003; De Ciuceis et al., 2007). Concentrations of effluent complement protein have been linked to overall mortality in PD patients (Zelek et al., 2016).

NOVEL PD FLUID PROTOTYPES

Severe peritoneal damage still observed with low GDP fluids suggests that glucose per se has a major detrimental effect and that glucose sparing should mitigate PD-associated sequelae. Adding icodextrin and amino acid solution to a glucose-based PD regime improved glycated hemoglobin and lipid profile as compared to the glucose only PD regime, but deaths and serious adverse events, including several related to extracellular fluid volume expansion, have been reported to increase in the intervention group (Li et al., 2013). PD fluids with lower sodium concentration increased sodium removal and improved blood pressure but accelerated residual renal function decline (Blake, 2016; Rutkowski et al., 2016). In a small size crossover trial in adults and a pilot study in children, adapted automated PD, i.e., combining sequential short- and longer-dwell exchanges, with small and large dwell volumes, resulted in higher solute and fluid removal as compared to the standard regime with comparable dialysate fluid turn over and dialysis time (Fischbach et al., 2016). This concept awaits validation in extended clinical trials.

Replacing glucose by novel osmotic agents is a promising way to go in order to improve PD fluid biocompatibility. About 3.5% taurine-based PD fluid achieved equivalent ultrafiltration as glucose-based PD fluid and induced less mesothelial and fibroblastlike cell proliferation in rats (Nishimura et al., 2009). Hyperbranched polyglycerol containing PD fluid achieved similar solute and water transport rates in rats and induced less peritoneal membrane damage (Mendelson et al., 2013; Du et al., 2016), but data on the metabolism of polyglycerol in plasma and ramifications of plasma accumulation and tissue disposition with long-term use are scant. A recent study in obese type 2 diabetic ZSF1 rats over 3 months suggests less systemic adverse effects on the kidneys and the plasma oxidative status with hyperbranched polyglycerol fluid as compared to second-generation and icodextrin PD fluid (La Han et al., 2018).

A different approach to more biocompatibility PD fluids is addition of protective compounds counteracting peritoneal fluid toxicity (Figure 3). PD fluids result in cellular stress and also suppress the natural stress response mechanisms, e.g., exerted by heat shock proteins (HSP) (Macario and Conway de Macario, 2007). Glutamine, a non-essential amino acid, has been shown to restore the cellular stress response pathway HSP27/72, which is suppressed by PD fluids. Addition of the dipeptide alanyl-glutamine to first- and second-generation PD fluid improved mesothelial cell stress response and cell survival in vitro and in vivo (Kratochwill et al., 2012). In uremic rat and mouse models of PD, alanylglutamine reduced peritoneal thickness, and angiogenesis, and peritoneal α SMA, IL-17, TGF- β , and IL-6 (Ferrantelli et al., 2016). In a first clinical trial, effluent cell HSP72 expression was increased following a 4-h dwell with alanyl-glutamine supplemented firstgeneration PD fluid, and the effluent increased TNF-alpha release



FIGURE 3 | Overview on currently applied and potential novel PD fluid types. For about 50 years, conventional PD fluids have been based on glucose as the osmotically active agent and are heat sterilized in single-chamber bags at acidic pH together with selected electrolytes (Na, Ca, Mg, and Cl) and a buffer (lactate), which results in major glucose degradation product (GDP) formation (A). In the 1990s, second-generation PD fluids were developed. These multi-chamber bag systems substantially reduce GDP generation and allow for a physiologic buffer compound (bicarbonate) and a neutral pH of the ready-to-use PD fluid. At the same time, alternative osmotic compounds were introduced, an amino acid mixture and the oncotically active glucose polymer icodextrin (B). At present, protective agents counteracting local and systemic PD fluid toxicity are being developed, with alanyl-glutamine supplemented PD fluids have shown promising effects in first clinical trials (C). The fourth generation PD fluid type depicted reflects the vision of the ultimate future PD fluid (D).

from LPS-stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells as compared to non-supplemented PD fluid. In post peritonitis patients, IL-6 and IL-8 effluent concentrations were reduced (Kratochwill et al., 2016). In a subsequent randomized crossover study, 41 patients were treated with alanyl-glutamine supplemented second-generation PD fluid over a period of 8 weeks each. Intraperitoneal alanyl-glutamine increased CA-125 appearance rate and effluent cell LPS-stimulated IL-6 release, and the peritoneal transport of uric acid, phosphate, and potassium was higher and the peritoneal protein loss was reduced (Vychytil et al., 2018). These studies demonstrate significant benefits of alanyl-glutamine enriched PD fluid on peritoneal membrane integrity, immune competence, and transport function. A phase 3 trial is now needed to translate these encouraging effects into hard clinical outcomes. Experimental PD studies and a clinical pilot study in 4 patients suggest good tolerability of carnitine supplemented PD fluids and superior ultrafiltration than achieved with 2.5% glucose solutions, despite lower osmolarity of the carnitine-containing solution (Bonomini et al., 2011). Addition of L-carnitine to acidic, glucose-based PD fluids in 27 non-diabetic patients improved insulin sensitivity assessed by euglycemic hyperinsulinemic clamp studies (Bonomini et al., 2013).

Understanding the molecular mechanism of peritoneal transport, its regulation by CKD and PD and pharmacological modification should be another way to improve PD biocompatibility and efficacy. Peritoneal membrane function has been well described by the three pore model (Rippe, 1993). Thus far, only the molecular basis of the "ultra-small pores" could be identified in mice,



aquaporin-1 (AQP-1), which exerts 50% of water transport (Ni et al., 2006). The molecular counterparts of "small pores" and "large pores," i.e., the mechanisms and regulatory machinery of the remaining 50% of the water transport, of solutes and sizedependent toxin removal are still unknown as are their modifications by uremia and PD. The primary transport barrier is the endothelium, and the role of the mesothelium is uncertain. Both capillary and mesothelial cell layers form leaky structures with similar in vitro transmembrane resistances but higher solute transport rates across the endothelial layer for 4-70 kDa dextrans (Horiuchi et al., 2009). Intercellular junctional complexes, including tight junctions, gap junctions, and desmosomes (Ito et al., 2000), define the selective permeability properties of the cell monolayer membrane and thus of bulk flow of small and large solutes together with water (Figure 4). Transcellular mechanisms imply transporters such as PiT for phosphate (Biber et al., 2013) and GLUT-1/2 and sodium glucose co-transporters such as SGLT-1/2 for glucose uptake (Debray-Garcia et al., 2016).

In-depth understanding of these key elements of peritoneal membrane transport function should provide promising therapeutic targets to improve PD efficacy, biocompatibility, and sustainability. Feasibility of this approach has been demonstrated for AQP-1. Dexamethasone twofold increased peritoneal AQP1 abundance and net ultrafiltration in rats without altering solute transport (Stoenoiu et al., 2003). AQP-1 agonist, AqF026, a chemical derivative of the aryl sulfonamide compound furosemide, increased water transport after 60 and 120 min of dwell time by 15–20% (Yool et al., 2013). Although this strategy is promising to remove more water to achieve euvolemia, it does not increase salt removal and may aggravate thirst in patients. Still, these studies elegantly demonstrate that understanding and modulating the peritoneal water, salt, and toxin transport mechanisms are a promising area of research, hopefully resulting in major improvement of PD patient outcome.

RÉSUMÉ

The recent findings on histomorphological alterations of the peritoneum with so-called biocompatible, neutral pH PD fluids are disappointing and raised the question whether current concepts of PD fluid biocompatibility are "dead" (Blake, 2018). These sobering findings, however, have to be balanced against patientrelated outcome parameters. There is an early survival advantage for PD as compared to HD, together with advantages of quality of life and autonomy to this home-based, cost-effective therapy. A recent analysis of the ERA-EDTA registry, which comprehensively collects real-life data from European countries, suggests an increasing 5-year patient survival benefit of PD over HD over the last 20 years (van de Luijtgaarden et al., 2016). In Europe, low GDP fluids have been licensed about 20 years ago and have increasingly been applied since then. At present, it is unclear that which factors contribute to these encouraging trends, but it is tempting to speculate that the lower systemic GDP and AGE load associated with low GDP PD fluid use (Zeier et al., 2003; Schmitt et al., 2007), an improved local host immune defense system possibly resulting in less frequent and less severe episodes of peritonitis (Johnson et al., 2012c), and the better preservation of residual renal function (Cho et al., 2014) play a significant role. Further large-scale patientrelated analyses are needed to delineate the specific PD-related risk factors and potential countermeasures, as well as the development of novel PD fluid types, which not only mitigate peritoneal damage but also systemic sequelae of chronic PD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and CS performed the literature search and wrote the manuscript. Both authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

MB was supported by the European Training and Research in Peritoneal Dialysis (EuTRiPD) program, a project funded by the European Union within the Marie Curie Scheme (287813).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to colleagues who contributed over many years to the International (Pediatric) Peritoneal Biobank and the Tissue Bank of the National Center for Tumor Diseases (NCT, Heidelberg, Germany) and Institute of Pathology (Heidelberg University Hospital) for continuous support.

REFERENCES

- Ada, S., Ersan, S., Sifil, A., Unlu, M., Kolatan, E., Sert, M., et al. (2015). Effect of bevacizumab, a vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitor, on a rat model of peritoneal sclerosis. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* 47, 2047–2051. doi: 10.1007/ s11255-015-1116-8
- Aroeira, L. S., Aguilera, A., Sánchez-Tomero, J. A., Bajo, M. A., del Peso, G., Jiménez-Heffernan, J. A., et al. (2007). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition and peritoneal membrane failure in peritoneal dialysis patients: pathologic significance and potential therapeutic interventions. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 2004–2013. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006111292
- Arung, W., Meurisse, M., and Detry, O. (2011). Pathophysiology and prevention of postoperative peritoneal adhesions. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 17, 4545–4553. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i41.4545
- Aufricht, C., Beelen, R., Eberl, M., Fischbach, M., Fraser, D., Jorres, A., et al. (2017). Biomarker research to improve clinical outcomes of peritoneal dialysis: consensus of the European Training and Research in Peritoneal Dialysis (EuTRiPD) network. *Kidney Int.* 92, 824–835. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.037
- Bajo, M. A., Perez-Lozano, M. L., Albar-Vizcaino, P., del Peso, G., Castro, M. J., Gonzalez-Mateo, G., et al. (2011). Low-GDP peritoneal dialysis fluid ('balance') has less impact in vitro and ex vivo on epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) of mesothelial cells than a standard fluid. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 282–291. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq357
- Bartosova, M., Schaefer, B., Bermejo, J. L., Tarantino, S., Lasitschka, F., Macher-Goeppinger, S., et al. (2018). Complement activation in peritoneal dialysis-induced arteriolopathy. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 29, 268–282. doi: 10.1681/asn.2017040436
- Bender, T. O., Witowski, J., Aufricht, C., Endemann, M., Frei, U., Passlick-Deetjen, J., et al. (2008). Biocompatibility of a bicarbonate-buffered amino-acid-based solution for peritoneal dialysis. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 23, 1537–1543. doi: 10.1007/s00467-008-0834-x
- Biber, J., Hernando, N., and Forster, I. (2013). Phosphate transporters and their function. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 75, 535–550. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183748
- Blackburn, S. C., and Stanton, M. P. (2014). Anatomy and physiology of the peritoneum. Semin. Pediatr. Surg. 23, 326–330. doi: 10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2014.06.002
- Blake, P. G. (2016). Sodium levels in peritoneal dialysis solution: how low should we go? Am. J. Kidney Dis. 67, 719–721. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.02.029
- Blake, P. G. (2018). Is the peritoneal dialysis biocompatibility hypothesis dead? *Kidney* Int. 94, 246–248. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.04.014
- Bonomini, M., Di Liberato, L., Del Rosso, G., Stingone, A., Marinangeli, G., Consoli, A., et al. (2013). Effect of an L-carnitine-containing peritoneal dialysate on insulin sensitivity in patients treated with CAPD: a 4-month, prospective, multicenter randomized trial. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 62, 929–938. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.04.007
- Bonomini, M., Pandolfi, A., Di Liberato, L., Di Silvestre, S., Cnops, Y., Di Tomo, P., et al. (2011). L-carnitine is an osmotic agent suitable for peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 80, 645–654. doi: 10.1038/ki.2011.117
- Bowen, T., Jenkins, R. H., and Fraser, D. J. (2013). MicroRNAs, transforming growth factor beta-1, and tissue fibrosis. J. Pathol. 229, 274–285. doi: 10.1002/path.4119
- Burkhardt, D., Bartosova, M., Schaefer, B., Grabe, N., Lahrmann, B., Nasser, H., et al. (2016). Reduced microvascular density in omental biopsies of children with chronic kidney disease. *PLoS One* 11:e0166050. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166050
- Busnadiego, O., Loureiro-Alvarez, J., Sandoval, P., Lagares, D., Dotor, J., Perez-Lozano, M. L., et al. (2015). A pathogenetic role for endothelin-1 in peritoneal dialysisassociated fibrosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 26, 173–182. doi: 10.1681/asn.2013070799
- Catar, R., Witowski, J., Zhu, N., Lucht, C., Derrac Soria, A., Uceda Fernandez, J., et al. (2017). IL-6 trans-signaling links inflammation with angiogenesis in the peritoneal membrane. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 28, 1188–1199. doi: 10.1681/asn.2015101169
- Chamorro, M., Carceller, F., Llanos, C., Rodriguez-Alvarino, A., Colmenero, C., and Burgueno, M. (1993). The effect of omental wrapping on nerve graft regeneration. *Br. J. Plast. Surg.* 46, 426–429. doi: 10.1016/0007-1226(93)90050-L
- Chen, Y. T., Chang, Y. T., Pan, S. Y., Chou, Y. H., Chang, F. C., Yeh, P. Y., et al. (2014). Lineage tracing reveals distinctive fates for mesothelial cells and submesothelial fibroblasts during peritoneal injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 25, 2847–2858. doi: 10.1681/asn.2013101079
- Cho, Y., Johnson, D. W., Badve, S., Craig, J. C., Strippoli, G. F., and Wiggins, K. J. (2013). Impact of icodextrin on clinical outcomes in peritoneal dialysis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 28, 1899–1907. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft050
- Cho, Y., Johnson, D. W., Craig, J. C., Strippoli, G. F., Badve, S. V., and Wiggins, K. J. (2014). Biocompatible dialysis fluids for peritoneal dialysis. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 3, 1465–1858. Cd007554. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007554.pub2

- Combet, S., Miyata, T., Moulin, P., Pouthier, D., Goffin, E., and Devuyst, O. (2000). Vascular proliferation and enhanced expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in human peritoneum exposed to long-term peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11, 717–728.
- Contreras-Velazquez, J. C., Soto, V., Jaramillo-Rodriguez, Y., Samaniego-Rios, L. I., Quinones-Perez, V., Avila, M., et al. (2008). Clinical outcomes and peritoneal histology in patients starting peritoneal dialysis are related to diabetic status and serum albumin levels. *Kidney Int. Suppl.* (108), S34–S41. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002599
- Davies, S. J., Brown, E. A., Frandsen, N. E., Rodrigues, A. S., Rodriguez-Carmona, A., Vychytil, A., et al. (2005). Longitudinal membrane function in functionally anuric patients treated with APD: data from EAPOS on the effects of glucose and icodextrin prescription. *Kidney Int.* 67, 1609–1615. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00243.x
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Griffiths, A. M., Russell, L. H., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (1998). What really happens to people on long-term peritoneal dialysis? *Kidney Int.* 54, 2207–2217. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00180.x
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (2001). Peritoneal glucose exposure and changes in membrane solute transport with time on peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 1046–1051.
- Davies, S. J., Yewdall, V. M., Ogg, C. S., and Cameron, J. S. (1990). Peritoneal defence mechanisms and Staphylococcus aureus in patients treated with continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD). *Perit. Dial. Int.* 10, 135–140.
- De Ciuceis, C., Porteri, E., Rizzoni, D., Rizzardi, N., Paiardi, S., Boari, G. E., et al. (2007). Structural alterations of subcutaneous small-resistance arteries may predict major cardiovascular events in patients with hypertension. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 20, 846–852. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2007.03.016
- de Jager, D. J., Grootendorst, D. C., Jager, K. J., van Dijk, P. C., Tomas, L. M., Ansell, D., et al. (2009). Cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality among patients starting dialysis. *JAMA* 302, 1782–1789. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1488
- De Vriese, A. S., Tilton, R. G., Stephan, C. C., and Lameire, N. H. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor is essential for hyperglycemia-induced structural and functional alterations of the peritoneal membrane. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 1734–1741.
- Debray-Garcia, Y., Sanchez, E. I., Rodriguez-Munoz, R., Venegas, M. A., Velazquez, J., and Reyes, J. L. (2016). Diabetes and exposure to peritoneal dialysis solutions alter tight junction proteins and glucose transporters of rat peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Life Sci.* 161, 78–89. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2016.07.018
- Del Peso, G., Jimenez-Heffernan, J. A., Selgas, R., Remon, C., Ossorio, M., Fernandez-Perpen, A., et al. (2016). Biocompatible dialysis solutions preserve peritoneal mesothelial cell and vessel wall integrity. A case-control study on human biopsies. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 36, 129–134. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00038
- Dombros, N. V., Prutis, K., Tong, M., Anderson, G. H., Harrison, J., Sombolos, K., et al. (1990). Six-month overnight intraperitoneal amino-acid infusion in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) patients—no effect on nutritional status. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 10, 79–84.
- Dousdampanis, P., Musso, C. G., and Trigka, K. (2018). Icodextrin and peritoneal dialysis: advantages and new applications. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* 50, 495–500. doi: 10.1007/s11255-017-1647-2
- Du, C., Mendelson, A. A., Guan, Q., Dairi, G., Chafeeva, I., da Roza, G., et al. (2016). Hyperbranched polyglycerol is superior to glucose for long-term preservation of peritoneal membrane in a rat model of chronic peritoneal dialysis. *J. Transl. Med.* 14:338. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-1098-z
- Eich, G., Bartosova, M., Tischer, C., Wlodkowski, T. T., Schaefer, B., Pichl, S., et al. (2017). Bicarbonate buffered peritoneal dialysis fluid upregulates angiopoietin-1 and promotes vessel maturation. *PLoS One* 12:e0189903. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189903
- Eklund, L., and Saharinen, P. (2013). Angiopoietin signaling in the vasculature. *Exp. Cell Res.* 319, 1271–1280. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.03.011
- Erixon, M., Wieslander, A., Linden, T., Carlsson, O., Forsback, G., Svensson, E., et al. (2006). How to avoid glucose degradation products in peritoneal dialysis fluids. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 26, 490–497.
- Fabbrini, P., Schilte, M. N., Zareie, M., ter Wee, P. M., Keuning, E. D., Beelen, R. H., et al. (2009). Celecoxib treatment reduces peritoneal fibrosis and angiogenesis and prevents ultrafiltration failure in experimental peritoneal dialysis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 24, 3669–3676. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp384
- Fagiani, E., and Christofori, G. (2013). Angiopoietins in angiogenesis. Cancer Lett. 328, 18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.08.018
- Farhat, K., Douma, C. E., Ferrantelli, E., Ter Wee, P. M., Beelen, R. H. J., and van Ittersum, F. J. (2017). Effects of conversion to a bicarbonate/lactate-buffered, neutralpH, low-GDP PD regimen in prevalent PD: a 2-year randomized clinical trial. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 37, 273–282. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2015.00031

- Feneberg, R., Schaefer, F., Zieger, B., Waldherr, R., Mehls, O., and Scharer, K. (1998). Percutaneous renal biopsy in children: a 27-year experience. *Nephron* 79, 438–446. doi: 10.1159/000045090
- Ferrantelli, E., Liappas, G., Vila Cuenca, M., Keuning, E. D., Foster, T. L., Vervloet, M. G., et al. (2016). The dipeptide alanyl-glutamine ameliorates peritoneal fibrosis and attenuates IL-17 dependent pathways during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 89, 625–635. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.005
- Fischbach, M., Schmitt, C. P., Shroff, R., Zaloszyc, A., and Warady, B. A. (2016). Increasing sodium removal on peritoneal dialysis: applying dialysis mechanics to the peritoneal dialysis prescription. *Kidney Int.* 89, 761–766. doi: 10.1016/j. kint.2015.12.032
- Goldsmith, H. S. (2001). Role of the omentum in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurol. Res.* 23, 555–564. doi: 10.1179/016164101101198893
- Gonzalez-Mateo, G. T., Aguirre, A. R., Loureiro, J., Abensur, H., Sandoval, P., Sanchez-Tomero, J. A., et al. (2015). Rapamycin protects from type-I peritoneal membrane failure inhibiting the angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, and Endo-MT. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:989560. doi: 10.1155/2015/989560
- Grossin, N., Wautier, M. P., Wautier, J. L., Gane, P., Taamma, R., and Boulanger, E. (2006). Improved in vitro biocompatibility of bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis fluid. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 26, 664–670.
- Grupp, A., Kimmel, M., Fritz, P., Voggenreiter, B., Stoltzing, H., Kuhlmann, U., et al. (2007). The expression patterns of peritoneal defensins. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 27, 654–662.
- Haag-Weber, M., Kramer, R., Haake, R., Islam, M. S., Prischl, F., Haug, U., et al. (2010). Low-GDP fluid (Gambrosol trio) attenuates decline of residual renal function in PD patients: a prospective randomized study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 25, 2288–2296. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq087
- Haas, S., Schmitt, C. P., Arbeiter, K., Bonzel, K. E., Fischbach, M., John, U., et al. (2003). Improved acidosis correction and recovery of mesothelial cell mass with neutral-pH bicarbonate dialysis solution among children undergoing automated peritoneal dialysis. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 14, 2632–2638. doi: 10.1097/01.asn.0000086475.83211.df
- Hall, J. C., Heel, K. A., Papadimitriou, J. M., and Platell, C. (1998). The pathobiology of peritonitis. *Gastroenterology* 114, 185–196. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70646-8
- Hamada, C., Honda, K., Kawanishi, K., Nakamoto, H., Ito, Y., Sakurada, T., et al. (2015). Morphological characteristics in peritoneum in patients with neutral peritoneal dialysis solution. J. Artif. Organs 18, 243–250. doi: 10.1007/s10047-015-0822-4
- Harambat, J., van Stralen, K. J., Kim, J. J., and Tizard, E. J. (2012). Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease in children. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 27, 363–373. doi: 10.1007/ s00467-011-1939-1
- Hills, B. A., Burke, J. R., and Thomas, K. (1998). Surfactant barrier lining peritoneal mesothelium: lubricant and release agent. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 18, 157–165.
- Ho-dac-Pannekeet, M. M., Koopmans, J. G., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (1997). Restriction coefficients of low molecular weight solutes and macromolecules during peritoneal dialysis. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 13, 72–76.
- Holmdahl, L., Eriksson, E., Al-Jabreen, M., and Risberg, B. (1996). Fibrinolysis in human peritoneum during operation. *Surgery* 119, 701–705. doi: 10.1016/ S0039-6060(96)80196-6
- Horiuchi, T., Matsunaga, K., Banno, M., Nakano, Y., Nishimura, K., Hanzawa, C., et al. (2009). HPMCs induce greater intercellular delocalization of tight junctionassociated proteins due to a higher susceptibility to H2O2 compared with HUVECs. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 29, 217–226.
- Isaza-Restrepo, A., Martin-Saavedra, J. S., Velez-Leal, J. L., Vargas-Barato, F., and Riveros-Duenas, R. (2018). The peritoneum: beyond the tissue—a review. *Front. Physiol.* 9:738. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00738
- Ito, T., Yorioka, N., Yamamoto, M., Kataoka, K., and Yamakido, M. (2000). Effect of glucose on intercellular junctions of cultured human peritoneal mesothelial cells. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 11, 1969–1979. doi: 10.1159/000069547
- Jiang, J., Chen, P., Chen, J., Yu, X., Xie, D., Mei, C., et al. (2012). Accumulation of tissue advanced glycation end products correlated with glucose exposure dose and associated with cardiovascular morbidity in patients on peritoneal dialysis. *Atherosclerosis* 224, 187–194. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.06.022
- Johnson, D. W., Brown, F. G., Clarke, M., Boudville, N., Elias, T. J., Foo, M. W., et al. (2012a). Effects of biocompatible versus standard fluid on peritoneal dialysis outcomes. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23, 1097–1107. doi: 10.1681/asn.2011121201
- Johnson, D. W., Brown, F. G., Clarke, M., Boudville, N., Elias, T. J., Foo, M. W., et al. (2012b). The effect of low glucose degradation product, neutral pH versus standard peritoneal dialysis solutions on peritoneal membrane function: the balANZ trial. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 4445–4453. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfs314

- Johnson, D. W., Brown, F. G., Clarke, M., Boudville, N., Elias, T. J., Foo, M. W., et al. (2012c). The effects of biocompatible compared with standard peritoneal dialysis solutions on peritonitis microbiology, treatment, and outcomes: the balANZ trial. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 32, 497–506. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00052
- Kawanishi, K., Honda, K., Tsukada, M., Oda, H., and Nitta, K. (2013). Neutral solution low in glucose degradation products is associated with less peritoneal fibrosis and vascular sclerosis in patients receiving peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 33, 242–251. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2011.00270
- Kawka, E., Witowski, J., Bartosova, M., Catar, R., Rudolf, A., Philippe, A., et al. (2017). Thy-1(+/-) fibroblast subsets in the human peritoneum. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 313, F1116–F1123. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00274.2017
- Kim, S. G., Kim, S., Hwang, Y. H., Kim, K., Oh, J. E., Chung, W., et al. (2008). Could solutions low in glucose degradation products preserve residual renal function in incident peritoneal dialysis patients? A 1-year multicenter prospective randomized controlled trial (Balnet Study). *Perit. Dial. Int.* 28(Suppl 3), S117–S122.
- Kramer, A., Pippias, M., Noordzij, M., Stel, V. S., Afentakis, N., Ambuhl, P. M., et al. (2018). The European Renal Association - European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) Registry Annual Report 2015: a summary. *Clin. Kidney* J. 11, 108–122. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfx149
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Gruber, K., Lichtenauer, A. M., Kuster, L., et al. (2016). Addition of alanyl-glutamine to dialysis fluid restores peritoneal cellular stress responses - a first-in-man trial. *PLoS One* 11:e0165045. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0165045
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Lichtenauer, A. M., Salzer, E., Lechner, M., et al. (2012). Alanyl-glutamine dipeptide restores the cytoprotective stress proteome of mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluids. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 937–946. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr459
- Krediet, R. T., Lindholm, B., and Rippe, B. (2000). Pathophysiology of peritoneal membrane failure. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 20(Suppl 4), S22–S42.
- Krediet, R. T., and Struijk, D. G. (2013). Peritoneal changes in patients on long-term peritoneal dialysis. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 9, 419–429. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2013.99
- La Han, B., Guan, Q., Chafeeva, I., Mendelson, A. A., da Roza, G., Liggins, R., et al. (2018). Peritoneal and systemic responses of obese type II diabetic rats to chronic exposure to a hyperbranched polyglycerol-based dialysis solution. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 123, 494–503. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.13038
- Lambie, M., Chess, J., Donovan, K. L., Kim, Y. L., Do, J. Y., Lee, H. B., et al. (2013). Independent effects of systemic and peritoneal inflammation on peritoneal dialysis survival. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 24, 2071–2080. doi: 10.1681/asn.2013030314
- Lambie, M. R., Chess, J., Summers, A. M., Williams, P. F., Topley, N., and Davies, S. J. (2016). Peritoneal inflammation precedes encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis: results from the GLOBAL Fluid Study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 31, 480–486. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv440
- Lemoine, L., Sugarbaker, P., and Van der Speeten, K. (2016). Pathophysiology of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: role of the peritoneum. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 22, 7692–7707. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i34.7692
- Li, P. K., Culleton, B. F., Ariza, A., Do, J. Y., Johnson, D. W., Sanabria, M., et al. (2013). Randomized, controlled trial of glucose-sparing peritoneal dialysis in diabetic patients. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 24, 1889–1900. doi: 10.1681/asn.2012100987
- Lopez-Anton, M., Lambie, M., Lopez-Cabrera, M., Schmitt, C. P., Ruiz-Carpio, V., Bartosova, M., et al. (2017). miR-21 promotes fibrogenesis in peritoneal dialysis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 187, 1537–1550. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.03.007
- Loureiro, J., Aguilera, A., Selgas, R., Sandoval, P., Albar-Vizcaíno, P., Pérez-Lozano, M. L., et al. (2011). Blocking TGF-β1 protects the peritoneal membrane from dialysateinduced damage. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 22, 1682–1695. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2010111197
- Loureiro, J., Schilte, M., Aguilera, A., Albar-Vizcaino, P., Ramirez-Huesca, M., Perez-Lozano, M. L., et al. (2010). BMP-7 blocks mesenchymal conversion of mesothelial cells and prevents peritoneal damage induced by dialysis fluid exposure. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 25, 1098–1108. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp618
- Ma, C., Tarnuzzer, R. W., and Chegini, N. (1999). Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases in mesothelial cells and their regulation by transforming growth factor-beta1. *Wound Repair Regen.* 7, 477–485. doi: 10.1046/j.1524-475X.1999.00477.x
- Macario, A. J., and Conway de Macario, E. (2007). Chaperonopathies and chaperonotherapy. FEBS Lett. 581, 3681–3688. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.04.030
- Margetts, P. J., Bonniaud, P., Liu, L., Hoff, C. M., Holmes, C. J., West-Mays, J. A., et al. (2005). Transient overexpression of TGF-{beta}1 induces epithelial mesenchymal transition in the rodent peritoneum. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16, 425–436. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2004060436

- Margetts, P. J., Kolb, M., Galt, T., Hoff, C. M., Shockley, T. R., and Gauldie, J. (2001). Gene transfer of transforming growth factor-beta1 to the rat peritoneum: effects on membrane function. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 2029–2039.
- Marshall, B. C., Santana, A., Xu, Q. P., Petersen, M. J., Campbell, E. J., Hoidal, J. R., et al. (1993). Metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases in mesothelial cells. Cellular differentiation influences expression. *J. Clin. Invest.* 91, 1792–1799. doi: 10.1172/jci116390
- Martikainen, T. A., Teppo, A. M., Gronhagen-Riska, C., and Ekstrand, A. V. (2005). Glucose-free dialysis solutions: inductors of inflammation or preservers of peritoneal membrane? *Perit. Dial. Int.* 25, 453–460.
- McDonald, S. P., Marshall, M. R., Johnson, D. W., and Polkinghorne, K. R. (2009). Relationship between dialysis modality and mortality. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 20, 155–163. doi: 10.1681/asn.2007111188
- Mehrotra, R., Devuyst, O., Davies, S. J., and Johnson, D. W. (2016). The current state of peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 3238–3252. doi: 10.1681/ asn.2016010112
- Mendelson, A. A., Guan, Q., Chafeeva, I., da Roza, G. A., Kizhakkedathu, J. N., and Du, C. (2013). Hyperbranched polyglycerol is an efficacious and biocompatible novel osmotic agent in a rodent model of peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 33, 15–27. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00148
- Morelle, J., Sow, A., Fustin, C. A., Fillee, C., Garcia-Lopez, E., Lindholm, B., et al. (2018). Mechanisms of crystalloid versus colloid osmosis across the peritoneal membrane. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 29, 1875–1886. doi: 10.1681/asn.2017080828
- Moriishi, M., and Kawanishi, H. (2008). Icodextrin and intraperitoneal inflammation. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 28(Suppl 3), S96–S100.
- Mortier, S., De Vriese, A. S., McLoughlin, R. M., Topley, N., Schaub, T. P., Passlick-Deetjen, J., et al. (2003). Effects of conventional and new peritoneal dialysis fluids on leukocyte recruitment in the rat peritoneal membrane. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 14, 1296–1306. doi: 10.1097/01.asn.0000060681.91079.30
- Mortier, S., Faict, D., Lameire, N. H., and De Vriese, A. S. (2005). Benefits of switching from a conventional to a low-GDP bicarbonate/lactate-buffered dialysis solution in a rat model. *Kidney Int.* 67, 1559–1565. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00237.x
- Mortier, S., Faict, D., Schalkwijk, C. G., Lameire, N. H., and De Vriese, A. S. (2004). Long-term exposure to new peritoneal dialysis solutions: effects on the peritoneal membrane. *Kidney Int.* 66, 1257–1265. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00879.x
- Na kao, M., Yamamoto, I., Maruyama, Y., Morishita, M., Nakashima, A., Matsuo, N., et al. (2017). Risk factors for encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis: analysis of a 36-year experience in a University Hospital. *Nephrology (Carlton)* 22, 907–912. doi: 10.1111/nep.12911
- Nataatmadja, M., Johnson, D. W., Pascoe, E. M., Darssan, D., Hawley, C. M., and Cho, Y. (2018). Associations between peritoneal glucose exposure, glucose degradation product exposure, and peritoneal membrane transport characteristics in peritoneal dialysis patients: secondary analysis of the balANZ trial. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 38, 349–355. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2017.00223
- Ni, J., Verbavatz, J. M., Rippe, A., Boisde, I., Moulin, P., Rippe, B., et al. (2006). Aquaporin-1 plays an essential role in water permeability and ultrafiltration during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 69, 1518–1525. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000285
- Nishimura, H., Ikehara, O., Naito, T., Higuchi, C., and Sanaka, T. (2009). Evaluation of taurine as an osmotic agent for peritoneal dialysis solution. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 29, 204–216.
- Ortega, L. M., and Materson, B. J. (2011). Hypertension in peritoneal dialysis patients: epidemiology, pathogenesis, and treatment. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 5, 128–136. doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2011.02.004
- Papapetropoulos, A., Garcia-Cardena, G., Madri, J. A., and Sessa, W. C. (1997). Nitric oxide production contributes to the angiogenic properties of vascular endothelial growth factor in human endothelial cells. *J. Clin. Invest.* 100, 3131–3139. doi: 10.1172/jci119868
- Parikova, A., Zweers, M. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2003). Peritoneal effluent markers of inflammation in patients treated with icodextrin-based and glucosebased dialysis solutions. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 19, 186–190.
- Pecoits-Filho, R., Araujo, M. R., Lindholm, B., Stenvinkel, P., Abensur, H., Romao, J. E. Jr., et al. (2002). Plasma and dialysate IL-6 and VEGF concentrations are associated with high peritoneal solute transport rate. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 17, 1480–1486. doi: 10.1093/ndt/17.8.1480
- Peng, W., Zhou, Q., Ao, X., Tang, R., and Xiao, Z. (2013). Inhibition of Rho-kinase alleviates peritoneal fibrosis and angiogenesis in a rat model of peritoneal dialysis. *Ren. Fail.* 35, 958–966. doi: 10.3109/0886022x.2013.808565
- Reimann, D., Dachs, D., Meye, C., and Gross, P. (2004). Amino acid-based peritoneal dialysis solution stimulates mesothelial nitric oxide production. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 24, 378–384.

- Rippe, B. (1993). A three-pore model of peritoneal transport. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 13(Suppl 2), S35–S38.
- Rippe, B. (2009). Peritoneal angiogenesis in response to dialysis fluid. Contrib. Nephrol. 163, 60–66. doi: 10.1159/000223781
- Rizzoni, D., Porteri, E., Boari, G. E., De Ciuceis, C., Sleiman, I., Muiesan, M. L., et al. (2003). Prognostic significance of small-artery structure in hypertension. *Circulation* 108, 2230–2235. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000095031.51492.c5
- Robinson, B. (1897). V. Observations upon the absorption of fluids by the peritoneum. *Ann. Surg.* 25, 332–350.
- Rutkowski, B., Tam, P., van der Sande, F. M., Vychytil, A., Schwenger, V., Himmele, R., et al. (2016). Low-sodium versus standard-sodium peritoneal dialysis solution in hypertensive patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 67, 753–761. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.07.031
- Ryu, H. M., Oh, E. J., Park, S. H., Kim, C. D., Choi, J. Y., Cho, J. H., et al. (2012). Aquaporin 3 expression is up-regulated by TGF-beta1 in rat peritoneal mesothelial cells and plays a role in wound healing. *Am. J. Pathol.* 181, 2047–2057. doi: 10.1016/j. ajpath.2012.08.018
- Schaefer, B., Bartosova, M., Macher-Goeppinger, S., Sallay, P., Voros, P., Ranchin, B., et al. (2018). Neutral pH and low-glucose degradation product dialysis fluids induce major early alterations of the peritoneal membrane in children on peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 94, 419–429. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.02.022
- Schaefer, B., Bartosova, M., Macher-Goeppinger, S., Ujszaszi, A., Wallwiener, M., Nyarangi-Dix, J., et al. (2016a). Quantitative histomorphometry of the healthy peritoneum. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 21344. doi: 10.1038/srep21344
- Schaefer, B., Bartosova, M., Taylan, C., VandeWalle, J., Querfeld, U., Krmar, R., et al. (2016b). The PD membrane microvasculature in uremia and PD—recent findings from the International Pediatric PD Biobank. Abstracts for the 17th IPNA Congress, Iguacu, Brazil, September 2016: oral presentations. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 31, 1723–1764. doi: 10.1007/s00467-016-3466-6
- Schmitt, C. P., and Aufricht, C. (2016). Is there such a thing as biocompatible peritoneal dialysis fluid? *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 32, 1835–1843. doi: 10.1007/s00467-016-3461-y
- Schmitt, C. P., Bakkaloglu, S. A., Klaus, G., Schroder, C., Fischbach, M., and European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group (2011). Solutions for peritoneal dialysis in children: recommendations by the European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 26, 1137–1147. doi: 10.1007/s00467-011-1863-4
- Schmitt, C. P., Haraldsson, B., Doetschmann, R., Zimmering, M., Greiner, C., Boswald, M., et al. (2002). Effects of pH-neutral, bicarbonate-buffered dialysis fluid on peritoneal transport kinetics in children. *Kidney Int.* 61, 1527–1536. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00255.x
- Schmitt, C. P., Nau, B., Gemulla, G., Bonzel, K. E., Holtta, T., Testa, S., et al. (2013). Effect of the dialysis fluid buffer on peritoneal membrane function in children. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 8, 108–115. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00690112
- Schmitt, C. P., von Heyl, D., Rieger, S., Arbeiter, K., Bonzel, K. E., Fischbach, M., et al. (2007). Reduced systemic advanced glycation end products in children receiving peritoneal dialysis with low glucose degradation product content. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 22, 2038–2044. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfm148
- Siddique, I., Brimble, K. S., Walkin, L., Summers, A., Brenchley, P., Herrick, S., et al. (2015). Genetic polymorphisms and peritoneal membrane function. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 35, 517–529. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00049
- Stachowska-Pietka, J., Waniewski, J., Flessner, M. F., and Lindholm, B. (2012). Computer simulations of osmotic ultrafiltration and small-solute transport in peritoneal dialysis: a spatially distributed approach. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 302, F1331–F1341. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00301.2011
- Stinghen, A. E., Massy, Z. A., Vlassara, H., Striker, G. E., and Boullier, A. (2016). Uremic toxicity of advanced glycation end products in CKD. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 354–370. doi: 10.1681/asn.2014101047
- Stoenoiu, M. S., Ni, J., Verkaeren, C., Debaix, H., Jonas, J. C., Lameire, N., et al. (2003). Corticosteroids induce expression of aquaporin-1 and increase transcellular water transport in rat peritoneum. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 14, 555–565. doi: 10.1097/01. asn.0000053420.37216.9e
- Struijk, D. G., Krediet, R. T., Koomen, G. C., Hoek, F. J., Boeschoten, E. W., vd Reijden, H. J., et al. (1991). Functional characteristics of the peritoneal membrane in longterm continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Nephron* 59, 213–220. doi: 10.1159/000186553
- Summers, L. K. (2006). Adipose tissue metabolism, diabetes and vascular disease lessons from in vivo studies. *Diab. Vasc. Dis. Res.* 3, 12–21. doi: 10.3132/dvdr.2006.001
- Suri, C., McClain, J., Thurston, G., McDonald, D. M., Zhou, H., Oldmixon, E. H., et al. (1998). Increased vascularization in mice overexpressing angiopoietin-1. *Science* 282, 468–471. doi: 10.1126/science.282.5388.468

- Szeto, C. C., Chow, K. M., Lam, C. W., Leung, C. B., Kwan, B. C., Chung, K. Y., et al. (2007). Clinical biocompatibility of a neutral peritoneal dialysis solution with minimal glucose-degradation products—a 1-year randomized control trial. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 22, 552–559. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl559
- Tanabe, K., Maeshima, Y., Ichinose, K., Kitayama, H., Takazawa, Y., Hirokoshi, K., et al. (2007). Endostatin peptide, an inhibitor of angiogenesis, prevents the progression of peritoneal sclerosis in a mouse experimental model. *Kidney Int.* 71, 227–238. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002040
- Tang, S., Leung, J. C., Chan, L. Y., Tsang, A. W., Chen, C. X., Zhou, W., et al. (2004). Regulation of complement C3 and C4 synthesis in human peritoneal mesothelial cells by peritoneal dialysis fluid. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 136, 85–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02407.x
- Tjiong, H. L., Rietveld, T., Wattimena, J. L., van den Berg, J. W., Kahriman, D., van der Steen, J., et al. (2007). Peritoneal dialysis with solutions containing amino acids plus glucose promotes protein synthesis during oral feeding. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 2, 74–80. doi: 10.2215/cjn.01370406
- Tjiong, H. L., van den Berg, J. W., Wattimena, J. L., Rietveld, T., van Dijk, L. J., van der Wiel, A. M., et al. (2005). Dialysate as food: combined amino acid and glucose dialysate improves protein anabolism in renal failure patients on automated peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16, 1486–1493. doi: 10.1681/asn.2004050402
- Topley, N., Alobaidi, H. M., Davies, M., Coles, G. A., Williams, J. D., and Lloyd, D. (1988). The effect of dialysate on peritoneal phagocyte oxidative metabolism. *Kidney Int.* 34, 404–411. doi: 10.1038/ki.1988.195
- Topley, N., Jorres, A., Luttmann, W., Petersen, M. M., Lang, M. J., Thierauch, K. H., et al. (1993). Human peritoneal mesothelial cells synthesize interleukin-6: induction by IL-1 beta and TNF alpha. *Kidney Int.* 43, 226–233. doi: 10.1038/ki.1993.36
- Topley, N., Kaur, D., Petersen, M. M., Jorres, A., Williams, J. D., Faict, D., et al. (1996). In vitro effects of bicarbonate and bicarbonate-lactate buffered peritoneal dialysis solutions on mesothelial and neutrophil function. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 7, 218–224.
- van Baal, J. O., Van de Vijver, K. K., Nieuwland, R., van Noorden, C. J., van Driel, W. J., Sturk, A., et al. (2017). The histophysiology and pathophysiology of the peritoneum. *Tissue Cell* 49, 95–105. doi: 10.1016/j.tice.2016.11.004
- van de Luijtgaarden, M. W., Jager, K. J., Segelmark, M., Pascual, J., Collart, F., Hemke, A. C., et al. (2016). Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 31, 120–128. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv295
- Velloso, M. S., Otoni, A., de Paula Sabino, A., de Castro, W. V., Pinto, S. W., Marinho, M. A., et al. (2014). Peritoneal dialysis and inflammation. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 430, 109–114. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2013.12.003
- Vychytil, A., Herzog, R., Probst, P., Ribitsch, W., Lhotta, K., Machold-Fabrizii, V., et al. (2018). A randomized controlled trial of alanyl-glutamine in peritoneal dialysis fluids to assess impact on biomarkers of peritoneal health and systemic inflammation. *Kidney Int.* 94, 1227–1237. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.08.031
- Waldum-Grevbo, B., Leivestad, T., Reisaeter, A. V., and Os, I. (2015). Impact of initial dialysis modality on mortality: a propensity-matched study. *BMC Nephrol.* 16:179. doi: 10.1186/s12882-015-0175-5
- Williams, J. D., Craig, K. J., Topley, N., Von Ruhland, C., Fallon, M., Newman, G. R., et al. (2002). Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 470–479.
- Williams, J. D., Topley, N., Craig, K. J., Mackenzie, R. K., Pischetsrieder, M., Lage, C., et al. (2004). The Euro-balance trial: the effect of a new biocompatible peritoneal dialysis fluid (balance) on the peritoneal membrane. *Kidney Int.* 66, 408–418. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00747.x

- Xiao, J., Guo, J., Liu, X. X., Zhang, X. X., Li, Z. Z., Zhao, Z. Z., et al. (2013). Soluble Tie2 fusion protein decreases peritoneal angiogenesis in uremic rats. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 8, 267–271. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2013.1478
- Yanez-Mo, M., Lara-Pezzi, E., Selgas, R., Ramirez-Huesca, M., Dominguez-Jimenez, C., Jimenez-Heffernan, J. A., et al. (2003). Peritoneal dialysis and epithelial-tomesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348, 403–413. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020809
- Yohanna, S., Alkatheeri, A. M., Brimble, S. K., McCormick, B., Iansavitchous, A., Blake, P. G., et al. (2015). Effect of neutral-pH, low-glucose degradation product peritoneal dialysis solutions on residual renal function, urine volume, and ultrafiltration: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 10, 1380–1388. doi: 10.2215/CJN.05410514
- Yool, A. J., Morelle, J., Cnops, Y., Verbavatz, J. M., Campbell, E. M., Beckett, E. A., et al. (2013). AqF026 is a pharmacologic agonist of the water channel aquaporin-1. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 24, 1045–1052. doi: 10.1681/asn.2012080869
- Yoshio, Y., Miyazaki, M., Abe, K., Nishino, T., Furusu, A., Mizuta, Y., et al. (2004). TNP-470, an angiogenesis inhibitor, suppresses the progression of peritoneal fibrosis in mouse experimental model. *Kidney Int.* 66, 1677–1685. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00935.x
- Zeier, M., Schwenger, V., Deppisch, R., Haug, U., Weigel, K., Bahner, U., et al. (2003). Glucose degradation products in PD fluids: do they disappear from the peritoneal cavity and enter the systemic circulation? *Kidney Int.* 63, 298–305. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00705.x
- Zelek, W., Harris, C. L., Topley, N., Weeks, I., Lambie, M., Davies, S. J., et al. (2016). Complement biomarkers in the management of peritoneal dialysis. *Immunobiology* 221:1172. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2016.06.107
- Zeng, L., Dang, T. A., and Schunkert, H. (2016). Genetics links between transforming growth factor beta pathway and coronary disease. *Atherosclerosis* 253, 237–246. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.08.029
- Zhai, Y., Bloch, J., Homme, M., Schaefer, J., Hackert, T., Philippin, B., et al. (2012). Buffer-dependent regulation of aquaporin-1 expression and function in human peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 27, 1165–1177. doi: 10.1007/ s00467-012-2120-1
- Zhou, Q., Bajo, M. A., Del Peso, G., Yu, X., and Selgas, R. (2016). Preventing peritoneal membrane fibrosis in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* 90, 515–524. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.03.040

Conflict of Interest Statement: CS has obtained lecturing honoraria, travel support, and investigator-initiated research funding from Fresenius Medical care and lecturing and consulting honoraria from Baxter.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past collaboration with the authors.

Copyright © 2019 Bartosova and Schmitt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeted Metabolomic Profiling of Peritoneal Dialysis Effluents Shows Anti-oxidative Capacity of Alanyl-Glutamine

Florian M. Wiesenhofer^{1,2†}, Rebecca Herzog^{1,2†}, Michael Boehm¹, Anja Wagner^{1,2}, Markus Unterwurzacher^{1,2}, David C. Kasper³, Seth L. Alper^{4,5}, Andreas Vychytil⁶, Christoph Aufricht² and Klaus Kratochwill^{1,2*}

¹ Christian Doppler Laboratory for Molecular Stress Research in Peritoneal Dialysis, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ² Division of Pediatric Nephrology and Gastroenterology, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ³ ARCHIMED Life Science, Vienna, Austria, ⁴ Division of Nephrology and Vascular Biology Research Center, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States, ⁵ Department of Medicine, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁶ Division of Nephrology and Dialysis, Department of Medicine III, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Raymond Theodorus Krediet, Academic Medical Center (AMC), Netherlands Angela Summers, NHS England, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Klaus Kratochwill klaus.kratochwill@meduniwien.ac.at [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 22 August 2018 Accepted: 28 December 2018 Published: 21 January 2019

Citation:

Wiesenhofer FM, Herzog R, Boehm M, Wagner A, Unterwurzacher M, Kasper DC, Alper SL, Vychytil A, Aufricht C and Kratochwill K (2019) Targeted Metabolomic Profiling of Peritoneal Dialysis Effluents Shows Anti-oxidative Capacity of Alanyl-Glutamine. Front. Physiol. 9:1961. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01961

Readily available peritoneal dialysis (PD) effluents from PD patients in the course of renal replacement therapy are a potentially rich source for molecular markers for predicting clinical outcome, monitoring the therapy, and therapeutic interventions. The complex clinical phenotype of PD patients might be reflected in the PD effluent metabolome. Metabolomic analysis of PD effluent might allow quantitative detection and assessment of candidate PD biomarkers for prognostication and therapeutic monitoring. We therefore subjected peritoneal equilibration test effluents from 20 stable PD patients, obtained in a randomized controlled trial (RCT) to evaluate cytoprotective effects of standard PD solution (3.86% glucose) supplemented with 8 mM alanyl-glutamine (AlaGIn) to targeted metabolomics analysis. One hundred eighty eight pre-defined metabolites, including free amino acids, acylcarnitines, and glycerophospholipids, as well as custom metabolic indicators calculated from these metabolites were surveyed in a high-throughput assay requiring only 10 µl of PD effluent. Metabolite profiles of effluents from the cross-over trial were analyzed with respect to AlaGIn status and clinical parameters such as duration of PD therapy and history of previous episodes of peritonitis. This targeted approach detected and quantified 184 small molecules in PD effluent, a larger number of detected metabolites than in all previous metabolomic studies in PD effluent combined. Metabolites were clustered within substance classes regarding concentrations after a 4-h dwell. PD effluent metabolic profiles were differentiated according to PD patient sub-populations, revealing novel changes in small molecule abundance during PD therapy. AlaGIn supplementation of PD fluid altered levels of specific metabolites, including increases in alanine and glutamine but not glutamate, and reduced levels of small molecule indicators of oxidative stress, such as methionine sulfoxide. Our study represents the first application of targeted metabolomics to PD effluents. The observed metabolomic changes in PD
effluent associated with AlaGIn-supplementation during therapy suggested an antioxidant effect, and were consistent with the restoration of important stress and immune processes previously noted in the RCT. High-throughput detection of PD effluent metabolomic signatures and their alterations by therapeutic interventions offers new opportunities for metabolome-clinical correlation in PD and for prescription of personalized PD therapy.

Keywords: N(2)-L-alanyl-L-glutamine, oxidative stress, chronic kidney disease, metabolome, methionine sulfoxide

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD), as a home-based renal replacement therapy for patients with end-stage renal disease, offers an attractive (and in some aspects, superior) alternative to conventional center-based hemodialysis (Mehrotra et al., 2016; Pippias et al., 2016; van de Luijtgaarden et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017). The PD effluent contains endogenous and exogenous metabolites, proteins, nucleic acids, and free-floating cells, all available for sampling as a non-invasive liquid biopsy without burden to the PD patient. Metabolites are relatively stable and easily accessible end products of gene expression and protein activity and as the ultimate effector level of biological systems, they are predictive of cellular and tissue phenotype (Dettmer et al., 2007; Kuehnbaum and Britz-McKibbin, 2013; Aretz and Meierhofer, 2016). As such, metabolites are particularly attractive diagnostic components of PD effluent that may reflect or predict the complex clinical phenotypes and outcomes of PD patients (Herzog et al., 2018). However, the metabolome of PD effluents remains little explored.

In clinical practice, urea nitrogen, creatinine, and other selected components are measured in PD effluents and 24-h sampling of dialysate and urine, to monitor dialysis therapy efficacy, usually as part of a peritoneal equilibration test (PET) of standardized dwell time, to compare transperitoneal transport characteristics of surrogate molecules of different molecular weights. These parameters, however, reflect only a limited aspect of the complex metabolic changes produced in these patients by uremia and therapeutic intervention (Vaidya and Bonventre, 2006). Measurement of a wide range of metabolites should allow a more accurate assessment of the complex clinical phenotype of patients than allowed by the few conventional analytes.

Metabolomics techniques systematically measure multiple metabolites directly from complex biological samples (Mamas et al., 2011). Technological progress in high-resolution accurate mass (HRAM) spectrometry and full-scan capabilities theoretically permits simultaneous identification and quantitation of a great number of molecules. Capture of all sample data potentially allows unbiased, untargeted collection of information on as many *a priori* unknown metabolites as possible (Kell et al., 2005; Vanholder et al., 2015). The major drawbacks of the untargeted approach are the non-validated and at best semi-quantitative results. Despite the theoretical capability to analyze all metabolites, the important pre-analytical and technical differences of the analytes have to date hindered expansion of the PD effluent metabolome beyond \sim 70 identified

metabolites (Dunn et al., 2012; Guleria et al., 2014; Csaicsich et al., 2015; Vanholder et al., 2015; Aretz and Meierhofer, 2016; Kratochwill et al., 2016). The alternative targeted approach relies on a pre-defined list of candidate metabolites for which the method has been previously optimized and validated. The aim is to generate metabolic profiles under various conditions from defined cohorts of (PD) patients, generating metabolic fingerprints reflecting pathological progression stages and their modulation by therapeutic interventions.

PD fluid supplementation with glutamine, added as the stable, glutamine-releasing dipeptide, alanyl-glutamine (AlaGln), has demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo* restoration of cellular stress responses, immune modulation and reduced peritoneal fibrosis (Bender et al., 2010; Kratochwill et al., 2012; Herzog et al., 2014; Ferrantelli et al., 2016). Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) showed that improved cellular immune competence and restored stress responses in peritoneal cells by AlaGln supplementation of PD fluid can be translated into the clinical setting (Kratochwill et al., 2016; Herzog et al., 2017, 2018; Vychytil et al., 2018). These clinical trials allowed collection of PD effluent samples for characterization of PD-related mechanisms and their alterations by AlaGln supplementation.

In this study, we applied, for the first time, a targeted metabolomics approach to the study of PD effluent from stable patients on chronic PD therapy. The aim was to expand and validate the metabolome of PD effluent and to investigate the effects of AlaGln addition to PD fluid as a new therapeutic intervention, using a highly standardized, high-throughput method.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Peritoneal Dialysis (PD) Effluent Samples

Peritoneal dialysis effluent samples were obtained during a prospective randomized, open-label, two-period, cross-over phase I/II study conducted at the Department of Nephrology of the Medical University of Vienna, Austria. The study protocol was approved by the local ethics committee of the Medical University of Vienna (EK 867/2010, EK 1167/2013, EK 2035/2015), registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov (NCT01353638), and performed in accord with the Declaration of Helsinki. The study design, clinical methods, eligibility criteria, randomization, patient characteristics, and adverse events have been previously described (Kratochwill et al., 2016). In brief, 20 stable PD

patients (13 male/7 female mean age 58 years) with a mean PD vintage of 2.4 years were treated per protocol. Patients were judged as clinically stable and had no severe concomitant disease (5 patients had a history of peritonitis more than 3 months prior to sample collection, 14 patients had residual renal urine output, and 6 patients were anuric). All patients provided written informed consent prior to trial participation.

Effluent samples were collected in standard 9 ml native collection tubes (Vacuette, Bio-Greiner-One, Kremsmünster, Austria) immediately after completion of instillation of the dialysis fluid into the patients' cavity (=time point 0) and 4 h later (=time point 4 h) after each of two standard PETs (La Milia et al., 2013), one using commercially available PD fluid (Dianeal, 3.86% glucose, Baxter, Deerfield, IL, United States) and a second with the same PD fluid supplemented with 8 mM AlaGln ("Dipeptiven" = N(2)-alanyl-L-glutamine 200 mg/mL, Fresenius Kabi, Bad Homburg, Germany), performed in randomized order. The two PETs were separated by a wash-out period (28–35 days) (**Supplementary Figure S1**).

PD Effluent Analyses

Peritoneal dialysis effluent was centrifuged (250 \times g, 10 min) immediately following collection, and cell-free supernatant samples were aliquoted and stored at $-80^\circ\mathrm{C}$ until further analysis.

Peritoneal dialysis effluent concentrations of glucose and creatinine were measured by validated standard methods in the clinical laboratory of the Vienna General Hospital. Creatinine concentrations were determined by a kinetic measurement of Jaffé reaction and corrected for high glucose levels by determination of a correction factor from measurements of unused PD fluid with the same method. PD effluent concentrations of glutamine and alanine were measured as previously described (Kratochwill et al., 2016) with the EZ:Faast amino acid kit (Phenomenex, Torrance, CA, United States). Amino acids were extracted by solid phase extraction, derivatized to chloroformates, dried, and reconstituted after addition of homoarginine, methionine-d3, and homophenylalanine as internal standards. Liquid chromatographic (LC) separation on an EZ:Faast AAA-MS column (250 mm \times 2.0 mm) was followed by data acquisition by a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (MS) (Waters Corp., Milford, MA, United States) and data processing by QuanLynx software v.4.1 (Waters).

Targeted Metabolomics in PD Effluent Samples

Metabolites (n = 188) in PD effluent samples were analyzed using the AbsoluteIDQ p180 kit (Biocrates Life Science AG, Innsbruck, Austria). Sample preparation, analysis, data processing and validation were performed according to the manufacturers' instructions. Internal standards, calibration standards and quality controls were dissolved and used immediately before use. Ten microliters individual PD effluents, calibration standards or quality controls were mixed with 10 µl internal standard. Phosphate buffered saline (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was used as blank. Samples dried 30 min at room temp. by nitrogen evaporator were derivatized with phenylisothiocyanate (in 50 µl of 1:1:1 ethanol:H₂O:pyridine for 20 min at room temp), then dried again for 60 min. Dried samples were extracted in 300 µl methanol containing 5 mM ammonium acetate for 30 min with shaking at 450 rpm. All mixtures were filter-centrifuged, and flow-throughs were captured for analysis. Amino acids and biogenic amines were separated on a C18 column and gradient-eluted [0.2% formic acid in water (v/v) to 95% 0.2% formic acid in acetonitrile (v/v)]. For flow injection analysis (FIA) of acylcarnitines, glycerophospholipids and hexoses, the mobile phase was prepared by mixing FIA reagent (manufacturer-provided) with methanol. Samples were analyzed by MS (6500 QTRAP, AB Sciex, Framingham, MA, United States) run in multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode for both LC and FIA analysis. Data processing and validation used MetIDQ software (Biocrates Life Sciences AG).

Statistical Analysis and Data Visualization

All statistical analyses and visualizations used R ($v3.5.1^{1}$). Mean and median concentrations and corresponding standard deviations and interguartile ranges were calculated for all targeted metabolites from all samples. Correlation matrices for all metabolites were generated through hierarchical clustering by Euclidian distance. Correlation of PD effluent and plasma metabolite concentrations in 911 healthy subjects was from data of Goek et al. (2013). All features of the data set were subjected to Welch *t*-tests for changes in the following patient characteristics: (i) "Peritonitis History": preceded episodes of peritonitis, minimum 3 month before enrollment into the study; (ii) "Anuric": comparison of patients with residual renal function (RRF) and anuric patients; (iii) "Time on PD": continuous PD therapy for more or less than 12 months prior to study enrollment. The effect of the study intervention (8 mM AlaGln in PD fluid during a 4 h PET) was tested using paired *t*-tests. Due to the exploratory nature of this study, no power calculation was performed; the power calculation in the trial from which the samples were obtained was aimed for a power of 80% to detect a difference in means of 30% points, using a 0.05 two-sided significance level at an assumed standard deviation of within-subject period differences of 50% points for the primary outcome parameter (Kratochwill et al., 2016). All results were Benjamini-Hochbergcorrected for multiple testing. Custom metabolic indicators in the dataset were automatically calculated from metabolite concentrations by the MetIDQ software and were included in this analysis.

Data Availability

All datasets for this study are included in the manuscript and the **Supplementary Files**.

¹http://www.r-project.org/



(GLP) both moieties bound by ester bonds to the glycerol backbone, ae, in GLP moieties bound by one ester and one ether bond to the glycerol backbone.

RESULTS

We first tested the feasibility of a targeted metabolomics approach in cell-free PD effluents. We used 10 µl effluent samples of standardized 4-h dwells from 20 patients included in a randomized controlled cross-over trial. PET samples were taken immediately after filling (0 h) and 4 h after filling (4 h). One hundred eighty four of the 188 total metabolites in the targeted panel were detectable in PD effluent samples (Figure 1 and Supplementary Table S1), and metabolites of all six metabolite classes in the panel could be quantified. The most abundant metabolite in effluents at both sampling time points was "sum of hexoses (H1)" (reflecting the 3.86% glucose PD fluid used in the clinical trial for the PET). Creatinine was the second most abundant metabolite, followed by most of the free amino acids included in the targeted assay. All measured free amino acids were found in the upper quartile of all quantified metabolites, representing the most abundant metabolite class in PD effluents (Figure 1A).

One hundred seventy five metabolites were more abundant in PD effluents after the 4 h dwell than directly after filling, whereas only nine metabolites (H1, DOPA, four acylcarnitines: C4:1, C14:2-OH, C16:1, and C16:1-OH, and three glycerophospholipids: PC ae C30:0, PC ae C42:1, and PC aa C42:2) showed higher concentrations in the PD effluent directly after filling. As expected during PD therapy, hexoses showed the strongest decrease in concentration (-3.8-fold) after 4 h dwell time (Figure 1B). Methionine sulfoxide (Met-SO) and the sphingomyelin SM (OH) C16:1 showed the highest relative increase after 4 h dwell (since they were initially undetectable) and their ratios were manually set to 100 for graphic display (Figure 1B). Next highest ratios were those of carnosine (31.2), alpha-aminoadipic acid (alpha-AAA) (9.4), hydroxyproline (t4-OH-Pro) (7.1), symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA) (8.8), and total-DMA (7.9). Figure 1B illustrates the descending order of D4/D0 metabolite concentration ratios.

The PD effluent metabolite concentrations measured by the p180 assay were validated by comparison to concentrations of



selected metabolites measured in the same samples by routine clinical laboratory methods (**Figure 2**). Targeted metabolomics values of creatinine and glucose correlated very well with measurements by validated routine clinical laboratory methods, with Pearson's coefficients of 0.968 and 0.844, respectively (**Figures 2A,B**). Although creatinine and the sum of all hexoses (including glucose) concentrations were found above the kits' respective upper limits of quantification, linearity of the assay was preserved. Alanine and glutamine were originally assessed by a LC-MS-based method, comparable to the method used in the p180 assay but with only a one-point calibration. Correlation of both measurements was still obvious with correlation coefficients for alanine and glutamine of 0.603 and 0.636 (**Figures 2C,D**).

Associations and similarities between individual metabolites were sought through generation of a correlation matrix (**Figure 3**; see **Supplementary Figure S2** for a higher resolution image including metabolite names and correlation matrix of the 0 h PET data). Hierarchical clustering of the Euclidian distance between Pearson's correlation coefficients calculated for all metabolite pairs revealed strong positive correlation for the class of glycerophospholipids (GPLs), which also correlated with most of the sphingolipids (SLs). To some extent, acylcarnitines and amino acids (AAs) are clustered together as well, although their individual patterns show more variability probably reflecting their higher chemical diversity when compared to the GPLs. Indeed, AAs form distinct subgroups, likely reflecting chemical features, as indicated by the extreme positions of the unique AAs proline and glycine. The small amino acid glycine clustered with GPLs, but also positively correlated with most other AAs. Of the included metabolic classes, the biogenic amines showed the most diverse clustering behavior.

The PD effluent concentrations of individual metabolites reflect the sums of their plasma concentrations, their transport into the peritoneum and/or local production. To gain an impression of the systemic background of the observed metabolites, we compared PD effluent concentrations in our



RCT subjects with plasma concentrations measured in a large cohort of healthy individuals using the same method (Goek et al., 2013; **Figure 4**). These literature derived data served as an approximation of plasma levels of respective metabolites. This crude strategy became necessary as no serum samples of studied patients were available from the RCT. As expected, PD effluent concentrations of glucose (H1; 42.3 \pm 13.8 mM) and creatinine (588.6 \pm 240.1 μ M) after 4-h dwells exceeded those in healthy plasma. In contrast, PD effluent concentrations of most AAs and biogenic amines after a 4-h dwell were slightly below or similar to healthy plasma levels. Post-4-h PD effluent concentrations of glutamic acid (Glu), citrulline (Cit), acetylornithine (Ac-Orn), and total DMA, as well as of three acylcarnitines (C5, C9, C10:2) exceeded healthy plasma concentrations, a perhaps

surprising result given the high instilled volume of PD fluid plus the additional water osmotically absorbed from the patient circulation. PD effluent concentrations of GPLs and SLs were lower than healthy plasma levels.

We next examined the possible influences of patient factors or AlaGln supplementation of PD fluid during the PET in the RCT on individual PD effluent metabolites and custom metabolic indicators. Patient-related variables included (i) preceding episodes of peritonitis, (ii) residual renal function (RRF) and anuria, and (iii) elapsed time since PD treatment initiation (two groups continuously treated for < or ≥ 12 months duration). Fifty one metabolites were significantly influenced by at least one tested variable (**Figure 5** and **Supplementary Table S2**). A history of peritonitis was associated with changes in four metabolites:



elevation of three GPLs, most pronounced for PC aa C42:0 (significant after correction for multiple testing), and reduction of the ratio of non-dicarboxy-acylcarnitines to total acylcarnitines (total AC-DC/total AC), an indicator of ω -oxidation of fatty acids (Figure 5B). Anuria was associated with significant changes in all metabolite classes. PD effluent levels of two short-chain acylcarnitines, 14 GPLs and SLs and three AAs (phenylalanine, serine, valine) showed lower concentrations than those in patients with RRF. Elevated PD effluent creatinine concentrations were associated with both time on PD treatment and with anuria. Upon closer inspection, the increase in creatinine by prolonged treatment could be explained by those patients without RRF (Figure 5C). None of the PD patients treated for less than 1 year was anuric, whereas anuria characterized 40% of PD patients treated for more than 1 year (Kruskal–Wallis: $\chi^2 = 6.93$, p = 0.049; Dunn's post hoc test between groups: <1 year and RRF vs. ≥ 1 year and RRF p = 0.1506; ≥ 1 year and RRF vs. ≥ 1 year and anuric p = 0.0440; <1 year and RRF vs. ≥ 1 year

and anuric p = 0.0078). PD effluent from patients treated with PD for more than 1 year contained higher concentrations of the biogenic amines Met-SO, SDMA and the total amount of DMA, in addition to creatinine. Levels of five acylcarnitines and one SL (sphingomyelin C22:3) were also increased with longer time on PD therapy (Figure 5D). AlaGln supplementation of the PD fluid used in the PET increased post-4-h dwell concentrations of alanine and glutamine in PD effluent (and calculated metabolic indicators that include alanine and glutamine) compared to those from the same patients after control PET with standard PD fluid (Figure 5E), but did not influence levels of other AAs, such as glutamic acid (paired *t*-test: p = 0.33) (Supplementary Figure S3). AlaGln-supplemented PD fluid increased postdwell PD effluent concentrations of 8 GPLs, most prominently PC aa C40:1 (significant after correction for multiple testing), but decreased post-dwell levels of the long-chain acylcarnitine oleoylcarnitine, C18:1 (Figures 6A,B). AlaGln-supplemented PD fluid also showed decreased PD effluent Met-SO concentrations



and decreased Met-SO-to-methionine ratio (Met-SO/Met), an indicator of systemic oxidative stress. The effect of AlaGln in PD fluid was opposed to the effect of anuria and time on PD, where Met-SO and Met-SO/Met levels were significantly increased. The levels of free unmodified methionine remained constant (**Figure 6B**). In a subgroup analysis, the AlaGln supplementation-associated decrease of the Met-SO/Met ratio was independent of PD therapy duration [mixed design ANOVA, time on PD between patients (p = 0.007) and AlaGln treatment within patients (p < 0.001); interaction (p = 0.825)] (**Figure 6C**).

DISCUSSION

This study reports the first targeted metabolomics analysis of PD effluent. Our approach enabled detection of up to 184 small molecules in each patient's PD effluent obtained from standardized PETs during an RCT (Kratochwill et al., 2016) for characterization of the metabolic status during PD treatment. To our knowledge, this study presents the highest number of metabolites yet detected and quantitated in PD effluents.

Emerging technologies now allow acquisition, analysis and clinical utilization of omics level information in chronic kidney disease (CKD), end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and dialysis patients. Genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics have already demonstrated value in CKD patient classification (Rossing et al., 2008; Rhee et al., 2010; Choi et al., 2011; Zhao, 2013; Mullen et al., 2014; Kottgen et al., 2018). Metabolites, as intermediates and end points of gene expression and protein activity and the sum of biotic and abiotic perturbations, represent the ultimate level of biological effectors (Kell et al., 2005; Kuehnbaum and Britz-McKibbin, 2013; Barrios et al., 2016).

Although effluents from PD patients are easily available biofluids, PD metabolomics remains in early stage investigation, with fewer than 80 metabolites identified to date in PD effluent (Dunn et al., 2012; Guleria et al., 2014; Tang et al., 2014; Csaicsich et al., 2015; Vanholder et al., 2015; Kratochwill et al., 2016). Considering the effort required to overcome the challenge of high abundance protein species posed by the PD effluent soluble proteome, and the low peritoneal cell number available for phenotyping, metabolites seem particularly attractive components of the PD effluent (Aufricht et al.,



individual patients; effect of PD treatment duration: p = 0.007; effect of AlaGIn supplementation: p < 0.001; interaction: p = 0.825; Met-SO, methionine sulfoxide.

2017; Herzog et al., 2017, 2018). PD effluent metabolite levels reflect the sum of uremia-induced alterations of metabolism, nutrition, muscle/energy wasting and accumulation of toxic metabolites in dialysis patients, many likely functions of patient pathophysiological status, morbidity and mortality. PD effluent parameters currently monitored in clinical practice, including urea nitrogen and creatinine, reflect only limited aspects of the metabolic complexity of uremia and related therapeutic interventions (Vaidya and Bonventre, 2006; Zhao, 2013).

Numerous additional small molecules may act as renal/uremic toxins, contributing directly to uremic pathophysiology, as they accumulate along with other low molecular weight substances in the setting of renal impairment (Barrios et al., 2016). Evaluation of a wider range of metabolites should therefore allow a more accurate assessment of the complex clinical phenotypes of PD patients.

The human metabolome comprises at least several thousand predicted and/or experimentally observed chemical entities

varying in abundance and physicochemical properties (incl. size, molecular weight, polarity, hydrophobicity) (Aretz and Meierhofer, 2016; Wishart et al., 2018). Our previous pilot study applying untargeted metabolomics identified 41 small molecules in PD effluents (Csaicsich et al., 2015), suggesting the untargeted approach failed to deliver the systems-level view of the metabolome suggested by its name. In contrast, the targeted approach seeks not to identify unknown metabolites, but instead, screens for a pre-defined list of metabolites with pre-optimized methods and appropriate standards allowing absolute quantification (Vanholder et al., 2015; Barrios et al., 2016; Kalim and Rhee, 2017).

In this study we analyzed small molecules in cell-free PD effluent sampled at the start and the end of a standardized 4 h PET using the p180 assay, a highly reproducible, high-throughput FIA/LC-MS method already validated by multiple laboratories with plasma and serum samples (Siskos et al., 2017). Applying this technology to 10 μ l volumes of individual PD effluents, we detected and quantitated 184 metabolites of the 188 included in the targeted panel. Three of the four undetected metabolites, biogenic amines *cis*-hydroxyproline, nitrotyrosine, and phenylethylamine, are at or below detection limits in healthy plasma (Siskos et al., 2017).

We validated the p180 assay results in PD effluent by comparison to previously published RCT data obtained by routine clinical laboratory methods. PD effluent creatinine and glucose concentrations measured by routine methods and by the p180 assay exhibited correlation coefficients >0.8. Effluent concentrations of alanine and glutamine previously measured by a different LC-MS-based kit (Kratochwill et al., 2016) also correlated well with the p180 assay data. In contrast to the earlier used method, which employed one-point calibration, all free amino acids are quantitated via calibration curves in the p180 assay.

The lack of plasma metabolomic measurements prevented comparison of PD effluent metabolite concentrations with systemic values from the same individuals. We therefore compared our effluent data to previously published p180 plasma metabolomics data from a population-based trial with 911 healthy participants (Goek et al., 2013). We hypothesized that abundant, peritoneal membrane-permeant plasma metabolites would partially or completely equilibrate by the end of the 4-h PET dwell, whereas plasma metabolites enriched in PD effluent would represent molecules subject to preferential peritoneal membrane transport or clearance, molecules elevated in CKD or PD, and/or locally produced molecules. However, the inferable conclusions from these results are challenged by the limitation that plasma from non-uremic individuals serves only as a rough approximation. Uremia itself causes high plasma concentrations of many metabolites, like creatinine, and patients with renal failure are likely to have metabolomic signatures, distinct from normal plasma (Breit and Weinberger, 2016). Unfortunately, no datasets (tabulated raw data) from targeted metabolomics experiments in CKD patients were available in literature. Therefore, the performed comparisons cannot be used to reliably distinguish between peritoneal transport of a solute or local production in the respective patient but only as a first insight into the PD effluent metabolome in comparison to generalized systemic levels. In future studies it will be a prime goal to obtain metabolomic data from plasma and PDE samples from the same patients in parallel. Since glucose is the major constituent of the PD fluid used in this trial, it was expected to be more abundant in PD effluent than in healthy plasma samples. PD effluent concentrations of creatinine, the best established biomarker of renal failure progression, were also higher than plasma creatinine concentrations in the healthy cohort. Postdwell effluent concentrations of most of the smaller metabolites (AAs and biogenic amines) were only slightly below healthy plasma concentrations, in contrast to the larger GPLs and SLs. However, post-dwell PD effluent concentrations of citrulline, acetylornithine (Ac-Orn), glutamic acid, total DMA and three acylcarnitines (C5, C9, C10:2) were higher than those in healthy plasma. Acylcarnitines are elevated in cardiovascular disease, insulin resistance, as well as in CKD, in which accumulation has been routinely attributed to impaired renal clearance. Acylcarnitines are formed from carnitine and acyl-CoA and serve as fatty acid transport cofactors across mitochondrial membranes. The esterification of acyl-CoA, overaccumulated in renal failure, with carnitine to generate acylcarnitines has been proposed to retard progression of renal disease (Kerner and Hoppel, 2000; Mai et al., 2013; Barrios et al., 2016; Breit and Weinberger, 2016; Strand et al., 2017). In our cohort of PD effluent samples we found seven short and mediumchain acylcarnitines significantly elevated in association with anuria and prolonged time on PD, all of which were previously correlated with eGFR decline in a large cross-sectional study (Goek et al., 2012). In that study glutarylcarnitine [C5-DC(C6-OH)] showed the strongest effect size. This metabolite, which in our dataset correlated with duration of PD therapy, was also reported to increase in plasma in parallel with CKD progression in another CKD cohort (Nkuipou-Kenfack et al., 2014).

Also detected in PD effluent, by our approach, were the more hydrophobic, long-chain acylcarnitines which are derived exclusively from fatty acid metabolism and are regarded as markers of mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation. As these accumulated long-chain acylcarnitines are not cleared by hemodialysis (HD) (Kalim et al., 2013; Makrecka-Kuka et al., 2017), we speculate that their removal during PD may represent a previously undescribed PD-specific advantage in clearance of accumulated metabolites from ESRD patients.

Amino acids and biogenic amines were among the most abundant metabolites in PD effluent and, with few exceptions, were highly enriched in effluent during the 4-h dwell time. Clustering in the cross-correlation matrix revealed distinct subgroups likely reflecting similar chemical properties. Kynurenine and tryptophan, the latter being degraded to hydroxykynurenine, are among the metabolites with the highest concentration increase after a 4 h PD dwell, confirming our previous untargeted analysis (Csaicsich et al., 2015). Interestingly, however, PD effluent kynurenine concentrations were not higher than those in healthy plasma, and were unassociated with any investigated clinical factors. PD effluent concentrations of phenylalanine, serine and valine were lower in anuric patients than in those with RRF. Indeed, anuria was associated with significant changes in all metabolite classes, and was the driving factor for increased PD effluent creatinine concentrations.

Arginine metabolites ADMA, SDMA, citrulline, and ornithine have been previously described as plasma metabolome markers of CKD progression and eGFR decline (Ceballos et al., 1990; Goek et al., 2013; Shah et al., 2013; Duranton et al., 2014; Nkuipou-Kenfack et al., 2014; Breit and Weinberger, 2016). Our study also found PD effluent concentrations of SDMA and total-DMA (sum of ADMA + SDMA) significantly increased with longer time on PD therapy. SDMA levels were highly correlated with creatinine levels in a meta-analysis of 18 studies encompassing 2100 patients (Bode-Boger et al., 2006; Kielstein et al., 2006). ADMA concentrations have been reported to be elevated in plasma of PD patients, but significantly lower than in HD patients, likely reflecting superior ADMA clearance by PD (Kielstein et al., 1999; Cross et al., 2001; Mittermayer et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2010). ADMA inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), which converts arginine to citrulline and nitric oxide (NO), may explain the higher citrulline levels in PD effluent than in healthy plasma.

Peritoneal cavity glutamine levels during PD may be subphysiological (Kratochwill et al., 2016), a deficiency that may be associated with increased peritoneal vulnerability due to inadequate cellular stress responses and impaired metabolic and immune competence (Wischmeyer, 2002; Roth, 2008; Kratochwill et al., 2012).

In the present study we tested whether the addition of alanyl-glutamine (AlaGln) to PD fluid influences metabolite concentrations in PD effluents. AlaGln supplementation of PD fluid has already been shown to improve survival of mesothelial cells, boost peritoneal immune-competence and counteract deleterious effects of PD therapy (Kratochwill et al., 2012, 2016; Ferrantelli et al., 2016; Herzog et al., 2017, 2018; Vychytil et al., 2018). The samples used in our current study were from a previously reported randomized controlled cross-over trial testing the safety and efficacy of addition of 8 mM AlaGln to PD fluid during a single 4-h PET dwell (Kratochwill et al., 2016). Consequently, PD fluid supplementation with AlaGln dipeptide resulted in significant increases of alanine and glutamine levels in PD effluent compared to standard PD fluid. These results were confirmed by our targeted metabolomics approach. Except for a minor increase in glycine levels, AlaGln addition did not influence levels of other AAs such as glutamic acid. Glutamine is both the most abundant free amino acid of plasma and classified as conditionally essential. Besides its role in nutrition, glutamine regulates immune cell functions, glucose metabolism and glutathione-mediated redox potential (Curi et al., 2007; Roth, 2008).

AlaGln in PD fluid increased post-dwell PD effluent concentrations of 8 GPLs and one acylcarnitine. In contrast, the long-chain acylcarnitine oleoylcarnitine (C18:1) was decreased in AlaGln-supplemented post-dwell PD effluent. This acylcarnitine has not been significantly associated with CKD progression in the above-mentioned metabolomic studies but has been described as a marker of uremic cardiovascular risk in a large HD cohort (Kalim et al., 2013). The effect of its decrease in PD effluent must await further study.

Reductions of methionine sulfoxide (Met-SO) and the Met-SO-to-methionine ratio were observed in effluents from patients treated with AlaGln-supplemented PD fluid. This reduction by AlaGln was highly significant and independent of time on PD therapy, whereas longer PD vintage per se significantly increased Met-SO. Post-translational methionine sulfoxidation usually leads to impairment or loss of protein function. Met-SO and its ratio to unmodified methionine have been studied as markers of oxidative stress in CKD (Thornalley and Rabbani, 2014; Breit and Weinberger, 2016). The importance of oxidative stress in CKD and PD has been extensively described (Himmelfarb et al., 2002; Ksiazek et al., 2007; D'Apolito et al., 2010; Sung et al., 2013). In healthy controls renal clearance of Met-SO is low, probably reflecting intact systemic metabolism to unmodified methionine by Met-SO reductases. Oxidative stress and generation of Met-SO increase with CKD progression, paralleled by additional accumulation of Met-SO due to loss of renal clearance (Thornalley and Rabbani, 2014; Breit and Weinberger, 2016). Increased free radicals as markers of oxidative stress in PD patients were associated with decline of RRF and with technique failure (Morinaga et al., 2012).

In summary, we have demonstrated the feasibility of targeted metabolomics in minute amounts of PD effluents as a new tool to analyze a wide range of small molecules in a single measurement. The analysis of absolute abundances, of ratios between concentrations at the end and the start of the PET dwell, and comparison to plasma reference concentrations showed that the investigated panel of metabolites associated with multiple metabolic pathways can provide information of potential clinical relevance. This includes assessment of the patient's uremic status and uremia-induced metabolic changes, of dialysis quality, of risk for PD-induced co-morbidities, and of success of therapeutic interventions. The assay shows excellent technical stability and allows comparison of metabolite concentration to external datasets, potentially increasing understanding of PD-related pathomechanisms. The behavior during a PD dwell of several known metabolites was confirmed, and other metabolites previously unknown in PD effluent were discovered to be enriched or associated with PD vintage. PD fluid supplementation with AlaGln in a randomized controlled crossover trial reduced metabolomic markers of oxidative stress, indicating an anti-oxidative effect of the additive. The targeted metabolomics approach might represent a promising tool not only for basic and translational research but eventually also for clinical practice. Further studies will focus on defining metabolomic signatures of known and novel pathomechanisms in larger cohorts and in cohorts with extended PD duration using AlaGln-supplemented PD fluids.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FW analyzed and interpreted the data, and prepared the manuscript. RH performed the clinical trial, analyzed and interpreted the data, and prepared the manuscript. MB performed the clinical trial. AW and DK performed the MS analysis. MU analyzed the data. SA interpreted the data and

critically read the manuscript. AV performed the clinical trial and critically read the manuscript. CA conceived the study, interpreted the data, and critically read the manuscript. KK analyzed and interpreted the data, prepared the manuscript, and conceived the study.

FUNDING

The financial support of the Austrian Federal Ministry of Science, Research and Economy and the National Foundation for Research, Technology and Development is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- Aretz, I., and Meierhofer, D. (2016). Advantages and pitfalls of mass spectrometry based metabolome profiling in systems biology. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17:E632. doi: 10.3390/ijms17050632
- Aufricht, C., Beelen, R., Eberl, M., Fischbach, M., Fraser, D., Jorres, A., et al. (2017). Biomarker research to improve clinical outcomes of peritoneal dialysis: consensus of the European Training and Research in Peritoneal Dialysis (EuTRiPD) network. *Kidney Int.* 92, 824–835. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.037
- Barrios, C., Spector, T. D., and Menni, C. (2016). Blood, urine and faecal metabolite profiles in the study of adult renal disease. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 589, 81–92. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2015.10.006
- Bender, T. O., Bohm, M., Kratochwill, K., Lederhuber, H., Endemann, M., Bidmon, B., et al. (2010). HSP-mediated cytoprotection of mesothelial cells in experimental acute peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 30, 294–299. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00024
- Bode-Boger, S. M., Scalera, F., Kielstein, J. T., Martens-Lobenhoffer, J., Breithardt, G., Fobker, M., et al. (2006). Symmetrical dimethylarginine: a new combined parameter for renal function and extent of coronary artery disease. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 17, 1128–1134. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005101119
- Breit, M., and Weinberger, K. M. (2016). Metabolic biomarkers for chronic kidney disease. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 589, 62–80. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2015.07.018
- Ceballos, I., Chauveau, P., Guerin, V., Bardet, J., Parvy, P., Kamoun, P., et al. (1990). Early alterations of plasma free amino acids in chronic renal failure. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 188, 101–108. doi: 10.1016/0009-8981(90)90154-K
- Choi, J. Y., Yoon, Y. J., Choi, H. J., Park, S. H., Kim, C. D., Kim, I. S., et al. (2011). Dialysis modality-dependent changes in serum metabolites: accumulation of inosine and hypoxanthine in patients on haemodialysis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 1304–1313. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq554
- Cross, J. M., Donald, A., Vallance, P. J., Deanfield, J. E., Woolfson, R. G., and MacAllister, R. J. (2001). Dialysis improves endothelial function in humans. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 16, 1823–1829. doi: 10.1093/ndt/16.9.1823
- Csaicsich, D., Lichtenauer, A. M., Vychytil, A., Kasper, D. C., Herzog, R., Aufricht, C., et al. (2015). Feasibility of metabolomics analysis of dialysate effluents from patients undergoing peritoneal equilibration testing. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 35, 590–592. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00118
- Curi, R., Newsholme, P., Procopio, J., Lagranha, C., Gorjao, R., and Pithon-Curi, T. C. (2007). Glutamine, gene expression, and cell function. *Front. Biosci.* 12, 344–357. doi: 10.2741/2068
- D'Apolito, M., Du, X., Zong, H., Catucci, A., Maiuri, L., Trivisano, T., et al. (2010). Urea-induced ROS generation causes insulin resistance in mice with chronic renal failure. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 203–213. doi: 10.1172/JCI37672
- Dettmer, K., Aronov, P. A., and Hammock, B. D. (2007). Mass spectrometry-based metabolomics. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* 26, 51–78. doi: 10.1002/mas.20108
- Dunn, W. B., Summers, A., Brown, M., Goodacre, R., Lambie, M., Johnson, T., et al. (2012). Proof-of-principle study to detect metabolic changes in peritoneal dialysis effluent in patients who develop encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 2502–2510. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr662
- Duranton, F., Lundin, U., Gayrard, N., Mischak, H., Aparicio, M., Mourad, G., et al. (2014). Plasma and urinary amino acid metabolomic profiling in patients

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all patients and nurses involved in this study. We also thank ARCHIMED Life Science (www.archimedlife.com) for providing the mass spectrometry infrastructure and technical support for the p180 measurements.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2018.01961/full#supplementary-material

with different levels of kidney function. Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 9, 37–45. doi: 10.2215/CJN.06000613

- Ferrantelli, E., Liappas, G., Vila Cuenca, M., Keuning, E. D., Foster, T. L., Vervloet, M. G., et al. (2016). The dipeptide alanyl-glutamine ameliorates peritoneal fibrosis and attenuates IL-17 dependent pathways during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 89, 625–635. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.005
- Goek, O. N., Doring, A., Gieger, C., Heier, M., Koenig, W., Prehn, C., et al. (2012). Serum metabolite concentrations and decreased GFR in the general population. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 60, 197–206. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.01.014
- Goek, O. N., Prehn, C., Sekula, P., Romisch-Margl, W., Doring, A., Gieger, C., et al. (2013). Metabolites associate with kidney function decline and incident chronic kidney disease in the general population. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 28, 2131–2138. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft217
- Guleria, A., Bajpai, N. K., Rawat, A., Khetrapal, C. L., Prasad, N., and Kumar, D. (2014). Metabolite characterisation in peritoneal dialysis effluent using highresolution (1) H and (1) H-(13) C NMR spectroscopy. *Magn. Reson. Chem.* 52, 475–479. doi: 10.1002/mrc.4094
- Herzog, R., Bender, T. O., Vychytil, A., Bialas, K., Aufricht, C., and Kratochwill, K. (2014). Dynamic O-linked N-acetylglucosamine modification of proteins affects stress responses and survival of mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluids. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 25, 2778–2788. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2013101128
- Herzog, R., Boehm, M., Unterwurzacher, M., Wagner, A., Parapatics, K., Majek, P., et al. (2018). Effects of alanyl-glutamine treatment on the peritoneal dialysis effluent proteome reveal pathomechanism-associated molecular signatures. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 17, 516–532. doi: 10.1074/mcp.RA117. 000186
- Herzog, R., Kuster, L., Becker, J., Gluexam, T., Pils, D., Spittler, A., et al. (2017). Functional and transcriptomic characterization of peritoneal immunemodulation by addition of alanyl-glutamine to dialysis fluid. *Sci. Rep.* 7:6229. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-05872-2
- Himmelfarb, J., Stenvinkel, P., Ikizler, T. A., and Hakim, R. M. (2002). The elephant in uremia: oxidant stress as a unifying concept of cardiovascular disease in uremia. *Kidney Int.* 62, 1524–1538. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002. 00600.x
- Kalim, S., Clish, C. B., Wenger, J., Elmariah, S., Yeh, R. W., Deferio, J. J., et al. (2013). A plasma long-chain acylcarnitine predicts cardiovascular mortality in incident dialysis patients. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 2:e000542. doi: 10.1161/JAHA. 113.000542
- Kalim, S., and Rhee, E. P. (2017). An overview of renal metabolomics. *Kidney Int.* 91, 61–69. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.08.021
- Kell, D. B., Brown, M., Davey, H. M., Dunn, W. B., Spasic, I., and Oliver, S. G. (2005). Metabolic footprinting and systems biology: the medium is the message. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 3, 557–565. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1177
- Kerner, J., and Hoppel, C. (2000). Fatty acid import into mitochondria. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1486, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/S1388-1981(00)00044-5
- Kielstein, J. T., Boger, R. H., Bode-Boger, S. M., Schaffer, J., Barbey, M., Koch, K. M., et al. (1999). Asymmetric dimethylarginine plasma concentrations differ in patients with end-stage renal disease: relationship to treatment method and atherosclerotic disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 10, 594–600.

- Kielstein, J. T., Salpeter, S. R., Bode-Boeger, S. M., Cooke, J. P., and Fliser, D. (2006). Symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA) as endogenous marker of renal function– a meta-analysis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 21, 2446–2451. doi: 10.1093/ndt/ gfl292
- Kottgen, A., Raffler, J., Sekula, P., and Kastenmuller, G. (2018). Genome-wide association studies of metabolite concentrations (mGWAS): relevance for nephrology. *Semin. Nephrol.* 38, 151–174. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2018.01. 009
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Gruber, K., Lichtenauer, A. M., Kuster, L., et al. (2016). Addition of alanyl-glutamine to dialysis fluid restores peritoneal cellular stress responses - a first-in-man trial. *PLoS One* 11:e0165045. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165045
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Lichtenauer, A. M., Salzer, E., Lechner, M., et al. (2012). Alanyl-glutamine dipeptide restores the cytoprotective stress proteome of mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluids. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 937–946. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr459
- Ksiazek, K., Breborowicz, A., Jorres, A., and Witowski, J. (2007). Oxidative stress contributes to accelerated development of the senescent phenotype in human peritoneal mesothelial cells exposed to high glucose. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 42, 636–641. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2006.12.002
- Kuehnbaum, N. L., and Britz-McKibbin, P. (2013). New advances in separation science for metabolomics: resolving chemical diversity in a post-genomic era. *Chem. Rev.* 113, 2437–2468. doi: 10.1021/cr300484s
- La Milia, V., Virga, G., Amici, G., Bertoli, S., and Cancarini, G. (2013). Functional assessment of the peritoneal membrane. *J. Nephrol.* 26(Suppl. 21), 120–139.
- Li, P. K., Chow, K. M., Van de Luijtgaarden, M. W., Johnson, D. W., Jager, K. J., Mehrotra, R., et al. (2017). Changes in the worldwide epidemiology of peritoneal dialysis. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 13, 90–103. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.181
- Mai, M., Tonjes, A., Kovacs, P., Stumvoll, M., Fiedler, G. M., and Leichtle, A. B. (2013). Serum levels of acylcarnitines are altered in prediabetic conditions. *PLoS One* 8:e82459. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082459
- Makrecka-Kuka, M., Sevostjanovs, E., Vilks, K., Volska, K., Antone, U., Kuka, J., et al. (2017). Plasma acylcarnitine concentrations reflect the acylcarnitine profile in cardiac tissues. *Sci. Rep.* 7:17528. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-17797-x
- Mamas, M., Dunn, W. B., Neyses, L., and Goodacre, R. (2011). The role of metabolites and metabolomics in clinically applicable biomarkers of disease. *Arch. Toxicol.* 85, 5–17. doi: 10.1007/s00204-010-0609-6
- Mehrotra, R., Devuyst, O., Davies, S. J., and Johnson, D. W. (2016). The current state of peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 3238–3252. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2016010112
- Mittermayer, F., Schaller, G., Pleiner, J., Vychytil, A., Sunder-Plassmann, G., Horl, W. H., et al. (2005). Asymmetrical dimethylarginine plasma concentrations are related to basal nitric oxide release but not endothelium-dependent vasodilation of resistance arteries in peritoneal dialysis patients. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16, 1832–1838. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2004121109
- Morinaga, H., Sugiyama, H., Inoue, T., Takiue, K., Kikumoto, Y., Kitagawa, M., et al. (2012). Effluent free radicals are associated with residual renal function and predict technique failure in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 32, 453–461. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2011.00032
- Mullen, W., Saigusa, D., Abe, T., Adamski, J., and Mischak, H. (2014). Proteomics and metabolomics as tools to unravel novel culprits and mechanisms of uremic toxicity: instrument or hype? *Semin. Nephrol.* 34, 180–190. doi: 10.1016/j. semnephrol.2014.02.009
- Nkuipou-Kenfack, E., Duranton, F., Gayrard, N., Argiles, A., Lundin, U., Weinberger, K. M., et al. (2014). Assessment of metabolomic and proteomic biomarkers in detection and prognosis of progression of renal function in chronic kidney disease. *PLoS One* 9:e96955. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0096955
- Pippias, M., Jager, K. J., Kramer, A., Leivestad, T., Sanchez, M. B., Caskey, F. J., et al. (2016). The changing trends and outcomes in renal replacement therapy: data from the ERA-EDTA Registry. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 31, 831–841. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv327
- Rhee, E. P., Souza, A., Farrell, L., Pollak, M. R., Lewis, G. D., Steele, D. J., et al. (2010). Metabolite profiling identifies markers of uremia. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 21, 1041–1051. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2009111132
- Rossing, K., Mischak, H., Dakna, M., Zurbig, P., Novak, J., Julian, B. A., et al. (2008). Urinary proteomics in diabetes and CKD. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 19, 1283–1290. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007091025

Roth, E. (2008). Nonnutritive effects of glutamine. J. Nutr. 138, 2025S–2031S.

- Shah, V. O., Townsend, R. R., Feldman, H. I., Pappan, K. L., Kensicki, E., and Vander Jagt, D. L. (2013). Plasma metabolomic profiles in different stages of CKD. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 8, 363–370. doi: 10.2215/CJN.05540512
- Siskos, A. P., Jain, P., Romisch-Margl, W., Bennett, M., Achaintre, D., Asad, Y., et al. (2017). Interlaboratory reproducibility of a targeted metabolomics platform for analysis of human serum and plasma. *Anal. Chem.* 89, 656–665. doi: 10.1021/ acs.analchem.6b02930
- Strand, E., Pedersen, E. R., Svingen, G. F., Olsen, T., Bjorndal, B., Karlsson, T., et al. (2017). Serum acylcarnitines and risk of cardiovascular death and acute myocardial infarction in patients with stable angina pectoris. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 6:e003620. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.003620
- Sung, C. C., Hsu, Y. C., Chen, C. C., Lin, Y. F., and Wu, C. C. (2013). Oxidative stress and nucleic acid oxidation in patients with chronic kidney disease. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2013:301982. doi: 10.1155/2013/301982
- Tang, W., Li, M., Lu, X. H., Liu, H. W., and Wang, T. (2014). Phospholipids profiling and outcome of peritoneal dialysis patients. *Biomarkers* 19, 505–508. doi: 10.3109/1354750X.2014.943290
- Thornalley, P. J., and Rabbani, N. (2014). Detection of oxidized and glycated proteins in clinical samples using mass spectrometry-a user's perspective. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1840, 818–829. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.03.025
- Vaidya, V. S., and Bonventre, J. V. (2006). Mechanistic biomarkers for cytotoxic acute kidney injury. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 2, 697–713. doi: 10.1517/ 17425255.2.5.697
- van de Luijtgaarden, M. W., Jager, K. J., Segelmark, M., Pascual, J., Collart, F., Hemke, A. C., et al. (2016). Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA registry over a 20-year period. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 31, 120–128. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv295
- Vanholder, R., Boelaert, J., Glorieux, G., and Eloot, S. (2015). New methods and technologies for measuring uremic toxins and quantifying dialysis adequacy. *Semin. Dial.* 28, 114–124. doi: 10.1111/sdi.12331
- Vychytil, A., Herzog, R., Probst, P., Ribitsch, W., Lhotta, K., Machold-Fabrizii, V., et al. (2018). A randomized controlled trial of alanyl-glutamine supplementation in peritoneal dialysis fluid to assess impact on biomarkers of peritoneal health. *Kidney Int.* 94, 1227–1237. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.08.031
- Wischmeyer, P. E. (2002). Glutamine and heat shock protein expression. *Nutrition* 18, 225–228. doi: 10.1016/S0899-9007(01)00796-1
- Wishart, D. S., Feunang, Y. D., Marcu, A., Guo, A. C., Liang, K., Vazquez-Fresno, R., et al. (2018). HMDB 4.0: the human metabolome database for. 2018. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 46, D608–D617. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1089
- Zhang, D. L., Liu, J., Liu, S., Zhang, Y., and Liu, W. H. (2010). The differences of asymmetric dimethylarginine removal by different dialysis treatments. *Ren. Fail.* 32, 935–940. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2010.502281
- Zhao, Y. Y. (2013). Metabolomics in chronic kidney disease. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 422, 59–69. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2013.03.033

Conflict of Interest Statement: CA is cofounder of Zytoprotec GmbH, a spin-off of the Medical University Vienna that holds the patent "Carbohydrate-based peritoneal dialysis fluid comprising glutamine residue" (International Publication Number: WO 2008/106702 A1). RH, AW, MU, and KK are former employees of Zytoprotec GmbH. AV has received honoraria and travel grants from Baxter and Fresenius (manufacturers of dialysis solutions) unrelated to this trial. DK is CEO of ARCHIMED Life Science.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a past collaboration with the authors.

Copyright © 2019 Wiesenhofer, Herzog, Boehm, Wagner, Unterwurzacher, Kasper, Alper, Vychytil, Aufricht and Kratochwill. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Peritoneal Protein Clearance Is a Function of Local Inflammation and Membrane Area Whereas Systemic Inflammation and Comorbidity Predict Survival of Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Zanzhe Yu¹, Mark Lambie², James Chess³, Andrew Williams³, Jun-Young Do⁴, Nicholas Topley⁵ and Simon J. Davies^{2*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Geoffrey A. Head, Baker Heart and Diabetes Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Jose Manuel Valdivielso, Institut de Recerca Biomedica de Lleida (IRBLleida), Spain Klaus Kratochwill, Medical University of Vienna, Austria

*Correspondence:

Simon J. Davies simonj.davies55@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 18 September 2018 Accepted: 28 January 2019 Published: 18 February 2019

Citation:

Yu Z, Lambie M, Chess J, Williams A, Do J-Y, Topley N and Davies SJ (2019) Peritoneal Protein Clearance Is a Function of Local Inflammation and Membrane Area Whereas Systemic Inflammation and Comorbidity Predict Survival of Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. Front. Physiol. 10:105. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00105 ¹ Renji Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ² Institute of Applied Clinical Science, Keele University, Stoke-on-Trent, United Kingdom, ³ Renal Unit, Morriston Hospital, Abertawe and Bro Morgannwg University Health Board, Swansea, United Kingdom, ⁴ Division of Nephrology, Yeungnam University Hospital, Daegu, South Korea, ⁵ Wales Kidney Research Unit, Division of Infection and Immunity, School of Medicine, Cardiff University, Cardiff, United Kingdom

It is not clear whether the association of increased peritoneal protein clearance (PPCI) with worse survival on peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a consequence of either local or systemic inflammation or indicative of generalized endothelial dysfunction associated with comorbidity. To investigate this we determined the relationship of PPCI to comorbidity, membrane area (equivalent to low molecular weight peritoneal solute transport rate), local and systemic inflammation and hypoalbuminaemia, and for each of these with patient survival. 257 incident patients from three GLOBAL Fluid Study centers were included in this analysis. Clinical profiles were collected at baseline along with a peritoneal equilibration test, 24-h dialysate protein and paired plasma and dialysate cytokine measurements. Although peritoneal protein clearance was associated with increased age and severe comorbidity on univariate analysis, only dialysate IL-6, peritoneal solute transport rate, plasma albumin and cardiac comorbidities (ischaemic heart disease and left ventricular dysfunction) were independent explanatory variables on multivariate analysis. While peritoneal protein clearance and daily peritoneal protein loss were associated with survival in univariate analysis, on multivariate analysis only plasma IL-6, age, residual kidney function, comorbidity, and plasma albumin were independent predictors. Peritoneal protein clearance is primarily a function of peritoneal membrane area and local membrane inflammation. The association with comorbidity and survival is predominantly explained by its inverse relationship to hypoalbuminaemia, especially in diabetics.

Keywords: large pore flux, survival, mortality, hypoalbuminaemia, interleukin-6, peritoneal solute transport rate, peritoneal membrane, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal protein clearance (PPCl) has been shown to relate to comorbidity in several studies (Heaf et al., 2005; Szeto et al., 2005; Johansson and Haraldsson, 2006; Van Biesen et al., 2006; Perl et al., 2009; Sánchez-Villanueva et al., 2009; Balafa et al., 2011) and in many cases to worse survival on peritoneal dialysis (PD). An attractive explanatory hypothesis would be that increased PPCl, due to the increased flow of proteins through the large pore pathway of the peritoneal microvasculature might reflect systemic endothelial barrier dysfunction and thus be a biomarker of vascular comorbidity and worse survival (Figure 1A). However, data from the Netherlands group (Balafa et al., 2011) demonstrated that while baseline peritoneal albumin and protein clearances from a 4 h dwell with 3.86% glucose dialysate were associated with signs of comorbidity there was no measurable effect on patient survival. Thus the potential relationships between PPCl, comorbidity and survival remains to be fully determined, and to date the impact of local peritoneal inflammation has not been studied.

According to the three pore model, PPCl should be proportional to peritoneal solute transport rate (PSTR), given that both large and small pores are located within peritoneal capillaries. Local peritoneal but not systemic inflammation is the main predictor of PSTR at the commencement of dialysis, (Lambie et al., 2013) reflecting small pore area, but could additionally increase protein losses by causing a relative increase in large pore area. The purpose of this analysis was to distinguish between local versus systemic determinants of PPCl and determine how these relate to survival using a subgroup of centers in the Global Fluid Study in which peritoneal protein losses were measured.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This was a subgroup analysis of the GLOBAL Fluid study cohort. A detailed description of the GLOBAL Fluid Study has been published previously (Lambie et al., 2013). In brief, it is an international, multi-center, prospective, observational cohort study where 10 centers from the United Kingdom, Canada, and South Korea sought to enroll all PD patients starting or already on PD between 2002 and 2008, with the only exclusion criterion being lack of informed consent and <18 years of age. For this analysis, three of the ten centers in the GLOBAL Fluid study were included, two in the United Kingdom, one in South Korea, as these centers routinely measured daily dialysate protein losses. All the incident patients in these three centers in the GLOBAL Fluid study during 2002 to 2008 were included. Ethical approval was obtained from the Multi-Center Research Ethics Committee for Wales covering the United Kingdom, and the Kyungpook National University Hospital Ethics Committee for the Korean center. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects and they were followed until their death or the censor date, December, 2011. Two patients using an amino acid based solution were excluded from the analysis as the



effects of this solution on local inflammatory cytokine production are unknown.

Prospective Collection of Routine Clinical Measurements

Samples of dialysate and plasma and extended clinical phenotype were collected prospectively when patients were undergoing routine planned clinical assessments of membrane function within three months of treatment start. The clinical characteristics, including membrane function, PPCl, biochemistry profiles, and comorbidity were estimated locally. Both of the two United Kingdom centers used the original 2.27% PET for the measurement of PSTR (D/P creatinine) and the South Korea center calculated the PSTR based on 4 h result from a 3.86% exchange.

| TABLE 1 | Patient demographic and biochemical | characteristics, peritoneal i | membrane function and systemic a | nd dialysate inflammatory | cytokines by center. |
|---------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------|
| | | | | , , | |

| Center | G05 (n = 77) | G01 (n = 57) | K03 (n = 123) |
|--|------------------|------------------|-------------------|
| Age (yr) | 56.3 ± 15.3 | 57.1 ± 14.3 | 53.3 ± 14.6 |
| Gender (M/F) | 47/30 | 37/20 | 72/51 |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | 27.0 ± 5.4 | 28.2 ± 4.5 | 23.4 ± 2.9 |
| Comorbidity Grade n (%) | | | |
| Low | 23 (29.9%) | 26 (45.6%) | 49(40.0%) |
| Medium | 43 (55.8%) | 27 (47.4%) | 73 (59.2%) |
| High | 11 (14.3%) | 4 (7.0%) | 1 (0.8%) |
| DM (yes/no) | 27/50 | 14/43 | 59/64 |
| Day of PET (day) | 42 ± 20 | 25 ± 19 | 38 ± 14 |
| Alb (g/L) | 35.8 ± 4.2 | 37.6 ± 4.7 | 33.4 ± 5.1 |
| Hgb (g/L) | 11.9 ± 1.5 | 11.4 ± 1.4 | 8.7 ± 2.4 |
| Urine volume (ml) | 1203 ± 785 | 1324 ± 813 | 1027 ± 620 |
| PSTR | 0.77 ± 0.14 | 0.60 ± 0.12 | 0.73 ± 0.10 |
| CAPD/APD | 59/18 | 57/0 | 123/0 |
| Icodextrin (with/without) | 20/57 | 0/57 | 16/107 |
| Bicarbonate buffered solution (with/without) | 2/75 | 28/29 | 21/102 |
| PPCI (ml/day) | 89.9 ± 33.6 | 89.7 ± 46.2 | 95.5 ± 48.3 |
| Dialysate IL-1β AR (pg/min) | O (OO) | 0 (0-2.12) | 0 (0–0.32) |
| Dialysate TNF-α AR (pg/min) | 0 (0–1.78) | 3.30 (1.15–8.64) | 1.69 (0.28–5.62) |
| Dialysate IL-6 AR (pg/min) | 32.9 (8.8–59.6) | 41.7 (23.1–90.6) | 73.9 (30.7–135.0) |
| Dialysate IFN-γ AR (pg/min) | 10.5 (0–46.4) | 0 (0–15.2) | 0 (0–3.3) |
| Plasma IL-1β (pg/ml) | 0.12 (0.06–0.26) | 0.01 (0-0.07) | 0.05 (0-0.21) |
| Plasma TNF-α (pg/ml) | 7.2 (5.7–8.7) | 8.3 (6.7–9.7) | 17.6 (15.4–22.0) |
| Plasma IL-6 (pg/ml) | 1.5 (0.7–2.8) | 0.8 (0.2–2.3) | 2.0 (1.2–3.7) |
| Plasma IFN-γ (pg/ml) | 1.0 (0.4–1.6) | 0.7 (0-2.2) | 2.2 (1.3-4.0) |
| | | | |

BMI, body mass index; PSTR, Peritoneal Solute Transport Rate expressed as dialysate/plasma creatinine at 4 h; PCI, protein clearance; Comorbidity Grade – Davies Comorbidity grade as defined previously(Davies et al., 2002); AR, appearance rate.

Comorbidity was documented according to the externally validated Davies comorbidity score (Davies et al., 2002). Briefly, 7 comorbid domains were considered, including non-cutaneous

TABLE 2A | Univariate associations between PPCI, patient and membrane characteristics, plasma and dialysate inflammatory cytokines.

| | Correlation Coefficient |
|--------------------|-------------------------|
| Age | 0.15 |
| BMI | 0.05 |
| Serum albumin | -0.47 |
| PSTR | 0.44 |
| 24 h urine volume | -0.02 |
| Dialysate IL-1β AR | 0.04 |
| Dialysate TNF-α AR | 0.14 |
| Dialysate IL-6 AR | 0.20 |
| Dialysate IFN-γ AR | 0.04 |
| Plasma IL-1β | 0.02 |
| Plasma TNF-α | 0.06 |
| Plasma IL-6 | 0.13 |
| Plasma IFN-γ | -0.01 |

a, Pearson correlation coefficient for normal distributed variables and Spearman correlation coefficient for non-normal distributed variables. BMI, body mass index; PP, pulse pressure; PSTR, Peritoneal Solute Transport Rate, (4 h dialysate/plasma creatinine); Ccr, creatinine clearance; IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; INF, interferon; AR, appearance rate.

malignancy, ischemic heart disease (IHD), peripheral vascular disease (PVD) (including cerebrovascular and renovascular disease), left ventricular dysfunction (LVD), diabetes mellitus (DM), systemic collagen vascular disease, and 'other' (any other condition known to reduce life expectancy in the general population). The comorbidity score for each patient was defined as the number of these domains affected. The comorbidity grade was then derived from the comorbidity score. Grade 0 (low risk) was a zero score, grade 1 (medium risk) was a score of 1–2, and grade 2 (high risk) a cumulative score of \geq 3.

The peritoneal dialysate protein loss was measured from the collection of 24-h peritoneal dialysate effluent. A validated correction factor was used to calculate PPCI: 24 h dialysate protein loss/(serum albumin/0.4783), (Haraldsson, 1995) and expressed as mL/day.

Sample Analysis

Dialysate and plasma samples were stored locally at -80° C, and were sent to a central laboratory for measurements of IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6 and INF- γ by electrochemiluminescence immune assay using the commercially available Pro-Inflammatory I 4-plex (Meso-Scale Discovery, Gaithersburg, MD, United States). For correlations and comparisons, dialysate appearance rate (AR) of cytokines was calculated from the dialysate concentration divided

| | | PPCI, ml/day mean \pm SD |
|------------------------|---------|----------------------------|
| | | |
| Gender | Male | 96.3 ± 45.5 |
| | Female | 87.4 ± 41.1 |
| Comorbidity grade | Low | 79.4 ± 37.0 |
| | Medium | 99.6 ± 43.1 |
| | High | 109.7 ± 67.0 |
| PD modality | CAPD | 92.4 ± 44.6 |
| | APD | 94.5 ± 33.9 |
| Icodextrin | Without | 90.2 ± 35.5 |
| | With | 92.9 ± 45.1 |
| Biocompatible solution | Without | 88.1 ± 38.5 |
| | With | 93.6 ± 45.1 |
| DM | Without | 85.8 ± 39.59 |
| | With | 103.1 ± 48.12 |
| IHD | Without | 88.46 ± 39.93 |
| | With | 112.24 ± 55.72 |
| LVD | Without | 89.98 ± 40.34 |
| | With | 118.53 ± 66.01 |
| Malignancy | Without | 92.15 ± 43.8 |
| | With | 106.14 ± 46.83 |
| PVD | Without | 91.38 ± 43.86 |
| | With | 101.61 ± 43.43 |
| Collagen disease | Without | 92.69 ± 43.86 |
| | With | 78.86 ± 48.93 |

DM, Diabetes Mellitus; IHD, Ischaemic Heart Disease; LVD, Left Ventricular Dysfunction; PVD, Peripheral Vasculare Disease.

by dwell time. The median intra-assay coefficient of variation was 8.0.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous data were expressed as mean values \pm SD for normally distributed variables; otherwise median (\pm interquartile range) was used unless they could be log₁₀ transformed. One-way ANOVA or Student's *t*-test were used to examine differences in normally distributed continuous data or baseline categorical variables, while Mann-Whitney or Kruskal-Wallis tests were used for non-parametric variables. The relationship between PPCl and continuous variables was examined by Pearson correlation coefficient.

Mixed linear modeling was used to identify the determinants of PPCl with a random intercept for center to account for the observed center effects. Kaplan-Meier plots with log rank tests and Cox regression with robust standard errors were used for survival analysis. Collinearity was assessed using a variation inflation factor of >5 as a pree-specified cutoff to indicate a problem.

Significance was pre-specified for *p*-values <0.05 and 95% confidence intervals not crossing the value for no effect. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 20 (SPSS Inc., Chicago Ill., United States) apart from the mixed linear model, which was performed by MLwin software (Version 2.22, Center for multilevel modeling University of Bristol).

RESULTS

Patient and Membrane Characteristics

A total of 257 patients in the three centers were included in the study. **Table 1** displays the main baseline characteristics. There were significant differences between centers in a variety of variables, including BMI, comorbidity, PSTR, residual renal function and biochemical characteristics and all the plasma and dialysate cytokines levels. The dialysis regime was also different among centers.

Univariate Correlation to PPCI

The univariate correlations between PPCl, patient and membrane characteristics, as well as dialysate and plasma inflammatory cytokines are presented in **Table 2**. PPCl was positively related to age and PSTR (**Figure 2A**). A strong negative correlation was seen between PPCl and serum albumin, which is in part a function of mathematical coupling. No significant difference in PPCl was found according to icodextrin use, biocompatible solution use or modality (CAPD versus APD).

Both dialysate IL-6 appearance rate (AR) and less strongly plasma IL-6 were positively correlated to PPCl (**Figure 2B** and **Table 2**) Dialysate but not plasma TNF- α were related to PPCl. PPCl was associated both with the overall severity of comorbidity, (**Figure 2C**) and with specific comorbidities, namely IHD, DM, and LVD (**Table 2B**).

Multivariate Model for PPCI

To account for clustering by center, a random intercept term was used for center. Gender, age, comorbidity grade, Log₁₀ dialysate IL-6 AR, Log₁₀ plasma IL-6, and PSTR were included in the multivariate model.

With PPCl as the dependent variable, dialysate IL-6 AR, plasma albumin and PSTR were the independent explanatory variables (**Table 3**). Further models substituting specific comorbid domains instead of the overall comorbidity grade showed that IHD and LV dysfunction predicted higher PPCl, but not DM, PVD or other comorbidities (**Supplementary Tables 1, 2**). A sensitivity analysis using daily peritoneal protein loss as an alternative measure to peritoneal protein clearance showed a similar pattern but no correlation to plasma albumin, (**Supplementary Table 4**). Tests for collinearity demonstrated no significant effect, with the highest variance inflation factor of 1.49 for albumin. Variables included in models were selected *a priori*, i.e., on the basis of previous reported associations or biological plausibility, with no statistical criteria used for selection.

Survival Analysis

There were 115 deaths in the 257 patients during a median follow up of 37 months. In the Kaplan-Meier plot, the survival rate was compared between patients with PPCl split by the median value of the whole group. Higher PPCl was shown to be related to worse overall outcome and this was also true for daily peritoneal protein loss (**Figure 3**).

Using Cox regression, in the basic model which also included gender, renal Kt/V, local and systemic inflammation,



the independent predictors of survival were age, renal Kt/V, systemic IL-6, PSTR, and comorbidity. On adding PPCl into the model, the predictive value of PSTR was displaced by a significant association with PPCl. By further adding plasma albumin into the model, the significant prediction

TABLE 3 | Multivariable model for PPCl^a.

| | β | 95% CI | P-value |
|--|-------|--------------|---------|
| PSTR (for each 0.1 increase D/P creatinine) | 11.88 | 7.83–15.93 | <0.001 |
| Dialysate IL6 AR (for each 10 fold increase) | 8.70 | 0.82-16.59 | 0.03 |
| Plasma IL6 (for each 10 fold increase) | 5.55 | -10.05-21.15 | 0.49 |
| Albumin (for each 1g/L increase) | -2.70 | -3.76-1.63 | < 0.001 |
| Age (year) | 0.04 | -0.28-0.35 | 0.82 |
| Male gender | -0.45 | -9.46-8.56 | 0.92 |
| Comorbidity Grade 1 (compared with Grade 0) | 6.72 | -3.05-16.49 | 0.44 |
| Comorbidity Grade 2 (compared with Grade 0) | 10.01 | -9.81-29.83 | |

a, mixed linear model with random intercept for center. PPCI, peritoneal protein clearance; PSTR, peritoneal solute transport rate; AR, appearance rate; IL-6, interleukin-6.

of mortality by PPCl was displaced, with age, renal Kt/V, plasma IL-6, comorbidity grade, and plasma albumin the independent predictors for survival (**Table 4**). Application of the likelihood ratio test confirmed that addition of PPCl to the models confirmed that it was only a significant predictor until plasma albumin, with which it is correlated was added to the model, resulting in an overall better prediction. The lack of association of PPCl with survival was not altered by substituting specific comorbidities into the model (see **Supplementary Table 3**). When daily protein loss was substituted for PPCl in the third model this was not a significant predictor (Hazard Ratio 1.06/g/day, (95%CI 0.96–1.17). A sensitivity analysis including hemoglobin as a covariate made no substantive difference.

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this sub-analysis of the GLOBAL Fluid study was to determine whether PPCl is a consequence of local peritoneal membrane inflammation or a reflection of vascular injury associated with systemic inflammation and comorbidity and, in turn understand how these associate with subsequent patient survival. This is the first time to our knowledge that both local and systemic inflammation, PSTR, PPCl, and comorbid conditions have all been measured at the same time. We demonstrated that PPCl is a function of local inflammation (as reflected by the product of effective membrane area and local dialysate IL-6 appearance rate) and not systemic inflammation in patients commencing PD. The association of comorbidity with PPCl is predominantly explained by the inverse correlation to plasma albumin. This is for several reasons including the reverse acute phase response associated with systemic inflammation, which is in part causal, as a greater protein loss will cause the albumin to drop, but predominantly due to mathematical coupling. The calculation of PPCl has albumin as its denominator which will be depressed



in the presence of systemic inflammation. Thus PPCl is not an independent predictor of survival in this analysis which takes both systemic and local inflammation into account, suggesting that the previously reported associations were not due to an association with systemic inflammation or endothelial barrier dysfunction, as demonstrated in the revised causal diagram, Figure 1B.

Several studies have shown that membrane inflammation is associated with high PSTR, primarily a measure of the effective membrane area in incident patients (van Esch et al., 2004; Hwang

| | Base Model | | Base Model + PPCI | | Base Model + PPCI + Alb | | | | |
|------------------------------------|------------|------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------------|---------|-------|------------|---------|
| | HR | 95%CI | P-value | HR | 95%CI | P-value | HR | 95%CI | P-value |
| Age (per year) | 1.075 | 1.05-1.1 | <0.01 | 1.076 | 1.05-1.1 | <0.01 | 1.077 | 1.05-1.1 | <0.01 |
| Gender (Female) | 1.154 | 0.75-1.77 | 0.51 | 1.179 | 0.76-1.83 | 0.47 | 1.192 | 0.77-1.85 | 0.43 |
| PSTR | 9.912 | 1.8-54.44 | < 0.01 | 3.393 | 0.42-27.26 | 0.25 | 2.681 | 0.36–20 | 0.34 |
| Plasma IL-6 (per 10 fold increase) | 2.397 | 1.18-4.89 | < 0.05 | 2.239 | 1.06-4.71 | <0.05 | 2.201 | 1.08-4.47 | < 0.05 |
| Comorbidity grade 1 | 2.271 | 1.4-3.69 | < 0.01 | 2.063 | 1.26-3.38 | <0.01 | 1.827 | 1.09-3.05 | < 0.05 |
| Comorbidity grade 2 | 7.787 | 3.36-18.04 | < 0.01 | 7.198 | 3.22-16.1 | < 0.01 | 4.933 | 2.07-11.78 | < 0.01 |
| Peritoneal IL-6 AR (per log order) | 1.098 | 0.77-1.56 | 0.6 | 1.047 | 0.72-1.53 | 0.81 | 1.040 | 0.7-1.54 | 0.84 |
| Renal Kt/V (per unit) | 0.614 | 0.42-0.9 | < 0.05 | 0.634 | 0.43-0.93 | <0.05 | 0.658 | 0.46-0.95 | < 0.05 |
| PfopPCI (per ml/min) | | | | 1.005 | 1-1.01 | <0.05 | 1.002 | 1-1.01 | 0.5 |
| Plasma Albumin (per g/l) | | | | | | | 0.924 | 0.87–0.98 | < 0.01 |

TABLE 4 | Cox regression models of patient survival stratified by center - with PPCI and plasma albumin as additional covariates.

PPCI, peritoneal protein clearance; PSTR, peritoneal solute transport rate; AR, appearance rate; IL-6, interleukin-6; HR, hazard ratio, CI, confident interval.

et al., 2009; Lambie et al., 2013). However, until now it has not been clear how this relates to the variability in large pore flux. It is well known that the large pore flux (and thus PPCl) increases dramatically during peritonitis, i.e., in the presence of severe inflammation that includes an influx of neutrophils, but this has been less clear in the context of a stable, non-infected peritoneal cavity. A study in 40 prevalent CAPD patients found that the dialysate appearance of IL-6 correlated with albumin and IgG clearances, which was also related to PSTR at the same time (Pecoits-Filho et al., 2002). It was not clear from this study, however, whether the inflammation associated increase of PPCl was fully explained by an increase in membrane area. Our results indicate that local IL-6 production, increases PPCl not just via increased effective area (PSTR), but also through an increase in the density of large pores leading to a more leaky membrane.

Although the hypothesis that PPCl reflects generalized endothelial dysfunction is attractive, our findings from the multivariate analysis did not support this assumption. We demonstrated that comorbidity was not an independent predictor of PPCl (after controlling for local and systemic inflammation, PSTR and plasma albumin). This is consistent with previous findings in a longitudinal single center cohort study, (Yu et al., 2014) where no significant correlation between PPCl and comorbidity was observed, albeit in a highly selected cohort (restricted to patients on PD for more than 4 years). This longitudinal study also found that PPCl decreases with time for a given membrane area, despite the fact that comorbidity tends to accumulate with time on PD, suggesting that progressive membrane fibrosis is occuring (Yu et al., 2014). Furthermore, detailed analysis of the transcapillary escape rate of albumin, a measure of systemic endothelial barrier dysfunction, found that this was highly abnormal in PD patients, in keeping with an impaired glycocalyx in dialysis patients, (Vlahu et al., 2012) but found no relationship to either systemic inflammation or PPCl. Given that this was a study of prevalent patients who may have acquired membrane fibrosis its interpretation requires caution, but it is nevertheless further evidence that systemic impairment of endothelial barrier function is not a major determinant of PPCl (Yu et al., 2012). PPCl is therefore predominantly a function of peritoneal membrane inflammation and membrane surface area rather than a reflection of systemic endothelial injury.

In addition to the analyses testing our primary hypothesis, we undertook exploratory analyses of the association between different comorbidities and PPCl. Whereas DM was not independently associated with PPCl, this was the case for IHD and LV dysfunction (Supplementary Table 2). The explanation for this is not certain, but we did observe that patients with IHD had greater systemic inflammation [plasma IL-6 IHD 2.40 pg/ml (1.30-4.35) vs. DM 1.86 pg/ml (1.03-3.02)], whereas those with DM had a more marked reduction in plasma albumin. This agrees with the findings of the previously cited single center study, (Yu et al., 2012) incorporating a much wider biomarker profile, which found systemic inflammation was more pronounced in IHD whereas platelet activation and systemic albumin leak (not peritoneal) was more significant in DM, suggesting differential effects according to type of comorbidity on endothelial function. Other factors to be taken into account include the different kinetics of peritoneal protein loss as compared to systemic protein leak on plasma albumin (which can be recycled) and other factors that could theoretically increase peritoneal protein losses such as transcapillary hydrostatic pressure. One of the limitations of the present study is that it may not have been large enough to demonstrate different effects by comorbidity on PPCl and survival.

There were a number of other limitations of our study. Firstly, athough a validated correction factor was used to estimate total protein from serum albumin a direct measurement of total plasma protein may have given different results. It is possible that in extreme systemic inflammation, total serum protein may be underestimated and PPCl overestimated because while albumin is a negative acute-phase protein, other proteins increase in inflammation. Thus, the association between systemic inflammation and PPCl may have been amplified, as it may have been in previous studies. However, this does not alter the conclusions of this study, namely that PPCl is more associated with local than systemic inflammation. Secondly, albumin, the predominant plasma and dialysate protein, is able to pass through small pores (predominantly by convection) as well as large pores (Lindholm et al., 1987). Ideally, a series of proteins at different molecular weights should be measured to precisely dissect out the contribution of the different pore sizes, a procedure that is logistically challenging for a large prospective epidemiological study such as this. Thirdly, proteinuria, another route of protein loss that can affect plasma albumin levels in PD patients, (Gama-Axelsson et al., 2012) would be measured as this may differ by comorbidity. Unfortunately, these measures were not available in this study. Fourthly, a larger study may have been able to show independent effects of more of the covariates on survival; for example a recent study (Mehrotra et al., 2015) of more than 10,000 new patients found a significant association between high solute transport and survival that was not observed here.

Finally, as for all observational studies, we cannot prove causality in the association of peritoneal inflammation with PPCl, although it fits a lot of the Bradford-Hill criteria for causality. Our survival analysis is primarily disproving a causal association suggested by previous studies so this caveat is less relevant. An interventional trial of an agent that turns off intraperitoneal inflammation would be required to investigate causality. The strengths of the present study include the multicenter multinational nature of the study whilst still allowing for clustering by center in the analysis, the large number of patients studied, length of follow up and adjustment for multiple confounding covariates.

Summary

In conclusion, we have shown that PPCl is predominantly determined by peritoneal membrane area and local inflammation. The predictive value of PPCl on survival is mainly through its coupling to hypoalbuminaemia rather than a direct reflection of endothelial injury. PPCl is not a good marker for systemic endothelial function but a reflection of local peritoneal membrane inflammation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZY undertook the primary analysis of the data and wrote the main draft of the paper. ML supervised the data analysis. JC and AW

REFERENCES

- Balafa, O., Halbesma, N., Struijk, D. G., Dekker, F. W., and Krediet, R. T. (2011). Peritoneal albumin and protein losses do not predict outcome in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 6, 561–566. doi: 10.2215/CJN. 05540610
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (2002). Quantifying comorbidity in peritoneal dialysis patients and its relationship to other predictors of survival. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 17, 1085–1092. doi: 10.1093/ ndt/17.6.1085
- Gama-Axelsson, T., Heimburger, O., Stenvinkel, P., Barany, P., Lindholm, B., and Qureshi, A. R. (2012). Serum albumin as predictor of nutritional status in patients with ESRD. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 7, 1446–1453. doi: 10.2215/CJN. 10251011
- Haraldsson, B. (1995). Assessing the peritoneal dialysis capacities of individual patients. *Kidney Int.* 47, 1187–1198. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.169
- Heaf, J. G., Sarac, S., and Afzal, S. (2005). A high peritoneal large pore fluid flux causes hypoalbuminaemia and is a risk factor for death in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 20, 2194–2201. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfi008

recruited the patents from Swansea (United Kingdom center). JC assisted with database development. J-YD recruited patients from the Korean center. NT and SD co-lead the Global Fluid Study. SD recruited patients from the Stoke-on-Trent Center.

FUNDING

ZY was supported by a Dorothy Hodgkin Ph.D. studentship funded by the Medical Research Council and the North Staffordshire Medical Institute.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of Anna-Clare Smith, Kathryn Craig, Maureen Fallon, and Charlotte James in the coordination of the GLOBAL study and the following clinical staff in the centers in coordination of sample and clinical data collection: Hilary Huxtable, SRN (Renal Unit, Morriston Hospital, Swansea, United Kingdom); PD nursing staff of University Hospital of North Staffordshire; Kei-Lim Shin (Yeungnam University Hospital, Daegu, South Korea).

Infrastructure support for the establishment of the GLOBAL fluid study was provided as unrestricted educational grants from the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis and Baxter Healthcare Renal Division, and we are grateful for their continued financial support, including sample analysis (special thanks to Dr. Cliff Holmes). The study was officially endorsed by the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis (www.ispd.org) and by the British Renal Society (www.britishrenal.org).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2019.00105/full#supplementary-material

- Hwang, Y. H., Son, M. J., Yang, J., Kim, K., Chung, W., Joo, K. W., et al. (2009). Effects of interleukin-6 T15A single nucleotide polymorphism on baseline peritoneal solute transport rate in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 29, 81–88.
- Johansson, A. C., and Haraldsson, B. (2006). Physiological properties of the peritoneum in an adult peritoneal dialysis population over a three-year period. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 26, 482–489.
- Lambie, M., Chess, J., Donovan, K. L., Kim, Y. L., Do, J. Y., Lee, H. B., et al. (2013). Independent effects of systemic and peritoneal inflammation on peritoneal dialysis survival. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 24, 2071–2080. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2013030314
- Lindholm, B., Werynski, A., and Bergstrom, J. (1987). Kinetics of peritoneal dialysis with glycerol and glucose as osmotic agents. ASAIO Trans. 33, 19–27.
- Mehrotra, R., Ravel, V., Streja, E., Kuttykrishnan, S., Adams, S. V., Katz, R., et al. (2015). Peritoneal equilibration test and patient outcomes. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 10, 1990–2001. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03470315
- Pecoits-Filho, R., Araújo, M. R., Lindholm, B., Stenvinkel, P., Abensur, H., Romão, J. E. Jr., et al. (2002). Plasma and dialysate IL-6 and VEGF concentrations are

associated with high peritoneal solute transport rate. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 17, 1480–1486. doi: 10.1093/ndt/17.8.1480

- Perl, J., Huckvale, K., Chellar, M., John, B., and Davies, S. J. (2009). Peritoneal protein clearance and not peritoneal membrane transport status predicts survival in a contemporary cohort of peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 4, 1201–1206. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01910309
- Sánchez-Villanueva, R., Bajo, A., Del, Peso G, Fernandez-Reyes, M. J., González, E., Romero, S., et al. (2009). Higher daily peritoneal protein clearance when initiating peritoneal dialysis is independently associated with peripheral arterial disease (PAD): a possible new marker of systemic endothelial dysfunction? *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 24, 1009–1014. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gf n595
- Szeto, C. C., Chow, K. M., Lam, C. W., Cheung, R., Kwan, B. C., Chung, K. Y., et al. (2005). Peritoneal albumin excretion is a strong predictor of cardiovascular events in peritoneal dialysis patients: a prospective cohort study. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 25, 445–452.
- Van Biesen, W., Van der Tol, A., Veys, N., Dequidt, C., Vijt, D., Lameire, N., et al. (2006). The personal dialysis capacity test is superior to the peritoneal equilibration test to discriminate inflammation as the cause of fast transport status in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 1, 269–274. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00820805
- van Esch, S., Zweers, M. M., Jansen, M. A., de Waart, D. R., van Manen, J. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2004). Determinants of peritoneal solute transport rates in newly started nondiabetic peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 24, 554–561.

- Vlahu, C. A., Lemkes, B. A., Struijk, D. G., Koopman, M. G., Krediet, R. T., and Vink, H. (2012). Damage of the endothelial glycocalyx in dialysis patients. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23, 1900–1908. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011121181
- Yu, Z., Lambie, M., and Davies, S. J. (2014). Longitudinal study of small solute transport and peritoneal protein clearance in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 9, 326–334. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04420413
- Yu, Z., Tan, B. K., Dainty, S., Mattey, D. L., and Davies, S. J. (2012). Hypoalbuminaemia, systemic albumin leak and endothelial dysfunction in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 4437–4445. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfs075

Conflict of Interest Statement: ZY, ML, and SD receive research funding from Baxter Healthcare (Clinical Evidence Council).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Yu, Lambie, Chess, Williams, Do, Topley and Davies. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Impact of Glucose Exposure on Outcomes of a Nation-Wide Peritoneal Dialysis Cohort – Results of the BRAZPD II Cohort

Vitor Radunz¹, Roberto Pecoits-Filho¹, Ana Elizabeth Figueiredo², Pasqual Barretti³ and Thyago Proença de Moraes^{1*}

¹ Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde, Escola de Medicina, Curitiba, Brazil, ² Programa de Pós-Graduação em Medicina e Ciências da Saúde (Nefrologia), Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil, ³ Faculdade de Medicina de Botucatu, Universidade Estadual Paulista, Botucatu, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Simon J. Davies, Keele University, United Kingdom Antonio Longo, Università degli Studi di Catania, Italy Ramon Paniagua, Mexican Social Security Institute (IMSS), Mexico

*Correspondence:

Thyago Proença de Moraes thyago.moraes@pucpr.br; thyagomoraes@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 21 August 2018 Accepted: 07 February 2019 Published: 05 March 2019

Citation:

Radunz V, Pecoits-Filho R, Figueiredo AE, Barretti P and de Moraes TP (2019) Impact of Glucose Exposure on Outcomes of a Nation-Wide Peritoneal Dialysis Cohort – Results of the BRAZPD II Cohort. Front. Physiol. 10:150. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00150 **Background:** Data investigating the association of glucose exposure with technique failure and patient survival are limited to retrospective cohorts and was never tested outside Asia and considering the presence of competing risks.

Methods: Prospective multicenter cohort study of incident peritoneal dialysis patients where the association of cumulative glucose exposure in 6, 12, and 24 months with patient survival and technique failure was tested using Cox regression analysis and competing risk analysis.

Results: We analyzed 4367 incident peritoneal dialysis patients with mean age 59.0 ± 15.8 years, 43.9% were diabetics, 46.7% males and 64.4% Caucasians. Glucose exposure was not associated with patient survival independent of the time of exposure and even after adjustments for confounders. In contrast, higher glucose exposure was associated with more technique failure in the Cox and competing risk models. The higher risk for technique failure was found in the subgroup exposed to the higher amount of glucose to a maximum of 86% in the model analyzing cumulative glucose exposure for 1 year.

Conclusion: Glucose exposure was associated with technique failure but not with patient survival.

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, cohort, glucose, membrane, death, ultrafiltration failure

INTRODUCTION

Glucose has long been used as an osmotic agent in peritoneal dialysis (PD) solutions. Over decades, it was responsible to maintain hundreds of thousands of patients with end-stage renal disease alive and with relatively few symptoms (Li et al., 2017). However, glucose absorption during PD has also been implicated in the development of several metabolic and cardiovascular complications (de Moraes and Pecoits-Filho, 2009; Cho et al., 2010; de Moraes et al., 2015) that eventually lead to the description of higher rates of technique failure and mortality in some studies (Wu et al., 2012; Wen et al., 2015).

The negative impact of glucose exposure on solute transport was first described in the Stoke PD Study (Davies et al., 2001). The chronic exposure of the peritoneal membrane to glucose may cause structural and physiological changes that could potentially increase technique failure and mortality. Nevertheless, only a few relatively small studies evaluated the association of glucose exposure with hard outcomes and all in Asian patients. Wu et al. and Wen et al. in two retrospective studies found that higher glucose exposure was associated with technique failure and cardiovascular (CV) mortality (Wu et al., 2012; Wen et al., 2015). The association of patient mortality with glucose exposure are thought to be in part mediated by a negative impact of glucose on carbohydrate metabolism (Li et al., 2013; de Moraes et al., 2015). However, the incidence of obesity, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease differs considerably across countries (Han and Lean, 2016) and no study of our knowledge investigated the association of glucose exposure on patient survival outside Asia.

Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the impact of glucose exposure on patient and technique survival of chronic PD patients of the largest cohort in Latin America.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The BRAZPD II study was a major nation-wide cohort that included patients from December 2004 to January 2011. It collected clinical, demographic and laboratorial data of 9905 adult patients in peritoneal dialysis from 122 centers from all geographic regions across Brazil. This cohort covered around 65% of all PD patients in the country, all of them using standard Baxter[®] solutions, and icodextrin was not available in Brazil. All data were collected monthly using a specific software (PDNet) designed to the study (de Moraes et al., 2014).

Residual renal function (RRF) was classified at patient inclusion in the study as present (>100 ml/day) or absent. Longitudinal data on RRF and membrane profile were not available. The study protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Pontificia Universidade Católica do Paraná (CEP-PUCPR 448) and the National Ethical Committee under the process 25000.187284/2004-01. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Study Population and Outcomes

The inclusion criteria were age > 18 years old and start PD within the recruitment period. There were two events of interest: death for any cause and technique failure. The later was defined as a definite transfer to hemodialysis for any reason.

Glucose Exposure

Glucose exposure was calculated as the product of glucose concentration times the volume of each bag prescribed in a regular dialysis day. For example, in a CAPD patient prescribed with 4 exchanges of glucose 2.5% and 2 l of infusion volume, the glucose exposure would be (4 ml \times 2000 ml) \times 0.025 = 200 g of glucose/24 h. Then we calculated time-average glucose exposure and divided the population in quartiles.

In order to evaluate the impact of the cumulative glucose exposure on outcomes we created 3 models. These models represent 3 subgroups of patients based on the time that they remained on PD and the time-average glucose exposure during this period: patients on Model I, II and III remained on PD for a minimum period of time of 6, 12, and 24 months. The first quartile comprises patients with the lowest glucose exposure whilst the 4th are the patients with the highest glucose exposure (**Figure 1**).

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm SD or median and interquartile range, whilst categorical variables were expressed as frequencies and percentages. Patient survival and technique failure were analyzed by the traditional Cox regression and by the competing risk model as proposed by Fine and Gray. Patients alive at the end of the study were always treated as censored. For a better understanding of how we classified censoring and competing risks for both Cox and Fine and Gray models and for the events mortality and technique failure please see **Table 1**.

We then tested all potential confounders in an univariate analysis (with and without the presence of competing risks) and those that had a *p*-value < 0.10 were selected for the multivariate model. In addition, we also tested all variables selected for the multivariate model for collinearity (**Supplementary Tables S1 and S2**).

Assumptions for proportional hazards and proportional subdistribution hazards were checked with residual plots. Subhazard distribution ratios were calculated as proposed by Fine and Gray. Statistical significance was set at the level of p < 0.05and all analysis performed using the software STATA 14[®].

RESULTS

We analyzed the outcomes of 4367 incident patients in PD that fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Mean age was 59.0 ± 15.8 years, 43.9% were diabetics, 46.7% males and 64.4% were White. The complete demographic and clinical of our patients are reported on **Table 2**. Kaplan Meier curves for patient survival and technique failure by quartiles are shown in **Figure 2**.

Patient Survival

There were 755 deaths, of which 278 were cardiovascular events, 246 sepsis not related to the therapy, 78 related to peritonitis, 60 for stroke, 14 for pulmonary edema, 1 for uremia and 78 unknown. The mortality rate was 8.2 (CI 95% 7.6–8.8) deaths per 1,000 patient-months. Regarding technique failure, peritonitis was the main cause of dropout (n = 319), followed by ultrafiltration failure (n = 85), catheter dysfunction (n = 49), refractory exit-site infection (n = 11) and 46 for other causes.

For patient survival, the variables identified in the univariate analysis to compose the multivariable model were body mass index, age, literacy, race, diabetes, peripheral artery disease,



TABLE 1 | Definition used for censoring, events and competing risks.

| R + A |
|-------|
| R + A |
| |
| |
| |

D, death for any cause; TF, technique failure; T, transplantation; L, loss of follow-up; A, alive at the end of the study; R, recovery of kidney function.

history of previous hemodialysis and presence of residual renal function at baseline. For technique failure only age and history of previous hemodialysis met the criteria for inclusion in the multivariable model.

Glucose exposure was not associated with patient survival in any of the 3 models even after adjustments for confounders: Model 1 (SHR 0.95; CI 95% 0.86–1.06), Model 2 (SHR 0.87; CI 95% 0.75–1.01) and Model 3 (SHR 0.90; CI 95% 0.73–1.11) (**Figure 2**); see **Table 3**.

All models for patient survival were adjusted for body mass index, age, literacy, race, diabetes, peripheral artery disease, TABLE 2 | Clinical and demographic characteristics of the study population.

| Variable | |
|---------------------------------|---------------|
| Age (years) | 59.1 ± 15.8 |
| Body mass index | 24.7 ± 4.7 |
| Coronary artery disease (yes) | 917 (21.0%) |
| Diabetes (yes) | 1,918 (43.9%) |
| Gender (Male) | 2,041 (46.7%) |
| Initial Modality (CAPD)* | 1,938 (44.4%) |
| Literacy (<4 years) | 1,527 (35.0%) |
| Peripheral artery disease (yes) | 884 (20.2%) |
| Pre-dialysis care (yes) | 2,276 (52.1%) |
| Previous hemodialysis (yes) | 1,780 (40.8%) |
| Race (White) | 2,811 (64.4%) |
| Residual renal function (yes) | 2,937 (67.2%) |

*173 patients with missing information.

history of previous hemodialysis and presence of residual renal function at baseline (all these covariates included in the final model for being significantly associated with mortality in the univariate analysis).



TABLE 3 | Multivariate analysis for patient survival.

| | C | ох | FINE AN | D GRAY | |
|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|--|
| Glucose exposure | HR (9 | 5% CI) | HR (95% CI) | | |
| | Univariate | Multivariate | Univariate | Multivariate | |
| Model 1 | | | | | |
| Medium | 1.19 (0.99–1.45) | 1.21 (1.00-1.47) | 1.17 (0.97–1.42) | 1.20 (0.96–1.40) | |
| High | 0.87 (0.70-1.07) | 0.88 (0.67-1.03) | 0.83 (0.68-1.03) | 0.83 (0.61–0.94) | |
| Very high | 1.13 (0.92–1.39) | 1.09 (0.84–1.28) | 1.05 (0.86–1.29) | 1.03 (0.79–1.20) | |
| Model 2 | | | | | |
| Medium | 1.15 (0.90–1.46) | 1.18 (0.91–1.46) | 1.10 (0.87–1.40) | 1.12 (0.86–1.37) | |
| High | 0.82 (0.63-1.06) | 0.85 (0.55-1.25) | 0.76 (0.59–0.98) | 0.78 (0.52–0.88) | |
| Very high | 0.89 (0.69–1.14) | 0.91 (0.66-1.21) | 0.82 (0.64–1.05) | 0.84 (0.63–1.05) | |
| Model 3 | | | | | |
| Medium | 0.85 (0.57-1.27) | 0.89 (0.62-1.29) | 0.80 (0.54-1.19) | 0.89 (0.62–1.29) | |
| High | 0.91 (0.61–1.34) | 1.04 (0.65–1.35) | 0.87 (0.59–1.27) | 0.91 (0.64–1.31) | |
| Very high | 0.88 (0.62–1.24) | 0.91 (0.49–1.14) | 0.83 (0.59–1.16) | 0.86 (0.49–1.04) | |

Adjusted for age, previous hemodialysis, race, literacy, peripheral artery disease, diabetes and baseline residual renal function.

Technique Failure

In contrast to patient survival, glucose exposure was associated with technique failure (**Figure 3**). Models were adjusted for age and history of previous hemodialysis, the only two variables associated with technique failure in the univariate analysis. In addition, the incidence of ultrafiltration failure as the cause of the technique failure doubled comparing patients from the first to the last quartile of glucose exposure (**Figure 4**).

Model I – Glucose Exposure During the First 6 Months of Therapy

The technique failure rate was 5.6 (CI 95% 5.1–6.0) events per 1,000 patient-months. In the Cox regression analysis, patients from the second, third and fourth quartile had, respectively, a hazard ratio of 1.11 (CI 95% 0.86–1.43), 1.38 (CI 95% 1.08–1.77), and 1.46 (CI 95% 1.13–1.88) compared to patients from the first quartile.



FIGURE 3 | Multivariate analysis for patient survival according to the quartiles of glucose exposure. 1st, first quartile; 2nd, second quartile; 3rd, third quartile; 4th, fourth quartile. Reference values available in **Figure 1**. *Model 1*: Time-average glucose exposure for the first 6 months of therapy; *Model 2*: time-average glucose exposure for the first 1 year; *Model 3*: time-average glucose exposure for the first 2 years of peritoneal dialysis.



 TABLE 4 | Multivariate analysis for technique failure.

| | C | ox | Compe | ting risk | |
|------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|
| Glucose exposure | HR (9 | 5% CI) | HR (95% CI) | | |
| | Univariate | Multivariate | Univariate | Multivariate | |
| Model 1 | | | | | |
| Medium | 1.13 (0.87–1.46) | 1.11 (0.84–1.40) | 1.08 (0.84–1.39) | 1.06 (0.80–1.33) | |
| High | 1.36 (1.06–1.75)* | 1.38 (1.09–1.79)* | 1.35 (1.06–1.73)* | 1.37 (1.08–1.77) | |
| Very high | 1.48 (1.15–1.91)* | 1.46 (1.13–1.88)* | 1.41 (1.09–1.81)* | 1.39 (1.08–1.78) | |
| Model 2 | | | | | |
| Medium | 1.42 (1.01–1.98)* | 1.41 (1.05–1.94) | 1.37 (0.98–1.91) | 1.35 (0.98–1.87)* | |
| High | 1.84 (1.34–2.52)* | 1.86 (1.44–2.58)* | 1.84 (1.35–2.51)* | 1.86 (1.27-2.52)* | |
| Very high | 1.64 (1.19–2.24)* | 1.63 (1.24–2.28)* | 1.62 (1.19–2.21)* | 1.61 (1.08-2.22)* | |
| Model 3 | | | | | |
| Medium | 1.76 (1.06–2.92)* | 1.75 (1.05–2.90)* | 1.75 (1.05–2.91)* | 1.75 (1.04–2.95)* | |
| High | 1.53 (0.91–2.58) | 1.60 (0.95–2.69) | 1.50 (0.90–2.52) | 1.55 (0.90-2.60) | |
| Very high | 1.70 (1.07–2.71)* | 1.69 (1.06–2.69)* | 1.69 (1.06–2.67)* | 1.68 (1.04–2.68)* | |

Adjusted for age and history of previous hemodialysis; *p < 0.05.

Model II – Glucose Exposure During the First Year of Therapy

For 2,952 patients that survived for more than a year, 212 were transferred to HD due to unsuccessful treatment of a peritonitis episode, 56 for ultrafiltration failure, 31 for catheter dysfunction, 10 for refractory exit-site infection and 33 for other causes.

Comparing the four groups we found, in the Cox regression, that patients from the second, third and fourth quartile had a higher risk for technique failure compared to patients from the first quartile: 2nd (HR 1.41; CI 95% 1.01–1.96), 3rd (HR 1.86; CI 95% 1.36–2.55), and 4th (HR 1.63; CI 95% 1.19–2.23).

Model III – Glucose Exposure During the First 2 Years of Therapy

There were 1,439 patients with more than 2 years of PD and 158 were transferred to HD. Peritonitis remained as the main cause of TF (n = 97), followed by ultrafiltration failure (n = 23), catheter failure (n = 11), refractory exit-site infection (n = 7) and other causes (n = 20). The number of events was lower in this model but the 2nd (HR 1.74; CI 95% 1.05–2.90) and 4th (HR 1.69; CI 95% 1.06–2.69) quartile remained associated with TF. The 3rd quartile was not statistical significant (HR 1.60; CI 95% 0.95–2.69).



When we considered the presence of competing risks all associations found in the Cox Regression remained significant (**Table 4** and **Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

Peritoneal glucose exposure was first linked to abnormal changes in the peritoneal membrane transport in a cohort of 22 patients treated continuously for 5 years in early 2000s (Davies et al., 2001). These abnormalities cause an increase in the membrane permeability which could lead to a faster absorption of glucose reducing the osmotic power of the PD solution and consequently contributing to technique failure and increased risk of death for fluid overload (Grodstein et al., 1981; Churchill et al., 1998; Szeto et al., 2007). However, only few studies tested in large scale the impact of different levels of peritoneal glucose exposure on technique failure and patient survival (Wen et al., 2015). This is the largest cohort study to test the association of glucose exposure with patient survival and technique failure.

Peritoneal dialysis patients may absorb huge amounts of glucose depending of factors as the patient's membrane transport, dwell time and, mainly, the concentration of glucose in the dialysis solution. In early eighties, Grodstein et al. demonstrated an absorption of up to 350 g per day when CAPD patients were exposed to a high glucose load with 4.25% glucose PD solution (Grodstein et al., 1981). One of the consequences of the chronic exposure to glucose solutions are disturbances in the metabolism of carbohydrate as insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, higher needs of insulin in diabetic patients and even an

elevation in fasting glucose and HbA1C in non-diabetic patients (de Moraes and Pecoits-Filho, 2009; de Moraes et al., 2011; de Moraes et al., 2015).

Higher amounts of glucose are often need for high transporters patients in order to increase ultrafiltration and the increased mortality of this subgroup of patients was in the past attributed at least in part to difficulties in the control of fluid overaload (Churchill et al., 1998). However, when fast transporters are properly managed with short cycles in automated PD such high mortality rates tend to disappear (Yang et al., 2008). The majority of our patients were treated on APD and this may have contributed to our finding of a lack of association between glucose exposure and patient survival. Nevertheless, we didn't capture data on volume status which would be valuable to understand our findings but at the same time very difficult to perform in large cohorts. In addition, we don't have data on cholesterol and HbA1c levels to evaluate their association with glucose exposure. At the same time, it is interesting to note that the majority of studies that investigated the impact of glycaemia or dyslipidemia control in PD patients were unable to found any association in terms of patient survival (Chawla et al., 2010; Baigent et al., 2011).

Finally, glucose exposure was associated to technique failure. The increased risk fora definite transfer to hemodialysis for patients receiving higher intraperitoneal glucose load varied from 36 to 84% depending of the model and subgroup analyzed (**Figure 2**). The progressive increase observed for ultrafiltration failure as the cause of technique failure reinforce the negative impact of the glucose exposure on the peritoneal membrane permeability (**Figure 3**; Fusshoeller, 2008). However, our findings are in contrast to the study of Yang et al. in a cohort of 193 Canadian patients (Yang et al., 2008). This likely reflect differences in the management of volume status, for example the peritoneal equilibration test was not routinely performed in some centers due financial limitations. Of note, icodextrin was not available during the study period and could have helped to improve the management of hypervolemia.

Our study have some limitations including all those related to any cohort study. In addition, the lack of data on peritoneal membrane transport, longitudinal data on residual renal function and other unmeasured confounders including biomarkers of cardiovascular disease should also be taken into account in the interpretation of our results. Nevertheless, this is the largest cohort study to evaluate the association of glucose exposure with technique failure and patient survival. Moreover, both events preclude the occurrence of each other and no previous study of our knowledge considered the presence of competing risks in the investigation of the effect of peritoneal glucose exposure in these outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Baigent, C., Landray, M. J., Reith, C., Emberson, J., Wheeler, D. C., Tomson, C., et al. (2011). The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with simvastatin plus ezetimibe in patients with chronic kidney disease (study of heart and renal protection): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 377, 2181–2192. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60739-3
- Chawla, V., Greene, T., Beck, G. J., Kusek, J. W., Collins, A. J., Sarnak, M. J., et al. (2010). Hyperlipidemia and long-term outcomes in nondiabetic chronic kidney disease. Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 5, 1582–1587. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01450210
- Cho, K. H., Do, J. Y., Park, J. W., and Yoon, K. W. (2010). Effect of icodextrin dialysis solution on body weight and fat accumulation over time in CAPD patients. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 25, 593–599. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp473
- Churchill, D. N., Thorpe, K. E., Nolph, K. D., Keshaviah, P. R., Oreopoulos, D. G., Pagé, D., et al. (1998). Increased peritoneal membrane transport is associated with decreased patient and technique survival for continuous peritoneal dialysis patients. The Canada-USA (CANUSA) peritoneal dialysis study group. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 9, 1285–1292.
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (2001). Peritoneal glucose exposure and changes in membrane solute transport with time on peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 1046–1051.
- de Moraes, T. P., Andreoli, M. C., Canziani, M. E., da Silva, D. R., Caramori, J. C., Ponce, D., et al. (2015). Icodextrin reduces insulin resistance in non-diabetic patients undergoing automated peritoneal dialysis: results of a randomized controlled trial (STARCH). *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 30, 1905–1911. doi: 10. 1093/ndt/gfv247
- de Moraes, T. P., Figueiredo, A. E., de Campos, L. G., Olandoski, M., Barretti, P., Pecoits-Filho, R., et al. (2014). Characterization of the BRAZPD II cohort and description of trends in peritoneal dialysis outcome across time periods. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 34, 714–723. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00282
- de Moraes, T. P., Fortes, P. C., Ribeiro, S. C., Riella, M. C., and Pecoits-Filho, R. (2011). Comparative analysis of lipid and glucose metabolism biomarkers in non-diabetic hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. *J. Bras. Nefrol.* 33, 173–179. doi: 10.1590/S0101-28002011000200009
- de Moraes, T. P., and Pecoits-Filho, R. (2009). Metabolic impact of peritoneal dialysis. Contrib. Nephrol. 163, 117–123. doi: 10.1159/000223789
- Fusshoeller, A. (2008). Histomorphological and functional changes of the peritoneal membrane during long-term peritoneal dialysis. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 23, 19–25. doi: 10.1007/s00467-007-0541-z
- Grodstein, G. P., Blumenkrantz, M. J., Kopple, J. D., Moran, J. K., and Coburn, J. W. (1981). Glucose absorption during continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 19, 564–567. doi: 10.1038/ki.1981.53

In conclusion, peritoneal glucose exposure was not associated with mortality but significantly affected technique failure.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to conception and design of the study and to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version. VR and TPM organized the database. TPM performed the statistical analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2019.00150/full#supplementary-material

- Han, T. S., and Lean, M. E. A. (2016). clinical perspective of obesity, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. JRSM Cardiovasc. Dis. 5:2048004016633371. doi: 10.1177/2048004016633371
- Li, P. K., Chow, K. M., Van de Luijtgaarden, M. W., Johnson, D. W., Jager, K. J., Mehrotra, R., et al. (2017). Changes in the worldwide epidemiology of peritoneal dialysis. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 13, 90–103. doi: 10.1038/nrneph. 2016.181
- Li, P. K., Culleton, B. F., Ariza, A., Do, J. Y., Johnson, D. W., Sanabria, M., et al. (2013). Randomized, controlled trial of glucose-sparing peritoneal dialysis in diabetic patients. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 24, 1889–1900. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2012100987
- Szeto, C. C., Chow, K. M., Kwan, B. C., Chung, K. Y., Leung, C. B., Li, P. K., et al. (2007). New-onset hyperglycemia in nondiabetic chinese patients started on peritoneal dialysis. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 49, 524–532. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2007.01. 018
- Wen, Y., Guo, Q., Yang, X., Wu, X., Feng, S., Tan, J., et al. (2015). High glucose concentrations in peritoneal dialysate are associated with all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 35, 70–77. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00083
- Wu, H. Y., Hung, K. Y., Huang, T. M., Hu, F. C., Peng, Y. S., Huang, J. W., et al. (2012). Safety issues of long-term glucose load in patients on peritoneal dialysis-a 7-year cohort study. *PLoS One* 7:e30337. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0030337
- Yang, X., Fang, W., Bargman, J. M., and Oreopoulos, D. G. (2008). High peritoneal permeability is not associated with higher mortality or technique failure in patients on automated peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 28, 82–92.

Conflict of Interest Statement: RP-F received research grants, consulting fees, and speaker honorarium from Baxter Healthcare. AF, PB, and TPM received consulting fees and speaker honorarium from Baxter Healthcare.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Radunz, Pecoits-Filho, Figueiredo, Barretti and de Moraes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Peritoneal Ultrafiltration in the Long-Term Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure Refractory to Pharmacological Therapy

Ewa Wojtaszek¹, Agnieszka Grzejszczak¹, Stanislaw Niemczyk², Jolanta Malyszko¹ and Joanna Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska^{1*}

¹ Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Internal Diseases, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland, ² Department of Nephrology and Internal Diseases, Military Institute of Medicine, Warsaw, Poland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Anabela Soares Rodrigues, University of Porto, Portugal Sitaramesh Emani, The Ohio State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Joanna Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska jrowinska@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 22 September 2018 Accepted: 07 March 2019 Published: 28 March 2019

Citation:

Wojtaszek E, Grzejszczak A, Niemczyk S, Małyszko J and Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska J (2019) Peritoneal Ultrafiltration in the Long-Term Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure Refractory to Pharmacological Therapy. Front. Physiol. 10:310. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00310 **Introduction:** Despite continuous improvement in the treatment, heart failure (HF) is a growing health problem and a major cause of mortality and morbidity in the world. There is some positive experience with the removal of the fluid excess via peritoneum in those patients, regardless of their renal function. The aim of this single center pilot study was to assess the efficacy of peritoneal ultra filtration (PUF) with a nightly 12-h exchange in the long-term treatment of refractory HF.

Methods: The study included patients with chronic HF resistant to updated HF therapy (pharmacological and devices if applicable), who had experienced at least three hospitalizations due to HF during the preceding year and were disqualified from heart transplantation. All of them were treated with nightly 12-h 7.5% icodextrin exchange.

Results: There were 15 patients (13 men), aged 72 \pm 9 years, with charlson comorbidity index (CCI) 9 \pm 1.2, NYHA class IV (11 patients) or III (4 patients), and eGFR 32 \pm 11 ml/min/1.73m². They were followed up for 24 \pm 8 months (range 12–43, median 26 months). During the 1st year, all patients improved their NYHA functional class from 3.7 \pm 0.5 to 2.6 \pm 0.5; *P* = 0.0005, with stable (34.3 \pm 12.4, and 35.6 \pm 16.5%, respectively) left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), and inferior vena cava (IVC) diameter decreased from 27.8 \pm 2.7 to 24.4 \pm 3.4 mm; *P* = 0.09. Daily diuresis increased from 867 \pm 413 to 1221 \pm 680 ml; *P* = 0.25, while the dose of furosemide could be reduced from 620 \pm 256 to 360 \pm 110 mg/d; *P* = 0.0005, however, the kidney function deteriorated, with eGFR drop from 32 \pm 11 to 25.6 \pm 13 ml/min/1.73m²; *P* = 0.01). HF-related hospitalizations decreased from 8.9 \pm 2.8 days/month to 1.5 \pm 1.2 days/month (*P* = 0.003). Mechanical peritoneal dialysis complications occurred in five patients and infectious complications in four (peritonitis rate 1 per 72 patient-month). Patient survival was 93% at 1 year and 73% at 2 year. Technique survival was 100%.

Conclusion: In patients with refractory HF, PUF with one overnight icodextrin exchange appears to be a promising therapeutic option as an adjunct to pharmacological management of those who are not transplant candidates. It should be emphasized that the treatment can have a great impact on the quality of life and the total costs of treating these patients.

Keywords: chronic progressive heart failure, cardiorenal syndrome, peritoneal ultrafiltration, icodextrin, patient survival, HF-related hospitalizations

INTRODUCTION

Chronic progressive heart failure (HF) is an increasing public health problem of the 21st century and carries a poor prognosis. Paradoxically, improvement in diagnosis and treatment of ischemic heart disease and hypertension results in growing numbers of patients who survive acute cardiovascular events, at the expense of progressive HF, however, It's been estimated that only in Europe more than 10 million people suffer from chronic HF, and approximately 5% of that population have reached the end-stage stadium of the disease, refractory to available therapies (Dickstein et al., 2008; Jessup et al., 2009). For the selected patients a device therapy, surgery and transplantation may be offered, however, many of them are not suitable for these invasive procedures, mainly due to age and coexisting diseases. Survival of such patients is less than 50% at 6 months, and the treatment with many hospitalizations constitutes a remarkable financial burden and confers suffering and a poor quality of life (Dickstein et al., 2008; Damman et al., 2009; Jessup et al., 2009).

The reduced cardiac output and fluid redistribution result in the decreased perfusion of other organs, including kidneys. The compensatory mechanisms such as activation of the sympathetic nervous system, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone (RAA) axis and arginine vasopressin lead to enhanced renal water and sodium retention in an effort to preserve glomerular filtration rate (GFR), but in the long-term these mechanisms are deleterious for both heart and kidneys (Mullens et al., 2009). The coexistence of cardiac and renal dysfunction induces a vicious circle that leads to an aggravation of both pathologies, chronic cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) development, and refractoriness to the treatment with decreased delivery of diuretics to their effector sites in the nephron (Ronco et al., 2008; Damman et al., 2009; Mullens et al., 2009). This spiral results in a further water and salt retention, further decline in cardiac output, and ultimately hypotension, with pulmonary edema and death (Ronco et al., 2008; Mullens et al., 2009).

There is a growing evidence that peritoneal dialysis (PD), with its flexibility in techniques, regimens and solutions, may be a feasible measure for patients with chronic CRS and refractory volume overload (Gotloib et al., 2005; Sánchez et al., 2010; Nuñez et al., 2012; François et al., 2015; Lu et al., 2015; Kazory, 2017). There are two patient groups with chronic CRS who could benefit from PD or PUF: patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and those with preserved significant residual renal function. In the first group PD is needed as a method of not only water but also uremic toxins removal, while in the second one mainly or exclusively for a relief of refractory congestion. The aim of this prospective single center pilot study was to assess the usefulness of PUF with one nightly 12-h icodextrin exchange in the long-term treatment of patients without ESRD with HF refractory to optimal medical therapy disqualified from heart transplantation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

All consecutive patients with severe chronic HF (NYHA class III or IV) who fulfilled the inclusion criteria and were treated with PUF in our unit between January, 2005 and December, 2017 were enrolled into the study. The inclusion criteria were predefined as follows: (1) severe HF refractory to the optimal tolerable medical therapy, according to the current guidelines (maximal tolerable pharmacological therapy and implantable devices - ICD or CRT, if applicable); (2) contradictions for heart transplantation, (3) at least three hospitalizations for HF during last 12 months; (4) written informed consent. The exclusion criteria were: (1) inability of the patient or his assistant to cooperate; (2) presence of reversible causes of congestive HF (modifiable valvular heart disease, possible revascularization in coronary heart disease, hyperthyroidism, anemia, etc.); (3) infectious endocarditis; (4) presence of ESRD, (5) advanced malignant disease; (6) a history of myocardial infarction during last 90 days, myocarditis and pulmonary embolism during last 180 days.

The protocol was reviewed and approved by the Bioethical Committee of Medical University of Warsaw. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Study Protocol

Double-cuff Tenckhoff catheter was implanted surgically under local or general anesthesia depending on an anesthetist's decision. Four patients, before catheter implantation, required extracorporeal ultrafiltration (3–10 sessions, 1–2 L/day) due to massive water overload. All of the subjects were enrolled in a long-term program of PUF, initially with one nightly 12-h 7.5% icodextrin solution exchange. PUF was started with low-fill volume (1000 mL), which was gradually increased to 1500– 2000 mL depending on individual patient's tolerance.

The baseline clinical and laboratory parameters and number of hospitalizations for HF in the preceding year were recorded. During follow-up, patients were evaluated after one, 6 and 12 and 24 months after PUF initiation. Body weight, urine output, eGFR by MDRD formula, NYHA class, hospitalization days, PD complications and adverse events related to the treatment were recorded. Echocardiographic parameters were evaluated every 6 months.

Statistical Analysis

All data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation, median and interquartile range, and percentages, as appropriate. An analysis of differences between proportions was performed by means of Fisher's exact test, and general linear model was used to assess any repeated measurements of the same variable. Peritonitis rates were calculated as episodes per patient-month at risk and hospitalization rates as days per month. Patient survival was analyzed using an actuarial method. A value of P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All calculations were performed using STATISTICA software package (version 12), StatSoft Poland.

RESULTS

Baseline clinical characteristics of the studied group are presented in the **Table 1**.

The time between Tenckhoff catheter placement and PUF commencement (break-in period) was 7.8 \pm 4.0 days (median 8, range from 2 to 15 days). Slightly longer break-in period was noticed in patients with ascitic fluid drainage (8.8 \pm 4.2 days, median 9). Nine (60%) patients were capable for self-care, the others needed assistance for PD procedures. The mean daily peritoneal ultrafiltration achieved with the technique was 927 \pm 143 mL (median 1000 mL; 600–1200 mL).

The patients were followed up for 360 patient-months, mean 24 ± 8 months (median 26; 12–43 months). The treatment with only one overnight icodextrin exchange was continued for 13 ± 6 months (median 11; 7–33 months). The leading reason of the changes in PUF prescription such as increasing the number of manual exchanges or switching the patient to automated PD was the need for more intensive fluid and/or solutes removal. In three cases the causes were non-medical: two patients developed progressive dementia and needed assistance, and one patient due to loss of partner changed to intermittent PD, performed in the hospital three times a week.

During the first 6 months of the treatment a relief in congestion was obtained, with concomitant improvement in sensitivity to furosemide, hence in all patients a switch from intravenous into oral forms and the dose reduction (from 620 \pm 256 to 277 \pm 117 mg/d, P = 0.001) was possible (**Table 2**). Significant increase in urine output (from 867 \pm 413 to 1807 \pm 464 mL/d, P = 0.001), and a mild improvement of eGFR (32 \pm 11 vs. 36.6 \pm 13.8 mL/min/1.73m², P = 0.59) were also noticed. However, during the next months the continuous deterioration of kidney function with urine output reduction was observed (**Table 2**).

During PUF almost all patients improved in their NYHA functional class by at least one. At 6 months there were 11 (73%) patients in NYHA class II and 4 (27%) in NYHA

 TABLE 1 | Baseline clinical characteristics of the study population.

| Parameter | Value |
|---|------------------|
| Age | 72 ± 9 years |
| Vale sex | 87% |
| Charlson comorbidity index | 9 ± 1.2 |
| Type of cardiomyopathy (% of patients): | |
| Ischemic | 47% |
| Valvular | 33% |
| Restrictive | 20% |
| PM or ICD or CRT (% of patients) | 73% (28/36/36%) |
| | |

PM, pacemaker; ICD, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator; CRT, cardiac resynchronization therapy device.

functional class III, at 12 months – 5 (33%) NYHA II, 9 (60%) NYHA III and 1 (7%) NYHA IV (**Table 3**). They also experienced an improvement, or at least stabilization in their LVEF, a decrease in IVC diameter, and a rise of MAP. This allowed for some pharmacological treatment modifications, particularly re-administer or further up-titration ACEi/ARB, mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists and hydrochlorothiazide to maximal tolerated doses (**Table 3**).

PUF Complications

The mechanical complications occurred in five patients. In three cases it was an inguinal hernia, in two of them the surgical repair was performed, with a moderate HF decompensation in a postoperative period surgery, demanding a temporary filling volume decrease in one patient and a switch to automated PD in the other. There were also two cases of exit-site leakage. In one patient with early leakage, the catheter was surgically re-transplanted, and after 3 days of break-in period PUF was restarted in a supine position. In the second patient a simple decrease in filling volume brought the resolution. To prevent infection in patients with exit-site leakage, antibiotic prophylaxis with cephalosporins was used.

Peritonitis was the only infectious complication. Overall five episodes were observed, for an average one episode per 72 patient-months. The mean time to first peritonitis episode was 12.7 ± 6.5 months (median 11 months), and no episode occurred in the 1st days after PUF start. The leading microbiologic etiology agent was Gram positive cocci (3 – coagulase-negative staphylococci, 1 – *Streptococcus salivarius*), and in one case *Escherichia coli*.

The mean hospitalization days related to PUF complications was 4.3 ± 8.3 days per month in the first, and 2.4 ± 4.9 days per month in the 2nd year of PUF.

In the study period, no episode of exit site/tunnel infection occurred. The typical procedures for the exit site care with povidone iodine were used in all patients (ointment with mupirocin is routinely not used in Poland).

Morbidity, expressed as all cause hospitalization days per month decreased significantly after start of PUF (**Table 3**). During the 1st year of PUF only one patient died (a sudden death), and three others died during the 2nd year (two from sepsis, one suddenly).

| TABLE 2 | Kidnev | function. | urine output. | furosemide dose. | and body | weiaht duri | na the f | au wollo |
|---------|--------|-----------|---------------|------------------|----------|-------------|----------|----------|
| | | | | | | | | ee |

| Baseline | 6 months | 12 months | 24 months | P-value |
|-------------------|---|--|--|--|
| 32.0 ± 11.0 | 36.6 ± 13.8 | 25.6 ± 13.0 | $9.0 \pm 13.0^{\$}$ | 0.0001 |
| 867 ± 413 | 1807 ± 464 | 1221 ± 680 | $480 \pm 540^{\$}$ | 0.0003 |
| $620 \pm 256^{*}$ | 277 ± 117** | 360 ± 110** | $182 \pm 192^{**}$ | 0.002 |
| 78.5 ± 5.4 | 70.2 ± 5.3 | 69.0 ± 5.5 | 67.5 ± 5.3 | 0.0001 |
| | Baseline 32.0 ± 11.0 867 ± 413 620 ± 256* 78.5 ± 5.4 | Baseline6 months 32.0 ± 11.0 36.6 ± 13.8 867 ± 413 1807 ± 464 $620 \pm 256^*$ $277 \pm 117^{**}$ 78.5 ± 5.4 70.2 ± 5.3 | Baseline6 months12 months 32.0 ± 11.0 36.6 ± 13.8 25.6 ± 13.0 867 ± 413 1807 ± 464 1221 ± 680 $620 \pm 256^*$ $277 \pm 117^{**}$ $360 \pm 110^{**}$ 78.5 ± 5.4 70.2 ± 5.3 69.0 ± 5.5 | Baseline6 months12 months24 months 32.0 ± 11.0 36.6 ± 13.8 25.6 ± 13.0 $9.0 \pm 13.0^{\circ}$ 867 ± 413 1807 ± 464 1221 ± 680 $480 \pm 540^{\circ}$ $620 \pm 256^{*}$ $277 \pm 117^{**}$ $360 \pm 110^{**}$ $182 \pm 192^{**}$ 78.5 ± 5.4 70.2 ± 5.3 69.0 ± 5.5 67.5 ± 5.3 |

eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; *intravenous route of administration; **oral route of administration; §4 patients became anuric.

TABLE 3 Changes in echocardiographic parameters, MAP, NYHA class, all-cause, and HF-related hospitalizations during the follow-up.

| | Baseline | 6 months | 12 months | 24 months | P-value |
|------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|---------|
| LVEF (%) | 34.3 ± 12.4 | 37.9 ± 10.8 | 35.6 ± 10.7 | 31.7 ± 9.8 | 0.1 |
| IVC diameter (mm) | 27.8 ± 2.7 | 22.4 ± 4.6 | 24.4 ± 3.4 | 26.8 ± 4.0 | 0.0003 |
| MAP (mmHg) | 58.8 ± 11.9 | 75.1 ± 11.0 | 76.0 ± 11.4 | 71.0 ± 11.2 | 0.0002 |
| NYHA class (II/III/IV) | 0/4/11 | 11/4/0 | 5/9/1 | 0/6/3 | - |
| NYHA class (mean \pm SD) | 3.7 ± 0.46 | 2.3 ± 0.46 | 2.6 ± 0.5 | 3.3 ± 0.5 | 0.00006 |
| Medications (% of patients): | | | | | |
| ACEi or ARB | 27% | 73% | 55% | 30% | |
| β-blockers | 87% | 100% | 100% | 90% | |
| MRI | 20% | 80% | 73% | 80% | |
| HCT | 20% | 53% | 45% | 22% | |
| All-cause hospitalizations | 8.9 ± 2.8 | 1.2 ± 1.3 | 2.74 ± 1.4 | 2.57 ± 1.2 | 0.00003 |
| (days/month) | | | | | |
| HF-related hospitalizations | 8.9 ± 2.8 | 0.49 ± 0.8 | 1.48 ± 1.2 | 1.89 ± 0.9 | 0.00003 |
| (days/month) | | | | | |

LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; IVC, inferior vena cava; MAP, mean arterial pressure; NYHA, New York heart association; ACEi, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB, angiotensin II receptor blocker; MRI, mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (spironolactone or eplerenone); HCT, hydrochlorothiazide.

At the end of observation 13 patients (87%) died, 9 (69%) of them survived > 24 months (mean 25.4 \pm 8.0 months, (median 26 months) from the start of PUF. Most of patients died from a worsening of CHF (46%) or suddenly (31%), while 15% from sepsis and 8% from stroke. The technique survival censored for death was very good; 11 patients switched to full dose PD, three died while treated with PUF and one was lost to follow-up after 18 months of the treatment. The cumulative actuarial survival of the study population is presented on **Figure 1**.

DISCUSSION

The suggestion that PUF may offer clinically relevant benefits such as improvement in severe HF is not new. The first report of the successful use of PUF in this population was published in 1949, the second one in 1967 (Schneierson, 1949; Mailloux et al., 1967).

However, although many other studies have been performed since then, all of them were small, mainly of retrospective nature, done in heterogeneous populations, with patient inclusion criteria that were not always clear and with different treatment schedules. In this paper we present the results of an observational single study performed in a small but relatively homogeneous group of patients with refractory CHF and a long-term follow-up, where PUF with a one overnight icodextrin exchange was used as a rescue therapy. To make the group as homogeneous as possible, we excluded from the analysis patients treated with different PD solutions (dextrose based or mixed dextrose and icodextrin) as well as those with ESRD.

The major finding of our study was a spectacular, more than 80% decrease in hospitalization rates (for both the number of admissions and days spent in hospital), observed already after the 1st months of the treatment. This is in accordance with results of other studies, reporting at least 50% reduction in hospital admissions (Gotloib et al., 2005; Nakayama et al., 2010; Sotirakopoulos et al., 2011; Cnossen et al., 2012; Koch et al., 2012; Nuñez et al., 2012; Ruhi et al., 2012; Rizkallah et al., 2013; Bertoli et al., 2014) and with a recently published systematic review (Lu et al., 2015), where this was considered the most significant effect PUF. Such a marked decrease in the number of hospitalizations in our study may be partly due to the fact that in Poland it is not possible to administer iv furosemide in outpatient setting. Although all the patients were critically ill, with congestion depended to very high doses of iv diuretics, most of them started PUF without prior extracorporeal ultrafiltration. In other studies, extracorporeal ultrafiltration (or even hemodialysis) was used obligatorily or at least in selected patients to relief congestion, and some patients started PUF in an outpatient setting (Gotloib et al., 2005; Nakayama et al., 2010; Cnossen et al., 2012; Bertoli et al., 2014). Our observation suggests that most of the patients can safely and effectively initiate PUF without preceding extracorporeal ultrafiltration.



Peritoneal ultrafiltration was associated with a rapid, significant and long-term improvement in clinical status as demonstrated by the reduction in NYHA functional class, a feature observed in most published studies (Gotloib et al., 2005; Nakavama et al., 2010; Sánchez et al., 2010; Sotirakopoulos et al., 2011; Cnossen et al., 2012; Koch et al., 2012; Nuñez et al., 2012; Ruhi et al., 2012; Rizkallah et al., 2013; Bertoli et al., 2014). It was initially related with a significant, but transient improvement in LVEF. Indeed, the removal of excess fluid via ultrafiltration may improve cardiac output due to changes in the Frank-Starling curve, an increased left ventricular diastolic inflow, and an improvement in lung compliance (François et al., 2015; Kazory, 2017); however, only in some studies marked recovery of systolic left ventricular function was observed (Gotloib et al., 2005; Takane et al., 2006), while in others, the change was not significant (Ruhi et al., 2012; Rizkallah et al., 2013; Bertoli et al., 2014). This slow decrease in LVEF observed in our study was well compensated by PUF since the patients remained in better NYHA classes even after 24 months of the therapy, despite the progressive loss of RRF with urine output reduction. Our hypothesis is that an abrupt initial reduction in preload burden and ventricular end-diastolic volume with PUF leads to a significant rise in LVEF and the arterial pressure with better organs perfusion. This can explain a renal function improvement observed during the 1st months of the therapy. However, an increased afterload partially offsets the higher LVEF by rising the end-systolic volume.

In some reports pulmonary artery systolic pressure (PAPs) assessed by echocardiography was performed to evaluate the reduction of congestion after PUF/PD implementation (Nakayama et al., 2010; Sánchez et al., 2010; Koch et al., 2012; Nuñez et al., 2012; Bertoli et al., 2014). In our study, the improvement in volume status after the start of the PUF resulted in decrease in inferior vena cava diameter (IVCd). The measurement of IVCd with an assessment of its respiratory variability was chosen as a parameter to estimate the pressure in the right atrium, one of the non-invasive parameters in the diagnosis of pulmonary hypertension with an independent predictive value (Kalogeropoulos et al., 2014). In addition, it has been confirmed that increased IVC diameter itself identifies HF patients with adverse outcomes (Pellicori et al., 2013). The value of IVCd changes alone as a parameter in indirect assessment of right ventricle function and monitoring the response to PUF therapy warrants further evaluation.

The higher MAP allowed for the pharmacological HF treatment optimization, which in turn, together with a decongestion with PUF, resulted in a significant clinical improvement with the long-term reduction in the NYHA class. Unfortunately, the data on pharmacological treatment are not provided in the available studies.

Peritoneal ultrafilration therapy has also allowed for a restoration of sensitivity to diuretics and a rise in diuresis. It may be due to a better delivery of diuretics to their effector sites in the nephron along with intrarenal decongestion and a decreased stimulation of RAA axis and sympathetic nervous

system (François et al., 2015; Kazory, 2017). Moreover, the controlled drainage of ascites might reduce intra-abdominal pressure, which has been demonstrated to improve renal function in HF (Mullens et al., 2009). The increase in daily diuresis comparable to that observed in our study was reported only by a few authors (Basile et al., 2009; Nakayama et al., 2010), others observed no change (Sánchez et al., 2010; Nuñez et al., 2012; Bertoli et al., 2014) or even its significant drop after 6 months of the treatment (Koch et al., 2012). It may be due to the selection bias, and other factors such as, for example, UF before the start of the PUF. Two studies, one prospective and one retrospective, have suggested that in non-ESRD patients PUF may preserve residual renal function (Nuñez et al., 2012; Bertoli et al., 2014). However, it could be due to a relatively short observation period, in both of them limited to 1 year. We observed a similar effect during the 1st year of the treatment in our patients, but later on their renal function deteriorated quickly and some of them became even anuric, requiring a full dose of dialysis.

Introduction of PUF resulted in effective ultrafiltration approximating 1000 mL/day, which together with augmented urine output resulted in a significant reduction in body weight, similar to described in some (Sotirakopoulos et al., 2011; Cnossen et al., 2012; Nuñez et al., 2012), but not all studies (Nakayama et al., 2010; Sánchez et al., 2010; Bertoli et al., 2014). However, interpreting this finding is difficult. While in the 1st months of the treatment it apparently was related to relief of congestion and improved volume status, in the later period it could as well indicate a progressive malnutrition typical for severe chronic diseases. Therefore, more objective assessment of body composition such as bioimpedance should be employed, as in the study by Gotloib et al. (2005).

It should be stressed that the low all-cause hospitalizations rates (including those related to comorbid conditions and PUF itself) persisted during the entire follow-up, despite a gradual worsening of HF and renal function. One third of studied patients died suddenly, but the quality of their last year of life, spent at home and with less clinical symptoms, seemed to be much better, although not measured by any standardized questionnaire. This huge reduction in hospital admissions, despite the cost of PUF, may also have a marked financial aspect, as shown by Sánchez et al. (2010).

In our study 2-year patient survival rate of 73% was similar, even slightly better than that reported in other studies (Sánchez et al., 2010; Rizkallah et al., 2013; Bertoli et al., 2014). Taking into account the poor prognosis of these patients resulting from HF

REFERENCES

- Basile, C., Chimienti, D., Bruno, A., Cocola, S., Libutti, P., Teutonico, A., et al. (2009). Efficacy of peritoneal dialysis with icodextrin in the long-term treatment of refractory congestive heart failure. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 19, 116–118.
- Bertoli, S. V., Musetti, C., Ciurlino, D., Basile, C., Galli, E., Gambaro, G., et al. (2014). Peritoneal ultrafiltration in refractory heart failure: a cohort study. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 34, 64–70. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00290
- Cnossen, T. T., Kooman, J. P., Krepel, H. P., Konings, C. J. A. M., Uszko-Lencer, N. H. M. K., Leunissen, K. M. L., et al. (2012). Prospective study on clinical

and a high comorbidity burden our data give some hope for an improvement not only in the quality of life but also in survival compared with patients receiving conservative therapies.

We are fully aware of the limitations of our study, being a pilot, single-center, retrospective and observational study with relatively small sample size, therefore the results should be interpreted with caution. However, single center character allows implementation of consistent, standardized approach to the management and surveillance during the treatment of PUF. Moreover, we included all the consecutive patients and followed them for a median of 26 months, much longer than in other studies (Sánchez et al., 2010; Cnossen et al., 2012; Koch et al., 2012; Nuñez et al., 2012; Ruhi et al., 2012). It should be also stressed that to perform study on PD patients always is associated with problems with sample size due to prevalence of this modality among dialyzed patients.

CONCLUSION

Peritoneal ultrafiltration appears to be a reasonable strategy for the treatment of refractory HF as a rescue therapy in patients who are not eligible for heart transplantation when the optimal medical treatment failed. It offers a relevant clinical benefit due to a significant reduction in hospitalization rate, better quality of life, and perhaps even some survival advantage. With the progression of CKD incremental PD can be implemented as a self-care or an assisted procedure. There are many questions that remain unanswered such as when PUF should be considered. Perhaps not randomized, but larger observational clinical trials should be designed and performed to provide more information and establish the best protocol for the management of refractory HF in patients with concomitant chronic kidney disease. Cost-benefit analyses and reimbursement policies should also be implemented.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EW conceived and designed the study, collected of the data, performed the statistical analysis, wrote the manuscript, and prepared its final version. SN designed the study. AG collected the data and analyzed the data. JM-R conceived and designed the study, wrote the manuscript, and prepared its final version. JM wrote the manuscript and prepared its final version. All the authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

effects of renal replacement therapy in treatment-resistant congestive heart failure. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 2794–2799. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr756

- Damman, K., van Deursen, V. M., Navis, G., Voors, A. A., van Veldhuisen, D. J., and Hillege, H. L. (2009). Increased central venous pressure is associated with impaired renal function and mortality in a broad spectrum of patients with cardiovascular disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 53, 582–588. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc. 2008.08.080
- Dickstein, K., Cohen-Solal, A., Filippatos, G., McMurray, J. J., Ponikowski, P., Poole-Wilson, P. A., et al. (2008). ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the task force for the diagnosis

and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 10, 933–989. doi: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2008. 08.005

- François, K., Ronco, C., and Bargman, J. M. (2015). Peritoneal dialysis for chronic congestive heart failure. *Blood Purif.* 40, 45–52. doi: 10.1159/000 430084
- Gotloib, L., Fudin, R., Yakubovich, M., and Vienken, J. (2005). Peritoneal dialysis in refractory end-stage congestive heart failure: a challenge facing a nowin situation. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 20(Suppl. 70), vii32–vii36. doi: 10. 1093/ndt/gfh1105
- Jessup, M., Abraham, W. T., Casey, D. E., Feldman, A. M., Francis, G. S., Ganiats, T. G., et al. (2009). Focus update incorporated into the ACC/AHA 2005 guidelines for the diagnosis and management of heart failure in adults. *Circulation* 2009, 1977–2016.
- Kalogeropoulos, A. P., Siwamogsatham, S., Hayek, S., Li, S., Deka, A., Marti, C. N., et al. (2014). Echocardiographic assessment of pulmonary systolic pressure and outcomes in ambulatory heart failure patients. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 3:e000363. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.113.000363
- Kazory, A. (2017). Fluid overload as a major target in management of cardiorenal syndrome: implications for the practice of peritoneal dialysis. *World J. Nephrol.* 6, 168–175. doi: 10.5527/wjn.v6.i4.168
- Koch, M., Haastert, B., Kohnle, M., Rump, L. C., Kelm, M., Trapp, R., et al. (2012). Peritoneal dialysis relives clinical symptoms and is well tolerated in patients with refractory heart failure and chronic kidney disease. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 14, 530–539. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfs035
- Lu, R., Muciño-Bermejo, M.-J., Ribeiro, L. C., Tonini, E., Estremadoyro, C., Samoni, S., et al. (2015). Peritoneal dialysis in patients with refractory congestive heart failure: a systematic review. *Cardiorenal Med.* 5, 145–156. doi: 10.1159/000380915
- Mailloux, L. U., Swartz, C. D., Onesti, G., Heider, C., Ramirez, O., and Brest, A. N. (1967). Peritoneal dialysis for refractory congestive heart failure. *JAMA* 199, 123–128. doi: 10.1001/jama.1967.0312012 0061007
- Mullens, W., Abrahams, Z., Francis, G. S., Sokos, G., Taylor, D. O., Starling, R. C., et al. (2009). Importance of venous congestion for worsening of renal function in advanced decompensated heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 53, 589–596. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.05.068
- Nakayama, M., Nakano, H., and Nakayama, M. (2010). Novel therapeutic option for refractory heart failure in elderly patients with chronic kidney disease by incremental peritoneal dialysis. J. Cardiol. 55, 49–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2009. 08.003

- Nuñez, J., González, M., Miñana, G., Garcia-Ramón, R., Sanchis, J., Bodí, V., et al. (2012). Continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis as a therapeutic alternative in patients with advanced congestive heart failure. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 14, 540–548. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfs013
- Pellicori, P., Carubelli, V., Zhang, J., Castiello, T., Sherwi, N., Clark, A. L., et al. (2013). IVC diameter in patients with chronic heart failure: relationships and prognostic significance. *JACC Cardiol. Imaging* 6, 16–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg. 2012.08.012
- Rizkallah, J., Sood, M. M., Reslerova, M., Cordova, F., Malik, A., Sathianathan, C., et al. (2013). Reduced hospitalizations in severe, refractory congestive heart failure with peritoneal dialysis: a consecutive case series. *Clin. Nephrol.* 80, 334–341. doi: 10.5414/CN108038
- Ronco, C., Harpio, M., House, A. A., Anavekar, N., and Bellomo, R. (2008). Cardiorenal syndrome. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 52, 1527–1539. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc. 2008.07.051
- Ruhi, C., Koçak, H., and Yavuz, A. (2012). Use of peritoneal ultrafiltration in the elderly refractory congestive heart failure patients. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* 44, 963–969. doi: 10.1007/s11255-012-0147-7
- Sánchez, J. E., Ortega, T., Rodrigues, C., Díaz-Molina, B., Martín, M., Garcia-Cueto, C., et al. (2010). Efficacy of peritoneal ultrafiltration in the treatment of refractory congestive heart failure. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 25, 605–610. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp484
- Schneierson, S. J. (1949). Continuous peritoneal irrigation in the treatment of intractable edema of cardiac origin. Am. J. Med. Sci. 218, 76–79. doi: 10.1097/ 00000441-194907000-00011
- Sotirakopoulos, N. G., Kalogiannidou, I. M., Tersi, M. E., and Mavromatidis, K. S. (2011). Peritoneal dialysis for patients suffering from severe heart failure. *Clin. Nephrol.* 76, 124–129. doi: 10.5414/CN107026
- Takane, H., Nakamoto, H., Arima, H., Shoda, J., Moriwaki, K., Ikeda, N., et al. (2006). Continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis for patients with congestive heart failure. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 22, 141–146.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Wojtaszek, Grzejszczak, Niemczyk, Malyszko and Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Peritoneal Dialysis Vintage and Glucose Exposure but Not Peritonitis Episodes Drive Peritoneal Membrane Transformation During the First Years of PD

Maria Bartosova^{1†}, Betti Schaefer^{1†}, Karel Vondrak², Peter Sallay³, Christina Taylan⁴, Rimante Cerkauskiene⁵, Maria Dzierzega⁶, Gordana Milosevski-Lomic⁷, Rainer Büscher⁸, Ariane Zaloszyc⁹, Philipp Romero¹⁰, Felix Lasitschka¹¹, Bradley A. Warady¹², Franz Schaefer¹, Akos Ujszaszi¹³ and Claus Peter Schmitt^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Peter Margetts, McMaster University, Canada Dirk Struijk, Academic Medical Center (AMC), Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Claus Peter Schmitt clauspeter.schmitt@ med.uni-heidelberg.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 07 January 2019 Accepted: 14 March 2019 Published: 02 April 2019

Citation:

Bartosova M, Schaefer B, Vondrak K, Sallay P, Taylan C, Cerkauskiene R, Dzierzega M, Milosevski-Lomic G, Büscher R, Zaloszyc A, Romero P, Lasitschka F, Warady BA, Schaefer F, Ujszaszi A and Schmitt CP (2019) Peritoneal Dialysis Vintage and Glucose Exposure but Not Peritonitis Episodes Drive Peritoneal Membrane Transformation During the First Years of PD. Front. Physiol. 10:356. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00356 ¹ Center for Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ² Department of Pediatrics, Motol University Hospital, Prague, Czechia, ³ 1st Department of Pediatrics, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary, ⁴ Pediatric Nephrology, Children's and Adolescent's Hospital, University Hospital of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁵ Children's Clinic, Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania, ⁶ Department of Pediatric Emergency, Medicine University Hospital, Polish-American Institute of Pediatrics, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Krakow, Poland, ⁷ Nephrology Department, University Children's Hospital, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁸ Pediatric Nephrology, University Children's Hospital, Essen, Germany, ⁹ Department of Pediatrics 1, Strasbourg University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ¹¹ Department of General Pathology, Institute of Pathology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Germany, ¹² Children's Mercy Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, United States, ¹³ Division of Nephrology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ¹² Children's Mercy Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, United States, ¹³ Division of Nephrology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ¹² Children's Mercy Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, United States, ¹³ Division of Nephrology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ¹⁴ Children's Mercy Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, United States, ¹⁴ Division of Nephrology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ¹⁴ Children's Mercy Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, United States, ¹⁴ Division of Nephrology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ¹⁴ Children's Mercy Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, United States, ¹⁴ Division of Nephrology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg

The impact of peritoneal dialysis (PD) associated peritonitis on peritoneal membrane integrity is incompletely understood. Children are particularly suited to address this question, since they are largely devoid of preexisting tissue damage and life-style related alterations. Within the International Peritoneal Biobank, 85 standardized parietal peritoneal tissue samples were obtained from 82 children on neutral pH PD fluids with low glucose degradation product (GDP) content. 37 patients had a history of peritonitis and 16 of the 37 had two or more episodes. Time interval between tissue sampling and the last peritonitis episode was 9 (4, 36) weeks. Tissue specimen underwent digital imaging and molecular analyses. Patients with and without peritonitis were on PD for 21.0 (12.0, 36.0) and 12.8 (7.3, 27.0) months (p = 0.053), respectively. They did not differ in anthropometric or histomorphometric parameters [mesothelial coverage, submesothelial fibrosis, blood, and lymphatic vascularization, leukocyte, macrophage and activated fibroblast counts, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), podoplanin positivity and vasculopathy]. VEGF and TGF-B induced pSMAD abundance were similar. Similar findings were also obtained after matching for age and PD vintage and a subgroup analysis according to time since last peritonitis (<3, <6, >6 months). In patients with more than 24 months of PD vintage, submesothelial thickness, vessel number per mmm section length and ASMA fibroblast positivity were higher in patients with peritonitis history; only the difference in ASMA positivity persisted in multivariable analyses. While PD duration and EMT were independently associated with submesothelial thickness, and glucose exposure and EMT with peritoneal vessel density in the combined groups, submesothelial thickness was independently associated with

108

EMT in the peritonitis free patients, and with duration of PD in patients with previous peritonitis. This detailed analysis of the peritoneal membrane in pediatric patients on PD with neutral pH, low GDP fluids, does not support the notion of a consistent long-term impact of peritonitis episodes on peritoneal membrane ultrastructure, on inflammatory and fibrotic cell activity and EMT. Peritoneal alterations are mainly driven by PD duration, dialytic glucose exposure, and associated EMT.

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, peritonitis, peritoneal membrane, glucose, glucose degradation products, TGF-B, VEGF, EMT

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) provides a cost effective renal replacement therapy independent of a vascular access, greater individual freedom and at least equal patient outcome within the first years of treatment as compared to hemodialysis (van de Luijtgaarden et al., 2016). It is the preferred dialysis modality in young children and is increasingly applied in adults (Mehrotra et al., 2016). PD fluids, however, expose the peritoneal membrane to glucose concentrations 10-50 fold above physiological concentrations and depending on the manufacturing process, to high amounts of toxic glucose degradation products (GDP), to lactate and an acidic pH in single chamber PD solutions. With extended exposure, the peritoneum undergoes profound transformation, including progressive mesothelial cell loss, submesothelial fibrosis, angiogenesis, and vasculopathy. At the time of PD failure, submesothelial blood and lymphatic vessel number is increased (Williams et al., 2002; Braun et al., 2011). These morphological changes result in a gradual increase in small solute transport rates and loss of ultrafiltration (UF) capacity, requiring exposure to an additional glucose load, which within a vicious circle ultimately results in UF and PD failure (Davies et al., 1998, 2001).

Separation of the glucose from the buffer compound, lactate or bicarbonate, allowed introduction of neutral pH, low GDP fluids and raised hope to prevent long term deterioration of the peritoneal membrane, based on numerous in vitro and experimental in vivo studies (Mortier et al., 2003, 2004, 2005; Grossin et al., 2006; Rippe, 2009; Bajo et al., 2011). Clinical trials revealed higher CA125 effluent concentrations (Haas et al., 2003; Szeto et al., 2007), a putative marker of mesothelial cell viability, and lower hyaluronic acid and procollagen peptide concentrations, suggesting improved peritoneal membrane integrity (Williams et al., 2004). A recent analysis of the peritoneal membrane in children at the time of PD catheter insertion, as well as while on chronic PD with neutral pH, low GDP PD fluids, however, revealed doubling of peritoneal microvascularisation and endothelial exchange area within a few months of PD initiation. These findings independently predicted small solute transport rates. Submesothelial fibrosis progressed less fast (Schaefer et al., 2018). These changes were accompanied by induction of VEGF and TGF-B induced SMAD phosphorylation, by epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), and by inflammatory cell invasion (Schaefer et al., 2018). Lymphatic vessel density and podoplanin positivity - markers

of emerging encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis (Braun et al., 2011) – remained largely unchanged. These findings raised questions regarding the assumption of significantly improved biocompatibility as reflected by better preservation of peritoneal membrane integrity and transport function, with neutral pH, low GDP fluids (Blake, 2018). They also emphasized the need for an in-depth analysis of the underlying pathomechanisms, with an ultimate goal of improving PD efficacy and sustainability.

Peritonitis episodes remain a common complication of PD (Andreoli et al., 1999; Mehrotra et al., 2016) and have independently been associated with poorer technique and patient survival (Davies et al., 1996; Boudville et al., 2012; Ye et al., 2017). In an early study comprising 233 PD patients on acidic, high GDP fluids, single peritonitis episodes had no effect on peritoneal small solute transport and UF, whereas recurrent peritonitis episodes increased the D/P creatinine and reduced the UF capacity. Functional changes correlated with the severity of infection as assessed by the cumulative dialysate leukocyte count (Davies et al., 1996). A more recent study with the same fluid type and close monitoring of transport function after the first peritonitis episode suggested recovery of peritoneal small solute transport within 2 weeks post peritonitis, but only subtotal recovery of UF (Ates et al., 2000). In a cohort of 137 patients treated with both low and high GDP fluids and 92 patients with a history of a single episode of peritonitis, the latter exhibited significantly and persistently increased small solute transport, and decreased large molecule transport and UF rates (van Diepen et al., 2015); subgroup analyses with regard to the PD fluid type were not performed.

Data on the impact of peritonitis on peritoneal membrane ultrastructure are few. In Di Paolo et al. (1986) demonstrated peritonitis associated degeneration of the mesothelium and alterations of the connective tissue, which partly resolved within several months of the peritonitis episode. In rodents, acute peritonitis induced loss of mesothelial cells, EMT, and fibrosis (Katz et al., 2012; Balogh et al., 2015). Peritoneal overexpression of the inflammatory cytokines interleukin 1-beta and TNF-alpha, which are upregulated earliest in patients with acute peritonitis (Zemel et al., 1994), induced VEGF and angiogenesis, increased solute permeability and reduced UF (Margetts et al., 2002). We now provide a detailed analysis of the impact of peritonitis episodes on peritoneal membrane integrity, cellular infiltration, EMT, and key cytokine abundance in children treated with neutral pH, low GDP peritoneal dialysis solutions. Children are largely devoid of preexisting comorbidities such as age and life-style related tissue and vascular alterations, mainly suffer from congenital disorders mostly limited to the kidneys and urinary tract (Harambat et al., 2012) and therefore are particularly positioned to facilitate the study of PD treatment and peritonitis induced changes of the peritoneum.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Biopsy Sampling

Parietal peritoneal biopsy samples from 25 centers were obtained within the scope of the International Pediatric Peritoneal Biobank study. Sampling followed a standardized protocol as described previously (Schaefer et al., 2016). All samples were fixed with needles on cork and instantaneously stored in formalin. After transfer to Heidelberg, parietal tissue samples were embedded in paraffin and underwent immunostaining and digital imaging analysis. Case report forms were provided online via the International Peritoneal Dialysis Network¹ or by mail and entered into the central data base. The protocol was approved by local ethical boards and performed in accordance with the local national Medical Association's professional code of conduct (Landesärztekammer Baden-Württemberg) and the declaration of Helsinki. Oral and written consent was obtained from parents and patients as appropriate. The study was registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov (NCT01893710). Between February 2011 and January 2018, 87 parietal peritoneal samples were obtained from 84 children on neutral pH, low GDP PD fluid (45 with pH 7.4 bicarbonate fluid, 15 with pH 7.0 lactate fluid, 24 with pH 7.4 lactate/bicarbonate fluid). The effect of the low GDP PD treatment on peritoneal membrane integrity and function has been published previously (Schaefer et al., 2018). This analysis focused on the distinct effects of peritonitis episodes. Three patients underwent a repeat biopsy, 2 of whom had experienced a single episode of peritonitis before the first sampling. These biopsies were included in the present analysis. The median patient age was 5.7 (2.7, 13.5) years, and PD vintage was 16.9 (7.3, 36.0) months. Daily dialytic glucose exposure was calculated from the most recent, stable PD regime. Two patients with candida peritonitis were excluded from the analysis.

Immunostaining

All specimens underwent hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) and acid fuchsin orange (AFOG) staining according to standard protocols. Immunostaining was performed with the following antibodies: calretinine, podoplanin (D2-40), CD31, CD45, CD68, ASMA (alpha smooth muscle actin), FSP-1, and cytokeratin. All slides were scanned using Nanozoomer Digital pathology system and analyzed by digital microscopy using Aperio Image Scope version 11. Mesothelial cells integrity was assessed on H&E, calretinine, and podoplanin stained slides and quantified in a semi-quantitative way (0 = no cells present, 1 = 1-24% of the surface covered, 2 = 25-49%of the surface covered, 3 = 50% of cells present, 4 = 51-75%, 5 = 76-95%, 6 = complete coverage). Submesothelial thickness was measured on H&E and CD31 stained slides on at least five different points. Vessels were stained by CD31, lymphatic vessels by D2-40. Quantification was performed by Microvessel algorithm (Aperio Precision Image Analysis), to calculate the number of blood vessels; podoplanin positive lymphatics were subtracted from the CD31 positive vessels (stains both, blood, and lymphatic vessels). Submesothelial microvessel number/mm was calculated as absolute number of vessels in the submesothelial area per 1 mm length of surface peritoneum. Vasculopathy was quantitated as described previously (Honda et al., 2008; Schaefer et al., 2018). Endothelial surface area relative to peritoneal volume was calculated for the total vessel density, blood vessel density, and lymphatic vessel density in a following way: the endoluminal perimeter of CD31/podoplanin stained endothelium *section thickness *number of vessels divided by the analyzed peritoneal area *section thickness ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$). ASMA positivity and CD45 lymphocyte and CD68 macrophage infiltration was quantified in a semi-quantitative way (0-3 score). AFOG stained slides were evaluated for fibrin deposits. EMT cells were determined as previously described using calretinin staining (Yanez-Mo et al., 2003) and findings reconfirmed by cytokeratin and FSP1 co-staining.

Statistics

Data distribution was assessed graphically and by Shapiro-Wilk test. Data are presented as median with interquartile range (IQR). To assess the differences between the groups, ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis test were used based on the data distribution. Because of the low sample size, matching by the coarsened exact matching method (Blackwell et al., 2009) was performed for age, PD duration and glucose exposure. The exposure variable was history of peritonitis. Patients without peritonitis were matched to patients with any positive number of previous peritonitis episode. Multivariable linear regression analyses in a forward entry, starting with a univariate analyses were performed to test the PD characteristics with the peritoneal morphology in patients with and without peritonitis; log transformation was performed in case of unequal data distribution. Analyses were performed by STATA13 software (StataCorp, College Station, TX, United States), two-sided tests were performed.

RESULTS

Patient Population

Out of 82 patients included in the analysis, 37 patients had a history of peritonitis, and 16 out of the 37 had two or more peritonitis episodes. Time interval between the last peritonitis episode and tissue sampling was 9 (4, 36) weeks. The organisms causing peritonitis were *Staphylococcus (aureus, warneri)*, *Enterococcus faecalis, Brevundimonas vesicularis, Enterobacter (cloacae, asburiae), Haemophilus influenzae, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Escherichia coli, Streptococcus pyogenes,* and *Pseudomonas (stutzeri* and *aeruginosa).* In seven episodes the dialysate culture remained negative and in three episodes

¹www.pedpd.org

TABLE 1 | Patient and PD treatment characteristics and blood biochemistry at time of biopsy.

| | No peritonitis | Previous peritonitis | <i>p</i> -value |
|--|-------------------|----------------------|-----------------|
| Patients (n) | 47 | 38 | |
| Age (years) | 6.2 (2.7, 11.8) | 5.3 (2.4, 13.5) | 0.87 |
| Gender (% female) | 48% | 44% | 0.75 |
| BSA (m ²) | 0.8 (0.5, 1.1) | 0.8 (0.5, 1.4) | 0.57 |
| PD duration (months) | 12.8 (7.3, 27.0) | 21.0 (12.0, 36.0) | 0.053 |
| Glucose exposure (g/m ² /day) | 100 (91, 160) | 105 (95, 127) | 0.75 |
| Urine output (ml/24 h) | 800 (213, 1225) | 500 (150, 1100) | 0.51 |
| Anuric (%) | 19 | 39 | 0.064 |
| Creatinine (mg/dl) | 8 (4.2, 11.27) | 5.05 (3.34, 8.61) | 0.22 |
| Albumin (g/l) | 37 (34, 40) | 35 (31, 41) | 0.51 |
| BUN (mg/dl) | 57 (38, 67) | 42 (21, 57) | 0.09 |
| Hemoglobin (g/dl) | 10.2 (9.4, 11.5) | 10.8 (9.5, 11.7) | 0.66 |
| Calcium (mmol/l) | 2.4 (2.35, 2.5) | 2.4 (2.3, 2.5) | 0.33 |
| Phosphorus (mmol/l) | 1.73 (1.44, 2.05) | 1.65 (1.38, 1.93) | 0.53 |
| PTH (pmol/l) | 18.3 (12.5, 42.9) | 21.4 (10.3, 40.5) | 0.75 |
| Bicarbonate (mmol/I) | 24 (21, 26) | 23 (21, 27) | 0.96 |

BSA, Body surface area; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; PTH, Parathyroid hormone.

TABLE 2 | Characteristics and morphological findings of the patients treated with low GDP PD with and without history of peritonitis.

| | No peritonitis | Previous peritonitis | p-value |
|--|-------------------|----------------------|---------|
| Tissue samples (n) | 47 | 38 | |
| Mesothel absent | 42% | 43% | 0.87 |
| Mesothel score (0–6) | 1.5 (0, 3.5) | 1 (0, 3) | 0.33 |
| Submesothelial thickness (µm) | 352 (264, 475) | 419 (264, 550) | 0.49 |
| Microvessel density (/mm ²) | 184 (112, 325) | 169 (102, 251) | 0.50 |
| Submesothelial microvessel number (/mm) | 60 (33, 138) | 80 (30, 115) | 0.60 |
| Lymphatic vessel density (/mm ²) | 24 (12, 48) | 29 (21, 43) | 0.49 |
| Diffuse podoplanin staining | 25% | 26% | 0.94 |
| Blood cap. vessel density (/mm ²) | 176 (74, 270) | 143 (66, 266) | 0.52 |
| Total endothelial surface area ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$) | 10.0 (7.0, 18.3) | 9.6 (5.7, 13.3) | 0.35 |
| Lym. endothelial surface area ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$) | 1.9 (0.9, 4.2) | 2.0 (1.3, 3.6) | 0.75 |
| Blood cap. end. surface area $(\mu m^2/\mu m^3)$ | 8.1 (5.4, 12.9) | 6.8 (2.1, 13.0) | 0.25 |
| L/V ratio | 0.4 (0.2, 0.5) | 0.4 (0.3, 0.5) | 0.76 |
| ASMA positivity (%) | 47% | 59% | 0.27 |
| ASMA score (0–3) | 0(0,1) | 1 (0, 2) | 0.081 |
| CD45 positivity (%) | 66% | 65% | 0.97 |
| CD45 score (0-3) | 1 (0, 2) | 1 (0, 2) | 0.075 |
| CD68 positivity (%) | 60% | 70% | 0.18 |
| CD68 score (0–3) | 1 (0, 1.5) | 1 (0, 2) | 0.075 |
| Fibrine positivity (%) | 21% | 22% | 0.93 |
| EMT presence | 33% | 41% | 0.49 |
| EMT (cells/mm ²)* | 30.0 (15.0, 79.6) | 18.0 (5.0, 60.3) | 0.22 |
| VEGF (% submesothelial area) | 33.6 (17.6, 57.0) | 32.4 (20.3, 42.9) | 0.35 |
| pSMAD (% submesothelial area) | 14.2 (5.4, 27.0) | 20.6 (8.7, 28.6) | 0.19 |

Cap., capillary; end., endothelial; submes., submesothelial; lym., lymphatic; L/V ratio, lumen diameter/vessel ratio; ASMA, alpha smooth muscle actin; EMT, epithelial to mesenchymal transition. VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor. * Only cell scores from EMT positive patients included.

the organism was not reported. Patient and PD treatment characteristics are given in **Table 1**. At the time of biopsy, the PD vintage was 8 months shorter in the peritonitis free patients, while dialytic glucose exposure and anthropometric parameters were similar in both groups.

Histological Findings

Despite a longer PD duration, patients with a history of peritonitis did not differ in any of the histomorphometric parameters from peritonitis free patients (**Table 2**). The extent of mesothelial cell loss, submesothelial fibrosis and

hypervascularization (i.e., blood and lymphatic vessel density per mm² peritoneal surface area and per mm submesothelial tissue section length) were comparable, as were the respective endothelial surface areas available for peritoneal fluid and solute transport. Both patients groups had a similar lumen over vessel ratio. This L/V ratio was lower as previously reported for children with normal renal function and children with CKD5 (Schaefer et al., 2018), i.e., the PD patients exhibited significant peritoneal vasculopathy. The relative proportion of patients with ASMA positive, activated submesothelial fibroblasts, CD45 positive leukocytes, and CD68 positive macrophages were comparable, the differences in respective semiquantitative cell scores did not reach statistical significance in unadjusted and multivariable adjusted models (Table 2 and Supplementary Table S1). EMT cells, key cells in the peritoneal transformation process, and key cytokines associated with peritoneal angiogenesis, VEGF, and with fibrosis, TGF-ß induced pSMAD, were not different in the two groups.

After matching groups for age, PD duration and PD related daily glucose exposure and age, all 23 histomorphometric, cellular, and inflammatory parameters were comparable (**Table 3**).

To account for potential temporal differences, a subgroup analysis was performed according to the time since last peritonitis (<3, <6, >6 months), and again, all findings were comparable in both groups.

When stratifying patients according to the number of peritonitis episodes experienced, the mesothelium was significantly less well preserved in patients with two and more peritonitis episodes and the L/V ratio (e.g., vasculopathy) was more severe (**Table 4**). These patients, however, were on PD for a longer period of time and the difference did not persist in multivariable analysis when PD duration was included as an independent variable (**Supplementary Table S2b**).

Patients who have been on PD for at least 24 months and had a history of peritonitis had a higher submesothelial thickness and a higher number of vessels per mm section

TABLE 3 Comparisons of age, PD-vintage and dialytic glucose exposure matched low GDP PD patients with and without history of peritonitis.

| | No peritonitis | Previous peritonitis | <i>p</i> -value |
|--|-------------------|----------------------|-----------------|
| Patients (n) | 24 | 24 | |
| Age (years) | 4.0 (1.8, 9.4) | 3.3 (1.5, 10.1) | 0.71 |
| Gender (% female) | 46% | 58% | 0.39 |
| BSA (m ²) | 0.6 (0.4, 1.2) | 0.6 (0.5, 1.0) | 0.88 |
| Urine output (ml/24 h) | 1050 (400, 1425) | 500 (300, 1100) | 0.45 |
| Anuric (%) | 29 | 47 | 0.27 |
| PD duration (months)* | 11.3 (8.5, 21.4) | 12.0 (8.5, 22.4) | 0.66 |
| Glucose exposure (g/m²/day) | 97 (89, 132) | 100 (85, 108) | 0.64 |
| Mesothel absent | 46% | 38% | 0.53 |
| Mesothel score (0–6) | 0.5 (0.0, 3.5) | 1.0 (0.0, 3.0) | 0.91 |
| Submesothelial thickness (µm) | 304 (200, 358) | 413 (250, 500) | 0.24 |
| Microvessel density (/mm ²) | 200 (107, 325) | 170 (97, 318) | 0.82 |
| Submesothelial microvessel number (/mm) | 59 (32, 75) | 82 (30, 116) | 0.21 |
| Lymphatic vessel density (/mm ²) | 39 (23, 56) | 33 (22, 46) | 0.41 |
| Diffuse podoplanin staining | 33% | 23% | 0.42 |
| Blood cap. vessel density (/mm ²) | 176 (71, 328) | 139 (66, 362) | 0.72 |
| Total endothelial surface area ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$) | 10.0 (7.7, 19.0) | 10.2 (5.9, 16.4) | 0.82 |
| Lym. endothelial surface area ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$) | 3.4 (1.8, 5.7) | 2.6 (1.3, 4.4) | 0.30 |
| Blood cap. end. surface area $(\mu m^2/\mu m^3)$ | 8.0 (4.1, 12.8) | 6.7 (3.3, 15.7) | 0.89 |
| L/V ratio | 0.4 (0.2, 0.5) | 0.4 (0.3, 0.5) | 0.28 |
| ASMA positivity (%) | 54% | 58% | 0.77 |
| ASMA score (0–3) | 1 (0, 1) | 1 (0, 2) | 0.55 |
| CD45 positivity (%) | 83% | 71% | 0.30 |
| CD45 score (0–3) | 1 (1, 1.5) | 1 (0, 2) | 0.89 |
| CD68 positivity (%) | 67% | 79% | 0.33 |
| CD68 score (0–3) | 1 (0, 1.5) | 2(1,2) | 0.11 |
| Fibrine positivity (%) | 25% | 25% | 1.00 |
| EMT presence | 46% | 42% | 0.77 |
| EMT (cells/mm ²)** | 49 (20, 198) | 21 (8, 65) | 0.34 |
| VEGF (% submes. area) | 32.2 (19.2, 63.1) | 35.0 (20.3, 51.1) | 0.50 |
| pSMAD (% submes. area) | 18.1 (6.2, 29.1) | 20.3 (7.3, 26.7) | 0.65 |

Cap., capillary; end., endothelial; submes., submesothelial; lym., lymphatic; L/V ratio, lumen diameter/vessel ratio; ASMA, alpha smooth muscle actin; EMT, epithelial to mesenchymal transition. VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor. *At time of biopsy. **Only cell scores from EMT positive patients included.

| TABLE 4 | Comparisons of | f PD patient | s according to | the number of | previous | peritonitis e | pisodes |
|---------|------------------|---------------|----------------|---------------|----------|---------------|---------|
| IADEE 4 | 0011104130113 01 | i i D pationi | s according to | | provious | pontonitio c | pioouoc |

| | No peritonitis | 1 peritonitis | \geq 2 peritonitis | <i>p</i> -value |
|--|---------------------|---------------------|----------------------|-----------------|
| Tissue samples (n) | 47 | 22 | 16 | |
| Age (years) | 6.1 (2.6, 11.3) | 6.2 (1.6, 16.4) | 6.7 (3.1, 13.2) | 0.96 |
| Gender (% female) | 46% | 55% | 38% | 0.58 |
| BSA (m ²) | 0.8 (0.5, 1.1) | 0.9 (0.5, 1.5) | 0.8 (0.6, 1.1) | 0.74 |
| PD duration (months)* | 12.4 (7.3, 24.5) | 13.8 (9.0, 26.0) | 32.9 (21.0, 70.0) | 0.018 |
| Glucose exposure (g/m ² /day) | 99.7 (91.6, 177.6) | 101.8 (96.3, 117.1) | 111.9 (94.8, 153.8) | 0.62 |
| Mesothel absent | 39% | 27% | 71% | 0.037 |
| Mesothel score (0–6) | 1.5 (0.0, 4.0) | 2.0 (0.0, 3.0) | 0.0 (0.0, 1.0) | 0.045 |
| Submesothelial thickness (µm) | 352 (258, 450) | 305.3 (267, 500) | 510 (300.2, 767.3) | 0.21 |
| Microvessel density (/ mm ²) | 194 (115, 336) | 159 (95, 211) | 192 (150, 271) | 0.15 |
| Microvessel number (/mm) | 61.3 (32.8, 155, 3) | 50.4 (27, 82.1) | 96.2 (79.9, 179, 4) | 0.059 |
| Lymphatic vessel density (/mm ²) | 24.4 (12.0, 48.2) | 22.7 (18.5, 35.4) | 33.3 (28.3, 46.3) | 0.44 |
| Diffuse podoplanin staining | 22% | 30% | 29% | 0.71 |
| Blood cap. vessel density (/mm ²) | 175.7 (74.1, 269.5) | 128.6 (63.2, 190.0) | 188.1 (123.9, 406.2) | 0.32 |
| Total end. surface area $(\mu m^2/\mu m^3)$ | 10.1 (7.4, 18.7) | 9.0 (5.2, 11.8) | 10.2 (8.5, 15.5) | 0.17 |
| Lymphatic end. surface area $(\mu m^2/\mu m^3)$ | 1.9 (0.9, 4.2) | 1.7 (1.2, 3.7) | 2.5 (1.6, 2.9) | 0.94 |
| Blood cap. end. surface area ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$) | 8.1 (5.4, 12.9) | 4.6 (2.1, 8.9) | 7.7 (4.0, 15.7) | 0.20 |
| L/V ratio | 0.4 (0.3, 0.5) | 0.5 (0.4, 0.5) | 0.3 (0.2, 0.4) | 0.018 |
| ASMA positivity (%) | 48% | 59% | 53% | 0.68 |
| ASMA score (0–3) | 0.0 (1.0, 1.0) | 1.0 (0.0, 2.0) | 1.0 (0.0, 3.0) | 0.42 |
| CD45 positivity (%) | 67% | 68% | 65% | 0.97 |
| CD45 score (0-3) | 1.0 (0.0, 2.0) | 1.5 (1.0, 2.0) | 1.0 (0.0, 2.0) | 0.76 |
| CD68 positivity (%) | 57% | 77% | 65% | 0.25 |
| CD68 score (0-3) | 1.0 (0.0, 2.0) | 1.5 (1.0, 2.0) | 1.0 (0.0, 2.0) | 0.15 |
| Fibrine positivity (%) | 22% | 18% | 24% | 0.91 |
| EMT presence | 33% | 41% | 41% | 0.72 |
| EMT (cells/mm ²)** | 35.0 (10.0, 95.0) | 23.0 (6.1, 45.3) | 15.0 (1.0, 60.3) | 0.45 |
| VEGF (% submes. area) | 33.6 (17.6, 57.0) | 33.3 (20.3, 42.2) | 28.7 (21.1, 49.5) | 0.64 |
| pSMAD (% submes. area) | 15.3 (5.8, 27) | 13.6 (6.6, 26.2) | 25.8 (12.2, 33.6) | 0.068 |

Cap., capillary; end., endothelial; submes., submesothelial. L/V ratio, lumen diameter/vessel ratio; ASMA, alpha smooth muscle actin; EMT, epithelial to mesenchymal transition. VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor. *At time of biopsy. **Only cell scores from EMT positive patients included.

length, but did not differ in the vessel density per section area compared to patients with a similar dialysis vintage and no history of peritonitis (**Table 5**). They were also more likely to have activated ASMA positive submesothelial fibroblasts compared to peritonitis free patients. In multivariable analyses, adjusting for PD duration and glucose exposure, the difference in ASMA positivity remained significant (p = 0.012).

In multivariable analyses comprised of data from all biopsies and after adjusting for age, previous peritonitis, dialytic glucose exposure, PD duration and presence of EMT, submesothelial thickness was independently associated with PD duration and the presence of EMT (p = 0.002/0.036). Glucose exposure independently predicted peritoneal vessel density and EMT submesothelial microvessel number per mm tissue section (p = 0.078 and 0.027) (**Supplementary Tables S2a-c**). In subgroup analyses, after adjusting for age, glucose exposure, PD duration and EMT, submesothelial thickness was independently associated with EMT in peritonitis free patients (p = 0.04), and with duration of PD in patients with previous peritonitis (p = 0.01) (**Supplementary Tables S2d,e**).

DISCUSSION

This is the first detailed analysis of the long term impact of peritonitis on peritoneal membrane integrity in a substantial number (n = 82) of pediatric patients on chronic PD. Patients with and without a history of peritonitis did not differ in any of the histomorphometric parameters, nor in inflammatory cell invasion, EMT, or cytokine expression. These findings suggest that, PD fluid associated toxicity in contrast to peritonitis episodes drives peritoneal membrane transformation.

Experimental *in vivo* studies have previously demonstrated major peritoneal inflammatory and fibrotic changes with bacterial and LPS induced peritonitis (Hautem et al., 2017). Repeated peritoneal equilibration tests suggest rapid recovery of peritoneal solute transport in most patients after a single episode of peritonitis (Davies et al., 1996; Ates et al., 2000), but persistent changes with repeated peritonitis episodes (Davies et al., 1996), ultimately associating with worse technique and patient outcome (Boudville et al., 2012; Ye et al., 2017). Most of these data were obtained in patients treated with acidic, high GDP PD fluids. In a recent RCT, patients

| | No peritonitis | Previous peritonitis | p-value |
|---|---------------------|----------------------|---------|
| Tissue samples (n) | 14 | 16 | |
| Age (years) | 7.4 (4.4, 16.7) | 13.2 (6.7, 18.0) | 0.35 |
| Gender (% female) | 42% | 38% | 0.82 |
| BSA (m ²) | 0.7 (0.6, 1.3) | 1.0 (0.8, 1.3) | 0.20 |
| PD duration (months)* | 37.6 (30.3, 48.0) | 52.0 (32.9, 73.0) | 0.30 |
| Glucose exposure (g/m²/day) | 124.4 (64.3, 216.2) | 119.8 (111.9, 146.2) | 0.82 |
| Mesothel absent | 50% | 76% | 0.32 |
| Mesothel score (0–6) | 0 (0, 2) | 0 (0, 1.5) | 0.42 |
| Submesothelial thickness (µm) | 314 (223.3, 511.0) | 527 (308.5, 844.0) | 0.058 |
| Microvessel density (/mm ²) | 157.4 (97.9, 278.7) | 192.4 (149.7, 236.6) | 0.96 |
| Submesothelial microvessel number (/mm) | 43.4 (26.0, 66.5) | 85.9 (53.1, 179.4) | 0.014 |
| Lymphatic vessel density (/mm ²) | 53.5 (14.5, 59.0) | 25.1 (14.9, 39.5) | 0.41 |
| Diffuse podplanin staining | 25% | 41% | 0.37 |
| Blood cap. vessel density (/mm ²) | 96 (65, 204) | 189 (126, 224) | 0.57 |
| Total endothelial surface area ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$) | 8.2 (5.5, 15.2) | 9.7 (8.5, 11.5) | 0.93 |
| Lym. endothelial surface area (μ m ² / μ m ³) | 4.1 (1.1, 5.8) | 1.7 (0.9, 2.5) | 0.14 |
| Blood cap. end. surface area ($\mu m^2/\mu m^3$) | 7.3 (2.3, 9.0) | 7.5 (6.8, 10.9) | 0.62 |
| L/V ratio | 0.5(0.2, 0.5) | 0.4 (0.2, 0.5) | 0.52 |
| ASMA positivity (%) | 33% | 71% | 0.017 |
| ASMA score (0–3) | 0.0 (0.0, 1.5) | 2.0 (0.0, 3.0) | 0.56 |
| CD45 positivty (%) | 50% | 76% | 0.23 |
| CD45 score (0–3) | 0.5 (0.0, 1.0) | 1.0 (1.0, 2.0) | 0.79 |
| CD68 positivity (%) | 67% | 76% | 0.73 |
| CD68 score (0–3) | 1.0 (0.0, 1.0) | 1.0 (1.0, 2.0) | 0.14 |
| Fibrine positivity (%) | 8% | 18% | 0.47 |
| EMT presence | 25% | 53% | 0.13 |
| EMT (cells/mm ²)** | 20.0 (5.0, 20.0) | 11.3 (3.0, 26.6) | 0.92 |
| VEGF (% submes. area) | 46.6 (16, 49.7) | 28.7 (22.2, 42.9) | 0.44 |
| pSMAD (% submes. area) | 11.7 (9.2, 18.2) | 25.8 (8.5, 33.6) | 0.11 |

Cap., capillary; end., endothelial; lym., lymphatic; submes., submesothelial. L/V ratio, lumen diameter/vessel ratio; ASMA, alpha smooth muscle actin; EMT, epithelial to mesenchymal transition. VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor. *At time of biopsy. **Only cell scores from EMT positive patients included.

treated with neutral pH, low GDP PD fluid experienced less frequent and less severe episodes of peritonitis as compared to patients treated with high GDP fluids (Johnson et al., 2012). Albeit, not analyzed in that trial, the suggestion has been made that the impact of peritonitis episodes on peritoneal membrane integrity and transport function may be less pronounced in patients treated with low GDP fluids. These assumptions, however, could not be reconfirmed in a recent meta-analysis (Cho et al., 2014). Peritoneal biopsies taken from 5 patients treated with high GDP fluids during acute peritonitis and one to 4 months thereafter demonstrated persistent mesothelial alterations and submesothelial sclerotic lesions (Di Paolo et al., 1986).

A more recent study comparing peritoneal morphology of 23 patients on low and 23 patients on high GDP fluid, suggested better preservation of the mesothelial cell layer and less submesothelial fibrosis and vasculopathy with low GDP fluid. These differences, however, were lost when previous peritonitis episodes were taken into account, suggesting that potential benefits of the low GDP fluid are superimposed by untoward peritonitis effects (Del Peso et al., 2016). Our findings in pediatric patients who used low GDP PD fluids do not support the notion of peritonitis related peritoneal sequelae. In parietal peritoneal tissue from patients who had experienced previous peritonitis episodes, we did not observe any differences in histomorphological features, inflammatory cell invasion, in VEGF, and in TGF-ß induced pSMAD abundance and in the degree of EMT, as compared to peritoneal specimens from peritonitis free patients. EMT cells secrete VEGF and TGF-ß (Aroeira et al., 2005, 2007) and thus represent key mediators of the peritoneal transformation process (Yanez-Mo et al., 2003; Lopez-Cabrera, 2014), albeit their origin is debated (Chen et al., 2014). Matching for age to rule out preexisting differences in age related peritoneal thickness and vascularization (Schaefer et al., 2016), as well as for PD vintage and dialytic glucose exposure, reconfirmed the findings. Likewise, analyses according to the time interval since the last peritonitis episode, and the number of peritonitis episodes did not demonstrate any significant differences. In the small subgroup of patients with more than 2 years of PD, peritonitis positive patients exhibited some differences. The likelihood of activated fibroblast positivity persisted in multivariable analysis, suggesting that in patients on long term PD, peritonitis episodes may be associated with some enhanced peritoneal profibrotic activity, but the statistical power of this subgroup analysis is limited. In the multivariable analysis of the entire cohort, peritonitis did not predict any of the key morphological peritoneal parameters.

In contrast to the minor differences attributable to peritonitis history, PD duration and dialytic glucose exposure independently predicted the peritoneal membrane histomorphology. In multivariable analyses of all patients, PD duration predicted submesothelial thickness, and glucose exposure predicted peritoneal vessel density. PD treatment induced EMT (Aroeira et al., 2007) was associated with both submesothelial fibrosis and vessel density. History of peritonitis and the number of previous peritonitis did not predict key histomorphological outcome parameters. In subgroup analyses according to peritonitis history, submesothelial thickening was independently associated with EMT in peritonitis free patients, and with duration of PD in patients with previous peritonitis. The independent association of both submesothelial fibrosis and submesothelial vessel density with the presence of EMT cells points to the key role of EMT in the peritoneal transformation process. EMT, in turn, represents a potential biomarker, and therapeutic target (Aufricht et al., 2017).

Of note, during the past few decades, prevention and treatment of peritonitis has increasingly been guided by evidence based and repeatedly updated international recommendations (KDQQI guidelines) (Li et al., 2016). Not only has the incidence of peritonitis declined (Campbell et al., 2015), but peritonitis episodes are usually recognized early and broad spectrum antibiotic treatment covering most of the bacteria is initiated promptly. None of the centers reported unsuccessful treatment of the peritonitis episodes.

Our study has important limitations. Although this is the largest study on peritonitis induced changes of the peritoneal membrane thus far, the number of patients is not extensive, and thus the sensitivity is low. Moreover, and despite current recommendations (Mujais et al., 2000; National Kidney Foundation, 2006), only a minority of the contributing centers performed PET and therefore the impact of peritonitis episodes on peritoneal membrane function could not be studied comprehensively. On the other hand, strength of the study is the patient population as children are devoid of life style and aging related preexisting tissue damage and the predominant underlying diseases of these patients, such as congenital abnormalities of the kidneys and urinary tract, do not affect peritoneal integrity. This allows for a more sensitive and specific analysis. Whether growing children have a greater plasticity and thus a greater potential to compensate for peritonitis induced transient peritoneal damage is unknown.

In conclusion, our detailed analysis of the peritoneal membrane in pediatric patients on maintenance PD with neutral pH, low GDP fluids, does not support the notion of a consistent long-term impact of peritonitis episodes on the peritoneal membrane ultrastructure, on inflammatory and fibrotic cell activity and EMT. Peritoneal alterations are primarily driven by PD duration and dialytic glucose exposure.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and BS contributed to the conception of the study, collected specimens and patient data, performed immunostainings and digital image analyses, and wrote the manuscript. FL contributed to the histological and digital imaging analyses. KV, PS, CT, RC, MD, GM-L, RB, AZ, PR, and BW collected specimens and clinical data and contributed to the manuscript. BW and FS contributed to the conception of the study. AU contributed to the conception of the study, performed the statistical analysis, and wrote the manuscript. CS conceptualized the study, contributed to specimen sampling, histological and digital imaging analyses and statistical analyses, and wrote the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The International Pediatric Peritoneal Biobank is financially supported by E.N.D.I. – European Nephrology and Dialysis Institute. This work is part of the IMPROVE-PD project that has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant agreement number 812699.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Dr. E. Herpel and Mr. J. Moyers from Tissue Bank of the National Center for Tumor Diseases (NCT, Heidelberg, Germany) and Institute of Pathology (University Hospital Heidelberg) for technical assistance. We acknowledge financial support by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft within the funding programme Open Access Publishing, by the Baden-Württemberg Ministry of Science, Research and the Arts, and by Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2019.00356/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Andreoli, S. P., Leiser, J., Warady, B. A., Schlichting, L., Brewer, E. D., and Watkins, S. L. (1999). Adverse effect of peritonitis on peritoneal membrane function in children on dialysis. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 13, 1–6. doi: 10.1007/s0046700 50553
- Aroeira, L. S., Aguilera, A., Sánchez-Tomero, J. A., Bajo, M. A., del Peso, G., Jiménez-Heffernan, J. A., et al. (2007). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition and peritoneal membrane failure in peritoneal dialysis patients: pathologic significance and potential therapeutic interventions. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 2004–2013. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006111292
- Aroeira, L. S., Aguilera, A., Selgas, R., Ramirez-Huesca, M., Perez-Lozano, M. L., Cirugeda, A., et al. (2005). Mesenchymal conversion of mesothelial cells as a mechanism responsible for high solute transport rate in peritoneal dialysis: role of vascular endothelial growth factor. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 46, 938–948. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.08.011
- Ates, K., Koc, R., Nergizoglu, G., Erturk, S., Keven, K., Sen, A., et al. (2000). The longitudinal effect of a single peritonitis episode on peritoneal membrane transport in CAPD patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 20, 220–226.
- Aufricht, C., Beelen, R., Eberl, M., Fischbach, M., Fraser, D., Jorres, A., et al. (2017). Biomarker research to improve clinical outcomes of peritoneal dialysis: consensus of the european training and research in peritoneal dialysis (EuTRiPD) network. *Kidney Int.* 92, 824–835. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.037
- Bajo, M. A., Perez-Lozano, M. L., Albar-Vizcaino, P., del Peso, G., Castro, M. J., Gonzalez-Mateo, G., et al. (2011). Low-GDP peritoneal dialysis fluid ('balance') has less impact in vitro and ex vivo on epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) of mesothelial cells than a standard fluid. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 282–291. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq357
- Balogh, P., Magyar, M., Szabo, A., Mullner, N., Liko, I., Patocs, A., et al. (2015). The subcellular compartmentalization of TGFbeta-RII and the dynamics of endosomal formation during the signaling events: An in vivo study on rat mesothelial cells. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 94, 204–213. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2015.03.001
- Blackwell, M., Iacus, S., King, G., and Porro, G. (2009). CEM: coarsened exact matching in stata. *Stata J.* 9, 524–546.
- Blake, P. G. (2018). Is the peritoneal dialysis biocompatibility hypothesis dead? *Kidney Int.* 94, 246–248. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.04.014
- Boudville, N., Kemp, A., Clayton, P., Lim, W., Badve, S. V., Hawley, C. M., et al. (2012). Recent peritonitis associates with mortality among patients treated with peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23, 1398–1405. doi: 10.1681/asn. 2011121135
- Braun, N., Alscher, D. M., Fritz, P., Edenhofer, I., Kimmel, M., Gaspert, A., et al. (2011). Podoplanin-positive cells are a hallmark of encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 1033–1041. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq488
- Campbell, D. J., Johnson, D. W., Mudge, D. W., Gallagher, M. P., and Craig, J. C. (2015). Prevention of peritoneal dialysis-related infections. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 30, 1461–1472. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfu313
- Chen, Y. T., Chang, Y. T., Pan, S. Y., Chou, Y. H., Chang, F. C., Yeh, P. Y., et al. (2014). Lineage tracing reveals distinctive fates for mesothelial cells and submesothelial fibroblasts during peritoneal injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 25, 2847–2858. doi: 10.1681/asn.2013101079
- Cho, Y., Johnson, D. W., Craig, J. C., Strippoli, G. F., Badve, S. V., and Wiggins, K. J. (2014). Biocompatible dialysis fluids for peritoneal dialysis. *Coch. Database Syst. Rev.* 3:Cd007554. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007554.pub2
- Davies, S. J., Bryan, J., Phillips, L., and Russell, G. I. (1996). Longitudinal changes in peritoneal kinetics: the effects of peritoneal dialysis and peritonitis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 11, 498–506.
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Griffiths, A. M., Russell, L. H., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (1998). What really happens to people on long-term peritoneal dialysis? *Kidney Int.* 54, 2207–2217. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998. 00180.x
- Davies, S. J., Phillips, L., Naish, P. F., and Russell, G. I. (2001). Peritoneal glucose exposure and changes in membrane solute transport with time on peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 1046–1051.
- Del Peso, G., Jimenez-Heffernan, J. A., Selgas, R., Remon, C., Ossorio, M., Fernandez-Perpen, A., et al. (2016). Biocompatible dialysis solutions preserve peritoneal mesothelial cell and vessel wall integrity. a case-control study on human biopsies. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 36, 129–134. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.0 0038

- Di Paolo, N., Sacchi, G., De Mia, M., Gaggiotti, E., Capotondo, L., Rossi, P., et al. (1986). Morphology of the peritoneal membrane during continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Nephron* 44, 204–211. doi: 10.1159/000183987
- Grossin, N., Wautier, M. P., Wautier, J. L., Gane, P., Taamma, R., and Boulanger, E. (2006). Improved in vitro biocompatibility of bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis fluid. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 26, 664–670.
- Haas, S., Schmitt, C. P., Arbeiter, K., Bonzel, K. E., Fischbach, M., John, U., et al. (2003). Improved acidosis correction and recovery of mesothelial cell mass with neutral-pH bicarbonate dialysis solution among children undergoing automated peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 14, 2632–2638.
- Harambat, J., van Stralen, K. J., Kim, J. J., and Tizard, E. J. (2012). Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease in children. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 27, 363–373. doi: 10.1007/ s00467-011-1939-1
- Hautem, N., Morelle, J., Sow, A., Corbet, C., Feron, O., Goffin, E., et al. (2017). The NLRP3 Inflammasome has a critical role in peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28, 2038–2052. doi: 10.1681/asn.2016070729
- Honda, K., Hamada, C., Nakayama, M., Miyazaki, M., Sherif, A. M., Harada, T., et al. (2008). Impact of uremia, diabetes, and peritoneal dialysis itself on the pathogenesis of peritoneal sclerosis: a quantitative study of peritoneal membrane morphology. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 3, 720–728. doi: 10.2215/ CJN.03630807
- Johnson, D. W., Brown, F. G., Clarke, M., Boudville, N., Elias, T. J., Foo, M. W., et al. (2012). Effects of biocompatible versus standard fluid on peritoneal dialysis outcomes. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23, 1097–1107. doi: 10.1681/asn.2011 121201
- Katz, S., Balogh, P., Nagy, N., and Kiss, A. L. (2012). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition induced by Freund's adjuvant treatment in rat mesothelial cells: a morphological and immunocytochemical study. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* 18, 641–649. doi: 10.1007/s12253-011-9489-1
- Li, P. K., Szeto, C. C., Piraino, B., de Arteaga, J., Fan, S., Figueiredo, A. E., et al. (2016). ISPD peritonitis recommendations: 2016 update on prevention and treatment. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 36, 481–508. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00078
- Lopez-Cabrera, M. (2014). Mesenchymal conversion of mesothelial cells is a key event in the pathophysiology of the peritoneum during peritoneal dialysis. Adv. Med. 2014:473134. doi: 10.1155/2014/473134
- Margetts, P. J., Kolb, M., Yu, L., Hoff, C. M., Holmes, C. J., Anthony, D. C., et al. (2002). Inflammatory cytokines, angiogenesis, and fibrosis in the rat peritoneum. Am. J. Pathol. 160, 2285–2294. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9440(10) 61176-5
- Mehrotra, R., Devuyst, O., Davies, S. J., and Johnson, D. W. (2016). The current state of peritoneal dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 3238–3252. doi: 10.1681/ asn.2016010112
- Mortier, S., De Vriese, A. S., McLoughlin, R. M., Topley, N., Schaub, T. P., Passlick-Deetjen, J., et al. (2003). Effects of conventional and new peritoneal dialysis fluids on leukocyte recruitment in the rat peritoneal membrane. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 14, 1296–1306.
- Mortier, S., Faict, D., Lameire, N. H., and De Vriese, A. S. (2005). Benefits of switching from a conventional to a low-GDP bicarbonate/lactate-buffered dialysis solution in a rat model. *Kidney Int.* 67, 1559–1565. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00237.x
- Mortier, S., Faict, D., Schalkwijk, C. G., Lameire, N. H., and De Vriese, A. S. (2004). Long-term exposure to new peritoneal dialysis solutions: effects on the peritoneal membrane. *Kidney Int.* 66, 1257–1265. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755. 2004.00879.x
- Mujais, S., Nolph, K., Gokal, R., Blake, P., Burkart, J., Coles, G., et al. (2000). Evaluation and management of ultrafiltration problems in peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 20(Suppl. 4), S5–S21.
- National Kidney Foundation. (2006). *Clinical Practice Guidelines and Clinical Practice Recommendations 2006 Updates*. Available at: http://kidneyfoundation.cachefly.net/professionals/KDOQI/guideline_upHD_PD_VA/pd_guide6.htm. (accessed December 20, 2018).
- Rippe, B. (2009). Peritoneal angiogenesis in response to dialysis fluid. Contrib. Nephrol. 163, 60–66. doi: 10.1159/000223781
- Schaefer, B., Bartosova, M., Macher-Goeppinger, S., Sallay, P., Voros, P., Ranchin, B., et al. (2018). Neutral pH and low-glucose degradation product dialysis fluids induce major early alterations of the peritoneal membrane in children on peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 94, 419–429. doi: 10.1016/j.kint. 2018.02.022

- Schaefer, B., Bartosova, M., Macher-Goeppinger, S., Ujszaszi, A., Wallwiener, M., Nyarangi-Dix, J., et al. (2016). Quantitative Histomorphometry of the healthy peritoneum. *Sci. Rep.* 6:21344. doi: 10.1038/srep21344
- Szeto, C. C., Chow, K. M., Lam, C. W., Leung, C. B., Kwan, B. C., Chung, K. Y., et al. (2007). Clinical biocompatibility of a neutral peritoneal dialysis solution with minimal glucose-degradation products–a 1-year randomized control trial. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 22, 552–559. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl559
- van de Luijtgaarden, M. W., Jager, K. J., Segelmark, M., Pascual, J., Collart, F., Hemke, A. C., et al. (2016). Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA registry over a 20-year period. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 31, 120–128. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv295
- van Diepen, A. T., van Esch, S., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2015). The first peritonitis episode alters the natural course of peritoneal membrane characteristics in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 35, 324–332. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00277
- Williams, J. D., Craig, K. J., Topley, N., Von Ruhland, C., Fallon, M., Newman, G. R., et al. (2002). Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 470–479.
- Williams, J. D., Topley, N., Craig, K. J., Mackenzie, R. K., Pischetsrieder, M., Lage, C., et al. (2004). The Euro-Balance Trial: the effect of a new biocompatible peritoneal dialysis fluid (balance) on the peritoneal membrane. *Kidney Int.* 66, 408–418. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00747.x
- Yanez-Mo, M., Lara-Pezzi, E., Selgas, R., Ramirez-Huesca, M., Dominguez-Jimenez, C., Jimenez-Heffernan, J. A., et al. (2003). Peritoneal dialysis and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348, 403–413. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020809

- Ye, H., Zhou, Q., Fan, L., Guo, Q., Mao, H., Huang, F., et al. (2017). The impact of peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis on mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients. *BMC Nephrol.* 18:186. doi: 10.1186/s12882-017-0588-4
- Zemel, D., Imholz, A. L., de Waart, D. R., Dinkla, C., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (1994). Appearance of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and soluble TNF-receptors I and II in peritoneal effluent of CAPD. *Kidney Int.* 46, 1422–1430.

Conflict of Interest Statement: CS has obtained lecturing honoraria, travel support, and investigator initiated research funding from Fresenius Medical care and lecturing and consulting honoraria from Baxter.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bartosova, Schaefer, Vondrak, Sallay, Taylan, Cerkauskiene, Dzierzega, Milosevski-Lomic, Büscher, Zaloszyc, Romero, Lasitschka, Warady, Schaefer, Ujszaszi and Schmitt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Peritoneal Surface Proteome in a Model of Chronic Peritoneal Dialysis Reveals Mechanisms of Membrane Damage and Preservation

Michael Boehm¹, Rebecca Herzog^{1,2}, Florian Klinglmüller³, Anton M. Lichtenauer¹, Anja Wagner^{1,2}, Markus Unterwurzacher^{1,2}, Robert H. J. Beelen⁴, Seth L. Alper^{5,6}, Christoph Aufricht¹ and Klaus Kratochwill^{1,2*}

¹ Division of Pediatric Nephrology and Gastroenterology, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ² Christian Doppler Laboratory for Molecular Stress Research in Peritoneal Dialysis, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ³ Center for Medical Statistics, Informatics, and Intelligent Systems-CeMSIIS, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ⁴ Department of Molecular Cell Biology and Immunology, VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ⁵ Division of Nephrology, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States, ⁶ Department of Medicine, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janusz Witowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

Reviewed by:

Antonio Martínez-Ruiz, Instituto de Investigacion Sanitaria Princesa (IIS-IP), Spain Betti Schaefer, University Hospital Heidelberg, Germany

***Correspondence:** Klaus Kratochwill klaus.kratochwill@meduniwien.ac.at

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 22 August 2018 Accepted: 04 April 2019 Published: 14 May 2019

Citation:

Boehm M, Herzog R, Klinglmüller F, Lichtenauer AM, Wagner A, Unterwurzacher M, Beelen RHJ, Alper SL, Aufricht C and Kratochwill K (2019) The Peritoneal Surface Proteome in a Model of Chronic Peritoneal Dialysis Reveals Mechanisms of Membrane Damage and Preservation. Front. Physiol. 10:472. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00472 Peritoneal dialysis (PD) fluids are cytotoxic to the peritoneum. Recent studies have shown that alanyl-glutamine (AlaGIn) modulates the cellular stress response, improves mesothelial cell survival, reduces submesothelial thickening in experimental models of PD, and in clinical studies improves PD effluent cell stress and immune responses. However, the mechanisms of AlaGIn-mediated membrane protection are not yet fully understood. Here, we explore those mechanisms through application of a novel proteomics approach in a clinically relevant in vivo model in rats. Experimental PD was performed for 5 weeks using conventional single-chamber bag (SCB) or neutral dual-chamber bag (DCB), PD fluid (PDF), with or without AlaGIn supplementation, via a surgically implanted catheter. Rats subjected to a single dwell without catheter implantation served as controls. The peritoneal surface proteome was directly harvested by detergent extraction and subjected to proteomic analysis by twodimensional difference gel electrophoresis (2D-DiGE) with protein identification by mass spectrometry. An integrated bioinformatic approach was applied to identify proteins significantly affected by the treatments despite biological variation and interfering high abundance proteins. From 505 of 744 common spots on 59 gels, 222 unique proteins were identified. Using UniProt database information, proteins were assigned either as high abundance plasma proteins, or as cellular proteins. Statistical analysis employed an adapted workflow from RNA-sequencing, the trimmed mean of M-values (TMM) for normalization, and a mixed model for computational identification of significantly differentially abundant proteins. The most prominently enriched pathways after 5 weeks chronic treatment with SCB or DCB, PDFs belonged to clusters reflecting tissue damage and cell differentiation by cytoskeletal reorganization, immune responses, altered metabolism, and oxidative stress and redox homeostasis. Although the AlaGIn effect was not as prominent, associated enriched pathways showed mostly regression to control or patterns opposite that of the PDF effect. Our study describes the novel peritoneal surface proteome through combined proteomic and bioinformatic analyses,

118

and assesses changes elicited by chronic experimental PD. The biological processes so identified promise to link molecular mechanisms of membrane damage and protection in the *in vivo* rat model to pathomechanisms and cytoprotective effects observed *in vitro* and in clinical PD.

Keywords: N(2)-alanyl-L-glutamine, cytoprotective additive, *in vivo* proteomics, mesothelial cells, peritoneal immune response, PD rat model, animal model

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a life-saving home-based renal replacement therapy which, despite improved preservation of residual renal function, remains underutilized due to its limitations of peritonitis and peritoneal fibrosis, leading to membrane, and technique failure (Davies, 2013). Chronic exposure to PD fluid (PDF) causes injury to the mesothelial cell layer of the peritoneal wall that serves as the dialysis membrane. Included among the contributors to the attendant chronic inflammation are deficient induction of cytoprotective cell stress and repair pathways and local immune dysfunction (Kratochwill et al., 2009, 2011; Bender et al., 2011).

Peritoneal dialysis fluid in single chamber bags (SCB) contain all components of the solution in a single compartment. The pH around 5.2 is a compromise between lower formation of glucose degradation products (GDP) at lower pH and damage to the peritoneum including infusion pain. In dual chamber bags (DCB), in contrast, glucose is separated from buffer components during heat sterilization (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2012). The initial acid pH minimizes formation of GDP, while the combined solution instilled into the patient's peritoneal cavity is restored to neutral pH. Although DCB PDFs cause reduced in vitro damage to cells (Topley et al., 1996; Jorres et al., 1998; Del Peso et al., 2015), these fluids may also be less potent inducers of beneficial cell stress, and repair pathways (Schmitt and Aufricht, 2016). This deficiency can result in chronic inflammation, complement activation and increased vascularity, likely underlying the persistent lack of clinical evidence for DCB PDF superiority (Bartosova et al., 2018; Schaefer et al., 2018). Taken together, data from the last 20 years of PD research support the idea that enhancement of beneficial cell stress and repair mechanisms (while in parallel countering chronic inflammation) holds greater promise for reduction of peritonitis and peritoneal fibrosis than does reduction in PDF toxicity.

Alanyl-glutamine (AlaGln) is a substance that has the potential to accomplish this goal. Our group has demonstrated *in vitro* that AlaGln modulates the cellular stress response and improves survival of mesothelial cells (Kratochwill et al., 2012). A first-in-human clinical trial showed that glutamine deficiency during clinical PD is linked to peritoneal pathomechanisms, such as impaired stress response and host defense (Kratochwill et al., 2016). A pilot trial indicated improved PD effluent cell function with regards to stress and immune responses due to priming of effluent cells by AlaGln and reducing basal chronic inflammation (Herzog et al., 2017). The recently conducted multicenter phase II trial confirmed protective effects of AlaGln at the level of surrogate markers of peritoneal membrane status and immune

competence (Vychytil et al., 2018). Promising results in this trial regarding decreased peritoneal protein loss require in depth analysis of the potential membrano-protective mechanism.

Evaluating the molecular mechanism of the effect of AlaGln on peritoneal membrane tissue would require biopsies taken from patients after extended periods of treatment with AlaGln-supplemented PDF (and from matched controls). In the meantime, chronic animal models help improve our understanding of peritoneal transport and of peritoneal immune and inflammatory molecular processes in PD therapy and support the selection process for suitable surrogate markers. Indeed, Ferrantelli et al. (2016) has reported reduced submesothelial thickening and decreased vascularization by AlaGln in animal models of PD. Whereas in these studies the focus was on individual candidate markers of chronic inflammation, proteomic analysis would provide a holistic view of the complex molecular dynamics influencing the peritoneal membrane and an attractive approach to understand the molecular mode-of-action of AlaGln.

A recent proteomics study provided unprecedented insight into the composition of PD effluent and the molecular mode-ofaction of AlaGln in a single dwell with conventional SCB PDF (Herzog et al., 2018). Nevertheless, this information is a global heterogeneous mix of the plasma proteome and the secretome of peritoneal cell populations, containing greater numbers of leukocytes than of mesothelial cells.

In contrast to human studies relying mostly on PD effluent, animal models allow sampling of the peritoneal wall surface for proteomic analysis. Here, we apply a proteomic approach in a clinically relevant *in vivo* model to characterize the peritoneal surface proteome and analyze the effect of AlaGln addition to PDF on molecular processes in response to chronic PDF exposure.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Standard chemicals were purchased from Sigma - Aldrich (St Louis, MO, United States) if not specified otherwise.

In vivo PD Model in Rats

Male Wistar rats (13 weeks, 300 g, Harlan; CPB, Horst, Netherlands) were housed under normal conditions, with water and food *ad libitum*. The study was approved by the animal care committee of the Vrije Universiteit of Amsterdam. Rats received, under isoflurane anesthesia and analgesia, a subcutaneously implanted catheter to the peritoneal cavity ("rat-o-port", Access Technologies, Norfolk Medical, Skokie, IL, United States) for

daily installation of PDF. Following 7 days of healing and daily instillation of 2 ml physiological saline (NaCl 0.9%) with 1 U/ml heparin the rats received for 5 weeks daily injections of 10 ml

PDF fluid (**Figure 1**). Rats were exposed to either glucose-based, lactate buffered, acidic pH, SCB PDF (Dianeal PD4 3.86%, Baxter Healthcare, Deerfield, IL, United States; n = 15) or the same



FIGURE 1 Experimental workflow in three stages. *In vivo* experiment with 5 experimental groups. SCB, single-chamber bag; DCB, dual-chamber bag; AG, alanyl-glutamine; rat-o-port, surgically implanted catheter for PDF instillation; PET, peritoneal equilibration test. Proteomics experiment with steps sample lysis and harvest, preparation of the IPS and labeling of samples, 2D-DiGE, and fluorescent image scanning. IPS, internal pooled standard, G200, and G300 fluorescent dyes used for difference gel electrophoresis. Bioinformatic analysis, following the presented integrated workflow. CPM, counts per million relative signal calculation strategy adapted from RNA-sequencing workflows; TMM, trimmed mean of *M*-values normalization strategy adapted from RNA-sequencing workflows.

PDF with added 8 mM AlaGln (Dipeptiven, Fresenius-Kabi, Bad Homburg, Germany) (SCB+AG; n = 15) or to glucose-based, bicarbonate/lactate buffered, low GDP, neutral pH, DCB PDF (Physioneal 40 3.86%, Baxter Healthcare, n = 15) or the same neutral pH PDF with added 8 mM AlaGln (DCB+AG; n = 15). Rats without an implanted catheter (n = 8) served as controls and were not subjected to daily PD. Control animals were kept under the same conditions in parallel and were subjected to the PET and harvest on the same day.

Clinical condition of the animals was monitored daily, and weight was recorded weekly. On the last day of the experiment rats received a 90 min peritoneal equilibration test (PET) under anesthesia. 30 ml PDF (Dianeal PD4 3.86%) were instilled, and the abdomen was periodically moved to ensure complete wetting of the peritoneal membrane. After 90 min the PD effluent was drained via a standard venous catheter (Venflon Pro; Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, United States) placed in the lower right abdomen into the peritoneal cavity, the rats were sacrificed and the abdominal walls were harvested.

Peritoneal Surface Proteome Isolation

Using a specifically designed harvesting device (**Supplementary Figure S1**), peritoneal surface proteins were isolated directly from the abdominal walls. The contra-lateral parietal peritoneal wall of the implanted catheter was removed and fixed with the mesothelial cell layer (luminal) side facing up and washed twice (250 mM sucrose, 10 mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.0) to remove residual plasma on the surface. Lysis buffer (500 μ l, 250 mM sucrose, 10 mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.0) was applied to the surface for 2 min, followed by very gentle scraping with a sterile disposable cell scraper to facilitate cell lysis. The resulting protein lysate was collected by tilting the device and pipetting into a collection tube.

For proteomics analyses, protein samples were precipitated (100% acetone, overnight, -20° C), washed with ethanol and resuspended in 200 µl (30 mM Tris, pH 8.5, 7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 4% 3-[(3-cholamidopropyl) dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate (CHAPS), 1 mM EDTA, 1 tablet of Complete Protease Inhibitor (Roche, Basel; Switzerland), and 1 tablet of phosphatase inhibitor (PhosSTOP, Roche) per 100 mL. Total protein concentration was determined according to the manufacturer's instructions (2D Quant kit; GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden).

Two-Dimensional Difference Gel Electrophoresis (2D-DiGE)

An internal pooled standard (IPS) was prepared containing 47 samples in equal parts and was used in all individual gels. Proteins were labeled with fluorescent dyes (Refraction-2D Labeling Kit; NH DyeAGNOSTICS, Halle, Germany) according to the manufacturers' protocol with minor modifications. In brief, 30 μ g protein of all individual samples (n = 59) was mixed with 0.2 nmol reconstituted G-Dye200 and the IPS was mixed with 0.2 nmol G-Dye300 (27 μ g per gel). Labeling of the IPS was performed in one batch to achieve a uniform standard. Following the labeling (30 min, on ice in the dark) the reaction was stopped

 $(1 \ \mu l \ of \ stop \ solution)$ and incubated for another 10 min on ice in the dark. For every individual gel, the labeled sample and the labeled IPS were mixed together shortly before rehydration.

Isoelectric Focusing

First dimensional protein separation with isoelectric focusing was conducted on a Protean IEF Cell (BioRad, Hercules, CA, United States) with 57 μ g of total protein (consisting of 30 μ g labeled sample and 27 μ g labeled IPS) per immobilized pH gradient (IPG) strip [ReadyStrip IPG Strips 24 cm pH 3-10 non-linear (BioRad)]. The rehydration mix containing both sample and IPS was brought to a final volume of 450 μ l and a final concentration of 5 M urea, 0.5%w/v CHAPS, 0.5% v/v Pharmalyte (GE Healthcare), and 12 μ l/ml of DeStreak reagent (GE Healthcare). The strips were overlayed with mineral oil (BioRad) and actively rehydrated at 50 V for 12 h and afterward focused by increasing the voltage step by step up to 8000 V within 17 h. The procedure was carried out at 20°C using a current limit of 30 μ A per strip. Focused strips were stored at -80° C until further use.

Horizontal Gel Electrophoresis

The second dimension of protein separation was performed on a HPE-FlatTop Tower (Serva Electrophoresis GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) following the manufacturer's manual using precast non fluorescent gels (HPE Large Gel NF 12.5% Kit, Serva). The proteins in the focused IPG strips were reduced and alkylated by consecutive incubation in equilibration buffer (Serva) with 1.8 g/5ml urea mixed with 50 mg/5ml dithiothreitol (DTT) for the first and with 125 mg/5ml iodoacetamide (IAA) for the second 25 min of incubation. The gels were placed onto the cooling plates with equal amounts of cooling contact fluid (Serva) beneath the gel and anode or cathode buffer soaked electrode wicks (Serva) were placed on the gels' edges (2 mm overlapping). The equilibrated IPG strips were applied on the gels and the electrophoresis was performed in five steps at 15°C according to the manufacturer's manual. The protocol started with 100 V, 28 mA, 4 W for 30 min, followed by 200 V, 52 mA, 12 W for another 30 min. Then 300 V, 80 mA, and 20 W were applied for 10 min. After this step, the IPG strips were removed and the run continued with 1500 V, 160 mA, and 120 W for 3 h 50 min. In a last step 1500 V, 180 mA, and 160 W were applied for another 50 min. Following electrophoresis, the gels were washed (H_2O) and stored at 4°C until fluorescence image acquisition.

Fluorescence Image Acquisition and Data Analysis

Gel images with fluorescent signals were acquired using a laser scanner (ThypoonTrio, GE Healthcare) at the labeling kit manual's recommended excitation and emission wavelengths (G-Dye200: ex/em 554/575 nm; G-Dye300: ex/em 648/663 nm). The photomultiplier voltage was adjusted for near saturation of the most abundant spots.

2D Gel Image Analysis

Gel images were analyzed using the Delta2D 4.2 software (Decodon GmbH, Greifswald, Germany) with the algorithm designated for DiGE experiments. IPS images were aligned by

pair-wise warping, and spot detection was carried out on a fused image of all gels.

Protein Spot Identification by Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization (MALDI) Mass Spectrometry (MS)

Preparative gels for protein identification were loaded with 200 μ g of IPS protein, of which 25 μ g were labeled as described above. Gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB). Following electrophoresis protein spots were fixed overnight (10% acetic acid, 40% ethanol) followed by 3 washing steps (5 min, H₂O). After overnight incubation with CBB staining solution [8% (w/v) ammonium sulfate, 2% (w/v) orthophosphoric acid (85%), 20% (v/v) methanol, and 1% (v/v) CBB stock solution 2.5% (w/v – Coomassie Brilliant Blue G250 dissolved in H₂O)] the staining was intensified with incubation for 30 min in 20% ammonium sulfate (in H₂O) and briefly destained with 10% glycerol, 20% methanol in (in H₂O). All incubation steps were carried out on a horizontal rotary shaker.

Protein spots were automatically excised (EXQuest Spot Cutter; BioRad). Excised gel plugs were washed [100 mM NH₄HCO₃, 100 mM NH₄HCO₃/ethanol (1:1) and acetonitrile] until destained. After reduction (10 mM DTT in 25 mM NH₄HCO₃) for 1 h at 56°C, the samples were alkylated (55 mM IAA in 25 mM NH₄HCO₃) for 45 min at room temperature in the dark. Following another wash step (100 mM NH₄HCO₃ and acetonitrile), samples were digested with 0.39 µg trypsin in 50 mM NH₄HCO₃ overnight at 37°C. The cleaved peptides were eluted from the gel plugs with sonication in acetonitrile/H2O/trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) (50:45:5). Eluates were dried by vacuum centrifugation (Concentrator plus, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) and the peptides were redissolved with 0.1% TFA and desalted with C18 material (C18-ZipTip columns, Millipore; Billerica, MA, United States) according to the manual. Briefly, the material was wetted with acetonitrile and equilibrated with 0.1% TFA. Peptides were loaded onto the column, followed by washing with 0.1% TFA and direct elution onto two spots of the MALDI target (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) with α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (10 mg/ml; CHCA; LaserBio Labs, Sophia-Antipolis Cedex, France) in acetonitrile/0.1% TFA.

Mass spectrometric (MS) analyses were performed on a matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI) LTQ Orbitrap XL mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) operated in positive mode. MS spectra were acquired in a mass range from m/z 600–4000 with a resolution setting of 100,000 at m/z 400. Acquisition parameters were: automated spectrum filter off, automated gain control on, crystal positioning system on and 5 scans/step. 10 MS spectra were acquired for each spot. For tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) the mass spectrometer was operated in a data-dependent mode. Utilized parameters included precursor ion isolation in the linear ion trap, 3 mass units isolation

width, 3 normalized collision energies (CID; 30, 35, and 40%), activation q of 0.25 and activation time of 30 ms. The 15 most prominent ions were sequentially isolated for collision-induced dissociation (CID) fragmentation in the linear ion trap.

The acquired raw MS data files were processed (Mascot Distiller 2.7.1.0; Matrix Science, London, United Kingdom) and searched against the rat SwissProt database (Rat_20170830) using Mascot. Additional search parameters were, enzyme: trypsin/P; allowed missed cleavages: 2; fixed modifications, carbamidomethyl (C); variable modifications, oxidation (M); peptide tolerance, 5 ppm; MS/MS tolerance, 0.8 Da; charge state, 1+, 2+, or 3+. The ions score was set to 20 and standard scoring was chosen. Single peptide identifications, which were not supported by another spot, were checked manually by the following criteria: reviewed/unreviewed, molecular weight and *p*I, length of peptide, score, and annotation of b- and y-ions. One protein was excluded from the results list due to wrong MW, no identified y-ions and unreviewed status.

Scaling and Normalization Approach for Derivation of Protein Spots Associated With the Effect of PDF Exposure and AlaGIn Addition

Spot intensity data for each gel were exported from the Delta 2D software and imported in R as a matrix containing all intensity data for sample channels, as well as internal standard channels.

The image analysis workflow supported in the Delta 2D software ensures a data matrix that is free from missing values. The detection limits of the fluorescence dyes and the laser scanner and rounding errors result in the presence of zero values in the data matrix. This impedes further raw data processing using linear mixed model analysis (LIMMA), because the LIMMA requires log-transformed data. Zero values in the data matrix were therefore replaced with the lowest observed value in the complete matrix (sample channel) or the lowest value observed for the protein spot (IPS channel).

To account for inter-individual variation introduced by plasma proteins, a statistical workflow from RNA sequencing (RNAseq), based on trimmed mean of *M*-values (TMM) (Robinson and Oshlack, 2010) was adapted for 2D-DiGE data. Analogous to varying library size in RNAseq, the plasmatype protein spots disproportionately influence the abundance calculation of cellular-type protein spots, an effect that can be observed in many omics-type data. By scaling the spot data based on library sizes calculated only from cellular-type spots, instead of all spots as in the standard workflow, this effect was removed from the data (**Figure 1**).

Separate linear mixed effects models were fit to the normalized log-transformed spot data of each protein, taking into account the effect of PDF exposure (fluid effect) with or without AlaGln (additive effect) as opposed to sham treatment using fixed effects, along with a random intercept term representing normalization by the IPS. Fold-changes associated with individual effects were extracted from the linear model. For data visualization, random intercepts were subtracted from TMM-normalized values. Significance values were derived from group comparisons utilizing *t*-tests with the obtained *p*-values as well as BH-corrected *q*-values given in **Supplementary Table S2**.

Statistical Analysis and Data Visualization

All statistical analyses and visualizations used R (v3.5.1¹). Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA 7.0, Qiagen²) was used to identify pathways and predicted up/down regulation patterns significantly affected by differentially abundant proteins, calculating a *p*-value for each functional pathway using a one-tailed Fisher exact test. Pathways with *p*-values <0.05, after correction for multiple hypothesis testing with the Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) procedure, were considered significantly enriched. The IPA z-score assesses the match of observed and predicted up/down regulation patterns and serves a predictor for the activation state.

Data Availability

All 2D-DiGE datasets for this study are included in the manuscript and the **Supplementary Files**. The raw instrument files of MALDI-MS identifications will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher. The R code that was used to generate the analysis is disclosed as **Supplementary Material**.

RESULTS

Experimental Groups

Sixty-four of 68 rats completed the proposed protocol. Four animals failed to complete the chronic dialysis regiment, and in one animal the PET could not be conducted. Due to leakage of the harvesting device, the samples obtained from a few animals were either insufficient in volume or contaminated and thus not used for 2D-DiGE analysis. Final sample group sizes subjected to proteomic analysis were 6 controls, 14 in the SCB group, 13 in the SCB+AG group, 15 in the DCB group, and 11 in the DCB+AG group (**Figure 1**; see **Supplementary Table S1** for details on dropouts and samples with insufficient volume).

Protein Separation and Identification Workflow

Analysis of sample homogeneity based on raw spot intensity data revealed experimental variation in the data that exceeded the level typically observed in 2D-DiGE data (e.g., from cell culture samples). Although the overall technical quality of the gels was excellent (**Supplementary Figure S2**), the harvested samples clearly included materials originating not only from mesothelial cells but also plasma protein contaminants. The gel images exhibit a spot pattern that resembles both cellulartype samples, as evidenced by major spots being cytoskeletal proteins, but also plasma-type samples indicated by prototypical high abundance spots. Nevertheless, spots attributable to albumin show clearly reduced abundance compared to typical gels from serum (**Figure 2A**).

In contrast to a standard workflow in which only significantly altered protein spots are forwarded to MS identification, in this experiment abundance alterations in cellular proteins would not be detectable without subtraction of plasma protein contaminants. We therefore aimed to identify as many spots as possible of the total protein spot pattern in order to generate a comprehensive map of the peritoneal surface proteome. From the total pattern of 744 protein spots, 625 were above the threshold of intensity and spot quality and were therefore cut and analyzed by MALDI-MS. In 505 of these spots (80%), proteins were successfully identified (**Figure 2A**), linking to 222 unique protein IDs (**Supplementary Table S2**).

Information on subcellular localization of all identified proteins was extracted from IPA, allowing protein assignment either to the group of high abundance plasma proteins (plasma type) or to the group of cellular proteins (cellular type) (**Supplementary Table S2**). The proportion of cellular and plasma proteins is shown in **Figure 2B**. Computing this proportion, considering spot abundance (integrated gray volume) confirms that these spots can indeed shift the abundance distribution in favor of plasma protein-type spots. The data also show that spots without successful protein identification were on average of very low abundance.

To account for inter-individual variation introduced by plasma proteins, a statistical workflow that has been introduced for RNAseq data, but is equally suitable for matrix from any omics-type experiment, based on TMM (Robinson and Oshlack, 2010) was adapted for 2D-DiGE data. Standard 2DE preprocessing typically subtracts the amount of protein volume measured on the internal standard channel from the corresponding measurement on the sample channel. This assumes that the two amounts are measured on the same scale. This assumption however, does not hold if the proportion of plasma proteins differs between samples but not - as by design between internal standards (i.e., spot volumes are expressed relative to different amounts of plasma protein). Consequently, adjusting for varying plasma protein content needs to be performed before information from the internal standard can be used to reduce variability arising from systematic differences between gels. Analogous to varying library size in RNAseq, spots on 2D gels that contain plasma-type proteins that are in the state of transcellular migration (or adhere to peritoneal surface denuded from mesothelial cells) and are thus "dissolved" in the tissue, may disproportionately influence the abundance calculation of cellular-type protein spots. By scaling the spot data based on library sizes calculated only from cellular-type spots, this influence was removed from the data during the TMM normalization step. The TMM normalization step (with and without the utilization of the linear model) was compared to a standard 2D-DiGE workflow which was prone to yield more statistically significant spots for the comparisons of the fluid effect and at the same time was less sensitive to the subtle changes of the additive effect (Supplementary Figure S3). We fit a random

¹http://www.r-project.org/

²http://www.ingenuity.com



intercept for each protein using measurements from the sample channel and the internal standard. Essentially this is equivalent to subtracting the internal standard measurement from the sample measurement – as with standard processing – with the added benefit that within a linear model definition we have added flexibility to model additional error components, obtain meaningful estimates of treatment effects via linear contrasts, and get diagnostics about the model fit and error terms by means of variance components estimates.

Evaluation of Changes in Surface Proteome by Chronic PD

Trimmed mean of M-values-normalized data were subjected to a linear mixed effects model, considering the effect of PDF (for SCB and DCB groups), and the effect of the AlaGln additive (for SCB+AG and DCB+AG groups) as well as experimental covariates such as the internal standard signal comigrating with every applicable spot on each 2D gel. Using this model, with a threshold of p < 0.05, out of all 744 spots 452 protein spots (with 152 unique IDs) were significantly altered by SCB PDF (Figure 3A; numeric values for spot intensities have to be obtained from Supplementary Table S2) and 504 protein spots (with 167 unique IDs) were significantly altered by DCB PDF. 413 of these protein spots with 138 unique IDs were significantly changed by both DCB PDF and SCB PDF. The mixed model analysis identified 63 protein spots with 40 unique IDs as significantly changed in the group treated with AlaGln addition to SCB PDF, and 85 protein spots with 30 unique IDs as significantly changed in the group treated with AlaGln addition

to DCB PDF. Hierarchical clustering of significantly altered proteins clearly separated the experimental groups (**Figure 3B**, top 50 molecules shown). Applying a more stringent threshold of p < 0.01 (highlighted in **Figure 3** and in **Supplementary Table S2**) to reduce false positives slightly lowered numbers of proteins significantly changed by PDF effect (by 14% for SCB and by 11% for DCB groups), and to a greater degree for the effect of AlaGln addition (by 72% for SCB and by 78% for DCB groups), indicating an effect magnitude for PDF markedly higher than for AlaGln addition. Consistent with this finding, initially detected changes in numerous proteins remained significant after correction for multiple testing (BH corrected p < 0.05: 424 spots for SCB and 494 spots for DCB groups), whereas no spots remained significant for the effect of AlaGln supplementation.

Pathway Analysis of PD-Related Proteome Changes

To avoid interpretation of false positive candidate molecules, while preserving coverage of relevant biological processes and pathways, a second level of statistical analysis was applied. UniProt accessions of significantly altered spots, together with their respective p-, q- and fold-change values (see **Supplementary Table S2** for details) were forwarded to pathway analysis, condensing the spot information on the level of unique protein coding gene names (molecules). The analysis of significantly enriched canonical pathways was BH-corrected for multiple hypothesis testing, and only proteins passing both abundance and pathway thresholds were interpreted.



FIGURE 3 Proteins affected by chronic treatment with PDF and addition of AlaGin (A) Representative 2D gel fusion images for each treatment provide an illustration of spot positions, numbers of significant spots, and the technical quality of the gels. They do not represent the dynamic range of intensities of the respective spots. Numeric values for spot abundance are calculated from integration of fluorescent values and taking into account the internal standard for the respective spot. Upper left, SCB; upper right, SCB + AlaGIn; lower left, DCB; and lower right, DCB + AlaGIn; highlighting significantly altered proteins with p < 0.01 in red and with p < 0.05 in pink. (B) Heatmap showing the top 50 significant (p < 0.05) spots with identification for each coefficient (upper left, fluid effect SCB; lower left, fluid effect DCB; upper right, additive effect SCB + AlaGIn; and lower right, additive effect DCB + AlaGIn). Values are based on TMM-normalized log2 data, with random intercepts subtracted and spots averaged via mean for each molecule (unique protein). Clustering of molecules is based on Pearson-correlation with average agglomeration. Rows were centered and scaled.



FIGURE 4 Canonical pathways enriched after chronic treatment with PDF and addition of AlaGIn. Significantly enriched canonical pathways from IPA, passing a threshold of $\rho < 0.05$ after correction for multiple hypothesis testing using the Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) procedure (numeric data are given in **Supplementary Table S3**). Fluid effect SCB, fluid effect DCB, additive effect SCB, and additive effect DCB denote the effects calculated from the mixed model analysis for protein spot data, which were used for generating the lists of significantly affected molecules for pathway analysis.

Enriched canonical pathways for effects of PDFs and additive addition were extracted and compared for level of enrichment (BH-corrected p < 0.05), enrichment ratio and

activation z-score (Supplementary Table S3). Figure 4 shows the enriched canonical pathways for the individual effects sorted by enrichment p-value (see Supplementary Figure S4

for hierarchical clustering of pathways based on significance of enrichment for all canonical pathways with BH-corrected p value < 0.05).

Those canonical pathways for which at least one z-score could be calculated for the four effects (SCB and DCB fluid effects, additive effects for SCB+AG, and DCB+AG), were grouped in functional clusters of typical PD-associated pathomechanisms (metabolism, immune response, cytoskeletal reorganization, and signaling, oxidative stress and redox homeostasis) as well as on molecular features based on shared genes and/or proteins (**Table 1**).

Comparison between SCB and DCB arms of the experiment showed largely overlapping processes and activation states. Concordance was most pronounced for metabolism and immune response pathway clusters, with almost identical activation *z*-scores for involved molecules. Differences in activation pattern (*z*-scores) and involved molecules were more pronounced for the clusters "cytoskeletal reorganization and signaling" and "oxidative stress and redox homeostasis". Activated "14-3-3mediated signaling" was found only for the SCB PDF effect, whereas "RhoGDI signaling", "Signaling by Rho Family GTPases" and "Actin Cytoskeleton Signaling" were activated only for the DCB PDF effect.

The effects for AlaGln additive to both PDFs were not as strong as the fluid effects, indicated by a lower number of significant spots, enriched pathways and calculated *z*-scores. Interestingly, none of the pathways in the cluster "cytoskeletal reorganization and signaling" that were enriched in SCB and/or DCB PDF effects retained significant enrichment for the additive effect. Only the "NRF2-mediated oxidative stress response" pathway reached significance in the cluster "oxidative stress and redox homeostasis".

The pathways in the "immune response" cluster that remained significantly changed for the AlaGln additive effect included "LXR/RXR activation" and "acute phase response signaling", with the latter being inhibited by AlaGln.

Figure 5A shows an activation heatmap of enriched pathways. The canonical pathway "acute phase signaling" is presented as an example of a significantly enriched pathway in the comparison of both the SCB fluid and additive effects. Downstream of its common trunk (**Figure 5B**) the SCB PDF effect (**Figure 5C**) and SCB+AG effect (**Figure 5D**) show distinct activation patterns. However, in the presence of AlaGln that pathway was not activated, as indicated by counter-regulation of the same proteins.

DISCUSSION

We report here the first proteomic analysis of peritoneal surface lysates in a chronic rat model of PD. Proteomics is a particularly attractive approach to understand complex molecular dynamics influencing the peritoneal membrane and to obtain a systems biology view of the molecular mechanisms of membrane damage and preservation during standard PD and following cytoprotective interventions.

Peritoneal dialysis effluent has been previously exploited for indirect investigation of the peritoneal membrane and its secreted proteins. Recent, extensive characterization of PD effluents by a depletion and enrichment proteomics approach (Herzog et al., 2018) yielded signals dominated by extracellular proteins or detached and necrotic mesothelial cells, and complicated by non-resident peritoneal cell populations. Investigating a clean population of resident mesothelial cells in the clinical setting would require peritoneal biopsies in combination with singlecell proteomics techniques currently unavailable. Therefore, initial studies of in vivo models must be performed on more complex preparations of peritoneal membrane tissue, such as the optimized lysates prepared with a specifically designed harvesting device for the current study. This novel type of sample likely represents the currently best available peritoneal surface material, comparable only to patient biopsies not easily obtained in the context of experimental interventions beyond the requirements of clinical care (Schaefer et al., 2016).

Rats and mice do certainly not perfectly represent human PD patients. Once daily infusion in the in vivo model is contrasted by multiple dwells in the clinical situation. Although uremic rodent models are already available, the use of these models implicitly complicates the experiment by adding technical and biological variation and requiring additional control groups. Nevertheless, rodents exposed to PDF are accepted models to reflect chronic membrane damage and preservation during PD. Recently, glutamine-containing PDF in chronic rodent models showed improved cytoresistance of mesothelial cells in the acute setting, and reduced peritoneal fibrosis and attenuation of IL-17 dependent pathways (Bender et al., 2010; Ferrantelli et al., 2016). The results obtained from rats presented here were generated in an independent replicate experiment to that of Ferrantelli et al. (2016) carried out in the same facility and following identical protocols. Our chronic in vivo model of PD led to reproducible submesothelial thickening of the peritoneum (data not shown).

Our proteomics analysis of peritoneal surface lysates has generated the first comprehensive map of the in vivo peritoneal surface proteome. We argue that this minimally studied proteome characterizes a functional anatomical entity, analogous to the dermis of the skin or the kidney cortex. As 2D-DiGE analysis preferentially detects high abundance proteins, the \sim 500 spots identified in this novel biological sample represent the major protein components of the peritoneal surface. Our relative abundance calculation suggested that identified gel spots represented approximately 95% of sample protein content. Gel images from peritoneal surface isolates resembled a cellular-like pattern, with the typical albumin spot region of significantly lower intensity than seen in typical serum-like patterns. Nevertheless, evidence of plasma proteins persisted in the peritoneal surface proteome data. However, the high reproducibility and technical quality of the internal standard gels suggested that the 2D gel electrophoresis (2D-DiGE) procedure itself was not the source of the variability.

We conclude that the peritoneal surface proteome reported here is not a pure mesothelial cell proteome. Potential explanations for this observation include insufficient washing of the tissue samples, adhesion of plasma proteins to the surface or even below the surface. In case of insufficient washing, the surface lysate sample would be contaminated by residual plasma/fluid.

| | | SC | B fluid effe | ect | | SCB+A | G additive | effect | | DC | B fluid eff | ect | ă | CB+AG additi | ve effect | |
|--|-------------------------|----------|--------------|--|-------------------------|-------|------------|--|-----------------|-------|-------------|---|-------------------------|--------------|-----------|----------------|
| Ingenuity canonical Pathways | <i>p</i> -value (BH) | Ratio | z-score | Molecules | <i>p</i> -value (BH) | Ratio | z-score | Molecules | p-value (BH) | Ratio | z-score | Molecules | <i>p</i> -value (BH) | Ratio z-sc | ore Mo | olecules |
| Cytoskeletal re | eorganizati | on and s | ignaling | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Actin cytoskeleton signaling | 6.92E-02 | 0.022 | 2.24 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, GSN, MSN | 1.68E-01 | 0.009 | | CFL1, GSN | 3.55E-02 | 0.026 | 1.63 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, ARPC3, GSN, MSN | 9.33E-02 | 0.009 | 4 | ACTB, GSN |
| RhoGDI signaling | 8.51E-02 | 0.023 | -2.00 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, MSN | 1.26E-01 | 0.011 | | GNB1, CFL1 | 3.80E-03 | 0.040 | -0.38 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, ARPC3, ARHGDIA, ARHGDIB, MSN | 2.39E-01 | 0.006 | 4 | ACTB |
| Signaling by Rho family GTPases | 7.94E-02 | 0.020 | 2.00 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, VIM, MSN | 1.79E-01 | 0.008 | | GNB1, CFL1 | 4.57E-02 | 0.024 | 1.34 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, ARPC3, VIM, MSN | 2.60E-01 | 0.004 | 4 | ACTB |
| RhoA signaling | 4.47E-02 | 0.032 | 1.00 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, MSN | 2.94E-01 | 0.008 | | CFL1 | 1.38E-02 | 0.040 | 0.45 | CFL1, EZR, ACTB, ARPC3, MSN | 2.15E-01 | 0.008 | 4 | ACTB |
| 14-3-3- mediated signaling Immune respo | 1.38E-02 inse | 0.037 | 0.45 | YWHAE, YWHAB, PDIA3, YWHAZ, VIM | 2.96E-01 | 0.007 | | PDIA3 | 6.61E-02 | 0.029 | 1.00 | YWHAE, PDIA3, YWHAZ, VIM | | | | |
| Acute phase response signaling | 7.76E-08 | 0.068 | 1.13 | ALB, TTR, FTL, APOA1, SOD2, TF, APCS, AHSG, C9, SERPINA3, SERPINA1, RBP1 | 2.51E-14 | 0.068 | -1.63 | C4A/C4B, ALB, HP, FTL, APOA1, ITTH4, AHSG, C9, CFB, SERPINA3, SERPINA1, RBP1 | 2.09E-06 | 0.063 | 1.13 | ALB, TTR, HPX, FTL, APOA1, SOD2, TF, AHSG, SERPINA3, SERPINA1, RBP1 | 8.32E-02 | 0.011 | SEI | HP, IRPINA3 |
| Production of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species in macrophages | 4.47E-02 | 0.026 | -1.34 | APOE, ALB, APOA1, APOA4, SERPINA1 | 3.98E-02 | 0.016 | | ALB, APOA1, SERPINA1 | 1.70E-02 | 0.031 | - 1.63 | APOE, ALB, APOA1, APOA4, PPP1R7, SERPINA1 | | | | |
| LXR/RXR activation | 2.40E-07 | 0.083 | -1.90 | APOE, ALB, TTR, APOA1, APOA4, TF, AHSG, C9, SERPINA1, GC | 1.15E-07 | 0.058 | -1.89 | C4A/C4B, ALB, APOA1, ITTH4, AHSG, C9, SERPINA1 | 7.24E-07 | 0.083 | -2.53 | APOE, ALB, TTR, HPX, APOA1, APOA4, TF, AHSG, SERPINA1, GC | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | (Con | (pai inite |

Frontiers in Physiology | www.frontiersin.org

128

| | | Ō | CB fluid ∈ | affect | SC | B+AG additiv | e effect | | ğ | CB fluid eff | ect | J | DCB+A0 | additive | effect |
|---|--------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|--|-------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------------|---|-------------------------|----------|--------------|--------------------------------------|
| Ingenuity canonical Pathways | <i>p</i> -value (BH) | Ratio | z-score | Molecules | <i>p</i> -value (BH) | Ratio z-sco | re Molecules | <i>p</i> -value (BH) | Ratio | z-score | Molecules | <i>p</i> -value (BH) | Ratio | z-score | Molecules |
| Metabolism | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Gluconeo genesis l | 5.01E-14 | 0.385 | -2.53 | PGK1, ENO1, PGAM1, ENO3, ENO2, PGAM2, GAPDH, ALDOA, MDH1, MDH2 | 1.74E-02 | 0.077 | ENO1, GAPDH | 1.26E-13 | 0.385 | -2.53 | PGK1, ENO1, PGAM1, ENO3, ENO2, PGAM2, GAPDH, ALDOA, MDH1, MDH2 | 8.32E-07 | 0.154 | -2.00 | ENO1, ENO3, GAPDH, ALDOA |
| Glycolysis I | 5.01E-14 | 0.385 | -2.53 | PGK1, ENO1, PGAM1, ENO3, PKM, ENO2, PGAM2, GAPDH, ALDOA, Tpi1 | 4.68E-04 | 0.115 | ENO1, PKM, GAPDH | 1.26E-13 | 0.385 | -2.53 | PGK1, ENO1, PGAM1, ENO3, PKM, ENO2, PGAM2, GAPDH, ALDOA, Tpi1 | 7.08E-09 | 0.192 | -1.34 | ENO1, ENO3, GAPDH, ALDOA, Tpi1 |
| Pyrimidine ribonucleotides <i>de novo</i> biosynthesis | 3.39E-03 | 0.085 | -2.00 | AK1, ANXA1, NME2, CMPK1 | 3.24E-02 | 0.043 | AK1, ANXA1 | 4.17E-03 | 0.085 | -2.00 | AK1, ANXA1, NME2, CMPK1 | | | | |
| Pyrimidine ribonucleotides interconversion | 3.39E-03 | 0.089 | -2.00 | AK1, ANXA1, NME2, CMPK1 | 3.16E-02 | 0.044 | AK1, ANXA1 | 3.80E-03 | 0.089 | -2.00 | AK1, ANXA1, NME2, CMPK1 | | | | |
| Oxidative stress ; | and redox h | omeost | tasis | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Glutathione- mediated detoxification | 4.90E-05 | 0.161 | -1.34 | GSTM1, GSTM5, GSTM3, GSTA1, GSTP1 | | | | 8.13E-05 | 0.161 | -1.34 | GSTM1, GSTM5, GSTM3, GSTA1, GSTP1 | | | | |
| Glutathione redox reactions I | 3.89E-04 | 0.167 | -1.00 | GSTM1, GSTA1, GSTP1, PRDX6 | | | | 5.37E-04 | 0.167 | -1.00 | GSTM1, GSTA1, GSTP1, PRDX6 | 9.33E-02 | 0.042 | | PRDX6 |
| NRF2-mediated oxidative stress response | 2.63E-10 | 0.075 | 0.00 | AKR7A2, GSTM1, AKR1A1, FTL, SOD2, ERP29, GSTM5, PRDX1, ACTB, GSTM3, VCP, GSTP1, SOD1, GSTP1, FTH1 | 3.98E-02 | 0.015 | FTL, SOD1, FTH1 | 1.26E-08 | 0.070 | 1.34 | AKR7A2, GSTM1, AKR1A1, FTL, SOD2, ERP29, GSTM5, ACTB, GSTM3, VCP, GSTP1, FTH1 GSTP1, FTH1 | 2.39E-01 | 0.005 | | ACTB |
| Methylglyoxal degradation III | 3.39E-03 | 0.158 | | AKR7A2, AKR1A1, AKR1B1 | | | | 2.24E-04 | 0.211 | -1.00 | AKR7A2, AKR1A1, AKR1B1, AKR1B10 | 8.91E-02 | 0.053 | | AKR1B1 |
| The table shows analysis), grouped | canonical pé 1 in function. | ithways i al clustei | for which a rs of typic. | at least one z-score α al PD-associated path | ould be calcu ways. p-valu | ilated for the fo. ie, The p-value | ur effects (SCB ; of the overlap w | and DCB flu | id effects ad bv Fis | s, additive e her's exact | ffects for SCB+AG, test and corrected t | and DCB+, | AG – cal | culated in t | he mixed mo |



proteins that were not identified in the proteomics experiment.

PDE resembles diluted plasma and exhibits a stable composition of major (high abundance) components (Herzog et al., 2018). However, some serum proteins were significantly altered in our experimental groups, indicating systematic effects. Serum proteins tend to bind to cell surfaces and receptor molecules as scaffolding proteins, individually and in complexes, as extensively investigated in the setting of uremia (Duranton et al., 2012), such that gentle washing fails to remove them completely. Sub-surface plasma proteins may represent proteins retained in the intercellular space or transported via transcellular transport in the top layer of the tissue, a poorly understood process previously described in PD (Balafa et al., 2011). Plasma protein association in surface tissue might also reflect PDF-induced increase in peritoneal tissue vascularization closer to the peritoneal surface (Williams et al., 2002; Schaefer et al., 2018). Taken together, we can systematically rule out that the observed plasma proteins are mere contamination but can reflect specific pathophysiologic conditions. Any pre-analytic manipulation of the material by depleting plasma proteins might therefore introduce additional unwanted artifacts masking potentially relevant changes of the peritoneal surface proteome.

For this challenge, we devised a method to estimate the proportion of plasma protein using external information about protein and express spot volume in terms of its proportion of the overall protein volume that is not of plasma origin. The TMM procedure is well established to normalize library sizes between samples of RNAseq experiments (Abbas-Aghababazadeh et al., 2018). This is conceptually similar to the processing step that normalizes overall protein amount between gels (Chawade et al., 2014). For our experiment, we have modified this procedure to normalize the overall abundance of non-plasma proteins between samples. Using this statistical workflow that compensated for experimental covariates by normalization and scaling of gel data, along with application of a linear mixed model, we were able to discriminate the effects of chronic PDF exposure and of those of AlaGln addition compared to a single control PET dwell with PDF.

Single-chamber bag and dual-chamber bag peritoneal dialysis fluids produced similar changes in regulation of protein abundance compared to control. Pathway analyses based on proteins differentially expressed after treatment with different fluids are consistent with previously described deleterious effects of PDF. The most prominently enriched processes and pathways after 5 weeks of chronic treatment with SCB or DCB PDFs were attributable to the clusters "cytoskeletal reorganization processes" (reflecting tissue damage and cell differentiation), "immune response", "altered metabolism" (including but not limited to glucose), and "oxidative stress and redox homeostasis", suggesting that the chronic rat model represents a good surrogate for chronic clinical PD. Although proteomic modification by the AlaGln effect was not as prominent as that produced by the PDF effect (as indicated by fewer significantly altered protein spots), the AlaGln-associated enriched processes were more closely related to repair processes. Importantly, the protein expression associated with several of the enriched processes changed or even reversed in the AlaGlntreated group, suggesting inactivation by AlaGln of otherwise activated pathways.

Single-chamber bag and dual-chamber bag peritoneal dialysis fluids revealed a similar but non-identical pattern in the cluster of cytoskeletal reorganization pathways, suggesting the cluster's coverage not only of tissue damage from bioincompatible fluid toxicity, but also actin cytoskeleton signaling related to tissue transformation and cellular *trans*-differentiation. Interestingly, changes in several small GTPase pathways ("Signaling by Rho Family GTPases", "RhoGDI and RhoA Signaling") correlated more strongly with DCB than with SCB PDF. Only RhoGDI and RhoA were significant with SCB PDF. RhoGDI signaling was inhibited, whereas other GTPase pathways were activated, despite similar protein patterns, suggesting the observed signaling changes likely represent the effector level, with different upstream regulators eliciting a common phenotype. Also interesting was that 14-3-3-mediated signaling was altered only by SCB PDF. 14-3-3-mediated signaling pathways include several upstream regulators of GSK-3β, activated in immortalized mesothelial cells by the acidic PDFs, Dianeal and Extraneal, but not by the neutralized PDFs, Physioneal and Balance (Rusai et al., 2013). These findings might inform future mechanistic experiments upstream of GSK-3^β. The cytoskeletal reorganization pathways were not significantly enriched as a function of AlaGln addition, perhaps reflecting normalization of these processes by AlaGln, or inadequate sensitivity of the proteomic technologies used here. In the case of this "cytoskeletal reorganization" cluster, performance of the harvest PET with the same fluid used for chronic treatment might have been a better choice.

In the cluster of immune response pathways, acute phase response signaling was the central pathway activated by both SCB and DCB PDFs. The pattern of regulation shows upregulation acute phase response activators and downregulation of acute phase response inhibitors, with one prominent exception of retinol binding protein 1 (RBP1, the intra-cellular counterpart of RBP4) which has been identified in almost all studies in PDE, including our own (Herzog et al., 2018). Among activated proteins are components of the complement cascade (also significantly enriched but without calculated z-score). The similarity of SCB and DCB PDFs in acute phase pathway activation patterns is consistent with studies in human biopsies from children on PD with biocompatible fluids (Schaefer et al., 2018). However, the acute response upregulation present at time of harvest might not be maintained at longer equilibration times, since PET duration of the animal experiment was shorter than the typical human dwell time. Indeed, levels of positive acute phase response proteins increase as early as 4-5 h following a single inflammatory stimulus. While this reasoning applies to the control animals, the upregulation observed in the animals undergoing 5 weeks of PD must be considered a chronic effect.

The effect of AlaGln addition is the inverse of the effects of SCB and DCB PDF, leading to inactivation of the acute phase response signaling pathway. In this pathway STAT3 appears to be a signaling hub that is influenced by PDF and AlaGln, perhaps reflecting the differential O-GlcNAcylation (of e.g., STAT proteins) associated with PDF (Herzog et al., 2014). The affected parts of the acute phase response signaling pathway include several complement proteins, and indeed the same effect can be observed for this pathway. Complement system activation was recently reported to be activated by DCB PDFs in correlation with vasculopathy, as shown by transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of pediatric peritoneal biopsies (Bartosova et al., 2018). Down-regulation of the complement system supports the clinical finding that AlaGln addition improves biomarkers of peritoneal health even when combined with biocompatible fluids (Vychytil et al., 2018).

In the cluster of "metabolism" pathways, we found deactivation of glycolysis-associated pathways due to significant downregulation of several glycolytic enzymes in response to SCB and DCB PDF. This is particularly interesting, as SCB and DCB PDF are compared to control and therefore the observed downregulation is between a one-off PET with SCB PDF and chronic treatment for 5 weeks. The downregulation could reflect regulatory adaptation to the chronic high glucose environment and is consistent with earlier in vitro studies in which glycolytic enzymes were upregulated following a single exposure to glucose-based PDF, but downregulated compared to glucose exposure alone (Lechner et al., 2010). Future studies should determine if this downregulation is relative to the normal peritoneum (without PET) or represents regression to control levels. The similar SCB and DCB PDF results may reflect their identical glucose concentrations, although an influence of GDP content might have been anticipated. AlaGln addition to DCB PDF down-regulated key enzymes (ENO1, ENO2, GAPDH, and ALDOA) more broadly than when added to SCB PDF (ENO1 and GAPDH) only. This downregulation could indicate adaptation of glycolytic flux with added glutamine, however, the observation of differential effect in DCB PDF needs to be investigated in further studies.

The regulated pathways of the redox cluster include those associated with glutathione turnover, as well as oxidative stress responses linked to the inflammasome and GDP degradation. In particular, the NRF2-mediated oxidative stress response pathway was significantly enriched under both SCB and DCB PDF conditions, but appeared activated only by DCB PDF, based on the differential abundance pattern. The NRF2 pathway was further enriched for the AlaGln effect under SCB conditions, whereas AlaGln was without significant effect on the NRF2 pathway in the presence of DCB PDF. The reason for this difference is unclear, but suggests worthwhile investigative paths addressing the influences of buffer and GDPs. NRF2 is required for L-1ß secretion and NLRP3 inflammasome activation (Jhang and Yen, 2017), and the NLRP3 inflammasome can contribute to peritonitis in PD patients (Hautem et al., 2017). This IL-1R-dependent effect was blocked by the IL-1R antagonist, anakinra, which latter also limited damage during PDF-induced sterile inflammation (Kratochwill et al., 2011). The neutral pH DCB solution contains significantly lower amounts of toxic GDP. The methylglyoxal degradation pathway was significantly enriched under both SCB and DCB PDF conditions. However, only after chronic treatment with DCB was this pathway's activity reduced following a PET with GDPrich SCB PDF.

Alanyl-glutamine has been shown to mediate beneficial effects when added to PDFs in cell culture and clinical studies (Kratochwill et al., 2012, 2016; Herzog et al., 2017). The first long-term data of AlaGln addition were recently obtained in a multicenter phase II trial (Vychytil et al., 2018), showing improved immune competence as assayed by *ex vivo* stimulated cytokine release of peritoneal leukocytes, and peritoneal membrane protection as indicated by increased CA-125 levels. The fact that CA-125 is the only established biomarker for membrane status in PD reflects our inadequate

understanding of membrane damage and protection (Aufricht et al., 2017). *In vitro* mechanistic work suggests a role of protein post-translational modification with O-GlcNAc in mesothelial cell cultures exposed to AlaGln-supplemented PDF (Herzog et al., 2014), but AlaGln effects on the peritoneal membrane have not yet been studied directly. Future studies with human biopsy material will be needed to validate the relevance of our findings in the clinical setting of PD.

The presence of serum proteins among the pathways altered by AlaGln was not expected, since the initial goal of this harvesting procedure was to obtain a pure mesothelial cell sample. However, the systematic effects of PDF and of AlaGln on the lysate levels of these proteins suggests the possibility that their presence may indicate more than plasma contamination or insufficient pre-lysis washing, perhaps even enabling study of paracellular protein transport.

The PET before harvest of the peritoneal surface lysate used SCB PDF in all arms of the chronic experiment, including control, DCB, and SCB. The options for the experiment were performing the PET with same fluid as the chronic treatment or with the same fluid in all groups. In this study, we decided for the latter. The advantages are the absence of matrix effects and improved the ability to compare isolated effects of the chronic treatment phase. The approach may have blunted differences between the solutions. The differences demonstrated may therefore be even more pronounced without PDF fluid type switch. This fluid type switch during the PET may also have induced short term changes. The 90 min PET is probably too short for changes in the protein profile of the surface tissue, but some effluent proteins such as cytokines may be sensitive to this switch, and due to rapid mesothelial secretion could influence the between-group differences generated during the chronic phase. The exposure of control animals to glucosebased PDF for the first time in our protocol may have increased induction of the stress response (Kratochwill et al., 2016). This condition resembles a first exposure of cultured cells to PDF and might explain why in vitro biocompatibility experiments often fail to replicate clinical outcomes. In one of the first proteomics studies we indeed showed that mesothelial cells exhibit a more adequate stress response to first SCB PDF exposure than to a subsequent repeat exposure (Kratochwill et al., 2009). Comparison of chronic treatment in rats to control may therefore be analogous to comparison of the stress response in patients on chronic PD compared to their initial exposure to PDF (when the stress response is physiologically active).

Further limitations of the experimental setting include the absence of a catheter in the control group. Our model only compares the effect of chronic PD (incl. a catheter) to the state of the healthy peritoneum. Including a catheter control would have enabled separating the effects of the fluid from the effects of the catheter alone but would also have doubled the amount of comparisons. Finally, the animals were not uremic, as nephrectomy would have increased the experimental complexity and variability and would have required additional controls. Investigating the effect of uremia on the observed peritoneal surface processes may be enabled by this study in combination with clinical material, such as biopsies (Bartosova et al., 2018) or PD effluent (Herzog et al., 2018) from patients with varying levels of uremia.

This study is the first description of the peritoneal surface proteome during chronic PD in a well-established rat model of PD. Combined proteomic and bioinformatic investigation of the effects of different PDFs and of AlaGln supplementation in a chronic rat model proved feasible, despite considerable biological variation in this in vivo model. The proteomic method allowed extensive characterization of the peritoneal surface composition and biological processes occurring during chronic PD. By normalizing signals from cellular proteins separately from plasma proteins, assessment of PDF exposure-induced changes in the stress proteome of resident peritoneal mesothelial cells was feasible. Chronic PDF exposure in the in vivo rat model activated pathways associated with tissue damage and cell differentiation, immune responses, altered metabolism, and oxidative stress. AlaGln addition attenuated deleterious processes associated with membrane damage, and activated processes linked to membrane protection, consistent with recent in vitro and clinical findings.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the European Union Guideline on Animal Experiments. The protocol was approved by the animal care committee of the Vrije Universiteit of Amsterdam.

REFERENCES

- Abbas-Aghababazadeh, F., Li, Q., and Fridley, B. L. (2018). Comparison of normalization approaches for gene expression studies completed with highthroughput sequencing. *PLoS One* 13:e0206312. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0206312
- Aufricht, C., Beelen, R., Eberl, M., Fischbach, M., Fraser, D., Jorres, A., et al. (2017). Biomarker research to improve clinical outcomes of peritoneal dialysis: consensus of the European Training and Research in Peritoneal Dialysis (EuTRiPD) network. *Kidney Int.* 92, 824–835. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.037
- Balafa, O., Halbesma, N., Struijk, D. G., Dekker, F. W., and Krediet, R. T. (2011). Peritoneal albumin and protein losses do not predict outcome in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 6, 561–566. doi: 10.2215/cjn. 05540610
- Bartosova, M., Schaefer, B., Bermejo, J. L., Tarantino, S., Lasitschka, F., Macher-Goeppinger, S., et al. (2018). Complement activation in peritoneal dialysisinduced arteriolopathy. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 29, 268–282. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2017040436
- Bender, T. O., Bohm, M., Kratochwill, K., Lederhuber, H., Endemann, M., Bidmon, B., et al. (2010). HSP-mediated cytoprotection of mesothelial cells in experimental acute peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 30, 294–299. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00024
- Bender, T. O., Bohm, M., Kratochwill, K., Vargha, R., Riesenhuber, A., Witowski, J., et al. (2011). Peritoneal dialysis fluids can alter HSP expression in human peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 1046–1052. doi: 10. 1093/ndt/gfq484
- Chawade, A., Alexandersson, E., and Levander, F. (2014). Normalyzer: a tool for rapid evaluation of normalization methods for omics data sets. *J. Proteome Res.* 13, 3114–3120. doi: 10.1021/pr401264n
- Davies, S. J. (2013). Peritoneal dialysis-current status and future challenges. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 9, 399–408. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2013.100

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB contributed to the *in vivo* experiment, sample preparation, data analysis and interpretation, and manuscript preparation. RH contributed to the sample preparation, data analysis and interpretation, and manuscript preparation. FK contributed to the statistical data analysis. AL and AW contributed to the 2D-DiGE and MS analysis. MU contributed to the data analysis. RB contributed to the supervision of *in vivo* experiments and critical reading of the manuscript. SA contributed to the data interpretation and critical reading of the manuscript. CA contributed to the study concept, data interpretation, and critical reading of the manuscript. KK contributed to the study concept, data analysis and interpretation.

FUNDING

The financial support by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Science, Research and Economy and the National Foundation for Research, Technology and Development is gratefully acknowledged.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2019.00472/full#supplementary-material

- Del Peso, G., Jimenez-Heffernan, J. A., Selgas, R., Remon, C., Ossorio, M., Fernandez-Perpen, A., et al. (2015). Biocompatible dialysis solutions preserve peritoneal mesothelial cell and vessel wall integrity. A case-control study on human biopsies. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 36, 129–134. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00038
- Duranton, F., Cohen, G., De Smet, R., Rodriguez, M., Jankowski, J., Vanholder, R., et al. (2012). Normal and pathologic concentrations of uremic toxins. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23, 1258–1270. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011121175
- Ferrantelli, E., Liappas, G., Vila Cuenca, M., Keuning, E. D., Foster, T. L., Vervloet, M. G., et al. (2016). The dipeptide alanyl-glutamine ameliorates peritoneal fibrosis and attenuates IL-17 dependent pathways during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 89, 625–635. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.005
- Garcia-Lopez, E., Lindholm, B., and Davies, S. (2012). An update on peritoneal dialysis solutions. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 8, 224–233.
- Hautem, N., Morelle, J., Sow, A., Corbet, C., Feron, O., Goffin, E., et al. (2017). The NLRP3 inflammasome has a critical role in peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 28, 2038–2052. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016070729
- Herzog, R., Bender, T. O., Vychytil, A., Bialas, K., Aufricht, C., and Kratochwill, K. (2014). Dynamic O-linked N-acetylglucosamine modification of proteins affects stress responses and survival of mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluids. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 25, 2778–2788. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2013101128
- Herzog, R., Boehm, M., Unterwurzacher, M., Wagner, A., Parapatics, K., Majek, P., et al. (2018). Effects of alanyl-glutamine treatment on the peritoneal dialysis effluent proteome reveal pathomechanism-associated molecular signatures. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 17, 516–532. doi: 10.1074/mcp.RA117.000186
- Herzog, R., Kuster, L., Becker, J., Gluexam, T., Pils, D., Spittler, A., et al. (2017). Functional and transcriptomic characterization of peritoneal immunemodulation by addition of alanyl-glutamine to dialysis fluid. *Sci. Rep.* 7:6229. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-05872-2
- Jhang, J. J., and Yen, G. C. (2017). The role of Nrf2 in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Cell Mol. Immunol. 14, 1011–1012. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.114

- Jorres, A., Bender, T. O., Finn, A., Witowski, J., Frohlich, S., Gahl, G. M., et al. (1998). Biocompatibility and buffers: effect of bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis fluids on peritoneal cell function. *Kidney Int.* 54, 2184–2193. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00178.x
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Gruber, K., Lichtenauer, A. M., Kuster, L., et al. (2016). Addition of alanyl-glutamine to dialysis fluid restores peritoneal cellular stress responses - a first-in-man trial. *PLoS One* 11:e0165045. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0165045
- Kratochwill, K., Boehm, M., Herzog, R., Lichtenauer, A. M., Salzer, E., Lechner, M., et al. (2012). Alanyl-glutamine dipeptide restores the cytoprotective stress proteome of mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluids. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 27, 937–946. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr459
- Kratochwill, K., Lechner, M., Lichtenauer, A. M., Herzog, R., Lederhuber, H. C., Siehs, C., et al. (2011). Interleukin-1 receptor-mediated inflammation impairs the heat shock response of human mesothelial cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* 178, 1544– 1555. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.12.034
- Kratochwill, K., Lechner, M., Siehs, C., Lederhuber, H. C., Rehulka, P., Endemann, M., et al. (2009). Stress responses and conditioning effects in mesothelial cells exposed to peritoneal dialysis fluid. *J. Proteome Res.* 8, 1731–1747. doi: 10.1021/ pr800916s
- Lechner, M., Kratochwill, K., Lichtenauer, A., Rehulka, P., Mayer, B., Aufricht, C., et al. (2010). A proteomic view on the role of glucose in peritoneal dialysis. *J. Proteome Res.* 9, 2472–2479. doi: 10.1021/pr9011574
- Robinson, M. D., and Oshlack, A. (2010). A scaling normalization method for differential expression analysis of RNA-seq data. *Genome Biol.* 11:R25. doi: 10.1186/gb-2010-11-3-r25
- Rusai, K., Herzog, R., Kuster, L., Kratochwill, K., and Aufricht, C. (2013). GSK-3beta inhibition protects mesothelial cells during experimental peritoneal dialysis through upregulation of the heat shock response. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 18, 569–579. doi: 10.1007/s12192-013-0410-6
- Schaefer, B., Bartosova, M., Macher-Goeppinger, S., Sallay, P., Voros, P., Ranchin, B., et al. (2018). Neutral pH and low-glucose degradation product dialysis fluids induce major early alterations of the peritoneal membrane in children on peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 94, 419–429. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018. 02.022
- Schaefer, B., Bartosova, M., Macher-Goeppinger, S., Ujszaszi, A., Wallwiener, M., Nyarangi-Dix, J., et al. (2016). Quantitative histomorphometry

of the healthy peritoneum. Sci. Rep. 6:21344. doi: 10.1038/srep 21344

- Schmitt, C. P., and Aufricht, C. (2016). Is there such a thing as biocompatible peritoneal dialysis fluid? *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 32, 1835–1843. doi: 10.1007/s00467-016-3461-y
- Topley, N., Kaur, D., Petersen, M. M., Jorres, A., Williams, J. D., Faict, D., et al. (1996). In vitro effects of bicarbonate and bicarbonate-lactate buffered peritoneal dialysis solutions on mesothelial and neutrophil function. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 7, 218–224.
- Vychytil, A., Herzog, R., Probst, P., Ribitsch, W., Lhotta, K., Machold-Fabrizii, V., et al. (2018). A randomized controlled trial of alanyl-glutamine supplementation in peritoneal dialysis fluid to assess impact on biomarkers of peritoneal health. *Kidney Int.* 94, 1227–1237. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.08.031
- Williams, J. D., Craig, K. J., Topley, N., Von Ruhland, C., Fallon, M., Newman, G. R., et al. (2002). Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 470–479.

Conflict of Interest Statement: CA is co-founder of Zytoprotec GmbH, a spin-off of the Medical University Vienna that holds the patent "Carbohydrate-based peritoneal dialysis fluid comprising glutamine residue" (International Publication Number: WO 2008/106702 A1). RH, AL, AW, MU, and KK are former employees of Zytoprotec GmbH.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a past collaboration with the authors.

Copyright © 2019 Boehm, Herzog, Klinglmüller, Lichtenauer, Wagner, Unterwurzacher, Beelen, Alper, Aufricht and Kratochwill. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Abnormalities in Glucose Metabolism, Appetite-Related Peptide Release, and Pro-inflammatory Cytokines Play a Central Role in Appetite Disorders in Peritoneal Dialysis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Joon (Kyungjoon) Lim, La Trobe University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Elizabeth Ruth Gilbert, Virginia Tech, United States Mark Andrew Cline, Virginia Tech, United States

*Correspondence:

Lorena Avila-Carrasco lacdoc_@hotmail.com Manuel López-Cabrera mlcabrera@cbm.csic.es

[†] These authors have contributed equally to this work as first authors

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work as last authors [§]In memoriam

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 23 October 2018 Accepted: 03 May 2019 Published: 28 May 2019

Citation:

Avila-Carrasco L, Pavone MA, González E, Aguilera-Baca Á, Selgas R, del Peso G, Cigarran S, López-Cabrera M and Aguilera A (2019) Abnormalities in Glucose Metabolism, Appetite-Related Peptide Release, and Pro-inflammatory Cytokines Play a Central Role in Appetite Disorders in Peritoneal Dialysis. Front. Physiol. 10:630. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00630 Lorena Avila-Carrasco^{1*†}, Mario A. Pavone^{2†}, Elena González³, Álvaro Aguilera-Baca⁴, Rafael Selgas³, Gloria del Peso³, Secundino Cigarran⁵, Manuel López-Cabrera^{6*‡} and Abelardo Aguilera^{1‡§}

¹ Unidad Académica de Medicina Humana y Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad Autónoma de Zacatecas, Zacatecas, Mexico, ² Servicio de Nefrología Hospital Can Misses, Ibiza, Spain, ³ Servicio de Nefrología, Instituto de Investigación Biomédica Princesa, Hospital Universitario la Paz, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Madrid, Spain, ⁴ Facultad de Ciencias Médicas, Hospital Escuela, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Honduras, Honduras, ⁵ Servicio de Nefrología, Hospital da Costa–Burela, Burela, Spain, ⁶ Centro de Biología Molecular-Severo Ochoa, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas–Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Spain

Background: Appetite disorders are frequent and scantly studied in peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients and are associated with malnutrition and cardiovascular complications.

Objective: We investigated the relationship between uremic insulin resistance, proinflammatory cytokines, and appetite-related peptides release (ARPr) with eatingbehavior disorders in PD patients.

Methods: We included 42 PD patients (12 suffering anorexia, 12 obese with high food-intake, and 18 asymptomatic) and 10 controls. We measured blood levels of ARPr including orexigens [neuropeptide-Y (NPY), ghrelin, and nitric-oxide], anorexigens [cholecystokinin, insulin, corticotropin-releasing factor, leptin, and adiponectin (Ad)], and cytokines (TNF- α , sTNF α -R2, and IL-6) both at baseline and after administering a standard-food stimulus (SFS). We also measured the expression of TNF- α , leptin and Ad-encoding mRNAs in abdominal adipose tissue. We compared these markers with eating motivation measured by a Visual Analog Scale (VAS).

Results: Anorexics showed both little appetite, measured by a VAS, and low levels of orexigens that remained constant after SFS, coupled with high levels of anorexigens at baseline and after SFS. Obeses showed higher appetite, increased baseline levels of orexigens, lower baseline levels of anorexigens and cytokines and two peaks of NPY after SFS. The different patterns of ARPr and cytokines pointed to a close relationship with uremic insulin resistance. In fact, the euglycemic–hyperglycemic clamp

135

reproduced these disorders. In anorexics, TNF- α fat expression was increased. In obese patients, leptin expression in fat tissue was down-regulated and showed correlation with the appetite.

Conclusion: In PD, appetite is governed by substances that are altered at baseline and abnormally released. Such modulators are controlled by insulin metabolism and cytokines and, while anorexics display inflammatory predominance, obese patients predominantly display insulin resistance.

Keywords: appetite peptides, pro-inflammatory cytokines, insulin resistance, fat tissue gene expression, peritoneal dialysis, euglycemic-hyperglycemic clamp

INTRODUCTION

Malnutrition is a severe and frequent (20–40%) complication in peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients. Its cause is not entirely known but it has been associated with the accumulation of proinflammatory cytokines, as well as metabolic and eating behavior disorders (EBD) (Owen et al., 1999). EBD in PD patients may range from anorexia to obesity with high food intake. Anorexia is the main obstacle to achieve an adequate nutritional status, while obesity is frequently associated with protein malnutrition, inducing a Kwashiorkor-like syndrome (Aguilera et al., 2004b).

In renal patients there is an accumulation in plasma of uremic toxins., PD is an essential daily life-saving treatment for end-stage renal failure and involves the exchange of solutes and the excess of water between blood and dialysis solution across the peritoneal membrane, which results in gradual reduction of uremic solutes and toxins (Raby and Labéta, 2018; Nigam and Bush, 2019). Reduced appetite (anorexia) is an early and usual symptom of uremic syndrome (Carrero et al., 2007, 2008). Anorexia in dialysis patients has been historically considered as a sign of uremia due to "inadequate" dialysis. Additionally the inflammation may also play a role in the genesis of appetite disorders in these patients (Aguilera et al., 2004b; Chazot, 2009).

Appetite is regulated by numerous organs, including the liver, the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and the brain. The hypothalamus, is the main regulating region of the brain for appetite and energy homeostasis, involving counter-regulation of appetite by orexigenic molecules, including neuropeptide-Y (NPY), ghrelin and nitric-oxide and anorexigenic molecules, such as proopiomelanocortin (POMC), cholecystokinin (CCK), insulin, corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF), leptin, adiponectin (Ad), and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Yu and Kim, 2012).

It has been shown that low NPY serum levels are associated with anorexia in PD patients (Aguilera et al., 1998, 2004a; Yu and Kim, 2012). NPY is a 36-amino acid peptide and is the most abundant and widely distributed neuropeptide in the human brain (Adrian et al., 1983). In the periphery, NPY is expressed primarily in sympathetic ganglia, the adrenal medulla, and in platelets (Larhammar, 2001; Hirsch and Zukowska, 2012). The main effects of NPY are increased food intake and decreased physical activity. It also increases the proportion of energy stored as fat and blocks nociceptive signals to the brain. In regards of its role in obesity, it has been shown that an increase in NPY is caused by high levels of glucocorticosteroids through directly activating type II glucocorticosteroids receptors and indirectly, by abolishing the negative feedback of CRF on NPY synthesis and release (Brothers and Wahlestedt, 2010).

Corticotropin-releasing factor is a 41-aa neuropeptide secreted by neurons in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (Vale et al., 1981), this has a role in the regulation of ACTH release and also the major physiological regulator of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis (Smagin et al., 2001; Sabzevari et al., 2019), and has an important role in the control of food intake (Tanaka et al., 2009). CRF has been measured in peripheral plasma in several diseases, stress situations, and HPA disorders and it has been suggested that the major proportion of plasma CRF has a hypothalamic origin (Suda et al., 1985; Cunnah et al., 1987; Ellis et al., 1990; Wittert et al., 1991; Donald et al., 1994; Catalán et al., 1998).

The pathogenesis of the wide spectrum of appetite disorders in uremia is unknown. The accumulation of appetite-related peptides (ARPs) and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Aguilera et al., 1993) upon renal failure may alter the hunger-satiety cycle. Both ARPs and cytokines might interact and potentiating each other, producing a wide range of eating behavior responses. In this context, it has been shown that CCK and interleukin-1 (IL-1) may synergize to worsen anorexia and that TNF- α may interfere with the orexigenic effect of neuropeptide-Y (NPY) (Xu et al., 1988; Daun and McCarthy, 1993).

Given the proposed definition of "malnutrition, inflammation, and atherosclerosis" (MIA) syndrome, dialysis patients may suffer from two types of malnutrition: Type-I malnutrition, in reference to a severe form of cachexia due to high plasma levels of inflammatory mediators that produce systemic catabolic effects, being anorexia one of the most important symptoms; and Type-II malnutrition, that is usually mild and reversible, and that is barely mediated by inflammation (Stenvinkel et al., 2000).

The other important groups of features that regulate appetite are associated with glucose and insulin metabolism (Isganaitis and Lustig, 2005). It is well known that uremic state is associated with insulin resistance (Zoccali et al., 2005) and a clear relationship between insulin release, glucose metabolism, ARP-release (ARPr) and pro-inflammatory cytokines has been established (Kalra et al., 2008). IL-1 and TNF- α induce insulin resistance and the sense of satiety that acts on the hypothalamus (central anorexia) (Isganaitis and Lustig, 2005). Some ARP and cytokines retained during renal failure contribute to the perpetuation of insulin resistance and to the establishment of chronic appetite disorders (Aguilera et al., 2004a; Zoccali et al., 2005). In this sense, fat tissue plays a crucial role in insulin metabolism, controlling the release of peptides and cytokines (Isganaitis and Lustig, 2005; Axelsson, 2008). The abnormalities in leptin, Ad or resistin fat gene expression indicate that the influence of fat tissue on such metabolism is particularly affected by uremia (Kalra et al., 2008).

We were interested in defining the relationship between ARPr, circulating cytokines, insulin resistance, fat gene expression and EBD in PD patients. This population is of particular interest, since PD patients are exposed to constant peritoneal glucose absorption, which may worsen disorders of glucose metabolism and directly induce central anorexia (Aguilera et al., 2004b; Kalra et al., 2008). In some cases, the tendency toward high plasma levels of anorexigen peptides is thought to reflect the disequilibrium between orexigens and anorexigens (Aguilera et al., 2004b). However, not all PD patients suffer anorexia under similar conditions, suggesting that factors like peritoneal glucose absorption and insulin metabolism, or dialysis clearance, influence on appetite control. Accordingly, we hypothesize that disturbances in the secretion and/or renal retention of ARP and inflammatory cytokines, all of which act on fat tissue and are associated with insulin resistance, induce different EBD, ranging from anorexia to obesity with high food intake.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We included 42 clinically stable PD patients (20 males and 22 females), 20 with continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and 22 with automated PD. The causes of chronic renal failure were nephrosclerosis in 15 patients, glomerulonephritis in 11, polycystic kidney disease in 8, systemic disease in 4 and unknown in 4. Of these 42 PD patients: 12 suffered anorexia, 12 were obese with high food-intake and 18 were asymptomatic. We excluded diabetic patients, and those suffering from neoplasias, chronic or acute infections, liver, and rheumatoid diseases. We also included 10 healthy controls. This research was carried out in accordance with Good Clinical Practice Guidelines, applicable regulations as well as the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki. All of included patients signed a written consent.

Dialysis Adequacy and Nutritional Markers

Urea-Kt/V and nPNA (normalized protein nitrogen appearance) were calculated by standard methods (Selgas et al., 1993). Long-term nutritional markers in plasma/serum were analyzed: creatinine, albumin, cholesterol (colorimetric method, Hitachi 704) and transferrin were assayed by immunonephelometric methods (Boering Nephelometric-Terminal S.A., Spain) and serum iron (Hitachi 911). Medium-term nutritional markers were also assessed, plasma prealbumin and retinol-binding protein (RBP) immunonephelometric method). Serum growth hormone (GH) was determined by ELISA (AIA 1200; Tosoh Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), normal value <5 ng/mL. Serum IGF-I was determined by radioimmunoassay, RIA

(Nichols Institute Diagnostics, San Juan Capistrano, CA, United States), normal range between 83 and 450 ng/mL. The short-term nutritional markers analyzed in serum were: urea nitrogen, phosphate, and potassium. The mean daily dietary intake was determined from the individual 24-h food records over a 3-day period (Food composition tables, Wander-Sandoz Nutrition, Barcelona, Spain; Jiménez Cruz et al., 1990).

Anthropometric parameters explored were: triceps skin-fold (TSF), mid-arm circumference (MAC), and mid-arm muscle circumference [MAMC (cm) = MAC (cm) – $3.14 \times$ TSF (cm)]. The TSF was determined using a caliper (Holtain Ltd., Cross-well, Crymych, Dyfed, United Kingdom). Body composition was determined through bioelectric impedance (BI: multi-frequency, Maltron BF 905, United States).

Eating Motivation Analysis

To evaluate eating motivation in the patients, we use Visual Analog Scale (VAS), which includes five questions. The results were given in a horizontal scale (0–100) (Hylander et al., 1997). Anorexia was defined by three criteria: low eating motivation measured by VAS, that was considered when the mean of all answers was <60; low food intake (nPNA < 1.1 g/kg/day and daily dietary assessment <35 kcal/kg/day); and low nutritional markers (according to KDOQI clinical practice guideline of nutrition) (Kopple, 2001; Aguilera et al., 2004b).

Obesity with high food intake was considered when the BMI was higher than 30 kg/m^2 , and eating motivation (VAS) and daily food intake was high (Hylander et al., 1997).

According to body composition, nutritional status, eating motivation and the knowledge derived from eating behavior disorders studied in other medical areas (Robins et al., 1988; American Psychiatric Association, 2013), we divided our patients into three groups: suffering anorexia (n = 12), obesity (n = 12) with high food intake or without EBD (n = 18). Finally, we included a control group of 10 health volunteers.

We evaluate the appetite peptide modulators at the baseline (fasting condition), as well as 30, 60, and 90 min after the ingestion of a standard 750 mL nutritional supplement (FresubinTM, Fresenius, Medical Care, Germany). They were analyzed according to manufacturer recommendation. These peptides included:

Hormones and Peptides Related to Insulin Resistance

- Glucose: assayed by the hexokinase reaction (Boehringer Mannheim, Germany). The normal fasting range from 90 to 120 mg/dL.
- (2) Insulin (Sorin; Biomedica, Saluggia, Italy): normal range 10–15 μ U/mL.
- (3) C-peptide (Medigenix; Diagnostics Fleurus, Belgium): normal range 0.5–3 ng/mL.
- (4) Glucagon (ICN Biomedicals, Irvine, CA, United States): normal range 70–90 pg/mL.
- (5) Gastric inhibitory peptide (GIP; ELISA, Peninsula Laboratories, Inc., Belmont, CA, United States): normal range 35–52 pg/mL.

Insulin Resistance (IR) Test

- (1) Insulin resistance (IR) was estimated using the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA-IR). HOMA-IR = Fasting insulin (μ U/mL) × fasting glucose (mg/dL)/405. Low-IR values indicate high insulin sensitivity, whereas high-HOMA values indicate low insulin sensitivity (insulin resistance) (Matthews et al., 1985).
- (2) Euglycemic hyperinsulinemic clamp studies were performed to discriminate the effect of hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia separately on ARPr. We followed the methodology of DeFronzo et al. (1979).

Anorexigenic Peptides

- (1) Cholecystokinin, the 26–33 unsulfated fragment (ELISA, Peninsula Laboratories, Inc., Belmont, CA, United States): normal values 12–20 pg/mL.
- (2) Leptin (RIA, Linco Research, St. Louis, MO, United States): normal range 3–7.8 ng/mL.
- (3) Adiponectin (Ad; RIA, Linco Research, St. Charles, MO, United States): normal values in our population were 25–33 μg/mL.
- (4) Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF; ELISA, Easia Medigenix Diagnostics S.A., Belgium): normal range 20–40 pg/mL.

Orexigenic Peptides

- Neuropeptide Y (NPY; ELISA, Peninsula Laboratories, Inc., Belmont, CA, United States): normal range 220–370 pg/mL.
- (2) Nitric oxide (NO) measured as serum nitrate NO₃, a final metabolite of NO, by capillary electrophoresis: normal range in 109 healthy volunteers was between 90 and 110 μ mol/L.
- (3) Ghrelin, the ¹²⁵I-Ghrelin (RIA, Linco Research, St. Charles, MO, United States): normal range 900–2,500 pg/mL.

Cytokines Acting on Appetite Control

- Tumor necrosis factor (TNF-α) and IL-1, were determined by ELISA (Easia Medigenix, Diagnostics S.A., Belgium), normal ranges were 3–20 pg/mL and 1–16 pg/mL, respectively.
- (2) IL-6 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, United States: normal range 0.25–1.5 pg/mL).
- (3) TNF-α receptor-2 (sTNFα-R2; BioSource Europe, Nivelles, Belgium: normal range 1–7.8 ng/mL).

Quantitative RT-PCR Analysis in Abdominal Fat Tissue

Gene expression was assayed in abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue obtained from elective surgery (controls) and PD catheter placement when patients started PD or during PD catheter exchange. The samples were placed into warm saline, snaps frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C. For quantitative RT-PCR analysis frozen tissue samples were lysed in TRI-Reagent (Ambion, Inc., Austin, TX, United States) using a Polytron homogenizer to extract total RNA. Complementary DNA was obtained from 1 μ g of RNA by reverse transcription according to manufacturer's recommendations using High Capacity RNA to cDNA kit (Applied Biosystems, Cheshire, United Kingdom) as described previously (Sandoval et al., 2016). Quantitative PCR was carried out in a Light Cycler 480 using the FastStart Universal Probe Master (ROX) (Roche Applied Science) with the following program: 50°C, 2 min; 95°C, 10 min; 60 cycles of 95°C, 15 s and 60°C, 10 s; 4°C; and specific primers sets for human adiponectin, leptin, TNF- α and glyceraldehyde-3 phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) mRNAs (**Supplementary Table S1**) (Ruiz-Carpio et al., 2017). Data normalized to the housekeeping gene TBP were analyzed using the $2^{-\Delta \Delta Ct}$ method.

Statistical Analysis

Results are given as the mean \pm SD and range. The comparisons between groups were performed using a non-parametric test, the Mann–Whitney rank-sum U test. Spearman regression analysis and "t" student tests were used for paired and non-paired data. To analyze the statistical differences between the groups, the ARPr serum curves and the VAS (tables and graphic curves) we used the variance multi-factor analysis (ANOVA). Figure 4, box plots show the 25th and 75th percentiles, median, minimum and maximum values of five independent experiments. The symbols represent the statistical differences between the groups. In figures, statistic differences between the groups data were performed using triple factor ANOVA test and Mann-Whitney rank sum U test using the SPSS statistic package version 14.5 (Chicago, IL, United States) and GraphPad Prism version 4.0 (La Jolla, CA, United States). A "p" value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The demographic and basal biochemical characteristics of the subjects are shown in **Table 1**. The most relevant findings were that anorexic patients were older and had significantly lower levels of nutritional markers and residual renal function (creatinine clearance). No differences were found in the frequency of EBD between CAPD vs. automated techniques. In CAPD group, seven from twelve patients were anorexics, six obese and eight were asymptomatics. Similarly, there were no differences in the distribution of EBD by gender. Six from 12 women were anorexics, seven obese, and nine were asymptomatics.

Visual Analog Scale (VAS)

The analysis of the VAS applied to the different groups indicated that the anorexic patients had a lower eating motivation and obese the higher eating desire (**Table 2**).

Insulin Resistance Markers

Supplementary Figures S1A-E show the changes in glucose, insulin, glucagon, C-peptide and GIP after FresubinTM intake. PD patients showed higher baseline levels of these markers and "lazy" curves (especially in obese and anorexics) than controls.

Disturbances in Appetite Modulators in PD Patients

TABLE 1 | Baseline differences between the groups (PD patients).

| Parameter | Anorexic | Obese | Asymptomatic | Controls | Р |
|-------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|
| Age (years) | 66.4 ± 10(a,d) | 56.3 ± 7.1 (b) | 49.7 ± 14(a,c) | 43 ± 4.7 (b,d) | (a,b,c,d) < 0.05 |
| DP duration (m) | 36.8 ± 32.3 | 23 ± 11.5 | 45.5 ± 46.7 | | NS |
| CCr (mL/min) | 0.5 ± 0.45(a) | 1.42 ± 1.01 (b) | 1.38 ± 1.39(c) | 101 ± 7(a,b,c) | (a,b,c) < 0.00 |
| nPNA (g/kg/día) | 0.87 ± 0.21(a) | 1.1 ± 0.25 | 1.14 ± 0.11(a) | | (a) < 0.05 |
| KT/V de urea | 2 ± 0.25 | 1.98 ± 0.33 | 2.17 ± 0.33 | | NS |
| Serum Urea (mg/dL) | $152 \pm 21(a)$ | 159 ± 45 (b) | $146 \pm 51(c)$ | 28 ± 4(a,b,c) | (a,b,c) < 0.00 |
| Cr (mg/dL) | 10.4 ± 2(a) | 11.3 ± 2(b) | 10.5 ± 3(c) | 1 ± 0.2(a,b,c) | (a,b,c) < 0.00 |
| Cholesterol (mg/dL) | 174 ± 57.4 | 211 ± 55.6 | 188 ± 56 | 184 ± 30 | NS |
| Albumin (g/dL) | 3.7 ± 0.08(a,b) | 4 ± 0.2(a) | 3.9 ± 0.4 | 5 ± 0.4 (b) | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| Transferrin (mg/dL) | 209 ± 36 | 262 ± 47 | 205 ± 50.7 | 303 ± 57.2 | NS |
| Prealbumin (mg/dL) | 26 ± 7(a,b) | 31 ± 2.9(a) | 31 ± 7.5 | $34 \pm 3(b)$ | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| RBP (mg/dL) | 8.4 ± 3(a,b) | 11.5 ± 3(a) | $13 \pm 2(b)$ | 5.3 ± 1.2 | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| IGF-I (ng/mL) | 257.5 ± 122(a) | 370 ± 142.7(a) | 365 ± 224.6 | 205 ± 91.2 | (a) < 0.05 |
| GH (ng/mL) | 3.4 ± 3.8 | 4 ± 4.8 | 2.2 ± 1.4 | 1.7 ± 1.7 | NS |
| TSF (cm) | 9.5 ± 4(a,b) | 24.2 ± 11.4(a) | 22.3 ± 9.4 (b) | 19.9 ± 10.1 | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| BSF (cm) | 4 ± 0.6(a,b,c) | 18.6 ± 7.3(a) | 11.4 ± 8.6 (b) | $13.7 \pm 9.5(c)$ | (a,b,c) < 0.05 |
| AMMC (cm) | 24.2 ± 1.4 (a,b) | 27.4 ± 2(a,c) | $23.9 \pm 13(c)$ | $36.1 \pm 13(b)$ | (a,b,c) < 0.05 |
| Diet survey (kcal/day) | 1277 ± 467.4(a,b,c) | 2320 ± 179.4(a) | 2006 ± 351 (b) | $2089 \pm 339(c)$ | (a) < 0.01 (b,c) < 0.05 |
| Fat (kcal/day) | 60.4 ± 28.9(a,b) | 102 ± 23.2(a,c) | $98 \pm 22(b)$ | $74.7 \pm 15(c)$ | (a,b,c) < 0.05 |
| Proteins (kcal/day) | 63 ± 18(a) | 85.7 ± 16.6(a) | 83.8 ± 13.7 | 74.5 ± 21.8 | (a) < 0.05 |
| Carbohydrate (kcal/day) | 98 ± 41(a,b,c) | 227 ± 71(a) | 155.5 ± 27 (b) | $248.8 \pm 67(c)$ | (a,b,c) < 0.01 |
| BIP. BMI (kg/m ²) | 23 ± 2(a) | 31.1 ± 3(a,b) | 25 ± 2 | 24 ± 1.5 (b) | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| BIP. Lean (kg) | 22.8 ± 3.7(a,b) | $30.4 \pm 4.5(a)$ | 25.4 ± 2.8 | 28.6 ± 5.7 (b) | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| BIP. Fat (kg) | 18 ± 5.4(a) | 25 ± 8.8(a,b) | 13.5 ± 5.3 (b) | 18.7 ± 4.2 | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| IPB. Water (L) | 35.7 ± 5.3(a) | 43.7 ± 7.7(a) | 37.7 ± 5.4 | 36.6 ± 5.8 | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| TNF-α (pg/mL) | 121 ± 43.8 (a,b,c) | 40 ± 11.6(a,c) | 38.2 ± 16 (b,c) | $16 \pm 4(c)$ | (a,b) < 0.01 (c) < 0.001 |
| IL-1 (pg/mL) | 6.12 ± 0.8 (a,b,c) | 2.1 ± 0.43 (a,c) | 2.2 ± 1.34 (b,c) | $1 \pm 0.8(c)$ | (a,b,c) < 0.001 |
| IL-6 (pg/mL) | 9.3 ± 3(a,b) | 11 ± 5.2 (c,d) | $5.4 \pm 2(a,d)$ | 2 ± 1.2 (b,c) | (a,b,c) < 0.05 (c) < 0.01 |
| Adiponectin (pg/mL) | 29.2 ± 4.2(a) | 20.1 ± 7.8 (b) | $30.3 \pm 7.7(c)$ | 9.8 ± 2.4 (a,b,c) | (a,b,c) < 0.01 |
| HOMA-IR | 7.8 ± 1.9(a,b) | 10.4 ± 5.1 (c,d) | 3.5 ± 0.8 (a,c) | 2.48 ± 0.04 (b,c,d) | (a) < 0.05 (b,c,d) < 0.01 |

Letters represent the statistical differences between the groups (read in horizontal). CCr, creatinine clearance. Cr, serum creatinine. RBP, retinol protein binding. IGF-I, insulin growth factor type I. GH, growth hormone. TSF, tricipital skin fold. BSF, bicipital skin fold. AMMC, arm muscular mean circumference. BIP, bioelectric impedance. BMI, body mass index. (a–d) Represents the statistical differences between the groups. Statistical comparisons were made group by group (Mann–Whitney U test).

TABLE 2 | Eating motivation measured with VAS in PD patients suffering EBD.

| VAS | Patients | Anorexics (n = 12) | Obese (<i>n</i> = 12) | Asymptomatics (n = 18) | Controls (n = 10) | Р |
|-------|----------------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|
| Desir | re to eat before lunch | 60 ± 6.1 (a,b) | 76.6 ± 6 (a) | 67.8 ± 6.9 | 72.8 ± 3.9 (b) | (a,b) < 0.01 |
| Desir | e to eat after lunch | 8.6 ± 2.2 (a) | 21.6 ± 4 (a) | 13.2 ± 5 | 13.5 ± 8.5 | (a) < 0.05 |
| Hung | ger before lunch | 60 ± 6.1 (a,b,c) | 78.3 ± 6 (a) | 68.6 ± 4.7 (b) | 74.3 ± 4.5 (c) | (a) < 0.01 (b,c) < 0.05 |
| Hung | ger after lunch | 8 ± 4.4 (a,b) | 21.6 ± 4 (a,c) | 12.8 ± 5.5 (c) | 17.1 ± 4.8 (b) | (a,b,c) < 0.01 |
| Fulln | ess before lunch | 28 ± 8.4 (a,b) | 18.8 ± 2.5 | 12.5 ± 4.2 (a) | 11.8 ± 4.1 (b) | (a,b) < 0.01 |
| Fulln | ess after lunch | 81 ± 5.4 (a) | 59.1 ± 19.6 (a,b) | 77 ± 5.6 (b) | 77 ± 5.6 (a) | (a,b) < 0.05 |
| Pros | pective consumption before lunch | 59 ± 5.5 (a,b,c) | 78.3 ± 4 (a) | 71.4 ± 3.7 (b) | 75.7 ± 4.5 (c) | (a,c) < 0.001 (b) < 0.01 |
| Pros | pective consumption after lunch | 6 ± 2.2 (a,b,c) | 25 ± 5.4 (a,b,d) | 12.3 ± 2.7 (b,c) | 13.5 ± 4.7 (c,d) | (a-b) < 0.001 (d) < 0.01 |
| Palat | ability | 60 ± 7 (a,b,c) | 75 ± 5.4 (a) | 71.4 ± 4.7 (b) | 74.3 ± 5.3 (c) | (a-c) < 0.01 |
| | | | | | | |

VAS, Visual Analog Scale is measured in a horizontal scale, maximum value 100. EBD, eating behavior disorder. PD, peritoneal dialysis. Letters represent the statistical differences (read in horizontal) Mann–Whitney U test.

Anorexigenic Peptide Release After Food Intake

The anorexic patients had high basal and elevated plasma CCK levels 30 min after FresubinTM intake (Figure 1A), in parallel with the peak rise in glucose and insulin (Supplementary Figures S1A,B). The CCK increment in obese patients was

clearly weaker and retarded. In regard to leptin, obese patients showed highest values and flat curve. No single group showed changes in leptin levels (**Figure 1B**) after food stimulus. In relation to adiponectin, obese patients had the lowest baseline levels from PD groups. All groups showed a postprandial decrease without peaks. On the contrary, the control group



FIGURE 1 | Abnormal anorexigen peptide and pro-inflammatory cytokine release in PD patients with eating behavior disorders. Panel (A) shows the CCK release after food consumption. Anorexic patients show a very important increase 30 min after FresubinTM intake that fell slightly at 60 and 90 min without reaching the basal CCK values. This peak explains the poor appetite (VAS) and the early satiety showed by these patients after food intake (Tables 1-3). The remaining groups had flat curves, except for the controls that maintained the peak values at 30 and 60 min. Obese patients did not show differences along of the curve. P < 0.0001 global statistical difference between the groups (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (B) shows flat curves of leptin without any modification over time. All PD patients had high basal leptin plasma levels especially the obese group. P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (C) shows high adiponectin levels in PD patients, especially in the anorexic and asymptomatic patients when compared with the controls. All PD groups show a progressive and significant decrease over time and the control subjects show a peak at 30 min that fell at 90 min. Panel (D) shows the changes in plasma CRF levels after food intake. In normal conditions, CRF levels peak at 30 min and then decrease to values in the normal range after 90 min (controls) p < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test). However, anorexic patients show an important elevation at 60 min possibly perpetuating the lack of appetite started by the CCK peak at 30 min (A) and the high basal adiponectin levels (C). P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (E) shows the changes in TNF-α plasma levels after standard food intake. Anorexic patients show the highest basal plasma levels and they increase to nearly 200 pg/mL at 30 min, returning to the basal levels after 90 min. Obese and asymptomatic patients have parallel curves with peaks at 30 min and returning to basal levels after 60 min. P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (F) shows the changes in IL-6 and the important peak developed by the anorexics patients at 30 min that continued to rise slowly to a maximum after 90 min. In the remaining groups IL-6 peaked at 30 min but it decreased at 60 and 90 min. Panel (G) shows the changes in sTNFa-R2 for which the anorexic patients again had the highest values that decrease after eating, while maintaining the highest values over the entire time of the curve. However, after its levels fall at 60 and 90 min, they remained constant. Obese and asymptomatic patients and the controls showed parallel falls, P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test).

showed an important peak at 30 min that declined at 60 and 90 min (Figure 1C).

Corticotropin-releasing factor, other ARP that increased after eating, showed the highest basal levels in obese, with a peak at 30 min and a mild decrease after 90 min. By contrast, the CRF levels in anorexic patients peaked at 60 min with an important decrease after 90 min reaching similar values to the remaining groups (**Figure 1D**).

Orexigen Peptide Release After Food Intake

Anorexic patients had lower basal levels of NPY and there was a significant decrease in NPY 90 min after eating (**Figures 2A–C**). The obese patients had higher basal NPY levels and they experienced a significant increase 30 min after eating and remaining stable for up to 90 min (**Figure 2A**).

Postprandial changes in NO₃ plasma values were evident and PD patients showed higher basal levels than the controls (**Figure 2B**). All groups showed an important decrease at 30 min after eating and except in obese patients in whom maximal levels were evident after 60 min, NO₃ levels peaked after 90 min.

In regard to ghrelin, anorexic patients showed a dramatic fall in ghrelin 30 and 60 min after food consumption (**Figure 2C**) in comparison with the remaining groups. All groups showed similar values of ghrelin at 90 min after food stimulus.

Cytokine Release After Food Stimuli

Anorexic patients had higher basal TNF- α and IL-6 levels with important "peaks" 30 and 60 min after food consumption that did not fall after 90 min (**Figures 1E,F**). The curves from obese and asymptomatic patients displayed intermediate values between those of anorexic and control patients. The values for soluble TNF- α -receptor-2 (sTNF α -R2) were again highest in the anorexic patients and they decreased after eating albeit these patients maintained the highest values at all times (**Figure 1G**).

Glucose Clamp (Euglycemic and Hyperglycemic)

We found important differences in insulin sensitivity between PD patients and controls. The obese and anorexic patients

showed higher insulin resistance compared with asymptomatic and controls (**Supplementary Table S2**).

Induction of Appetite-Related Peptide and Cytokine Release Disorders With Euglycemic Clamp

The constant administration of insulin to maintain stable levels of glucose in the euglycemic clamp permitted us to evaluate the influence of exogenous insulin and glucose administration on ARPr, bypassing the GIT. Both stimuli (glucose and insulin) were necessary and crucial to induce ARPr reproducing the abnormal patterns found in anorexic patients (peaks of CCK and CRF, **Figures 3A,C**), cytokines (peaks of TNF- α , sTNF α -R2, and IL-6) after eating in anorexic patients. Importantly, TNF-α and sTNF\alpha-R2 secretion was consistently higher in anorexic patients (Figures 3D–F), suggesting that TNF- α was not able to auto-regulate its fat receptor (sTNFa-R2) and release. Moreover, in anorexics CCK and CRF maintained their elevated plasma levels at the end of the curves. Similarly, obese patients showed NPY peak with orexigenic action which had not declined after 90 min of follow-up (Figure 2D). NO3 and ghrelin showed a dramatic decline at 60 and 90 min (Figures 2E,F) reproducing the similar patterns showed in anorexic and obese patients after food stimulus, except by the last part of the curves.

Relationship Between Cytokines, ARPr, and Insulin Resistance Marker

Given the known influence of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines on insulin-glucose metabolism and their eventual relation with ARPr, we study their possible association as a framework. In the whole group, we found a positive linear correlation between plasma TNF- α levels and IL-1 (0.75, p < 0.005), as well as between IL-1 and GIP (0.46, p < 0.05), IL-1 and HOMA-IR (0.43, p < 0.05), and TNF- α and HOMA-IR (0.5, p < 0.05). In obese patients, there was a positive linear correlation between TNF- α and leptin (0.56, p < 0.05) and there appeared to be a linear correlation with *Ad* although this was not statistically significant (-0.43, p < 0.07, NS). These results suggest that there may be a feedback that would perpetuate a metabolic framework that would influence the feeding behavior.



FIGURE 2 | Abnormal orexigenic peptide release (spontaneous and after euglycemic clamp) in PD patients with eating behavior disorders. All PD patients have higher NPY plasma levels (the most orexigenic peptide known) than controls (A). P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). In the control group, NPY levels peaked at 30 min followed by a decrease at 60 and 90 min to values below the baseline. Importantly, obese patients show a peak (the highest) at 30 min with a mild fall at 60 min and a rebound at 90 min. The appetite desire shows important correlation with these peaks (Table 2). Asymptomatic and anorexic patients show almost "flat curves." With regards NO (represented by NO₃), we found important baseline differences between PD patients and controls. After food intake, all patients show an important fall in plasma NO3 levels at 30 min, except asymptomatic patients that show this fall at 60 min with a rebound at 90 min. Obese patients show an early fall, rebound at 60 min and a second fall at 90 min. Anorexic patients had a similar curve as the rest but they did not show a second fall (B). P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). The basal ghrelin plasma levels were higher in obese and lower in anorexic patients and an important fall occurs in all patients that is most pronounced in the anorexic patients (C). P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). Variance multi-factor analysis (ANOVA). Euglycemic clamp reproduced the abnormalities in orexigenic peptide release found in PD patients. After glucose and insulin infusion, the change in NPY in obese patients shows an important peak at 30 min that was maintained during the study (D). P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test). Controls and the anorexic patients had lower values than the baseline with a virtually flat curve. The basal plasma NO₃ levels were higher in the PD patients than in the controls, showing a strong fall to reach similar values as in the controls at 30 min (E). P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). The plasma NO₃ levels were very similar between the groups at later times. With regards ghrelin, the obese patients have higher plasma levels and the anorexic patients the lowest. There was a decrease in NO3 after glucose and insulin infusion that followed a very similar pattern in all groups. P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). The plasma NO₃ levels were very similar between the groups at later times. There was a decrease in NO₃ after glucose and insulin infusion that followed a very similar pattern in all groups. With regards ghrelin (F) the obese patients have higher plasma levels and the anorexic patients the lowest. P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test).



FIGURE 3 [Euglycemic clamp reproduced the abnormalities in anorexigenic peptide pro-and inflammatory cytokine release found in PD patients. A euglycemic clamp permits us to evaluate the effect of insulin and exogenous glucose administration on ARPr, by-passing the gastrointestinal tract. The hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia induced are sufficient to abnormally release CCK (A). P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test). Anorexic patients maintain their CCK peak when compared with the remaining groups. With regards adiponectin, PD patients had higher plasma levels when comparison to the controls (B). P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test). The obese patients show lower values than the anorexic and asymptomatic patients. All PD patients showed an important fall between 30 and 90 min. By contrast, controls had elevated levels that peaked at 30 min and then fell at 60 and 90 min. Another important anorexigen substance, CRF, also shows important changes and in anorexic patients high levels were reached at 60 min that were maintained until 90 min. The remaining groups show intermediate peaks (C). P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). The changes TNF- α , IL-6, and sTNF α -R2 after glucose and insulin infusion are shown in (D–F). Euglycemic clamp reproduced the different curves from anorexic, obese and asymptomatic patients and controls found after eating. However, the ends of the curves (60 and 90 min) were flat, possibly due to the stable and high insulin and glucose levels maintained by the euglycemic clamp. P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test).
The Relationship Between ARPr and Cytokines May Promote Uremic Anorexia

In anorexic patients, there was a positive linear correlation between basal IL-1 and CCK (0.45, p < 0.05), while TNF- α showed a negative correlation with ghrelin (-0.66, p < 0.01). Similarly, NPY showed a negative linear correlation with basal IL-1 (-0.52, p < 0.05) and TNF- α (-0.51, p < 0.05), and a positive relationship with CRF (0.51, p < 0.01). Finally, basal leptin levels were negatively correlated with ghrelin (-0.54, p < 0.01). After food consumption, NPY was negatively correlated with basal IL-1 after 30 and 90 min (-0.64, p < 0.01 and -0.61, p < 0.01, respectively).

The Relationship Between ARPr and Insulin Resistance May Promote High Food Intake in Obese Patients

In this group, we found a positive linear correlation between basal serum leptin and basal BMI (0.6, p < 0.01), fat mass (by BIA: 0.67, p < 0.01), NO₃ (0.51, p < 0.05), HOMA-IR (0.66, p < 0.01), and Ad (-0.54, p < 0.01). Likewise, NPY was positively correlated with ghrelin (0.45, p < 0.05). After food stimuli, the NPY levels after 90 min showed a positive linear relationship with all points of the leptin curve at baseline, 30, 60, 90 min, (0.51, p < 0.05; 0.67, p < 0.01; 0.63, p < 0.01, respectively).

Relationship Between ARPr, Cytokine, and Appetite Desire (VAS)

Appetite desire was positively correlated with NPY and negatively correlated with CCK (basal and post-stimuli, **Figures 2A** and **1A**, respectively, **Tables 3**, **4**) and TNF- α in the whole group, suggesting a cause–effect relationship between these molecules and VAS. In anorexic patients TNF- α and CCK showed an inverse correlation with appetite desire, especially 30 min after eating (**Table 3**). TNF- α was associated with the sensation of fullness and poor palatability, as well as to poor prospective food consumption 90 min later. In obese patients NPY showed the strongest relationship with VAS, especially 30 min after

food intake, and it was associated with high palatability and a stronger desire for prospective consumption 90 min after eating (Table 3).

Appetite-Related Gene Expression in Abdominal Fat Tissue

The TNF- α gene was over-expressed in all uremic patients, and anorexic patients showed higher mRNA expression than other groups (**Figure 4A**). Importantly, TNF- α gene expression was positively correlated with TNF- α plasma levels (0.66, p < 0.05). Obese patients had the lowest fat leptin expression, which was negatively correlated with plasma leptin levels (-0.54, p < 0.0.5), indicating a negative feedback that down-regulated the expression of this gene (**Figure 4B**). All patients showed lower global Ad fat expression than controls, and the lowest expression was evident in obese patients (**Figure 4C**).

Relationship Between Fat Appetite-Related Gene Expression and Insulin Resistance

There was a positive linear correlation between plasma insulin (**Supplementary Figure S1B**) and fat TNF- α expression (0.55, p < 0.01), as well as a negative relationship between plasma insulin and fat leptin expression (0.34, p < 0.05) or fat Ad expression (0.44, p < 0.05) (**Figures 4A–C**). Similarly, HOMA was positively related with fat TNF- α expression (0.64, p < 0.01) and it was negatively related to fat leptin expression (0.5, p < 0.01).

Relationship Between Fat Appetite-Related Gene Expression and Appetite Desire (VAS)

Table 5 shows the relationships between TNF- α , leptin and Ad gene expression, and appetite, measured by VAS, in anorexic and obese patients. The participation of TNF- α and its association with VAS was predominant in anorexic patients.

TABLE 3 | Relationship between anorexigens/orexigens and VAS in anorexics PD patients.

| | | сск- | ССК- | сск- | ССК- | NPY- | NPY- | NPY- | NPY- | |
|---------------|--------------------------|--------|---------|---------|---------|--------|--------|--------|--------|------------------------|
| VAS Pe | Peptides (#) | 0 min | 30 min | 60 min | 90 min | 0 min | 30 min | 60 min | 90 min | TNF-α ^{&} |
| Desire to eat | t before lunch | -0.34* | -0.6** | -0.52** | -0.4* | 0.36* | 0.33* | 0.38* | | -0.56** |
| Desire to eat | t after lunch | | -0.43* | | | 0.46* | 0.4* | | | |
| Hunger befo | re lunch | -0.41* | -0.66** | -0.47* | -0.5** | | | 0.34* | | -0.66** |
| Hunger after | lunch | | -0.55** | -0.52** | -0.53** | | | | | |
| Fullness afte | r lunch | | | | 0.55** | -0.46* | -0.6** | | 0.51** | 0.52** |
| Prospective | consumption before lunch | | | | -0.48* | 0.48* | 0.34* | | 0.47* | -0.48* |
| Prospective | consumption after lunch | | | -0.4* | | | | 0.56** | | |
| Palatability | | -0.5* | -0.53** | | -0.75** | | 0.42* | | 0.42* | -0.6** |
| Hunger 2 h k | pefore lunch | | -0.38* | -0.4* | -0.6** | | | 0.34* | | -0.5** |
| Satiety 2 h a | fter lunch | | 0.53** | | 0.42* | | | | | |

VAS, Visual Analog Scale. PD, peritoneal dialysis. #, means the time after the food stimulus; &, baseline. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

| TABLE 4 | Relationship be | tween anorexigens/ | orexigens and VA | S in obese PD | patients. |
|---------|-----------------|--------------------|------------------|---------------|-----------|
|---------|-----------------|--------------------|------------------|---------------|-----------|

| | | CCK- | ССК- | ССК- | ССК- | NPY- | NPY- | NPY- | NPY- | |
|-----------|-------------------------------|--------|---------|---------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|------------------------|
| VAS | Peptides (#) | 0 min | 30 min | 60 min | 90 min | 0 min | 30 min | 60 min | 90 min | TNF-α ^{&} |
| Desire to | o eat before lunch | | -0.41** | | -0.38* | 0.5** | 0.58** | | 0.4* | |
| Desire to | o eat after lunch | -0.38* | | -0.38* | -0.48* | | 0.54** | | | |
| Hunger | before lunch | -0.5* | -0.36* | -0.58** | -0.35* | 0.4* | 0.38* | 0.55** | | -0.31* |
| Hunger | after lunch | | -0.38* | -0.39* | -0.33* | 0.33* | 0.54** | | 0.5** | |
| Fullness | after lunch | 0.43* | | | | -0.34* | -0.34* | | | |
| Prospec | tive consumption before lunch | | | | | 0.57** | 0.6** | 0.37* | 0.53** | -0.33* |
| Prospec | tive consumption after lunch | | | -0.37* | | | 0.53** | 0.51* | 0.53** | |
| Palatabi | lity | -0.46* | | -0.56** | | | 0.41* | | 0.63** | -0.37* |
| Hunger | 2 h before lunch | | | | -0.35* | | 0.51** | 0.56** | 0.7** | |
| Satiety 2 | 2 h after lunch | | | 0.35* | | | | | -0.44* | |

VAS, Visual Analog Scale. #, means the time after the food stimulus; &, baseline. Linear correlations: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.



FIGURE 4 Expression of genes related to eating behavior disorders in PD patients in abdominal subcutaneous fat (qPCR). PD patients show higher fat tissue TNF- α expression than controls. The highest TNF- α expression was in the anorexic patients, with obese and asymptomatic patients showing intermediate expression. The high TNF- α plasma levels present in anorexic patients did not inhibit the TNF- α expression in fat suggesting that in uremia, fat tissue is an important source of pro-inflammatory cytokines (**A**). With regards leptin expression in fat tissue, the obese patients show an important downregulation of leptin gene expression in fat when compared to the remaining groups. This down expression may be associated with a negative feedback loop induced by the high plasma TNF- α levels. Anorexic and asymptomatic patients express intermediate levels of leptin between obese patients and controls (**B**). Panel (**C**) shows the adiponectin expression, which was lower in the fat from PD patients than in controls. As expected, obese patients expressed adiponectin the weakest and again, anorexic and asymptomatic patients to those of obese patients and controls. Box plots show the 25th and 75th percentiles, median, minimum and maximum values of five independent experiments. The symbols represent the statistical differences between the groups (ANOVA one-way and Mann–Whitney rank sum *U* test).

DISCUSSION

There are three important findings arising from this study:

- (1) We have identified well-defined patterns of EBD in dialysis patients, defined by the VAS and nutritional markers (**Table 1** and **Supplementary Table S2**).
- (2) The presence of ARPr disorders associated with insulin resistance and systemic inflammation (Tables 3, 4 and Figures 1–4).
- (3) The close relationship between EBD, abnormal ARP, and cytokines release (**Tables 3**, **4**) and cytokines fattissue gene expression (**Table 5** and **Figure 4**).

Characterization of Appetite Disorders in PD Patients

Visual Analog Scale has been used to measure eating motivation and validated in PD, HD, and kidney transplant patients (Hylander et al., 1997). Employing this scale, we demonstrate that patients suffering anorexia showed the minimal score of hunger, lower palatability and eating desire, in conjunction with a sensation of greater fullness, contrasting with the features found in obese patients. Importantly, our patients showed a dietary preference for carbohydrates.

Uremic Insulin Resistance

As it has been demonstrated by others (Zoccali et al., 2005; Kalra et al., 2008), we found different grades of insulin resistance in our PD patients that were related with different EBD.

Baseline Results

Our PD patients showed high spontaneous baseline plasma levels of anorexigenic peptides and cytokines, including C-peptide and GIP, which have an anorexigenic effect mediated by insulinglucose metabolism. Importantly, anorexic patients have the highest plasma levels of anorexigens including TNF- α and low NPY levels (orexigen), as we previously described (Aguilera et al., 1998, 2001). IL-1 and IL-6 are another cytokines associated with loss of appetite (McCarthy et al., 1995). According to our results, patients with anorexia have the lowest RRF and the highest cytokine concentration, suggesting that RRF is a more important determinant of appetite through this *via* than dialysis dose.

Results Following Food Intake

We clearly identified distinct alterations in ARPr pattern in studied groups after food intake. Given these results, we explored the influence of exogenous insulin and glucose administration, together or separately (hyperglycemic and euglycemic clamp), on ARP and cytokine release bypassing the GIT.

Anorexigen Substances

Cholecystokinin is a potent anorexigen with peripheral and central actions that is implicated in the pathogenesis of anorexia nervosa, cancer, senile and alcoholic anorexia (Dupré et al., 1973). In PD patients with anorexia, the plasma levels of CCK were elevated after eating. CCK is also retained in dialysis patients and it is not modified by PD or HD (Peikin, 1989). Previously, we did not find high CCK plasma levels in anorexic patients prior to food stimulus (Aguilera et al., 1998). Here, we identified a "peak" of plasma CCK 30 min after eating (Figure 1A), which may be responsible for the early sensation of fullness. This CCK "peak" was also found in patients with anorexia nervosa and although the exact cause is unknown, this phenomenon is potentially reversible when the nutritional status is recovered (Owyang et al., 1979). Modifications to peripheral insulin activity when nutrition or systemic inflammation improves might explain this phenomenon. By contrast, obese patients showed a delayed CCK "peak" and a similar abnormality may be found in non-uremic patients with bulimia nervosa, where the CCK "peak" is delayed and is 50% lower than those in control (Harty et al., 1991).

Again, the positive linear correlations found between CCK and IL-1, IL-1, and GIP, and GIP and insulin (other anorexigen) may perpetuate the anorexia and the insulin resistance suffered by our patients (Daun and McCarthy, 1993). In fact, a synergic effect between IL-1 and CCK inducing anorexia has been described, while IL-1 and GIP are factors that stimulate insulin release by the pancreas (Geracioti and Liddler, 1988). The euglycemic clamp replayed the same CCK and cytokines release patters (**Figures 3A,D–F**). These results suggest that insulin metabolism

| | | Anorexics | | Obese patients | | | |
|--------------------------------------|---------|-----------|-------------|----------------|--------|-------------|--|
| VAS/gene expression | TNF-α | Leptin | Adiponectin | TNF-α | Leptin | Adiponectin | |
| Desire to eat before lunch | -0.66** | -0.55** | -0.54** | | 0.37* | | |
| Desire to eat after lunch | -0.43* | | | | 0.45* | | |
| Hunger before lunch | -0.4* | -0.55* | -0.34* | | | -0.4* | |
| Hunger after lunch | | | | | | | |
| Fullness after lunch | 0.7** | | | 0.37* | | | |
| Prospective consumption before lunch | | -0.6** | | | 0.56** | | |
| Prospective consumption after lunch | | -0.46* | -0.37* | | | -0.5* | |
| Palatability | -0.5** | | | | | | |
| Hunger 2 h before lunch | -0.41* | | | -0.35* | 0.44* | | |
| Satiety 2 h after lunch | | 0.5* | | | | | |

VAS, Visual Analog Scale. Linear correlations: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

and high grade of systemic inflammation may be key in the induction of anorexia in PD patients.

Leptin is an adipose tissue hormone that modulates appetite and insulin activity in target cells, inducing insulin resistance (Klein et al., 1996). Although, we did not find changes in leptin levels, in non-renal population plasma leptin appears to increase 4 h after food intake (Klein et al., 1996). Unfortunately, we have no data from this time interval.

Adiponectin, in sharp contrast to leptin, plasma Ad levels are negatively correlated with body fat, decreasing with obesity and increasing with weight loss (Liu et al., 2003; Coll et al., 2007). Moreover, hyperadiponectinemia can reduce the food intake in rats (Coope et al., 2008). Here, we found high plasma Ad levels in PD patients, although, the lowest values were registered in obese patients as described elsewhere in non-renal obese (Coll et al., 2007). In normal conditions, Ad levels increase 30 min after food intake and decrease over the following 60 and 90 min. In all our patients the decrease was delayed, the obese patients maintaining the lowest values. It is generally accepted that Ad is negatively related to insulin levels due to its anti-insulin resistance effects (Isganaitis and Lustig, 2005). However, in uremia, the negative feedback between insulin secretion and Ad may be partially broken since adiponectin is retained (Díez et al., 2005). Indeed, the exogenous administration of insulin and glucose in the euglycemic clamp strongly regulated Ad in all studied groups (Figure 3B). Therefore, the differences in Ad release in these patients appear to be mediated by insulin resistance contributing indirectly to EBD in PD patients.

Corticotropin-releasing factor is produced by hypothalamic neurons that exert a central and peripheral anorexigenic effect, inhibiting that of NPY (Kalra et al., 2008). While there were no basal differences between PD patients, 60 min after eating anorexic patients displayed an important peak of CRF that was correlated with VAS. In addition to insulin, one of the most important regulators of CRF activity is plasma cortisol, therefore impaired cortisol suppression may explain EBD in uremia (Deshmukh et al., 2005). Unfortunately, we did not study the circadian variations in plasma cortisol and ACTH. In accordance with our findings, an important disruption in insulin release that may be associated to disorders in CRF secretion and vice-versa has already been observed in patients suffering chronic renal failure (Feneberg et al., 2002). Again euglycemic clamp reproduced the CRF release patters in all groups suggesting a deep dependence of insulin and glucose levels (Figure 3C).

Orexigenic Substances

In normal condition a "peak" of NPY appeared 15–30 min after food intake and may be responsible for hunger persistence, possibly augmenting the sensation of gastric emptiness (Weisman et al., 1998). This explains the popular idea that small snacks before the main meal stimulate appetite. Importantly, this NPY "peak" was absent in our patients with uremic anorexia (**Figure 2A**), who conversely showed a significant decrease in NPY 90 min after eating that fell below the basal values, explaining the early and late lack of appetite seen in anorexics. NPY "peaks" were evident 30 and 90 min after eating in obese patients, which could explain the repetitive and greater amount of food ingested. This post-prandial NPY "peak" rebound at 90 min has been described previously in bulimic patients (Rosenbaum et al., 1997). Moreover, our obese group showed relatively high NPY levels, although within the normal range, which could be associated with high appetite desire. Recent studies suggest the existence of disorders in hunger-hypothalamic receptor sensibility in the non-uremic obese population (Rosenbaum et al., 1997; Weisman et al., 1998). NPY and leptin levels are significantly higher in Zuker (*Ob/Ob*) rats, inducing repetitive and compulsive food intake due to the failure of leptin to inhibit NPY release (Stricker-Krongrad et al., 1994). In uremic status, hypothalamic receptor disorders have been poorly studied, although the parallels in the glucose, insulin and NPY curves and their complex relationship may underlie the excessive and sustained NPY release. Obesity and uremia status may be the maximal expression of this disorder since both are associated with the hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance that might perpetuate the abnormal NPY release. The euglycemic clamp results support the role of insulin metabolism on NPY release (Figure 2D).

But not only carbohydrate intolerance appears to affect appetite in uremia. Cytokines also may be affected by insulin metabolism. We recently demonstrated an inverse relationship between TNF- α and NPY in PD patients, and we speculated that TNF- α may inhibit its orexigenic effect (Xu et al., 1988; Aguilera et al., 1998). We also found a negative linear correlation between NPY and IL-1, supporting the MIA hypothesis (Aguilera et al., 1998). Together, ARPr, TNF- α , IL-6, and s-TNF α -R2 showed important modifications after food stimulus. This parallelism invites to think that pro-inflammatory cytokines may synergize and perpetuate EBD as anorexia in our patients.

Nitric oxide is another important appetite stimulator (Xu et al., 1988; Vallance et al., 1992; Squadrito et al., 1994) and experimentally, a decrease in NO production inhibits appetite (Squadrito et al., 1994). A potent NO-synthase inhibitor accumulated in uremic patients (Vallance et al., 1992) and as a consequence, one might expect dialysis patients to have lower plasma NO₃ values than controls. However, it did not occur. This apparent contradiction may be explained by the uremic retention of inactive forms of NO, represented by NO₃, by the NO relationship with the pool of arginine (its substrate), ornithine, pro-inflammatory cytokines capable of inhibiting NO synthase, endothelin-1 and insulin metabolism (Yan et al., 2008). NO stimulates the insulin release and the equilibrium between NO and endothelin-1 with a predominium of endothelin-1 inducing insulin resistance (Yan et al., 2008). Moreover, high plasma levels of endothelin-1 have been reported in uremics (Roccatello et al., 1997).

On the other hand, modification of NO after food intake and after the euglycemic clamp highlights the role of insulin and uremic insulin resistance on hunger-satiety control (**Figure 2E**). Moreover, the high TNF- α plasma levels shown by anorexic patients may explain the dramatic fall in NO₃ after food stimuli due to decreased NO synthesis perpetuating the early anorexia (Yan et al., 2008).

Ghrelin is another orexigen GIT hormone that is secreted in response to stomach empty. It decreases after food intake, constituting a peripheral negative feedback and increase after weight loss, in fasting condition and insulin induced hypoglycemia (Theander-Carrillo et al., 2006). Ghrelin plasma levels in uremia are generally elevated, although anorexic patients show relatively lower values (Aguilera et al., 2004a). We confirmed our previous findings, that PD patients maintain higher ghrelin plasma levels than controls (**Figure 2C**). Moreover, we confirmed the strong inverse relationship between ghrelin levels and glucose or insulin release after food intake, and that after euglycemic clamping ghrelin maintained its levels in parallel with the insulin and glucose levels (**Figure 2F**).

Not only insulin resistance and inflammation participate in appetite regulation, but the expression of genes in abdominal fat associated with insulin metabolism can also regulate appetite. Fat TNF- α over-expression (**Figure 4A**) is not inhibited by its high plasma levels and in fact, the levels of sTNF α -R2 are maintained, indicating that fat tissue is an important source of pro-inflammatory cytokines in uremia. By contrast, obese subjects have the lowest leptin and *Ad* fat expression (**Figures 4B,C**) indicating their down-regulation in fat, possibly due to negative feedback through their high plasma, as described by elsewhere (Nordfors et al., 1998).

Our results permit to explain the different eating behaviors in PD patients according to different degrees of insulin resistance and systemic inflammation. The euglycemic clamp exactly reproduces the insulin sensitivity and abnormal ARP and cytokines release patterns in anorexics and obese, indicating that glucose-insulin metabolism definitely triggers these appetite disorders.

Finally, other abnormalities as sex hormones, brain neurotransmitters or receptors acquired disorders in uremia (i.e., MC4-r), may contribute to the diversity of EBD in this population (Xu et al., 1988; Cheung et al., 2005; Carrero et al., 2008).

CONCLUSION

In PD patients, EBD are modulated by an abnormal baseline levels of ARP and cytokines, which are abnormally released after food intake and highly dependent of insulin metabolism. The renal ARP retention, the excess of pro-inflammatory cytokines and uremic carbohydrate intolerance, with predominance of inflammation in anorexics or hyperinsulinemia in obese patients, may explain the tendency to develop one or other EBD.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The present study adjusts to the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital Universitario la Princesa, Madrid, Spain. Informed written consent was obtained from all the patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution equally to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants PI 15/00598 from "Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias/Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional" (FIS/FEDER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III to AA and SAF2016-80648R from the "Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad/Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional" (MINECO/FEDER) to ML-C. This work has been also partially funded by project IMPROVE-PD from European Union's Horizon 2020 program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Innovative Training Networks grant no. 812699.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the nurses of Hospital Universitario la Paz, PD unit specially to Olga Celadilla, Victoria Martínez, and María José Castro for their valuable collaboration to perform the present research.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2019. 00630/full#supplementary-material

FIGURE S1 | Insulin resistance markers release in PD patients with eating behavior disorders. Panel (A) shows the glucose release after standard food intake (FresubinTM). PD patients, especially obese patients, show an important and sustained elevation of glucose that reaches values between 150 and 165 mg/dL. In the control group glucose peaks at 30 min, decreasing to normal values at 60 min and then declining at later periods (90 min). P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (B) shows a similar pattern of insulin release as glucose. In obese the insulin curve was highest and maintained around 150 μ U/mL a long the time (90 min). All PD patients showed "lazy curves" with insulin levels between 50 and 90 µU/mL whereas controls show a final decrease in insulin at 90 min. P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (C) shows the glucagon plasma levels in the different groups. Controls show a mild elevation at 60 min with a significant decrease at 90 min. In PD patients the levels remain constant ("flat curves") except for the peak detected in obese patients at 30 min. P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (D) shows the C-peptide curves and again, obese patients have the highest values in the curve. The controls show a peak at 60 min with a significant decrease at 90 min. P < 0.001 (three factor ANOVA test). Panel (E) shows the GIP levels in the groups studied. PD patients display an important elevation at 30 and 60 min (anorexics) with no decrease at later periods, whereas the lowest values were in the controls maintaining the peak at 60 and 90 min. Obese patients showed an important and sustained elevation of glucose that reaches values of 150-165 mg/dL. Control group showed a glucose peaks at 30 min, decreasing to normal values at 60 min and then declining at 90 min. In whole PD patients, a similar pattern of insulin release and glucose was found "lazy curves." Obese showed the highest insulin values with fat curves at later periods, whereas controls show a final decline in insulin curve at 90 min. In regard to glucagon, patients showed elevated baseline levels than controls, especially in obese and anorexics with a small peak at 30 and 60 min, respectively. Controls show a mild elevation at 60 min with a significant decrease at 90 min. The C-peptide a pancreatic insulin reserve marker, showed the highest values in obese. Controls show a peak at 60 min with a significant decrease at 90 min. Figure 1E shows the changes in GIP levels after food stimulus. Anorexic PD patients display an important elevation of GIP at 30 and 60 min which is maintained at later periods, whereas controls showed lowest values with peak at 60 and decreasing at 90 min. P < 0.01 (three factor ANOVA test).

TABLE S1 | Gene primers.

TABLE S2 | Euglycemic (insulin sensitivity) and hyperglycemic clamp study (insulin secretion).

REFERENCES

- Adrian, T. E., Allen, J. M., Bloom, S. R., Ghatei, M. A., Rossor, M. N., Roberts, G. W., et al. (1983). Neuropeptide Y distribution in human brain. *Nature* 306, 584–586.
- Aguilera, A., Cirugeda, A., Amair, R., Sansone, G., Alegre, L., Codoceo, R., et al. (2004a). Ghrelin plasma levels and appetite in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 20, 194–199.
- Aguilera, A., Selgas, R., Díez, J. J., Bajo, M. A., Codoceo, R., and Alvarez, V. (2004b). Eating behavior disorders in uremia: a question of balance in appetite regulation. *Semin. Dial.* 17, 44–52.
- Aguilera, A., Codoceo, R., Bajo, M. A., Díez, J. J., Del Peso, G., Pavone, M., et al. (2001). Helicobacter pylori infection: a new cause of anorexia in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 21, S152–S156.
- Aguilera, A., Codoceo, R., Bajo, M. A., Iglesias, P., Diéz, J. J., Barril, G., et al. (1998). Anorexigen (TNF-α, cholecystokinin) and orexigen (neuropeptide Y) plasma levels in peritoneal dialysis (PD): their relationship with nutritional parameters. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 13, 1476–1483.
- Aguilera, A., Teruel, J. L., Villatruela, J. J., Rivera, M., and Ortuño, J. (1993). Effect of vitamin E administration on erythropoietin values and anaemia in hemodialysis patients. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 8:379.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013).
- Axelsson, J. (2008). The emerging biology of adipose tissue in chronic kidney disease: from fat to facts. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 23, 3041–3046.
- Brothers, S. P., and Wahlestedt, C. (2010). Therapeutic potential of neuropeptide Y (NPY) receptor ligands. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 2, 429–439. doi: 10.1002/emmm. 201000100
- Carrero, J. J., Aguilera, A., Stenvinkel, P., Gil, F., and Lindholm, B. (2008). Appetite disorders in uremia. *J. Ren. Nutr.* 18, 107–113.
- Carrero, J. J., Qureshi, A. R., Axelsson, J., Avesani, C. M., Suliman, M. E., and Kato, S. (2007). Comparison of nutritional and inflammatory markers in dialysis patients with reduced appetite. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 85, 695–701.
- Catalán, R., Gallart, J. M., Castellanos, J. M., and Galard, R. (1998). Plasma corticotropin-releasing factor in depressive disorders. *Biol. Psychiatry* 44, 15–20.
- Chazot, C. (2009). Why are chronic kidney disease patients anorexic and what can be done about it? *Semin. Nephrol.* 29, 15–23.
- Cheung, W., Yu, P. X., Little, B. M., Cone, R. D., Marks, D. L., and Mak, R. H. (2005). Role of leptin and melanocortin signalling in uremia-associated cachexia. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 1659–1665.
- Coll, A. P., Farooqi, I. S., and O'Rahilli, S. (2007). The hormonal control of food intake. *Cell* 129, 251–262.
- Coope, A., Milanski, M., Araújo, E. P., Tambascia, M., Saad, M. J., Geloneze, B., et al. (2008). AdipoR1 mediates the anorexigenic and insulin/leptin-like actions of adiponectin in the hypothalamus. *FEBS Lett.* 582, 1471–1476. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.03.037
- Cunnah, D., Jessop, D. S., Besser, G. M., and Rees, L. H. (1987). Measurement of circulating corticotrophin-releasing factor in man. J. Endocrinol. 113, 123–131.
- Daun, J. M., and McCarthy, D. O. (1993). The role of cholecystokinin in interleukin-1-induced anorexia. *Physiol. Behav.* 54, 237–241.
- DeFronzo, R. A., Tobin, J. D., and Andres, R. (1979). Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. *Am. J. Physiol.* 237, E214–E223.
- Deshmukh, S., Phillips, B. G., O'Dorisio, T., Flanigan, M. J., and Lim, V. S. (2005). Hormonal responses to fasting and refeeding in chronic renal failure patients. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 288, E47–E55.
- Díez, J. J., Iglesias, P., Fernández-Reyes, M. J., Aguilera, A., Bajo, M. A., Alvarez-Fidalgo, P., et al. (2005). Serum concentrations of leptin, adiponectin and resistin, and their relationship with cardiovascular disease in patients with endstage renal disease. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 62, 242–249.
- Donald, R. A., Crozier, I. G., and Foy, S. G. (1994). Plasma corticotrophin releasing hormone, vasopressin, ACTH and cortisol responses to acute myocardial infarction. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 40, 499–504.
- Dupré, J., Ross, S. A., Watson, D., and Brown, J. C. (1973). Stimulation of insulin secretion by gastrin inhibitory polypeptide in man. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 37, 826–828.
- Ellis, M. J., Schmidli, R. S., Donald, R. A., Livesey, J. H., and Espiner, E. A. (1990). Plasma corticotrophin-releasing factor and vasopressin responses to hypoglycemia in normal man. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 32, 93–100.

- Feneberg, R., Sparber, M., Veldhuis, J. D., Mehls, O., Ritz, E., and Schaefer, F. (2002). Altered temporal organization of plasma insulin oscillations in chronic renal failure. *Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87, 1965–1973.
- Geracioti, T. D., and Liddler, R. A. (1988). Impaired cholecystokinin secretion in bulimia nervosa. N. Engl. J. Med. 319, 683–688.
- Harty, R. F., Pearson, P. H., Solomon, T. E., and McGuigan, J. E. (1991). Cholecystokinin, vasoactive intestinal peptide and peptide histamine methionine response to feeding in anorexia nervosa. *Regul. Pept.* 36, 141–150.
- Hirsch, D., and Zukowska, Z. (2012). NPY and stress 30 years later: the peripheral view. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 32, 645–659. doi: 10.1007/s10571-011-9793-z
- Hylander, B., Barkeling, B., and Rössner, S. (1997). Changes in patients eating behavior: in the uremic state, on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis treatment, and after transplantation. Am. J. Kid. Dis. 29, 691–698.
- Isganaitis, E., and Lustig, R. H. (2005). Fast food, central nervous system insulin resistance, and obesity. *Ateroscler. Thromb Vasc. Biol.* 25, 2451–2462.
- Jiménez Cruz, A., Cervera Ral, P., and Bacardí Gascón, M. (1990). Food Composition Tables, 1st Edn. Barcelona: Wander-Sandoz Nutrition.
- Kalra, S. P., Dube, M. G., Pu, S., Xu, B., Horvath, T. L., and Kalra, P. S. (2008). Interacting appetite-regulating pathways in the hypothalamic regulation of body weight. *Endocr. Rev.* 20, 68–100.
- Klein, S., Coppack, S. W., Mohamed-Ali, V., and Landt, M. (1996). Adiposite tissue leptin production and plasma leptin kinetics in human. *Diabetes* 45, 984–987.
- Kopple, J. D. (2001).). National kidney foundation K/DOQI clinical practice guideline nutrition in chronic renal failure. Am. J. Kid. Dis. 37, S66–S70.
- Larhammar, D. (2001). Origins of the many NPY-family receptors in mammals. *Peptides* 22, 295–307.
- Liu, Y. M., Lacorte, J. M., Viguerie, N., Poitou, C., Pelloux, V., Guy-Grand, B., et al. (2003). Adiponectin gene expression in subcutaneous adipose tissue of obese women in response to short-term very low calorie diet and refeeding. *J. Clin. Endicrinol. Metab.* 88, 5881–5886.
- Matthews, D. R., Hosker, J. P., Rudenski, A. S., Naylor, B. A., Treacher, D. F., and Turner, R. C. (1985). Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia* 28, 412–419.
- McCarthy, D. H., Dryden, S., and Williams, G. (1995). Interleukin-1β-induced anorexia and pyrexia in rat: relationship to hypothalamic neuropeptide Y. *Am. J. Physiol.* 269, E852–E857.
- Nigam, S. K., and Bush, K. T. (2019). Uraemic syndrome of chronic kidney disease: altered remote sensing and signalling. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 15, 301–316. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0111-1
- Nordfors, L., Lönnqvist, F., Heimbürger, O., Danielsson, A., Schalling, M., and Stenvinkel, P. (1998). Low leptin gene expression and hyperleptinemia in chronic renal failure. *Kid. Int.* 54, 1267–1275.
- Owen, W., Lew, N., Luí, Y., Lowrie, E., and Lazarus, J. (1999). The urea reduction ratio and serum albumin concentration as predictors of mortality in patients undergoing hemodialysis. N. Eng. J. Med. 329, 1001–1006.
- Owyang, C., Miller, L. J., Dmago, E. P., Brennan, L. A., and Go, V. L. W. (1979). Gastrointestinal hormone profile in renal insufficiency. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 54, 769–773.
- Peikin, R. S. (1989). Role of cholecystokinin in the control of food intake. Gastroenterol. Clin. N. Am. 18, 757–775.
- Raby, A. C., and Labéta, M. O. (2018). Preventing peritoneal dialysis-associated fibrosis by therapeutic blunting of peritoneal toll-like receptor activity. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1692. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01692
- Robins, L. N., Wing, J., Wittchen, H. U., Helzer, J. E., Babor, T. F., Burke, J., et al. (1988). The composite international diagnostic interview: an epidemiologic instrument suitable for use in conjunction with different diagnostic systems and in different cultures. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 45, 1069–1077.
- Roccatello, D., Mengozzi, G., Alfieri, V., Pignone, E., Menegatti, E., Cavalli, G., et al. (1997). Early increase in blood nitric oxide, detected by electron parametric resonance as nitrosyl-haemoglobin, in haemodialysis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 12, 292–297.
- Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R. L., and Hirsch, J. (1997). Obesity. N. Eng. J. Med. 337, 396-406.
- Ruiz-Carpio, V., Sandoval, P., Aguilera, A., Albar-Vizcaíno, P., Perez-Lozano, M. L., González-Mateo, G. T., et al. (2017). Genomic reprograming analysis of the mesothelial to mesenchymal transition identifies biomarkers in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Sci. Rep.* 22, 44941. doi: 10.1038/srep44941

- Sabzevari, S., Rohbani, K., Sadat-Shirazi, M. S., Babhadi-Ashar, N., Shakeri, A., Ashabi, G., et al. (2019). Morphine exposure before conception affects anxietylike behavior and CRF level (in the CSF and plasma) in the adult male offspring. *Brain Res. Bull.* 144, 122–131. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2018.11.022
- Sandoval, P., Jiménez-Heffernan, J. A., Guerra-Azcona, G., Pérez-Lozano, M., Rynne-Vidal, Á, Albar-Vizcaíno, P., et al. (2016). Mesothelial-to-mesenchymal transition in the pathogenesis of post-surgical peritoneal adhesions. *J. Pathol.* 239, 48–59.
- Selgas, R., Bajo, M. A., Fernandez-Reyes, M. J., Bosque, E., Lopez-Revuelta, K., Jimenez, C., et al. (1993). An analysis of adequacy of dialysis in a selected population on CAPD for over 3 years: the influence of urea and creatinine kinetics. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 8, 1244–1253.
- Smagin, G. N., Heinrichs, S. C., and Dunn, A. J. (2001). The role of CRH in behavioral responses to stress. *Peptides* 22, 713–724.
- Squadrito, F., Calapai, D., Altavilla, D., Cucinotta, B., Zingarellt, G. M., Campo, V., et al. (1994). Central serotoninergic system involvement in the anorexia induced by NG-nitro-L-arginine, an inhibidor of nitric oxide synthase. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 255, 51–55.
- Stenvinkel, P., Heimbürger, O., Lindholm, B., Kaysen, G., and Bersgtröm, J. (2000). Are there two types of malnutrition in chronic renal failure? Evidence for relationship between malnutrition, inflammation and atherosclerosis (MIA syndrome). Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 15, 953–960.
- Stricker-Krongrad, A., Max, J. P., Musse, N., Nicolas, J. P., Burlet, C., and Beck, B. (1994). Increase threshold concentration of neuropeptide Y for a stimulatory effect on food intake in obese Zuker rats-changes in the microstructure of the feeding behavior. *Brain Res.* 660, 162–166.
- Suda, T., Tomori, N., Yajima, F., Sumitomo, T., Nakagami, Y., Ushiyama, T., et al. (1985). Immunoreactive corticotropin-releasing factor in human plasma. *J. Clin. Invest.* 76, 2026–2029.
- Tanaka, C., Asakawa, A., Ushikai, M., Sakoguchi, T., Amitani, H., Terashi, M., et al. (2009). Comparison of the anorexigenic activity of CRF family peptides. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 390, 887–891. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009. 10.069
- Theander-Carrillo, C., Wiedmer, P., Cettour-Rose, P., Nogueiras, R., Perez-Tilve, D., Pfluger, P., et al. (2006). Gherlin action in the brain controls adopocyte metabolism. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 1983–1993.

- Vale, W., Spiess, J., Rivier, C., and Rivier, J. (1981). Caracterización de un péptido hipotalámico ovino de 41 residuos que estimula la secreción de corticotropina y beta-endorfina. *Ciencia* 213, 1394–1397.
- Vallance, P., Leone, A., Calver, A., Collier, J., and Moncada, S. (1992). Accumulation of an endogenous ihnibitor of nitric oxide syntesis in chronic renal failure. *Lancet* 339, 572–575.
- Weisman, C. V., Harris, W. A., and Halmi, K. A. (1998). Eating disorders. *Med. Clin. North Am.* 82, 145–159.
- Wittert, G. A., Stewart, D. E., Graves, M. P., Ellis, M. J., Evans, M. J., Wells, J. E., et al. (1991). Plasma corticotrophin releasing factor and vasopressin responses to exercise in normal man. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 35, 311–317.
- Xu, B., Dube, M. G., Kalra, P. S., Farmerie, W. G., Kaibara, A., Moldawer, L. L., et al. (1988). Anorectic effects of the cytokine, ciliary neurotropic factor, are mediated by hypothalamic neuropeptide Y: comparison with leptin. *Endocrinology* 139, 466–473.
- Yan, G., You, B., Chen, S. P., Liao, J. K., and Sun, J. (2008). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha down-regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase mRNA stability via translation elongation factor 1-alpha 1. *Circ. Res.* 103, 591–597.
- Yu, H. J., and Kim, M. S. (2012). Molecular mechanisms of appetite regulation. Diabetes Metab. J. 36, 391–398.
- Zoccali, C., Tripepi, G., Cambareri, F., Catalano, F., Finocchiaro, P., Cutrupi, S., et al. (2005). Adipose tissue cytokines, insulin sensitivity, inflammation, and cardiovascular outcomes in end-state renal disease patients. *J. Ren. Nutr.* 15, 125–130.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Avila-Carrasco, Pavone, González, Aguilera-Baca, Selgas, del Peso, Cigarran, López-Cabrera and Aguilera. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Long Peritoneal Dialysis Dwells With Icodextrin: Kinetics of Transperitoneal Fluid and Polyglucose Transport

Anna Olszowska¹, Jacek Waniewski², Joanna Stachowska-Pietka², Elvia Garcia-Lopez³, Bengt Lindholm^{3*} and Zofia Wańkowicz¹

¹Nephrology Department, Military Institute of Medicine, Central Hospital of the Ministry of Public Defence, Warsaw, Poland, ²Laboratory of Mathematical Modeling of Physiological Processes, Nalecz Institute of Biocybernetics and Biomedical Engineering, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland, ³Division of Renal Medicine and Baxter Novum, Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Karolinska Institutet Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, Stockholm, Sweden

Background and objective: During peritoneal dialysis (PD), the period of effective net peritoneal ultrafiltration during long dwells can be extended by using the colloidal osmotic agent icodextrin but there are few detailed studies on ultrafiltration with icodextrin solution exceeding 12 h. We analyzed kinetics of peritoneal ultrafiltration in relation to icodextrin and its metabolites for 16-h dwells with icodextrin.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Manuel Lopez-Cabrera, Spanish National Research Council (CSIC), Spain

Reviewed by:

Johann Morelle, Cliniques Universitaires Saint-Luc, Belgium Simon J. Davies, Keele University, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Bengt Lindholm bengt.lindholm@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 03 April 2019 Accepted: 03 October 2019 Published: 29 October 2019

Citation:

Olszowska A, Waniewski J, Stachowska-Pietka J, Garcia-Lopez E, Lindholm B and Wańkowicz Z (2019) Long Peritoneal Dialysis Dwells With Icodextrin: Kinetics of Transperitoneal Fluid and Polyglucose Transport. Front. Physiol. 10:1326. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01326 **Design, setting, participants, and measurements:** In 20 clinically stable patients (mean age 54 years; 8 women; mean preceding time on PD 26 months), intraperitoneal dialysate volume (V_D) was estimated from dilution of ¹²⁵I-human serum albumin during 16-h dwell studies with icodextrin 7.5% solution. Sodium was measured in dialysate and plasma. In 11 patients, fractional absorption of icodextrin from dialysate, dialysate, and plasma amylase and high and low (Mw <2 kDa) Mw icodextrin fractions were analyzed. **Results:** Average V_D increased linearly with no difference between transport types. At 16 h, the cumulative net ultrafiltration was 729 ± 337 ml (range –18 to 1,360 ml) and negative in only one patient. Average transcapillary ultrafiltration rate was 1.40 ± 0.36 ml/min, and peritoneal fluid absorption rate was 0.68 ± 0.38 ml/min. During 16 h, 41% of the initial mass of icodextrin was absorbed. Plasma sodium decreased from 138.7 ± 2.4 to 136.5 ± 3.0 mmol/L (p < 0.05). Dialysate glucose G2–G7 oligomers increased due to increase of G2–G4 metabolites while G6–G7 metabolites and higher Mw icodextrin fractions decreased. In plasma maltose and maltotriose (G2–G3 metabolites) increased while higher Mw icodextrin oligomers were almost undetectable. Dialysate amylase increased while plasma amylase decreased.

Conclusions: Icodextrin resulted in linear increase of V_D with sustained net UF lasting 16 h and with no significant difference between peritoneal transport types. In plasma, sodium and amylase declined, G2–G3 increased whereas larger icodextrin fractions were not detectable. In dialysate, icodextrin mass declined due to decrease of high Mw icodextrin fractions while low Mw metabolites, especially G2–G3, increased. The ability of icodextrin to provide sustained UF during very long dwells – which is usually not possible with glucose-based solutions – is especially important in anuric patients and in patients with fast peritoneal transport.

Keywords: end-stage kidney disease, peritoneal dialysis, ultrafiltration, osmotic agent, polyglucose metabolites, amylase

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD), the leading home-based renal replacement therapy for patients with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD), associates with clinical outcomes comparable to or even better than those of in-center hemodialysis (Li et al., 2017). However, fluid overload is a common problem that is associated with poor clinical outcomes in all ESKD patients including those undergoing PD (Ng et al., 2018). Restoring water balance by adequate ultrafiltration (UF) is therefore a key target for dialysis treatment.

In PD, peritoneal transcapillary UF is typically induced using the crystalloid osmotic agent glucose and the increased dialysate tonicity results in water flow through endothelial aquaporin-1 water channels and inter-endothelial small pores into the dialysate. However, the osmotic gradient decreases due to the rapid absorption of dialysate glucose to the vascular circulation, leading to reduced and eventually negative net UF - during the overnight dwell in continuous ambulatory PD (CAPD) and the long daytime dwell in automated PD (APD) - especially in patients with fast peritoneal solute transport rate (Krediet et al., 1987; Agrawal and Nolph, 2000; Rippe and Levin, 2000; Krediet and Mujais, 2002; Qi et al., 2011; Morelle et al., 2018). Other limitations of glucose-based solutions are metabolic complications linked to glucose absorption such as hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and hyperlipidemia (Grodstein et al., 1981; Boeschoten et al., 1988) and unphysiological features (low pH, hyperosmolality, and high concentrations of lactate, glucose, and glucose degradation products) that are harmful to the peritoneal membrane (Liberek et al., 1993).

These limitations can be avoided by using the colloid osmotic agent icodextrin, which induces a more long-lasting water flow occurring predominantly through the small pores of the peritoneal capillaries (Morelle et al., 2018). Icodextrin is a mixture of starch-derived glucose polymers, linked by $\alpha 1$ –4 (90%) and $\alpha 1$ –6 (10%) glucosidic bonds (Alsop, 1994; Mistry, 2011), with molecular weight (MW) predominantly (>85%) ranging between 1,638 and 45,000 Daltons (Da) and only 6% having a MW less than 1,638 Da. Since the colloid osmotic pressure created by icodextrin is almost constant, UF is sustained throughout a long dwell (Mistry et al., 1987, 1994; Davies, 1994; Ho-dac-Pannekeet et al., 1996; Krediet et al., 1997; Morelle et al., 2018).

Absorption of icodextrin from the peritoneal cavity into blood is slow and occurs mainly by convective pathways *via* the lymphatics (Davies, 1994). Icodextrin is hydrolyzed in plasma by circulating intra- and extracellular α -amylase to low molecular weight (LMW) oligosaccharide metabolites, detectable in blood mainly as maltose (G2), maltotriose (G3), and maltotetraose (G4) (Mistry et al., 1994; Posthuma et al., 1997). Further metabolism of G2 is limited by the absence of maltase activity in the human circulation (Silver et al., 2014).

Compared with glucose, peritoneal UF with icodextrin is smoother with increased net UF during long dwells, particularly in fast transporters, contributing to better control of fluid balance. In addition, icodextrin may improve glycemic control, lipid profiles, phosphate removal, and cardiac function (Silver et al., 2014) and preserves residual renal function (RRF) better than glucose solutions (Chang et al., 2016).

New applications of icodextrin include initiation of PD in ESKD patients with preserved RRF using one or two icodextrin exchanges; bimodal solutions combining icodextrin with glucose in one bag for the long dwell; and using single daily longterm exchanges with icodextrin in congestive heart failure patients for treatment of overhydration and azotemia (Freida et al., 2007, 2009; Wankowicz et al., 2011; Silver et al., 2014; Kazory, 2017; Dousdampanis et al., 2018; Savenkoff et al., 2018).

Potential side-effects of icodextrin include hypotension from increased UF; loss of RRF; maltose accumulation; hypoglycemia; amylase assay interference; alkaline phosphatase increase, hyponatremia; as well as idiopathic side effects – rash, sterile peritonitis, and antibiotic compatibility (Silver et al., 2014).

The peritoneal UF can be assessed by weighing the drainage bag at the end of dialysis exchange (Silver et al., 2014) and with repeated complete drainages of the dialysate followed by reinfusions of the effluent, an intraperitoneal volume curve can be constructed (Freida et al., 2007). Another approach is to use a macromolecular volume marker to follow the kinetics of dialysate fluid volume changes intraperitoneally. This method was applied for icodextrin-based dialysis fluid using dextran 70 as a volume marker (Ho-dac-Pannekeet et al., 1996).

We have used human serum albumin labeled with iodine 125, ¹²⁵I-HSA, a volume marker, which remains stable in both standard and alternative dialysis solutions (Baczynski et al., 2000; Marciniak et al., 2000) and applied this for detailed assessments of peritoneal transport using a thermodynamic model of solutes and water transport including comparison of glucose-based and amino acid-based solutions (Olszowska et al., 2007).

In the present study, we investigated (1) peritoneal UF during a very long (16 h) peritoneal dwell using ¹²⁵I-HSA as intraperitoneal volume marker in clinically stable peritoneal dialysis patients and (2) kinetics of icodextrin fractions, especially LMW oligosaccharide metabolites, and the impact of these metabolites on peritoneal UF during the 16-h dwell.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

Twenty clinically stable peritoneal dialysis patients (8 women; mean age of 54 ± 16 years) were included in the study, which was performed in years 2006–2011. Their mean body weight was 76 ± 14 kg, height 166 ± 9 cm, and residual urine volume $1,332 \pm 1,111$ ml/day (median 875 ml/day). The duration of preceding PD treatment was 25.7 ± 19.4 months (median 19.5 months). Seventeen patients were on CAPD and three were on APD. The causes of ESRD were chronic glomerulonephritis (11 patients), hypertensive nephropathy (2 patients), lupus nephritis (1 patient), and diabetic nephropathy (6 patients). None of the patients had peritonitis during the 3 months preceding the study. Six patients were high transporters (H), seven high-average transporters (HA), and seven low-average transporters (LA) according to peritoneal equilibration test (PET) performed 3-4 weeks before the study. In the whole group (n = 20), intraperitoneal dialysate volume, net ultrafiltration, and sodium concentration in dialysate and plasma were measured.

In a subgroup of 11 patients, we also analyzed fractional absorption of total icodextrin from dialysate to plasma, plasma and dialysate concentrations of amylase, plasma and dialysate LMW (Mw < 2 kDa) icodextrin metabolites comprising mainly those ranging from two glucose units (maltose, G2; Mw 360 Da) up to seven glucose units (maltoheptaose, G7; Mw 1,153 Da), and dialysate high (HMW) molecular weight icodextrin fractions. Their mean age was 50.4 ± 18.3 years (median 59 years), mean duration of PD 26.9 \pm 22.4 months (median 17 months), mean body weight 73 ± 13 kg, height 164 ± 9 cm, and residual urine volume 1,113 ± 1,164 ml/day (median 700 ml/day). Three patients in this subgroup had used one exchange with icodextrin solution per day for 14.3 ± 5.1 months before the study. These patients were identified as ICO+ group and the other eight patients who did not use icodextrin before the study were identified as ICO- group (ICO-naïve patients).

The Ethics Committee of Military Institute of Medicine, Warsaw approved the study protocol. Written informed consent was obtained from each patient after an explanation of the purpose of the study.

Study Protocol

The protocol of the study is presented in **Figure 1**. Immediately prior to the study, the patients received 1.0 g of vancomycin intravenously as a prophylactic against peritonitis. After the dialysate from the overnight exchange of 1.36% glucose solution had been drained from the peritoneal cavity, the patients underwent 16-h exchange with 2.0 L icodextrin dialysis fluid (Extraneal[®], Baxter, Castlebar, Ireland). Fresh dialysis solution was pre-warmed to 37°C, and a priming dose of 0.2 g of human serum albumin (HSA) was introduced into the bag in order to minimize the adhesion of radiolabelled albumin to the surface of the plastic material. Subsequently, a "flush before fill" procedure with the new solution was performed. Radio-isotopically labeled albumin (9 mg, 7.5 μ Ci, ¹²⁵I-HSA,

Serlab-125; Cis Biointernational, Gif-sur-Yvette, France) was added to the dialysis solution as volume marker. After thorough mixing, the dialysis fluid was infused into the peritoneal cavity. After complete infusion, the bag was disconnected, and a three-way stopcock was placed to a transfer set. Dialysate samples (10 ml) were taken through the stopcock at 0, 3, 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 180, 240, 480, 720, and 960 min of the exchange (Figure 1). At baseline (0 min), a sample of fresh dialysis fluid was taken from the bag when half of its content was infused. Prior to each sampling, 15 ml of the dialysate was flushed back and forth ten times through the stopcock. Immediately before collecting each sample, the patient was asked to move in order to mix the dialysate in the peritoneal cavity. Blood samples (5 ml) were collected at the 0, 15, 60, 120, 240, 480, 720, and 960 min of the exchange (Figure 1). After 960 min of peritoneal dwell, the dialysate was drained, and its volume was recorded. The peritoneal cavity was then rinsed for 5 min with 2.0 L fresh 1.36% glucose dialysis fluid without the labeled albumin to provide data for calculation of the residual peritoneal volume at the end of dwell (at 960 min). The volume of the infused fresh dialysis fluid and the volume of the drained dialysate were measured by weighing the bag and subtracting the weight of the empty bag from the full bag.

Analytical Methods

Radioactivity of blood and dialysate samples was measured using a gamma counter (LKB Wallac1272 Clinicgamma Quatro, Turku, Finland). Sodium in plasma and dialysate was analyzed by means of a direct ion-select electrode in the hospital laboratory using Cobas Integra 760 autoanalyzer (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Dialysate samples were analyzed for the concentration of icodextrin and its fractions as well as amylase concentration for the subgroup of 11 patients. In plasma, only LMW metabolites and amylase concentration were identified. Plasma and dialysate metabolites were measured using gel filtration high-performance liquid chromatography as described before (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2008). Plasma and dialysate α -amylase activity was determined by a fully automated routine method



from Konelab 20XT routine biochemical analyzer (Thermo Clinical Labsystems Oy, Finland), using p-nitrophenol maltoheptaoside as a substrate (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2008).

Calculations

Intraperitoneal fluid volume was estimated from the dilution of the volume marker with corrections applied for the elimination of ¹²⁵I-HSA from the peritoneal cavity (K_E, ml/min) and sample volumes. K_E was calculated as the amount of the marker absorbed from the peritoneal cavity divided by the dwell time and the average marker concentration in the dialysate during the whole dwell (Heimburger et al., 1992). Cumulative transcapillary ultrafiltration at dwell time *t* was calculated as the difference between dialysis fluid volume at time *t* and 3 min, plus cumulative fluid absorption during the same period. Net ultrafiltration at dwell time *t* was calculated as the difference between dialysis fluid volume at time *t* and 3 min.

The icodextrin concentration was considered as the sum of all high molecular weight (HMW) and low molecular (LMW) icodextrin molecules. HMW molecules of icodextrin were defined as those with molecular weight higher than that of maltoheptaose (G7, Mw 1,153 Da). Low molecular weight (LMW) metabolites of icodextrin were assessed as G2–G7 (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2008).

Peritoneal membrane transport characteristics were determined by PET as described by (Twardowski et al., 1987) and performed 3–4 weeks before the study. The data were evaluated by Student's test. Statistical significance was accepted if p was less than 0.05. Results are expressed as mean \pm SD.

RESULTS

We did not observe any clinical complications associated with the use of icodextrin solution in the 16-h dwell study and during 8 weeks of the follow-up.

Fluid Transport

In the whole group of 20 patients, the mean intraperitoneal volume increased gradually throughout the dwell to a mean value of 2,866 ± 402 ml (range 2,372-3,621 ml) at 16 h, corresponding to a significant (p < 0.001) mean increase of 810 ml compared with initial values. The individual intraperitoneal volume curves (Figure 2A) showed relatively large inter-individual variations; however, in most of the patients, intraperitoneal volume increased steadily, following a linear pattern of volume increase that in 15 out of the 20 patients included the interval between 12 and 16 h. At 4, 8, 12, and 16 h of the dwell, the average net cumulative UF was 360, 546, 570, and 729 ml, respectively (Figure 2B). The mean transcapillary UF rate was 1.40 ± 0.36 ml/min. At the end of dialysis exchange, mean cumulative transcapillary UF was 1,393 ± 411 ml, and the mean cumulative net UF was 729 ± 337 ml (range from -18 to 1,360 ml). Only one patient had negative UF of -18 ml at the end of exchange. The mean peritoneal fluid absorption rate (K_E) was 0.68 ± 0.38 ml/min. There was no difference in net ultrafiltration among the PET transport groups. For H transporters, net ultrafiltration reached 736 \pm 230 ml, for HA transporters 724 \pm 352, and for LA transporters 728 \pm 439 ml (p = 1.0 for H vs. LA and HA vs. LA; p = 0.9 for H vs. HA). The statistical analysis of the correlation between D/P (rate of dialysate to plasma concentration) for creatinine at 4 h of the dwell with water transport (cumulative net UF as well as fluid absorption and transcapillary UF for each interval between sampling points) showed correlation only with cumulative transcapillary UF for time intervals from 15 up to 480 min and to 720 min with r = 0.53 (p = 0.016) and r = 0.60 (p = 0.006), respectively. However, the number of patients may be insufficient to draw any conclusion about the potential (and expected) impact of peritoneal solute transport rate.

The mean values of plasma concentrations of albumin and total protein (data not shown) did not correlate with the cumulative values of neither net UF, nor transcapillary UF calculated for the whole dwell period (all p > 0.25). Thus, the colloid osmotic pressure effect exerted by plasma albumin could not be demonstrated in the current study.

Sodium Concentration

The concentration of sodium in dialysate decreased from $135.2 \pm 2.1 \text{ mmol/L}$ at time 0 min to $133.5 \pm 2.7 \text{ mmol/L}$ (p < 0.05) at the end of dwell. It declined immediately after the infusion of fresh dialysis fluid and then gradually increased up to 120 min of the dwell and thereafter remained unchanged. Plasma sodium concentration decreased from $138.7 \pm 2.4 \text{ mmol/L}$ at the start of the dwell to $136.5 \pm 3.0 \text{ mmol/L}$ at the end of the dwell (p < 0.05), **Figure 2C**.

Kinetics of Icodextrin and Its Metabolites in ICO+ and ICO- Patients

In a subgroup of 11 patients, comprising eight icodextrin naïve (ICO- group) and three icodextrin-exposed (ICO+ group) patients, the kinetics of icodextrin and its metabolites were evaluated. Net cumulative UF at the end of dwell was 706.9 \pm 384.7 ml, 624.8 \pm 42.3 ml in ICO+ group, and 737.7 \pm 454.9 ml in ICO- group (**Figure 3A**).

Dialysate Concentrations of Icodextrin Fractions and Metabolites

Icodextrin was absorbed from the dialysate to blood throughout the dwell among the eight icodextrin naïve (ICO– group) patients while – during the initial 120 min of the dwell – icodextrin was transferred in the other direction, from blood to the dialysate, in the three patients in the ICO+ group (**Figure 3B**). On average, about 41% of the initial intraperitoneal mass of icodextrin was absorbed during the 960 min of dwell (**Table 1**).

The pattern of changes of dialysate icodextrin concentrations differed between the different icodextrin fractions during the 16-h dwell (**Figure 4**). During the dwell, there was a gradual decrease of concentration of all HMW fractions in dialysate starting from 0 min of the dwell (**Figure 4A**). However, after a gradual decline



(\blacksquare ; mean + SD). (C) Sodium concentration in dialysate (\bullet ; mean – SD) and in plasma (\blacksquare ; mean + SD).



FIGURE 3 | Net cumulative ultrafiltration and fractional absorbed amount of icodextrin during 16-h dwell with icodextrin in a subgroup of 11 patients. (A) Net cumulative ultrafiltration (mean \pm SD) in subgroup of 11 patients (n = 11, \blacktriangle) including those previously exposed (group ICO+; n = 3; \blacksquare) and those not exposed (group ICO-; n = 8; •) to icodextrin. (B) Fractional (% of initial amount; mean \pm SD) absorbed amount of icodextrin in subgroup of 11 patients (n = 11, \blacktriangle) including those previously exposed (group ICO+; n = 3; \blacksquare) and not previously exposed (group ICO-; n = 8, •) to icodextrin.

lasting up to 240 min, the concentration of oligomers with molecular weight < 1.1 kDa increased from 480 min of the dwell and this increase continued until the end of the dwell.

The total concentration of G2–G7 oligomers in the dialysate increased significantly from 2.34 \pm 1.16 mOsm/L at 0 min to 5.16 \pm 2.12 mOsm/L (p = 0.01) at the end of the dwell (**Figure 4B**). From 3 min of the dwell, the concentration of G2 to G4 metabolites increased in the dialysate during the

entire 16-h dwell while the concentrations of G6 and G7 metabolites decreased in dialysate throughout the whole dwell.

Plasma Concentrations of Icodextrin Metabolites

The analysis of oligomer concentration in plasma was performed only for the G2–G3 metabolites since concentrations of the G4–G7 oligomers were too low to be measured in most plasma **TABLE 1** | Absorption of icodextrin from dialysate to plasma (mean ± SD) during 16-h dwell in subgroup of 11 patients.

| Time points during the dwell (min) | Mass of absorbed icodextrin (g) | Mass of absorbed icodextrin as percentage of initial amount (%) | | |
|---------------------------------------|------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| 0 | 0 | 0 | | |
| 240 | 20.5 ± 25.8 | 13.3 ± 16.8 | | |
| 480 | 34.4 ± 25.8 | 22.3 ± 16.9 | | |
| 720 | 51.7 ± 20.7 | 33.4 ± 13.0 | | |
| 960 | 63.1 ± 22.9 | 40.8 ± 14.6 | | |

The infused mass of icodextrin was 154.6 ± 16.6 g (mean ± SD).

samples. In the three icodextrin-exposed patients of ICO+ group, the plasma concentrations of G2 (maltose) increased from an already high level of 1.38 ± 0.19 to 1.74 ± 0.23 mg/ ml, and the concentration of G3 (maltotriose) increased from 1.12 ± 0.18 to 1.55 ± 0.19 mg/ml. In the eight icodextrin naïve patients of ICO- group, the concentration of G2 increased from 0.24 ± 0.26 to 0.87 ± 0.24 mg/ml and G3 increased from 0.11 ± 0.03 to 0.75 ± 0.12 mg/ml (**Figure 5A**).

Dialysate Concentrations of Icodextrin Metabolites

In the ICO+ group (n = 3), the concentration of G2 increased from 0.02 ± 0.01 to 1.40 ± 0.27 mg/ml, and the concentration of G3 increased from 0.04 ± 0.02 to 1.42 ± 0.28 mg/ml (**Figure 5B**). In the ICO- group (n = 8), G2 increased from 0.01 ± 0.01 to 0.82 ± 0.55 mg/ml and G3 increased from 0.03 ± 0.02 to 0.88 ± 0.20 mg/ml.

Amylase Concentration in Dialysate and Plasma

Amylase concentration in dialysate increased in the whole group of 11 patients from 0.61 \pm 0.31 to 2.08 \pm 1.40 U/L at the end of dwell (p < 0.01). There was a statistically significant decrease of plasma amylase concentration in the whole group during the whole dwell, from initial values of 56.43 ± 46.13 to 22.39 \pm 20.57 U/L (p < 0.05), but the pattern of changes differed dependent on previous exposure icodextrin to (Figure 5C). In the ICO- group (n = 8), amylase concentration decreased from 72.14 ± 44.76 to 23.58 ± 24.20 U/L, while it increased slightly in the ICO+ group from 14.53 \pm 2.72 to 19.2 ± 6.80 U/L. Plasma amylase concentration was positively correlated (at sampling points up to 480 min) with cumulative transcapillary UF calculated for initial time interval (up to 15 min) and with cumulative net UF for initial time interval (up to 15 min) and for dwell time up to 180 min: however, correlations had relatively high p (from p = 0.02 up to p = 0.049). The average amylase concentration in plasma correlated with cumulative net UF up to 180 min (r = 0.7, p = 0.017), and with net UF (up to 240 min, r = 0.63, p = 0.036) and cumulative transcapillary UF (up to 180 min, r = 0.66, p = 0.027). The average concentration of amylase in dialysate did not correlate with UF. The concentration of amylase in dialysate at each sampling time showed positive correlation at 15 min with cumulative UF (transcapillary UF and net UF) up to 180 and 240 min (with r = 0.67, p = 0.023 and r = 0.69, p = 0.018 for transcapillary UF and r = 0.73, p = 0.012 and r = 0.76, p = 0.006 for net UF, respectively). There was also positive correlation with $p \le 0.03$ of amylase level in dialysate at 60 min with net UF up to 120 min (r = 0.73, p = 0.011) and amylase level in dialysate at 90 min with net UF up to 240 min (r = 0.65, p = 0.03).

DISCUSSION

In our study, using a macromolecular volume marker (¹²⁵I-HSA) to determine the intraperitoneal volume and its changes throughout the dwell, icodextrin resulted in a linear increase of net UF volume lasting up to 16 h in most of the patients. This is in contrast to the short transitory period of effective UF when glucose-based solutions are used with decline of net UF volume, starting already after 120–240 min dependent on glucose concentrations used (Heimburger et al., 1992). While the period of effective net UF is even shorter in patients with fast/high transport status when using glucose-based solutions (Heimburger et al., 1990; Wang et al., 1998b), UF patterns in the present study did not differ between patients using icodextrin solution with different peritoneal small solute transport rates, i.e., between fast/high, fast/high-average, and slow/low-average transporters.

Our findings reflect the fundamentally different molecular mechanisms and the different pathways mediating water flow between colloid osmosis induced by icodextrin versus the crystalloid aquaporin-1 dependent osmosis across the peritoneal membrane induced by glucose, as demonstrated in mice during dwells lasting 120 min (Morelle et al., 2018). Our observation that net UF with icodextrin increases linearly up to at least 16 h agrees with predictions based on computer simulations by Rippe and Levin (2000).

Although there are no previous studies that analyzed intraperitoneal dialysate volumes in patients receiving icodextrin for as long as 16 h using RISA volume marker, our results are in general agreement with some previous studies. Thus, as reported by Davies (2006), most randomized controlled clinical trials show that when using icodextrin solution, average net UF increases after 8 h of long day dwell in APD and up to 16 h of long night dwell in CAPD and this was confirmed in several recent studies (Jeloka et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2009; Takatori et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2015; Chang et al., 2016). However, results are not entirely consistent and great inter-individual variability of net UF has been reported. Jeloka et al. (2006) reported that there was no increase in net UF in patients treated by APD when their dwell time with icodextrin solution was extended from 10 h to up to 14 h; however, re-analysis of the data showed that 16 (44%) of the patients had steadily increasing UF after 10 h (Venturoli et al., 2009). Furthermore, one study did not find any statistically significant differences in UF when comparing 49 patients on ICO with 51 patients on glucose solutions for 12 months follow-up (Chang et al., 2016). Higher UF with CAPD as compared to APD has been reported in patients using icodextrin, possibly due to the increase of intraperitoneal pressure resulting



FIGURE 4 | Dialysate concentrations of total icodextrin and icodextrin fractions in 11 patients. (A) Dialysate concentrations (mean ± SD) of total icodextrin and separate icodextrin fractions. (B) Dialysate concentrations (mean ± SD) of low molecular weight (LMW) icodextrin metabolites (G2–G7) and total sum of LMW icodextrin metabolites.



metabolites G2 (\blacksquare ; mean + SD) and G3 (\bullet ; mean - SD) in patients previously exposed (solid line; group ICO+; n = 3) and not previously exposed (dotted line; group ICO-; n = 8) to icodextrin. (**B**) Dialysate concentrations of icodextrin metabolites G2 (\blacksquare ; mean + SD) and G3 (\bullet ; mean - SD) in patients previously exposed (solid line; group ICO+; n = 3) and not previously exposed (dotted line; group ICO+; n = 3) and not previously exposed (solid line; group ICO+; n = 3) and not previously exposed (solid line; group ICO+; n = 3) and not previously exposed (dotted line; group ICO+; n = 8) to icodextrin. (**C**) Amylase concentration in plasma (mean \pm SD) in a subgroup of 11 patients (n = 11; \triangle) including those previously exposed (group ICO+; n = 3; \blacksquare) and not previously exposed (group ICO+; n = 8, \bullet) to icodextrin during 16-h dwell with icodextrin.

from physical activity and changes in body position during the daily dwell through increase of hydrostatic capillary pressure and increase of lymphatic absorption that consequently result in lower UF (Mistry et al., 1994; Posthuma et al., 1997; Neri et al., 2000). The fact that most of the patients in our study were treated by CAPD prior to the investigation – and that most were icodextrin naïve – may have contributed to higher net UF during the dwell.

Plasma and Dialysate Sodium in Patients Receiving Icodextrin

Icodextrin induces sustained UF even though dialysate osmolality is similar or lower than serum osmolality.

It is often assumed that the absence of free water removal when using icodextrin results in an increased convective contribution to total small solute clearance including also sodium, thereby eliminating the gap between UF and sodium removal that is seen with crystalloid osmotic agents such as glucose. We observed a statistically significant decrease in serum sodium concentration during the dialysis exchange with icodextrin; however, the concentration of sodium remained within the normal range. The decrease in serum sodium concentration is conceivably explained by dilution resulting from the increased osmotic gradient, caused by the generation of metabolites of icodextrin that induces a water flow from cells into the blood compartment. The presence of metabolites, mainly maltose (G2) and maltotriose (G3), in the vascular bed and interstitial fluid appears to have been sufficient to cause the displacement of water from cells into the extracellular space, thus resulting in hyponatremia from dilution, a phenomenon also referred to as hypertonic hyponatremia (Mistry et al., 1994; Posthuma et al., 1997; Silver et al., 2014). In patients with inadequately controlled diabetes who are treated with PD using icodextrin solution, this phenomenon could potentially add to the risk of severe symptomatic hyponatremia, resulting from inadequately controlled hyperglycemia (Silver et al., 2014).

Our results are consistent with other observations of sodium kinetics during peritoneal dwells with icodextrin based dialysis fluid. In a clinical study on 12-h peritoneal dwell with icodextrin fluid sodium concentration in serum decreased by 3 mmol/L (Moberly et al., 2002), considerably more than reported here by us. Sodium concentration in dialysate in that study increased from 131 to 134 mmol/L in 2 h and was stable throughout the following dwell time (Moberly et al., 2002), and the same pattern of increase and following stability can be found in our data although with lower amplitude of increase. After 12 h of the peritoneal dwell, the sodium concentration in dialysate was still by 5 mmol/L lower than that in plasma (Moberly et al., 2002). Experimental studies in rats demonstrated that the initial sodium concentration in dialysate (i.e., its concentration at third minute after fluid infusion) is similar for glucose and icodextrin based fluids in the control group and in the group with induced peritonitis separately (Wang et al., 2000), and the initial sodium dialysate to plasma ratio is not different if the mixture of icodextrin and glucose is applied as osmotic agent (Wang et al., 1998a). The initial sodium concentration was in the control group of animals around 131 mmol/L that was lower than the nominal concentration of sodium ions in icodextrin fluid of 133 mEq/L (Wang et al., 2000). The initial sodium concentration measured after infusion and immediate drain of icodextrin dialysis fluid in another clinical study was about 130 mmol/L (Freida et al., 2007; Galach et al., 2009). The sodium concentrations in plasma and dialysate were constant with slight tendency to decrease during 15 h peritoneal dwell (Freida et al., 2007; Galach et al., 2009). No tendency to equilibration between dialysate and plasma sodium up to 900 min of peritoneal dwell was observed (Freida et al., 2007; Galach et al., 2009). In all these studies, the sodium concentration was measured by flame photometry (Wang et al., 1998a, 2000; Freida et al., 2007; Galach et al., 2009), and in animal studies, plasma concentrations were corrected to plasma water (Waniewski et al., 1992; Wang et al., 1998a, 2000). Flame photometry measures the total sodium content in the sample and includes also the not dissociated sodium that is about 4% of total sodium, whereas our measurements performed with direct ion selective electrode report the concentration of diffusible sodium ion; the concentration of diffusible sodium ion in the study by Freida et al. might be even lower than in our study. Unfortunately, the other studies discussed here did not provide measurements in fresh dialysis fluid (Wang et al., 1998a, 2000; Freida et al., 2007; Galach et al., 2009). During dwells with glucose based solutions, sodium in dialysate is also far from equilibration with plasma sodium after 360 min in patients and, furthermore, in rats after 240 min, no sodium equilibration is observed for both glucose- and icodextrin-based fluids (Wang et al., 1997, 2000).

We have no clear explanation for the observed decrease in dialysate sodium concentration and the higher than expected

initial dialysate sodium concentration. However, one possible reason for the lower than expected dialysate sodium concentration is that the measurements of sodium are somehow influenced by the presence of icodextrin, as can be observed for measurements of dialysate sodium in case of glucose-based dialysis fluid (Wang et al., 1997; La Milia et al., 2004). The observation that dialysate and plasma sodium concentrations did not fully equilibrate by 960 min is puzzling although confirmed by independent studies (Freida et al., 2007; Galach et al., 2009). One may speculate that this is due to sieving of sodium induced by LMW icodextrin fractions. Sodium concentration gradient was also maintained throughout the 6-h dwell using 3.86% glucose due to sieving of sodium in the ultrafiltrate (Wang et al., 1997).

The three pore model, which well predicted the profiles of dialysate volume change for three different fluids with glucose 3.86%, icodextrin 7.5%, and a mixture of glucose and icodextrin, was not able to correctly describe the observed lack of equilibration for sodium in plasma and dialysate for icodextrin fluid in spite of good fit to the sodium profiles in dialysate for glucose- and glucose-icodextrin-based dialysis fluids for 15-h peritoneal dwell (Galach et al., 2009). In contrast to the observed lack of equilibration in clinical data, confirmed also by our results, the modeled sodium concentration approached plasma concentration at about 4 h and remained equilibrated until 15 h (Galach et al., 2009). This failure challenges the assumptions of the three pore model as a single transport barrier between blood and peritoneal dialysate and may need a theoretical extension for polyglucose simulations as proposed for example by the spatially distributed model that involves separately two transport barriers of the capillary wall and interstitium (Stachowska-Pietka et al., 2006; Waniewski et al., 2009). One may expect higher concentration of amylase in interstitial fluid than in dialysate so the osmolality of interstitial fluid may differ from that of dialysate. According to the distributed model, the sodium dip measured for glucose-based hypertonic fluids occurs also in the interstitial fluid, not only in dialysate, and this observation suggests the importance of the processes inside the tissue in contact with peritoneal dialysate (Stachowska-Pietka et al., 2012, 2019). The conjecture about the role of interstitium in the process of osmotic fluid transport induced by polyglucose is hypothetical and will need further theoretical, experimental, and clinical studies to be confirmed.

Kinetics of Icodextrin in Icodextrin Exposed (ICO+) and Icodextrin Naïve (ICO-) Patients

The concentration of icodextrin fractions in the fresh fluid measured in our study shows a similar pattern to that reported previously by Garcia-Lopez et al. (2005). We observed that net UF and the fractional absorption of ICO depend on the previous use of icodextrin. Among icodextrin naïve (ICO–) patients, UF was slightly higher compared to UF in icodextrin exposed (ICO+) patients (**Figure 3A**). This observation confirms the results of computer simulations by Rippe and Levin (2000) showing that the 7.5% icodextrin solution although slightly hypotonic to plasma, resulted in UF of 600 ml after 12-h dwell, but only in patients who were not previously exposed

to icodextrin. In patients on long-term icodextrin and with steady-state plasma levels of icodextrin and its metabolites, UF after 12 h was on average 400 ml (Rippe and Levin, 2000).

The efficacy of icodextrin as osmotic agent depends on colloid osmosis, which is maintained during the long dwell due to its large size, which hinders fast absorption from the peritoneal cavity. Nevertheless, icodextrin is slowly but steadily absorbed, mainly by convective transport, from the dialysate. Because the absorption rate of icodextrin from the dialysate is almost constant during dwell, the percentage of icodextrin being absorbed is directly dependent on the duration of the exchange (Moberly et al., 2002). In our study, 22% of the initial amount of icodextrin was absorbed after 8 h and 33 and 41% after 12 and 16 h, respectively (Table 1 and Figure 3B). Other authors obtained similar results: Davies (1994) reported that the percentage of icodextrin absorbed from the dialysate was 19.6 and 33% at 8th and 16th hour, respectively. Slightly higher absorption of icodextrin was found by Moberly et al. who reported that about 40% of icodextrin was absorbed during 12-h dialysis exchanges (Moberly et al., 2002).

The evaluation of the kinetics of icodextrin during the 16-h dwell in the subgroup of 11 subjects showed a gradual decrease in the concentration of HMW fractions in the dialysate (**Figure 4A**). This is conceivably due to the combined effects of (1) dilution by water flow from blood, (2) intraperitoneal metabolism of the HMW fractions under the influence of α -amylase resulting in increased generation of LMW icodextrin metabolites, and (3) the absorption of these molecules from the peritoneal cavity to the peritoneal tissues, and from them through the lymphatic vessels to the blood (Moberly et al., 2002).

Intraperitoneal metabolism of icodextrin by α -amylase leads to the formation of LMW oligosaccharides, namely G2–G7 metabolites. Our study showed an increase in total LMW concentration of icodextrin metabolites in dialysate, mainly G2–G5 with a concurrent decrease in G6–G7 metabolites (**Figure 4B**). Moberly et al. observed a gradual decrease in the concentration of G5–G7 metabolites in the dialysate in the 12-h dwell with ICO, which they attributed to absorption of these metabolites from the peritoneal cavity into the bloodstream as well as intraperitoneal metabolism under the influence of α -amylase (Moberly et al., 2002).

The MIDAS trial, a multicenter randomized controlled study of 209 CAPD patients, compared overnight icodextrin and dextrose exchanges over a 6-month period (Mistry et al., 1994). Serum samples for estimation of icodextrin and oligosaccharides were obtained immediately prior to the study and at 1, 3, and 6 months. The mean level of icodextrin and its metabolites in plasma increased from baseline value of 0.35 g/L to a steadystate level of 4.87 g/L. The serum maltose followed an identical pattern and rose from 0.04 g/L to a steady-state level of 1.20 g/L. This increase occurred within 2 weeks of icodextrin administration, and steady-state levels were maintained throughout the 6-month study. These metabolites were not associated with any adverse clinical effects (Mistry et al., 1994). We report that the concentration of G2 and G3 metabolites in plasma and dialysate depends on the previous use of icodextrin (Figures 5A,B). The concentration of these metabolites was higher both in plasma and in dialysate in icodextrin users (average time on icodextrin solution was 14 months in the ICO+ group) compared to those not using icodextrin before the study. A similar observation was made by Davies et al. in patients receiving icodextrin for over 2 years (Silver et al., 2014); however, the levels of icodextrin and maltose fell to pretreatment values within 2 weeks after the withdrawal of icodextrin-based fluid in a small group who underwent further study. Upon recommencing icodextrin after 3 weeks period of non-use, the ICO and maltose metabolite levels rose to the initial treatment phase and reached a plateau within 2 weeks (Silver et al., 2014).

Amylase can diffuse from the blood into the dialysate, thus contributing to the metabolism of intraperitoneal icodextrin; however, intraperitoneal metabolism of icodextrin seems to be negligible when compared to the substantial transport of HMW icodextrin fractions, and LMW metabolites, from dialysate to plasma, where these fractions undergo rapid hydrolysis (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2008). In our patients, the dialysate concentration of amylase increased during the dwell but still remained low, similar to results of other studies (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2008). In contrast, the plasma concentration of amylase declined significantly in icodextrin naïve patients (ICO- group), while it remained low in the ICO+ patients conceivably related to the preceding icodextrin use (Figure 5C). A low plasma amylase concentration in patients using icodextrin may pose difficulties for the correct diagnosis of pancreatitis; however, in such patients, plasma lipase has been suggested to be of value as an alternative (Rubinstein et al., 2016). The decrease in plasma amylase activity in PD patients changing from glucose-based to icodextrin-based solutions is genuine and not only, as had been suggested by others, decreased due to interference by icodextrin in the substrates of the assay (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2008). In the current study, the baseline concentration of plasma amylase was much lower in those treated by icodextrin as compared to icodextrin naïve patients, 14.53 ± 2.72 vs. 72.14 ± 44.76 U/L.

Based on current knowledge, potential determinants of icodextrin-induced UF include: peritoneal solute transport rate, plasma colloid osmotic pressure, metabolism of icodextrin, and peritoneal clearance of macromolecules (Araujo Teixeira et al., 2002; Wiggins et al., 2005; Jeloka et al., 2006; Venturoli et al., 2009). However, some of these factors that were investigated in our study were not predictors for icodextrin-induced UF. Thus, more studies are needed to provide detailed information on the determinants for UF induced by icodextrin.

Some limitations of the study should be considered when interpreting the result. One limitation is that glucose-based solutions were not used as controls; however, the kinetics of glucose solutions have been extensively studied previously and it is unlikely that inclusion of such a control group would have changed the main conclusions. Another potential limitation is that the number of patients is relatively low; only half of the 20 patients underwent more detailed studies on the kinetics of icodextrin and its metabolites, and sodium, and only three patients had received icodextrin prior to the study. The fact that most of the patients were treated by CAPD and not by APD, and that most were not previously exposed to icodextrin should be considered when interpreting the results. Intraperitoneal pressure was not assessed in this study. Furthermore, while we estimated fluid absorption based on the elimination rate of ¹²⁵I-HSA, our protocol did not include assessment of free water transport versus water transport through the small pores; however, it is well established that the latter is the dominating route of fluid transport when using icodextrin. Finally, the study conditions required by the complex study protocol using RISA, with need to take samples of blood and dialysate every 1 h of the dwell, deviate from the conditions of home peritoneal dialysis. On the other hand, the applied kinetic model and assessment of the transperitoneal transport of the macromolecular volume marker used in our study allowed us to determine the dynamics of UF at each time point of the 16-h dialysis exchange.

In summary, we report that the use of an icodextrin-based PD fluid resulted in an almost linear increase of intraperitoneal volume with sustained net UF lasting at least up to 16 h in most of the investigated patients and with no significant difference between peritoneal transport types. During the long dwell, plasma sodium and plasma amylase declined. The dialysate amount of icodextrin declined due to decrease of HMW icodextrin fractions while smaller LMW icodextrin metabolites, especially maltose and maltotriose, increased. Plasma maltose and maltotriose increased significantly whereas larger icodextrin fractions were not detectable in blood. The ability of icodextrin to provide sustained UF during very long dwells - which is usually not possible with glucosebased solutions - is especially important in anuric patients and in patients with fast peritoneal solute transport rates. Whether improved net UF during long-term use of icodextrin improves clinical outcomes such as technique and patient survival of PD patients depends on many other factors including residual renal function and adherence to fluid restrictions as well as other aspects of the clinical management of PD patients and will require additional studies.

REFERENCES

- Agrawal, A., and Nolph, K. D. (2000). Management of high peritoneal transporters. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 20(Suppl. 2), \$160-\$165.
- Alsop, R. M. (1994). History, chemical and pharmaceutical development of icodextrin. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 14(Suppl. 2), S5–S12.
- Araujo Teixeira, M. R., Pecoits-Filho, R. F., Romao Junior, J. E., Sabbaga, E., Marcondes, M. M., and Abensur, H. (2002). The relationship between ultrafiltrate volume with icodextrin and peritoneal transport pattern according to the peritoneal equilibration test. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 22, 229–233.
- Baczynski, D., Marciniak, M., and Wankowicz, Z. (2000). Evaluation of stability of ¹²⁵I-HAS complex in standard peritoneal dialysis fluids in vitro. *Probl. Med. Nukl.* 14, 177–183.
- Boeschoten, E. W., Floris, M. J., Zuyderhoudt, F., Krediet, R. T., and Arisz, L. (1988). Changes in weight and lipid concentration during CAPD treatment. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 8, 19–24.
- Chang, T. I., Ryu, D. R., Yoo, T. H., Kim, H. J., Kang, E. W., Kim, H., et al. (2016). Effect of icodextrin solution on the preservation of residual renal function in peritoneal dialysis patients: a randomized controlled study. *Medicine* 95:e2991. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000002991

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Ethics Committee of Military Institute of Medicine, Warsaw with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Military Institute of Medicine, Warsaw.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AO, ZW, and JW designed the study in consultation with BL. AO performed and ZW supervised the clinical study. EG-L performed measurements of icodextrin metabolites. JS-P developed software for data analysis. AO and JS-P analyzed the kinetic data in consultation with JW. AO, ZW, and JW wrote the first draft. All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education, Warsaw, Poland, grant 2PO5BO1129.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all patients and the nurses, physicians and other staff members who participated in this study and the laboratory personnel performing all measurements. Baxter Novum is the result of a grant from Baxter Healthcare to Karolinska Institutet.

- Davies, D. S. (1994). Kinetic of icodextrin. Perit. Dial. Int. 14(Suppl. 2), S45–S50. Davies, S. J. (2006). Exploring new evidence of the clinical benefits of icodextrin solutions. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 21(Suppl. 2), ii47–ii50. doi: 10.1093/ ndt/eff190
- Dousdampanis, P., Musso, C. G., and Trigka, K. (2018). Icodextrin and peritoneal dialysis: advantages and new applications. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* 50, 495–500. doi: 10.1007/s11255-017-1647-2
- Freida, P., Galach, M., Divino Filho, J. C., Werynski, A., and Lindholm, B. (2007). Combination of crystalloid (glucose) and colloid (icodextrin) osmotic agents markedly enhances peritoneal fluid and solute transport during the long PD dwell. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 27, 267–276.
- Freida, P., Issad, B., Dratwa, M., Lobbedez, T., Wu, L., Leypoldt, J. K., et al. (2009). A combined crystalloid and colloid pd solution as a glucose-sparing strategy for volume control in high-transport apd patients: a prospective multicenter study. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 29, 433–442.
- Galach, M., Werynski, A., Waniewski, J., Freida, P., and Lindholm, B. (2009). Kinetic analysis of peritoneal fluid and solute transport with combination of glucose and icodextrin as osmotic agents. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 29, 72–80.
- Garcia-Lopez, E., Anderstam, B., Heimburger, O., Amici, G., Werynski, A., and Lindholm, B. (2005). Determination of high and low molecular

weight molecules of icodextrin in plasma and dialysate, using gel filtration chromatography, in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 25, 181–191.

- Garcia-Lopez, E., Werynski, A., Heimburger, O., Filho, J. C., Lindholm, B., and Anderstam, B. (2008). Rate of synthetic oligosaccharide degradation as a novel measure of amylase activity in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 28, 296–304.
- Grodstein, G. P., Blumenkrantz, M. J., Kopple, J. D., Moran, J. K., and Coburn, J. W. (1981). Glucose absorption during continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 19, 564–567. doi: 10.1038/ki.1981.53
- Heimburger, O., Waniewski, J., Werynski, A., and Lindholm, B. (1992). A quantitative description of solute and fluid transport during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 41, 1320–1332. doi: 10.1038/ki.1992.196
- Heimburger, O., Waniewski, J., Werynski, A., Tranaeus, A., and Lindholm, B. (1990). Peritoneal transport in CAPD patients with permanent loss of ultrafiltration capacity. *Kidney Int.* 38, 495–506. doi: 10.1038/ki.1990.231
- Ho-dac-Pannekeet, M. M., Schouten, N., Langendijk, M. J., Hiralall, J. K., de Waart, D. R., Struijk, D. G., et al. (1996). Peritoneal transport characteristics with glucose polymer based dialysate. *Kidney Int.* 50, 979–986. doi: 10.1038/ ki.1996.399
- Jeloka, T. K., Ersoy, F. F., Yavuz, M., Sahu, K. M., Camsari, T., Utas, C., et al. (2006). What is the optimal dwell time for maximizing ultrafiltration with icodextrin exchange in automated peritoneal dialysis patients? *Perit. Dial. Int.* 26, 336–340.
- Kazory, A. (2017). Fluid overload as a major target in management of cardiorenal syndrome: implications for the practice of peritoneal dialysis. *World J. Nephrol.* 6, 168–175. doi: 10.5527/wjn.v6.i4.168
- Krediet, R. T., Boeschoten, E. W., Zuyderhoudt, F. M., and Arisz, L. (1987). The relationship between peritoneal glucose absorption and body fluid loss by ultrafiltration during continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Clin. Nephrol.* 27, 51–55.
- Krediet, R. T., Ho-dac-Pannekeet, M. M., Imholz, A. L., and Struijk, D. G. (1997). Icodextrin's effects on peritoneal transport. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 17, 35–41.
- Krediet, R., and Mujais, S. (2002). Use of icodextrin in high transport ultrafiltration failure. *Kidney Int. Suppl.* 81, S53–S61. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.62.s81.8.x
- La Milia, V., Di Filippo, S., Crepaldi, M., Andrulli, S., Del Vecchio, L., Scaravilli, P., et al. (2004). Sodium removal and sodium concentration during peritoneal dialysis: effects of three methods of sodium measurement. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 19, 1849–1855. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfh223
- Li, P. K., Chow, K. M., Van de Luijtgaarden, M. W., Johnson, D. W., Jager, K. J., Mehrotra, R., et al. (2017). Changes in the worldwide epidemiology of peritoneal dialysis. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 13, 90–103. doi: 10.1038/ nrneph.2016.181
- Liberek, T., Topley, N., Jorres, A., Coles, G. A., Gahl, G. M., and Williams, J. D. (1993). Peritoneal dialysis fluid inhibition of phagocyte function: effects of osmolality and glucose concentration. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 3, 1508–1515.
- Lin, A., Qian, J., Li, X., Yu, X., Liu, W., Sun, Y., et al. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of icodextrin versus glucose containing peritoneal dialysis fluid. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 4, 1799–1804. doi: 10.2215/ CJN.02950509.
- Marciniak, M., Baczynski, D., and Wankowicz, Z. (2000). Evaluation of stability of ¹²⁵I-HAS complex in alternative fluids for peritoneal dialysis in vitro. *Lek. Wojsk.* 76, 15–16.
- Mistry, C. D. (2011). The beginning of icodextrin. Perit. Dial. Int. 31(Suppl. 2), S49–S52. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00217
- Mistry, C. D., Gokal, R., and Peers, E. (1994). A randomized multicenter clinical trial comparing isosmolar icodextrin with hyperosmolar glucose solutions in CAPD. MIDAS study group. Multicenter investigation of Icodextrin in ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 46, 496–503. doi: 10.1038/ ki.1994.300
- Mistry, C. D., Mallick, N. P., and Gokal, R. (1987). Ultrafiltration with an isosmotic solution during long peritoneal dialysis exchanges. *Lancet* 2, 178–182. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(87)90764-1
- Moberly, J. B., Mujais, S., Gehr, T., Hamburger, R., Sprague, S., Kucharski, A., et al. (2002). Pharmacokinetics of icodextrin in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int. Suppl.* 81, S23–S33. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.62.s81.5.x

- Morelle, J., Sow, A., Fustin, C. A., Fillee, C., Garcia-Lopez, E., Lindholm, B., et al. (2018). Mechanisms of crystalloid versus colloid osmosis across the peritoneal membrane. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 29, 1875–1886. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2017080828
- Neri, L., Viglino, G., Cappelletti, A., Gandolfo, C., and Cavalli, P. L. (2000). Ultrafiltration with icodextrins in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis and automated peritoneal dialysis. *Adv. Perit. Dial.* 16, 174–176.
- Ng, J. K., Kwan, B. C., Chow, K. M., Pang, W. F., Cheng, P. M., Leung, C. B., et al. (2018). Asymptomatic fluid overload predicts survival and cardiovascular event in incident Chinese peritoneal dialysis patients. *PLoS One* 13:e0202203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0202203
- Olszowska, A., Waniewski, J., Werynski, A., Anderstam, B., Lindholm, B., and Wankowicz, Z. (2007). Peritoneal transport in peritoneal dialysis patients using glucose-based and amino acid-based solutions. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 27, 544–553.
- Posthuma, N., ter Wee, P. M., Donker, A. J., Oe, P. L., van Dorp, W., Peers, E. M., et al. (1997). Serum disaccharides and osmolality in CCPD patients using icodextrin or glucose as daytime dwell. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 17, 602–607.
- Qi, H., Xu, C., Yan, H., and Ma, J. (2011). Comparison of icodextrin and glucose solutions for long dwell exchange in peritoneal dialysis: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 31, 179–188. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00264
- Rippe, B., and Levin, L. (2000). Computer simulations of ultrafiltration profiles for an icodextrin-based peritoneal fluid in CAPD. *Kidney Int.* 57, 2546–2556. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00114.x
- Rubinstein, S., Franjul, R., Surana, S., and Fogel, J. (2016). Icodextrin-induced acute pancreatitis in a peritoneal dialysis patient: a case report and literature review. *Clin. Nephrol.* 86, 283–286. doi: 10.5414/CN108837
- Savenkoff, B., Flechon-Meibody, F., and Goffin, E. (2018). Icodextrin: what arguments for and against its use as an osmotic agent in peritoneal dialysis. *Nephrol. Ther.* 14, 201–206. doi: 10.1016/j.nephro.2017.09.005
- Silver, S. A., Harel, Z., and Perl, J. (2014). Practical considerations when prescribing icodextrin: a narrative review. *Am. J. Nephrol.* 39, 515–527. doi: 10.1159/000363417
- Stachowska-Pietka, J., Poleszczuk, J., Flessner, M. F., Lindholm, B., and Waniewski, J. (2019). Alterations of peritoneal transport characteristics in dialysis patients with ultrafiltration failure: tissue and capillary components. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 34, 864–870. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfy313
- Stachowska-Pietka, J., Waniewski, J., Flessner, M. F., and Lindholm, B. (2006). Distributed model of peritoneal fluid absorption. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 291, H1862–H1874. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01320.2005
- Stachowska-Pietka, J., Waniewski, J., Flessner, M. F., and Lindholm, B. (2012). Computer simulations of osmotic ultrafiltration and small-solute transport in peritoneal dialysis: a spatially distributed approach. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 302, F1331–F1341. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00301.2011
- Takatori, Y., Akagi, S., Sugiyama, H., Inoue, J., Kojo, S., Morinaga, H., et al. (2011). Icodextrin increases technique survival rate in peritoneal dialysis patients with diabetic nephropathy by improving body fluid management: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 6, 1337–1344. doi: 10.2215/CJN.10041110
- Twardowski, Z. J., Nolph, K. D., Khanna, R., Prowant, B. F., Ryan, L. P., and Moore, H. L. (1987). Peritoneal equilibration test. *Peritoneal Dial. Bull.* 7, 138–147.
- Venturoli, D., Jeloka, T. K., Ersoy, F. F., Rippe, B., and Oreopoulos, D. G. (2009). The variability in ultrafiltration achieved with icodextrin, possibly explained. *Peritoneal Dial. Int.* 29, 415–421.
- Wang, T., Cheng, H. H., Heimburger, O., Waniewski, J., Bergstrom, J., and Lindholm, B. (2000). Effect of peritonitis on peritoneal transport characteristics: glucose solution versus polyglucose solution. *Kidney Int.* 57, 1704–1712. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00015.x
- Wang, T., Heimburger, O., Cheng, H. H., Bergstrom, J., and Lindholm, B. (1998a). Peritoneal fluid and solute transport with different polyglucose formulations. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 18, 193–203.
- Wang, T., Heimburger, O., Waniewski, J., Bergstrom, J., and Lindholm, B. (1998b). Increased peritoneal permeability is associated with decreased fluid and small-solute removal and higher mortality in CAPD patients. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 13, 1242–1249.

- Wang, I. K., Li, Y. F., Chen, J. H., Liang, C. C., Liu, Y. L., Lin, H. H., et al. (2015). Icodextrin decreases technique failure and improves patient survival in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrology* 20, 161–167. doi: 10.1111/nep.12375
- Wang, T., Waniewski, J., Heimburger, O., Werynski, A., and Lindholm, B. (1997). A quantitative analysis of sodium transport and removal during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 52, 1609–1616. doi: 10.1038/ki.1997.492
- Waniewski, J., Heimburger, O., Werynski, A., and Lindholm, B. (1992). Aqueous solute concentrations and evaluation of mass transport coefficients in peritoneal dialysis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 7, 50–56. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.ndt. a091990
- Waniewski, J., Stachowska-Pietka, J., and Flessner, M. F. (2009). Distributed modeling of osmotically driven fluid transport in peritoneal dialysis: theoretical and computational investigations. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 296, H1960–H1968. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00121.2009
- Wankowicz, Z., Prochnicka, A., Olszowska, A., Baczynski, D., Krzesinski, P., and Dziuk, M. (2011). Extracorporeal versus peritoneal ultrafiltration in diuretic-resistant congestive heart failure—A review. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 17, RA271–RA281. doi: 10.12659/msm.882118

Wiggins, K. J., Rumpsfeld, M., Blizzard, S., and Johnson, D. W. (2005). Predictors of a favourable response to icodextrin in peritoneal dialysis patients with ultrafiltration failure. *Nephrology* 10, 33–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1797.2005.00361.x

Conflict of Interest: BL is employed by Baxter Healthcare at Baxter Novum, Karolinska Institutet.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Olszowska, Waniewski, Stachowska-Pietka, Garcia-Lopez, Lindholm and Wańkowicz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

